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C-511 - PLENARY

Briefing Note — Information

Thursday, March 23, 2017

1. Reception—=5:30 p.m. to 6:00 p.m.
Dinner — 6:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.
(8t Floor Dining Room)

2. Plenary Session —7:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m.
(8" Floor Council Chambers)
1. Equity and Diversity Committee Report
2. Enforcement Committee Report
(Presentation Attached)
3. Regulatory Conflict Protocol
(Presentation Attached)

511th Meeting of Council — March 23, 2017
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Plenary Session #2

Enforcement Committee

Presentation to Council

Council Plenary Session
March 23, 2017

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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History of Committee

« Panel created in June 1999 to examine the need
for a standing committee on enforcement

« Established by Council on September 24, 1999

 ACDE Task Force Report was also received by
Council at the same meeting

« Committee’s initial assignment was to implement
ACDE Task Force recommendations relating to
enforcement

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Findings of ACDE Task Force

« Enforcement activities were working satisfactorily but
were poorly understood

« Lack of clarity in what constitutes the practice of
professional engineering in emerging disciplines

« Erosion of engineering titles

« Lack of member interest in being part of an effective
enforcement process

« Recommended development and implementation of
a comprehensive communications plan

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Committee Mandate

To advise Council on matters relating to the
enforcement of the provisions of the Professional
Engineers Act dealing with unlicensed and
unauthorized practice.

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Duties and Responsibilities

1. To prepare and present policy proposals to Council
on issues relating to PEO’s enforcement activity.

2. To act as an advisory body to the Registrar, PEO
committees and task forces and Council on policy
matters relating to enforcement.

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Committee Membership

10 members, all professional engineers
* 2 members are practising lawyers

A majority of members have:

— 20+ years practice experience
— 5+ years on Enforcement Committee

Human Resources Plan targets:

— Diversity across disciplines & industries
— Representation from all regions

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Committee Members Committee Advisor

Chair Linda Latham, P.Eng.
Roger Barker, P.Eng. Deputy Registrar,
Vice-Chair Regulatory Compliance
Stephen Georgas, LLB, P.Eng.

Council Liaison Staff Support

Gary Houghton, P.Eng.
Cliff Knox, P.Eng.
Bill Jackson, P.Eng. Manager, Enforcement

Solomon Ko, P.Eng. Steven Haddock

Don Marston, P.Eng., LLB Enforcement & Advisory Officer
Edward Poon, P.Eng. . .
Ajai Varma, P.Eng Ashley Gismondi
Peter Broad, P.Eng. Enforcement & Outreach Officer
Joe Adams, P.Eng. Maria lannone

Administrative Assistant

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Policy vs. Operations

 Committee’s role is to advise on policy
— Meets 6 times per year
— Primarily research to enhance existing policy

« Staff administers policy and enforcement
provisions of the Professional Engineers Act
— Intake and response to stakeholder queries

— Perform a range of enforcement activities including
prosecutions

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest



‘%//7 Professional Engineers

Ontario

Past Achievements

« 2001 — Communications Plan for Enforcement
e 2005 — Enforcement Policy document

e 2006 — Proactive Enforcement — initial report

« 2007 — ENF Presentation to Council

« 2008 — Software Engineering position paper

« 2014 - Federal Agencies and Lands opinion

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Proactive Enforcement Program

* One year pilot program, extended to 18 months
(March 2007 to October 2008)

 Information sessions held with PEO chapters,
professional and trade associations, government

« Recommendation to hire an additional full-time
enforcement officer

* Development of Licence Please! video, distributed
to new licensees and other stakeholders

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Recent Activity

 Input on content and review of a new guide for
enforcement reporting

 Internal report on the enhancement of legislated
powers and penalties

 Internal report on counterfeit seals and a proposal
for a standard for authenticated digital seals

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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2017 Work Plan

« Examine the enforcement of engineering terms in
business names

 Guidance for enforcement outreach initiatives

« Recommendations for enhanced enforcement
within manufacturing

« Policy proposal for performance standard on
Pre-Start Health and Safety Reviews

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Enforcement Statistics

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Active files at January 1 159 300 338 298 291
Files opened 548 488 392 482 403
Files closed 407 450 432 489 354

% compliance achieved 98% 97% 96% 97% 97%

Active files at December 31 300 338 298 291 340

Court prosecutions 0 0 0 5 5

Enforcement inquiries, investigations and prosecutions conducted by PEO staff

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Activities of Other Regulators

Policy Advisory Committee
Enforcement by Committee

Public Enforcement Statistics

Enforcement Prosecutions4

BC AB SK MB ON QC' NB NS PE> NL YT NT
v v v v v
v v v
v v v v v
v v v v

1 0lQ has an ad hoc Enforcement Committee as issues arise

2 EPEI has an Act Enforcement Committee with specific statutory duties

3 NAPEG regulates profession for Northwest Territories and Nunavut

4 Most associations report no prosecution activity for 2011-2015 per the
Engineers Canada 2015 National Discipline & Enforcement Survey

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Summary

« Enforcement activities rely significantly on the
diligence of members, chapters, building officials
and the public to report violations

* There is a clear need for ongoing communication
of enforcement activities to encourage reporting
and to maintain awareness among stakeholders

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Questions?

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Regulatory Conflict Protocol

Council Plenary
March 23, 2017

Ewald Kuczera, P.Eng., Jordan Max
Chair, Legislation Committee Manager, Policy

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Background

« 2013: Tribunals & Regulatory Affairs Department reviewed all
external statutes and regulations using term “engineer” or
“engineering” to identify potential regulatory conflicts for
follow-up action

« Under the Legislation Committee (LEC), log updated in late
2016, and entries categorized for level of conflict (list posted
on PEO website)

« LEC asked staff to draft a Protocol for Registrar follow-up.

« LEC asked staff to develop prioritization criteria for the follow-
up actions.

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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5.No Apparent Conflict J
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1. Infringement

Definition:

Containing a clause or clauses which infringe on
PEQ'’s authority to regulate the practice of
professional engineering in Ontario by duplicating
or frustrating provisions of the Professional
Engineers Act.

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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1. Infringement

Examples from legislative review:
* requiring a professional engineer to sign and seal a document;
requiring an engineer to:

— declare something as safe for the public despite its non-compliance with
standards, codes, or rules;

— supervise a non-engineer or to hold a Certificate of Authorization;
— certify engineering work;
— compliance with regulations or requirements

 restricting practice to a specific engineering discipline;

* specifying additional engineering educational or experience
requirements or designations beyond those required for licensure by

PEO;
* reference to “licensed to practice professional engineering in
Ontario”; or

» improper use of term “engineer”

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Actions for Infringement

1. Registrar to raise and discuss the issue with the custodial
Ministry’s staff.

2. Regqistrar to seek evidence of public interest harm stemming from
the infringement.

3. Regqistrar may seek a legal opinion on the infringement.

4. Legislation Committee to recommend a draft Position Statement
for Council approval.

5. Council to decide on the Position Statement, which may include
political action and legal action.

6. Registrar to alert the Ministry of the Attorney General.

7. President to write to the appropriate custodial Minister seeking
redress.

8. PEO to apply to courts where necessary.

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Definition: 2 . Overl ap \,

Containing clause(s) that may have overlapping jurisdictions with
the Professional Engineers Act.

Examples from leqislative review:

* Professional engineer licensees are included in lists of
“qualified persons” to perform certain activities that may or
may not be considered the practice of professional
engineering

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Actions for Overlap

1. Registrar to contact the custodial ministry to seek clarification on the required
activity.

2. Registrar to seek evidence of that Ministry’s experience with the activity
and/or any deficiencies in the work of those carrying out such activities.

3. Registrar to obtain determination whether the activity requires the exclusive
practice of professional engineering and to seek evidence of harm to the
public;

I If activity for “qualified persons” is exclusive to engineering practice, then the matter
is treated as an “infringement” category item as above in 1.

ii. If regulatory requirement concerns declaratory statements underwritten through the
instrument of a licence for public accountability, but is not the practice of
professional engineering, the Registrar will clarify for the custodial Ministry and
licence holders the implications of licence holders carrying out this work.

iii. if regulatory requirement does not involve the practice of professional engineering,
the Registrar may need to instruct licence holders of their obligations under the PEA

in carrying out this work. .

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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3. Non-alignment

Definition:

b 13

Deflnltlons and uses of the term “engineer”, “professional
engineer” or the like that do not match the Ianguage found
In the Professional Engineers Act

Examples from leqgislative review:

 reference to: “registered under the Professional
Engineers Act’; and "member in good standing with the
Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario”;

« exclusion of limited licence holders among those
permitted to carry out a certain activity;

» reference to title or membership with PEO rather than to
a licence instrument. .

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Actions for Non-alignment

Registrar to alert the Ministry of the Attorney General.
Registrar to raise the issue with custodial Ministry staff.

President to write letters to the custodial Minister to address
the problem.

4. For Regulations, Registrar to monitor Environmental Bills of
Rights and Regulatory Registry postings to identify
opportunities to amend Regulations on our Regulatory Conflict
list.

5. For Acts, Registrar to monitor the Legislative Assembly website
to identify opportunities to amend introduced Acts on our
Regulatory Conflict list, and to make submissions to the
Legislature for those amendments at Standing Committee.

This may require political action as well.
10

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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4. Practice Guidance

TH'SW\AY

9

-

Definition:

Qualitative measures or references to non-
technical engineering professional practice
standards that should instead be defined by PEO

Examples from legislative review:

use of terms “good engineering practice”,
“appropriate engineering standards” or
certification

11

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Actions for Practice Guidance

1. Registrar to determine whether references are to technical matters or professional
practice activity, and to act on the latter. If the former, then treat as “no apparent conflict”
category (see below in 5.)

2. Registrar to raise the issue with the custodial ministry staff to determine their
understandings and expectations for those standards and practice, along with any
perceived deficiencies.

3. Registrar to bring the issue to Professional Standards Committee for review and
consideration through its criteria.

4. Professional Standards Committee may develop, issue, and promote Professional
Practice Guidelines or Standards to clarify the engineer’s professional responsibilities
under the PEA in meeting requirements of external legislation. Consultation with
custodial Ministry staff in drafting those guidelines or standards is preferred.

5. If performance standards are required, Registrar to prepare policy intents for Council
approval, and following that, alert the Ministry of the Attorney General and PEQO'’s
Legislation Committee to draft and review Regulation changes, as per Council’s

Regulatory Policy Protocol.
12
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5. No apparent conflict

Definition:

References in external legislation are in compliance
with definitions and requirements contained in the
Professional Engineers Act.

Examples from legislative review:

 Inclusion of licence, limited licence and temporary
licence (“licensed engineering practitioner” term);

* activities required to be performed are not
specifically involving the practice of professional
engineering.

13
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Actions for no apparent conflict

1. Issue letter signed by the President to thank
the custodial ministry for its compliance.

2. Use these examples for future work with
same or other custodial ministries.

14

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Prioritization Criteria z :o

[

. Impact on Public Interest :
2. Level of offense to the PEA/Regulations: (Regulatory category —

infringement is top; overlap 2"9, alignment 379)

Volume of impact: # of practitioners involved in referenced activity

Occurrence: legislation/regulation with the largest number of infractions

of any regulatory conflict category

Intensity of impact: degree of interference with practitioners

Ease of amendment: Regulations before Legislation

Current PEO Relationship with Ministry: MOECC, MTO, MMA, MOL, etc.

Incidence: by Ministry with largest number of regulatory conflicts (all

categories)

9. First Come, first served/Opportunity: Wait for ministries to propose
amending regulations or legislation on our list

10.Activity: Engineering-related activity before non-engineering activity
(including some QP references)

W

0N W

15
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Selected Log Stats

By Top Category: By Custodial Ministry:
Infringement 40 Environment and Climate Change: 23
Overlap 8 Government & Consumer Services: 15
Non-Alignment 24 Labour: 12
Guidance 7 Natural Resources & Forestry: 6
No conflict 13 Northern Development and Mining: 5
Agriculture & Rural Affairs: 5
Acts: 21 Health and Long-Term Care: 4
Regulations: 72 Municipal Affairs: 4
Housing: 4
By Act: Transportation: 3
Environmental Protection 12 Energy: 3
Occupational Health & Safety 11 Attorney General: 3
Technical Standards and Safety Authority 9 Community & Social Services: 2
Safe Drinking Water 4 Education: 2
Finance: 1

Adult Education & Skills Development: 1
Community Safety & Correctional Services: 1
Economic Development & Growth: 1
Tourism, Culture & Sport: 1

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest
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Questions/comments

17

Regulating and advancing engineering practice to protect the public interest



C-511-1.1

Briefing Note - Decision

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Purpose: To approve the agenda for the meeting.

Motion(s) to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)

That:
a) the agenda, as presented to the meeting at C-511-1.1, Appendix A be approved; and
b) the Chair be authorized to suspend the regular order of business.

Prepared by: Dale Power, Secretariat Administrator

Appendices:
e Appendix A - 511" Council meeting agenda

511th Meeting of Council — March 23-24, 2017 Association of Professional

Engineers of Ontario
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101-40 Sheppard Ave. W.,
Toronto, ON M2N 6K9

T:416 224-1100 800 339-3716
WwWw.peo.on.ca

Agenda

511" Meeting of the Council
Professional Engineers Ontario

C-511-1.1
Appendix A
REVISED

Dial-in: 1-888-866-3653

Date: Thursday, March 23 and Friday, March 24, 2017
Time: Thursday - 5:30 p.m. — reception; 6:00 p.m. — dinner;
7:00 p.m. — 9:00 p.m. — meeting
Friday — 9:00 a.m. — 4:00 p.m.
Place: PEO Offices — 8" Floor Council Chambers OR

40 Sheppard Avenue West
Toronto, Ontario

Thursday, March 23rd — 7:00 p.m. — 9:00 p.m.

Participant Code: 93943194

Spokesperson

PLENARY SESSION

1.
2.
3.

Equity and Diversity Committee Report
Enforcement Committee Report
Regulatory Conflict Protocol

Marta Ecsedi
Roger Barker

Councillor Kuczera/Jordan Max

Friday, March 24th — 9:00 a.m. — 4:00 p.m.

CALL TO ORDER

1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND LEADERSHIP REPORTS Spokesperson/ Type
Moved by

1.1 | APPROVAL OF AGENDA Chair Decision

1.2 | PRESIDENT/REGISTRAR’S REPORT Chair/Registrar Information

2. PRIORITY ITEMS Spokesperson/ Type
Moved by

2.1 | COUNCIL TERM LIMITS TASK FORCE REPORT Councillor Wesa Decision

2.2 | 2016 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Councillor Chui Decision

2.3 | RECOMMENDATION OF AN AUDITOR FOR 2017 Councillor Chui Decision

2.4 | REGULATORY CONFLICT PROTOCOL Councillor Kuczera Decision

2.5 | LICENSING COMMITTEE — RESCINDING AND REPLACING President Comrie Decision

COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS REGARDING LICENSING PROCESS
TASK FORCE (LPTF) RECOMMENDATIONS THAT REQUIRED




REGULATION CHANGES

2.6 | UPDATING PEO SYLLABI President-elect Decision
Dony
2.7 | RECOMMENDATIONS ON FRAMEWORK FOR REGULATION Councillor Fraser Decision
ELEMENTS
2.8 | COMMITTEES/TASK FORCES TERMS OF REFERENCE, HR Councillor Bellini Decision
AND WORK PLANS
2.9 | CHANGES TO COMMITTEES/TASK FORCES ROSTER Councillor Bellini Decision
2.10 | APPOINTMENT OF PEO DIRECTORS TO ENGINEERS Vice-President Decision
CANADA BOARD Brown
3. CONSENT AGENDA Spokesperson/ Type
Moved by
3.1 | OPEN SESSION MINUTES — 510™ COUNCIL MEETING — Chair Decision
FEBRUARY 3, 2017
3.2 | APPROVAL OF CEDC APPLICATIONS Councillor Bellini Decision
4. IN-CAMERA Spokesperson/ Type
Moved by
4.1 | IN-CAMERA MINUTES — 510™ COUNCIL MEETING — Chair Decision
FEBRUARY 3, 2017
4.2 | ONTARIO PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS AWARD Councillor Bellini Decision
NOMINATIONS
4.3 | HRC UPDATE President Comrie Information
4.4 | DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE — DECISIONS AND REASONS Linda Latham Information
4.5 | REPEAL OF THE INDUSTRIAL EXCEPTION President Comrie Information
4.6 | PEO’S ANTI-WORKPLACE HARASSMENT AND VIOLENCE Chair Information
POLICIES — COUNCILLOR VIOLATIONS, IF ANY
4.7 | LEGAL UPDATE Linda Latham Information
4.8 | POLICY RESPECTING PEO’S APPEAL OF DISCIPLINE Councillor Fraser Decision
DECISIONS
5. INFORMATION ITEMS Spokesperson/ Type
Moved by

ONGOING ITEMS

5.1 | STRATEGIC PLAN UPDATE Registrar McDonald | Information
5.2 | LEGISLATION COMMITTEE UPDATE Councillor Kuczera Information
5.3 | REGIONAL COUNCILLORS COMMITTEE UPDATE Councillor Sadr Information
5.4 | ENGINEERS CANADA UPDATE Chris Roney Information




5.5 | REPORT ON FEE REDUCTION Councillor Jones Information

5.6 | OSPE-PEO JOINT RELATIONS COMMITTEE (JRC) UPDATE President Comrie Information
5.7 | OSPE BYLAW CHANGES President Comrie Information
5.8 | STATUS UPDATE FOR THE STRUCTURAL CONDITION Councillor Jones Information
ASSESSMENT PERFORMANCE STANDARD
5.9 | CP2 TASK FORCE UPDATE Councillor Turnbull Information
5.10 | CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL COMPETENCE PROGRAM Vice-President Decision
TASK FORCE FINAL REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS Brown
5.11 | GOVERNMENT LIAISON PROGRAM UPDATE Councillor Chan Information
5.12 | STATISTICS — COMPLAINTS, DISCIPLINE, LICENSING AND Latham/Price/ Information
REGISTRATION UPDATE Zuccon
5.13 | COUNCILLOR ITEMS Chair Information
CONCLUSION

Councillors Code of Conduct

Council expects of itself and its members ethical, business-like and lawful conduct. This includes
fiduciary responsibility, proper use of authority and appropriate decorum when acting as Council
members or as external representatives of the association. Council expects its members to treat
one another and staff members with respect, cooperation and a willingness to deal openly on all
matters.

PEO is committed that its operations and business will be conducted in an ethical and legal
manner. Each participant (volunteer) is expected to be familiar with, and to adhere to, this code
as a condition of their involvement in PEO business. Each participant shall conduct PEO business
with honesty, integrity and fairness and in accordance with the applicable laws. The Code of
Conduct is intended to provide the terms and/or spirit upon which acceptable/unacceptable
conduct is determined and addressed.

At its September 2006 meeting, Council determined that PEO volunteers should meet the same
obligations and standards regarding conduct when engaged in PEO activities as they are when
engaged in business activities as professional engineers.

[s. 2.4 of the Council Manual]




2017 Council Committe Meeting/Mailing Schedule

2017 Council Mailing Schedule

Meeting Date Meeting Initial BN Initial BN Initial Supp. Agenda? Supp.
Type Due Date - Due Date — Agenda Due Date Agenda
Members at Councillors/Staff Mailing Mailing Date
Large Date
2017
Jan. 17 Executive Dec. 27 Dec. 30 Jan. 3 Jan. 5 Jan. 10
Feb. 2-3 Council Jan. 13 Jan. 17 Jan. 20 Jan. 24 Jan. 27
March 23-24 Council Mar 3 March 7 March 10 March 14 March 17
April 222 Council Mar 31 April 4 April 7 April 11 April 14

1

2

- requires the approval of the Chair or Registrar

- new Councillors to be invited as soon as information is available




Briefing Note — Information C-511-1.2

PRESIDENT’S/REGISTRAR’S REPORT
Purpose: To inform Council of the recent activities of the President and the Registrar.

Motion(s) to consider:

none required

President Comrie and Registrar McDonald will provide a verbal report on their recent PEO
activities.

511th Meeting of Council — March 23-24, 2017 Association of Professional
Engineers of Ontario



Briefing Note — Decision C-511-2.1

COUNCIL TERM LIMITS TASK FORCE REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS
Purpose: To approve recommendations outlined in the Council Term Limits Task Force report.

Motion(s) to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)

1. That Council receives the Council Term Limits Task Force (CTLTF) Report and
Recommendations as presented to the meeting at C-511-2.1, Appendix A.

2. That Council approves term limits recommendations 1 — 7 as outlined in section 5.1 of the
Council Term Limits Task Force (CTLTF) Report and Recommendations as presented to the
meeting at C-511-2.1, Appendix A.

3. That Council directs the Registrar to develop the draft terms of reference and proposed list of
members for a Succession Planning Implementation Task Force as outlined in Section 5.3 of
the Council Term Limits Task Force (CTLTF) Report and Recommendations with an annual
budget of $30,000.

4. That Council approves in principle succession planning recommendations 1 — 13 as outlined in
section 5.2 of the Council Term Limits Task Force (CTLTF) Report and Recommendations as
presented to the meeting at C-511-2.1, Appendix A.

5. That the Council Term Limits Task Force be stood down with thanks.

Prepared by: Rob Willson, P.Eng., Chair, Council Term Limits Task Force
Moved by: Councillor Wesa, P.Eng.

1. Need for PEO Action

The Council Term Limits Task Force (CTLTF) was created by PEO Council at its February 2016
meeting, pursuant to its November 2015 approval in principle of establishing term limits and
succession planning for Council positions. Per its Terms of Reference, the Task Force was to
analyze the practices at other self-regulating organizations and engineering associations in
Canada, and to provide a report to Council before the 2017 AGM.

In fulfilling its mandate, the Task Force analyzed the membership of PEO Council for the
previous 20 years, which covers the period since the last major review of election procedures
in 1997. In addition to surveying the practices of other regulators, it also surveyed the
literature on the governance of non-profit boards, and consulted with two experts in the field
to obtain additional background information. The results of this research were reviewed in an
“If...Then” exercise and subsequently summarized in a conclusions and rationales matrix to
ensure that conclusions were logically based.

The Task Force conducted a series of meetings starting in March 2016 and finishing in February
2017. Its draft Report was issued in December 2016 and peer reviewed by three PEO
committees, Legislation Committee (LEC), Human Resources Committee (HRC) and Central
Election and Search Committee (CESC), before being finalized and presented to Council for
deliberation. In addition, the Task Force provided a presentation of its preliminary results to
the Council plenary meeting in February 2017.

511" Council Meeting — March 23, 24, 2017

Association of Professional
Engineers of Ontario



2. Proposed Action / Recommendation

The Task Force recommends that Council approves the recommendations for term limits and
succession planning as outlined in section 50f the Council Term Limits Task Force (CTLTF)
Report and Recommendations (Appendix A).

3. Next Steps (if motion approved)

e The term limit recommendations along with the policy direction outlined in the Council Term
Limits Task Force (CTLTF) Report and Recommendations would be sent to the Legislation
Committee for development into Regulations.

e  Council would establish a task force to implement the succession planning recommendations
at an annual budget of $30,000. For 2017, this budget would be drawn from the Council
reserve.

4. Peer Review & Process Followed

The Council Term Limits Task Force was established by the PEO Council at the
Process February 2016 meeting. The Task Force met starting in March 2016 and completed a
Followed draft report in December 2016. A final report from the Task Force was completed in
March 2017.
Council As set out in the Council Term Limits Task Force, Terms of Reference, a draft report
Identified from the Task Force was reviewed by the Legislation Committee, Human Resources
Review Committee and the Central Election and Search Committee
That Council approve the Terms of Reference for the Council Term Limits Task Force
Actual as presented at C-504 2.3, Appendix A.
Motion
Review That Council approve a budget of $7,500 for the Council Term Limits Task Force.
That Council approve the appointment of members to the Council Term Limits Task
Force as presented at C-504 2.3, Appendix B.

5. Appendices

e Appendix A — Council Term Limits Task Force Report and Recommendations
e Appendix B — LEC Peer Review Comments and CTLTF Response

e Appendix C—HRC Peer Review Comments and CTLTF Response

e Appendix D — CESC Peer Review Comments and CTLTF Response

e Appendix E — President Comrie Peer Review Comments and CTLTF Response

Page 2 of 2




C-511-2.1
Appendix A

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS ONTARIO

COUNCIL TERM LIMITS TASK FORCE (CTLTF)

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Prepared By

Task Force
Rob Willson (Chair)
Nancy Hill (Vice Chair)
Paul Ballantyne
Michael Wesa
Martha Stauch

Staff Support
Scott Clark
Ralph Martin
Dale Power
Eric Chor
Jordan Max

Research Consultants
Jane Garthson
Paula Vinette

The Task Force acknowledges the contribution of Len King in developing
this report.
March 10, 2017


dpower
Text Box
 C-511-2.1
Appendix A


CTLTF-Report and Recommendation
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1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Council Term Limits Task Force was created by PEO Council at its February 2016
meeting, pursuant to its November 2015 approval in principle of establishing term limits and
succession planning for Council positions. Per its Terms of Reference, the Task Force (TF)
was to analyze the practices at other self-regulating organizations and engineering
associations in Canada, and to provide a report to Council before the 2017 AGM.

In fulfilling its mandate, the TF analyzed the membership of PEO Council for the previous
20 years since the last major review of election procedures in 1997. In addition to surveying
the practices of other regulators, it also surveyed the literature on the governance of non-
profit boards, and consulted with two experts in the field to obtain additional background
information. The results of this research were reviewed in an “If...Then” exercise and
subsequently summarized in a conclusions and rationales matrix to ensure that conclusions
were logically based. The draft Report was peer reviewed by three PEO committees, LEC,
HRC and CESC.

Based on the 1997 task force report, in 1999 PEO shifted its election preparations from
nominating qualified candidates to searching for and encouraging sufficient candidates to
run for positions on Council. The rationale was to increase democracy and to ensure
competition for positions. This, it was felt, would encourage more engagement by the
membership in elections and on Council. The experience since then has not entirely borne
out these hopes as participation rates by the electorate have stagnated. The low percentage
turnout at elections continues to vex PEO and stimulate corrective efforts. These include
removing editorial control on candidate statements in 2011, adding webcasts and e-blasts to
enhance campaigning, and inserting a time out period before a sitting president can run
again for president.

Analysis of the past 20 years of Council turnover statistics indicates that most, although
certainly not all, regional councillors and councillors at large limit themselves to two or
three terms. Turnover in these positions has depended on the incumbents stepping aside.
However, officers such as Elected Vice-President and President have tended to return to
these positions, often several times. Due to the large number of acclamations for the 2015
elections and the re-election of two former presidents to officer positions, at the 2015 AGM
members approved by large margins two resolutions recommending that term limits and
succession planning be implemented. Subsequently Council approved these in principle and
created the TF to propose the best way to do this.

The use of term limits by regulators and non-profit boards is not consistent. However; as
shown in governance literature, it is considered a best practice, especially when paired with
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a robust performance evaluation system. This applies to both elected and appointed boards.
The TF considered three options for PEQ: retain the status quo with no limitations on terms,
develop and implement a system of individual performance evaluations for councillors and

publish the results to the electorate, or implement hard term limits for all Council positions.
These were evaluated as follows:

e The status quo presents challenges for new candidates running against incumbents,
limiting Council renewal. This has also resulted in a Council that is not
representative of the membership’s diversity from age, gender or ethnicity
perspectives. The TF does not consider that this is acceptable.

e Although a performance evaluation based system could be effective, it would take
many years and a substantial change in the attitude of many councillors to make it
work. The first steps to create such a system have begun and the TF supports
continuing in this direction. However, a more immediate solution is required.

e Term limits, i.e. a lifetime limit to the number of terms an elected councillor can
serve in any given position and in total, will result in renewal of Council and prevent
incumbent or former elected councillors from using their name recognition to
dominate elections. They are clear and unambiguous, and have none of the potential
negative impact of publicized poor performance evaluations. They can be
implemented immediately and evaluated based on their results.

Some reviewers of the draft report suggested allowing term limited councillors to return
after a short break (or a cooling off period), rather than a lifetime limit. The TF considered
this as a potential fallback option if Council cannot bring itself to implement the lifetime
limits, but would agree only if the hiatus period were significant, e.g. ten plus years.
However, this approach does not accomplish the aim of Council renewal because the
incumbent advantage does not vanish over time, as demonstrated by recent elections of
former presidents to various positions. A shorter cooling off period equates to no term
limits and would have a similar result to the status quo.

The TF recommends the following term limits be implemented, excluding interim or special
appointments:

General Member of Council

1. Members may serve a lifetime maximum of three two-year terms as a Regional
Councillor or Councillor at Large, or any combination. Former LGA councillors
may serve two elected terms if they have one term as an LGA, and cannot serve if
they have more than one term as an LGA.
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2. PEO should influence the government not to appoint LGASs to more than two terms
as a lifetime maximum, and one term if they have previously served on Council as a
Regional Councillor or Councillor at Large.

Executive Member of Council

(Term limits are in addition to the General Member term limits.)
3. Members may serve one term as Elected Vice-President

4. Members may serve one term as President-Elect, followed by terms as President and
Past-President.

5. A member having served as President may not serve in any subsequent position on
Council.

Term limit requirements should be entrenched in our governing legislation before the next
election. If this is not possible, they should be communicated to the electorate and
prospective candidates by email and in the Elections Guide. Although voluntary until
enshrined, it should be made clear that candidates are expected to abide by the term limits as
part of their candidacy for Council positions.

Once term limits are implemented, in order for them to be successful, a succession planning
process is essential. Succession planning is supported by all governance experts and is used
by many public regulators. PEO relies on its election process to select councillors, and
mainly committee and chapter volunteers step up for its elections. There is some leadership
training for volunteer members, but this is focused on their volunteer roles, rather than
preparing them to run and serve in Council positions. Candidates are essentially self
selected based on their own drive and interests. PEO’s lack of involvement in succession
planning has resulted in the rise of external groups that recommend candidates that push
their own agenda, an agenda that may not serve the best interests of the public that PEO has
the mandate to serve.

For elected boards, governance experts recommend a robust succession planning process.
This avoids elections becoming a popularity contest, where candidates’ public statements
are designed to gain votes rather than to address real issues. Succession planning increases
the likelihood of councillors having the skill set and knowledge to do their job successfully.
For PEO Council, succession planning is about creating a transparent process and an
informed electorate. Prospective candidates need to be better informed about the demands
and the required knowledge base of being a councillor.

Succession planning for PEO will be a twofold process: identifying suitable candidates and
7
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preparing them for their role on Council. ldentifying candidates will require a full time
nominating committee, independent from Council, that can identify the best candidates in
both the volunteer base and the general membership. This implies going beyond the current
pool of candidates and approaching other groups such as the employers of engineers and
other engineering associations to solicit potential candidates.

The committee will select the candidates that it believes best support PEO’s agenda to
safeguard the public. It will employ a gap analysis to identify skills required on Council and
to promote those who have those skills. This information should be part of the election
information package provided to the PEO membership. Candidates will still be able to self
nominate and contest for Council positions, but their platforms will be evaluated by voters
from the information provided by PEO.

It is essential that the committee works continuously to nurture and develop the best talent.
Specific efforts will need to be made to reach out to under-represented groups such as young
engineers, women and new Canadians. Budgets will need to be established to support these
efforts.

Candidates must be fully informed of what they will be doing on Council, building on
current efforts. Once candidates are nominated, a boot camp should be organized to provide
training on how to campaign and how to be a good councillor. Once new councillors are
elected, a buddy system would see established councillors mentor them as they climb the
steep learning curve.

To implement effective succession planning requires ongoing work by a successor task
force whose mandate may run for several years until a system is working well, including
monitoring of the performance of the nominating committee. The governance conditions
within which succession planning will operate may require adjustments to the plan. What is
important now is to establish a direction and a structure that can work to make succession
planning a successful reality for PEO.

The CTLTF does not make any claims as to whether implementing its recommendations
will improve member engagement. Rather, its recommendations are aimed at ensuring
Council membership renewal, particularly at the officer level, and at better preparing
candidates to become successful councillors once elected.
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2. INTRODUCTION
2.1 General

On November 25, 2015, PEO Council approved, in principle, implementing term limits and
succession planning for Council positions. A task force would be established to look into
the best way to accomplish this. At its meeting in February 2016, Terms of Reference for
the Council Term Limits Task Force were passed, the members were approved, and the
budget was established. The Task Force (TF) has subsequently held a series of meetings
and done substantial research on the two topics. The literature on these topics is diverse and
no clear set of rules to fit all situations is available. The TF has therefore prepared its
recommendations based on the best solution for PEO’s specific circumstances.

This introduction provides a history of term limits and succession planning in PEO, and also
outlines how the TF proceeded with its work. The remainder of the report is broken down
into the two topic areas. Each topic is discussed at length and the TF's conclusions based on
this are provided. The final section provides a list of recommendations for each of the
topics.

2.2 Term Limits and Succession Planning at PEO

Professional Engineers Ontario has revised its governance many times during its almost 100
years of existence. As the association evolved from a small group of consulting engineers to
the 80,000 plus member organization it is today, how it is governed has had to change to
meet new challenges. Governance improvements are not a panacea to correct all ills in an
organization, but used properly, can greatly contribute to its effectiveness. Some would
argue that, optimally, governance changes should be made as part of a comprehensive
package, but practical considerations often require that specific changes be made in
response to specific situations. PEO's changes to its election procedures have typically been
made independent of major governance updates. A review of recent changes to election
procedures is important to provide the context of this report.

Up to the AGM of 1999, PEO used a Central Nominating Committee (for province wide
positions) and Regional Nominating Committees (for regional positions) to prepare a slate
of candidates for each election. Early in 1999, Council passed a motion that the nomination
committees would be replaced by Central and Regional Election and Search Committees
(CESC and RESC respectively) as of the AGM that year. This change was intended to open
up the nomination process and reduce the control Council had over who was running for
office by ensuring the committees had no “powers to by-pass the due nomination process”.

9
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(See Appendix 5) Subsequently the CESC has continued to manage elections, having
responsibility to ensure fair and equal treatment for all candidates and, in concert with the
RESCs, works to encourage candidates to run for office.

As part of its responsibilities, the CESC, with staff support, reviewed and edited candidate
statements published with election material and in Dimensions magazine. Candidates were
required to meet specific standards for writing their statements, including the number of
words used. Editing was performed to eliminate objectionable or personal remarks and to
ensure the word count was respected. At its meeting of September 23, 2011, Council
removed all restrictions on candidate statements other than size. (See Appendix 5) As long
as the statements were no larger than half a page in Dimensions, they were acceptable. It
also added three e-blasts from candidates to voters and a webcast debate for each of the
contested positions. These changes were made to remove any restrictions on what
candidates could say to attract votes. It was believed this would make the election process
more “democratic” and increase its credibility with the membership, with the intent of
increasing the percentage of members voting. Unfortunately, the latter effect was not
observed and voting levels have remained around 10% for the past few years.

Term limits have not been a major consideration for PEO Council until recently. Up to the
year 2000, there was a reasonable level of turnover on Council, with most councillors opting
for two to three terms on a lifetime basis and with most officers serving one year as Vice
President and a single term as president. Thus, there was little reason to place restrictions
on terms served. However, the pattern of councillors self-limiting their terms on Council
has gradually changed over the past two decades. More elected and appointed councillors,
especially the latter, have been holding their seats for longer periods and several presidents
have returned to Council as either as President, Vice-President or Councillor at Large, as
detailed in Appendix 4.

In response to this, at the 2009 AGM members of the association debated and passed a
resolution to prevent councillors from serving two consecutive terms. (See Appendix 5)
Subsequently the resolution was given to the Executive Committee, which included it in a
package of governance reforms introduced at the February 2010 Council meeting. At that
meeting, the resolution was debated and ultimately defeated. It was considered
“undemocratic” and “too restrictive”. Council “concluded that it should be up to the voters
to decide when a councillor has served long enough in a given position”. Subsequently
Council in 2015 approved a change to the PEQO's regulations that put a term limit in place.
(See Appendix 5) This stipulates a gap of four years between a president's terms of office,
accomplished by preventing a sitting president from running for President-Elect until two
years after her/his term as President. There is no restriction on a former president seeking

any other position on Council, or on the number of times someone could be president.
10
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In the 2015 elections, four out of five regional councillors were acclaimed for two-year
terms and the positions of elected Vice President and President-Elect were filled by former
presidents. This was seen by some members as impacting the relevance of Council to the
membership and limiting the opportunity to develop new leadership for PEO. Two
resolutions to deal with this situation were debated at the 2015 AGM. The first of these
resolutions (see Appendix 5) proposed limiting all council positions to a specific number of
terms, and proposed some specific limits. The second resolution (see Appendix 5)
recommended that PEO institute a structured succession planning process to ensure a good
choice of candidates for elections. Succession planning would operate in concert with term
limits for all Council positions. Both resolutions passed with a large majority of AGM
attendees in favour.

PEO's 2015-2017 Strategic Plan identified for the Goal Area of Council, Staff and
Volunteers three different strategic objectives that relate to term limits and succession
planning:

e Strategic Objective 19 - PEO has a sustainable organization-wide, continuous
improvement culture.

e Strategic Objective 20 - PEQO's governance approach is robust, transparent and
trusted.

e Strategic Objective 23 - Organizational renewal is ensured through succession plans
and talent management strategies.

These objectives indicate a strong desire to improve PEQ's governance and the importance
of this issue to its members.

At the September 25, 2015 meeting of Council, the movers of the two AGM resolutions met
with Council to present the rationales for their motions and to request that Council act on
them. In response to these requests, Council offered to work with the movers to draft a
motion to establish a Council Term Limits Task Force. At its November 20, 2015 meeting,
Council confirmed its support in principle for term limits and succession planning and
directed the Registrar to develop terms of reference for the Task Force for approval by
Council in February 2016. The Task Force would be required to report to Council before
the 2017 AGM. At its February 5, 2016 meeting, Council approved the Terms of Reference
for the task force (see Appendix 5), the task force budget, and the appointment of the
members of the task force. With all in place, the Council Term Limits Task Force held its
first meeting on March 17, 2016 and has met on a regular basis since then.

11
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2.3 Task Force Operation

After organizing itself, the Task Force undertook to obtain information from internal and
external sources. As a first step, the Task Force prepared a statistical analysis of the
president and councillor service records. This analysis is found in Appendix 4. In addition,
the Task Force determined that it needed background information on current best practices
for term limits and succession planning on not-for-profit boards. To this end, the Task Force
reviewed the credentials of various consultants and settled on two well-respected individuals
with a broad experience in governance for government and not-for-profit boards. The
consultants, Jane Garthson, President, Garthson Leadership Centre and Paulette Vinette,
Principal, the Solution Studio, met with the Task Force on May 13. The two experts shared
their knowledge on term limits and succession planning and answered many of the task
force's questions. The presentations by the consultants served as a starting point for in depth
research and analysis that was conducted thereafter by the TF. Both consultants discussed
the need for a skills matrix or alternatively a targeted approach to ensure that Council
includes people with a wide variety of skills needed for the work of Council. The reasons
that term limits are desirable were discussed. The consultants reviewed the PEO election
processes and had some observations. One observed that the platforms of many of the
people running seem to be disconnected from the work of PEO; that generally the Board
President is chosen by the board rather than by being elected directly to the position and that
the nomination committee or governance committee that is charged with the election and
nomination process works year round. More information regarding the results of this
session are included in the Best Practice Review section of this report.

As part of our review of industry and best practice, the TF has reviewed the application of
term limits in the governance of boards of directors including many provincial regulatory
associations across Canada and Ontario.

On July 28, the Task Force, led by Jordan Max, participated in an “If...Then” exercise
during which the Task Force analysed the assumptions underlying its proposed
recommendations for term limits and succession planning. The top assumptions were
summarized and provided to the TF after the meeting. In addition, the TF listed good
governance attributes that could result from improving board governance. The results of
this exercise can be found in Appendix 4.

Subsequently the TF has prepared a conclusions and rationales matrix, summarizing its
thoughts in preparation for its report to Council (See Appendix 4). The following sections
have been prepared based on the results of these meetings. Reference should be made to the
appendices for detailed source material and references.

12
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3. BACKGROUND
3.1 General

Council must have an understanding of different governance models in order to evaluate the
rationale for the Task Force’s conclusions. Most literature deals with boards that fall under
two major categories- corporate boards and not-for-profit boards. Under each of these
categories, boards can be modeled on one of a number of theoretical basic governance
models (See Appendix 6), e.g., operational, collective, management, constituent
representative, traditional results based, policy (Carver), advisory, etc. Current studies show
that “not-for-profit” boards, in particular, do not follow a single governance model but
employ "hybrid” practices, a mixture of practices that uniquely suits their organization.

This becomes very important when analyzing the governance structure for PEO. Like most
organizations, whether private or public, and whether for profit or not, PEO consists of a
board of directors (the Council), a chief executive officer (the Registrar) and paid staff.
Since PEO is a self-regulating body, the membership (volunteers) contributes to both its
governance and its operation. Some volunteers serve on Council as councillors elected from
the membership, charged with overseeing organizational governance and strategic planning
while other volunteers work on committees, task forces, and in chapters carrying out the
actual work of the organization with the help of staff. To complicate matters even more,
PEO Council also has a number of appointed councillors, both engineers and non-engineers
(public representation), appointed by the provincial government.

The unique complexity of the PEO governance model became very important to the Task
Force as it analyzed the best practices of term limits and succession planning. It was through
this lens that the Task Force discussed and arrived at its conclusions.

3.2 Term Limits
3.21 General

When considering the issue of Council renewal, the Task Force, with the help of staff,
carried out a review of the Acts and By-Laws for each of the engineering constituent
associations across Canada and several sister organizations in Ontario, including
engineering organizations and other regulators. For details related to term limits and
nomination committees for their elected Councillors or Directors. See Appendices 1 and 2
for details of these. The review also included term limit information from the Not-for-Profit
Corporation Acts of both Ontario and Canada.

13
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Of the ten provincial associations, five (B.C., Alberta, P.E.l., Yukon and NWT & Nunavut)
have no restrictions or specifications related to term limits or re-election. The remaining five
have some restriction or limits. Two have restriction directed only for appointed
councillors. New Brunswick (NB) and Newfound land Labrador (NL) restrict appointed
councillors: NB limit is three times 2-years for a total of six years while NL is three times 3-
year terms for a total of nine years — both with a 2-year lapse before reappointment. Nova
Scotia elects the president and vice-president annually, while councillors (4 each year) have
2-year terms and are not eligible for re-election for two years to the same position.
(Presumably they can run for other positions.)

Ontario Society Professional Engineers (OSPE) allows two consecutive 2-year terms with a
2-year hiatus before running again. Note, for OSPE, the directors are elected to the board
and the board appoints them to specific positions, including President.

Ontario nurses and teachers are elected for up to two 3-year terms for a total of six years.
Nurses require a 2-year hiatus before being nominated again while teachers are restricted to
a total of seven years.

Most provincial engineering associations use nominating committees to identify candidates
for their council elections. Some of these endorse qualified candidates to assist members in
making their decisions. Other regulators in Ontario use either the Governance Committee or
the Executive Director to manage nominations, which in some cases are self nominating.

The TF also reviewed governance literature relevant to its mandate. It should be noted that
much of the literature related to boards, specifically to corporate boards and Not-for-Profit
Boards and thus the Task Force had some concerns about the direct relevancy of some of
this information to an elected Council. In the case of PEO, the members of the “board”
(Council) are primarily appointed (that is elected) by the members of the Association. The
comparison is not simple, since in for-profit and not-for profit boards, directors are
primarily appointed to the Board by the board members under the direction of the chairman.
The References (Section 6) lists the articles (with Internet link) supporting a review of the
topic. These articles are provided in full in Appendix 7.6 for ease of review now and access
in the future. In reviewing this material, one gains a better understanding of the general
application of board term limits and board member performance evaluation.

In addition, as described above, the Task Force met with two experts in the area of board
governance and were provided with some publications™. Specific questions were provided
to them as listed in Appendix 7.4.4 to initiate the discussion.

In considering term limits, the TF focused on providing Council with information and
advice on best practices in this area. The debate as to whether to implement term limits is
14
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not clear, however, those that take the position that there is no need for implementing term
limits typically say that there is a need for a robust performance management system. Our
investigation of good governance practice and requirements for Canadian non-profit
organizations included considering their application and appropriateness to PEO’s process
of electing members to Council. It is hoped implementing the TF’s recommendations will
lead to a more open, inclusive, energized, relevant and democratic Council. PEO should
have a Council that welcomes and encourages new ideas, with diversity in councillor
opinion and experience.

3.2.2 Option Analysis

Based on our review, experts considering the issue of board governance agree that all boards
need a renewal process and that the renewal process needs to be transparent. Very broadly
the strategies to accomplish this fall into two different camps: term limits and a robust
performance management based system.

Many boards have implemented term limits, but some have not. Those that have not
implemented mandatory term limits may have chosen a performance management based
system for selection and renewal for their board. However even where there is a
performance management based system there should be an upper limit on how long an
individual should serve on a board ™ I, In corporate boards, shareholders can become
skeptical when directors are on the board too long. The concerns seem to be triggered if
directors remain on the board longer than a specific amount of time. The experts vary on
how long is too long. Some say as little as 5 years. Others suggest nine years™L 13,
Additionally, some boards have instituted age limits for directors 2. The perception is that
if the directors are too old then they have lost touch with the developing issues and
solutions. Also, some boards that have term limits allow for a cooling off period before a
person can serve again on the board.

Based on the TF research effective boards adopt some level of performance evaluation to
support board renewal and director appointment or selection. Because of that finding, the
TF has decided to integrate this additional aspect into our investigation, analysis and
recommendations, as part of term limits and related practices.

Considering board renewal, in our case Council renewal, there are a minimum of three
options:

« Do nothing and maintain the current status quo,
 Establish mandatory term limits, or

15
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* Introduce a robust performance management system.

The following paragraphs discuss these options, which are then analyzed in the next section.

3.2.2.1 Status Quo

Currently there are no limits to the number of terms a councillor can serve. Councillors can
run for any position on Council regardless of their previous positions. For most positions,
no hiatus period is mandated, with the exception of a two-year gap between completing a
term as Past-President and running as President-Elect. Lieutenant Governor Appointed
(LGA) councillors have generally been limited to two or three 3-year terms by the
government.

3.2.2.2 Term Limits

Before considering the issue of term limits it is important to clarify what is meant by "term
limits". In this report the Task Force uses the number of terms (since Council positions
already have duration limits: e.g. Regional Councillor- two years, Vice president — one year
etc.). Thus, the Task Force is tasked to determine the appropriate number of terms (limits on
terms), which then limits the total length of time that individuals should remain in a position
and in fact on Council.

The Task Force also solicited feedback from other organizations regarding how they
manage board renewal, which is presented in the summary table in Appendix 1.

During its research, the Task Force identified numerous articles that provided arguments for
and against term limits. These broadened our understanding of the potential benefits of and
problems with implementing term limits. For further reading articles are listed in the
References Section 6 and 7.6 (Appendix 6). A summary of these arguments follows:

e Term limits provide a chance to retire (in fact get rid of) nonperforming or
misbehaving board members. Potential new board members may be more willing to
agree to be on the board since, with prescribed time limits for the role, they are not
committing for life and there is no prejudice when incumbents are removed from the
selection process.

e A limit to the number of terms avoids board members becoming too comfortable
with other board members and senior management.

e Term limits lead to a healthier board with a periodic infusion of “fresh blood”, new
energy and fresh points of view that challenge opinions, reducing or avoiding “group
think”, going down the same path with no challenge to the thinking.
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New directors bring a new insight and updated skill sets.

New members support each other and provide an element of collegiality when the
wave of new members start their term.

Particularly if there is no measurement of actual performance, board members will
determine their tenure based on their self-interest and complacency can develop.
Term limits counter this effect.

Term limits provide a painless way for people who aren't happy with their own
performance to retire gracefully and automatically (i.e. they don’t need to justify not
seeking re-appointment or “running again”).

Term limits reduce the likelihood that the same individuals will dominate board
discussions and decisions for an extended period of time.

Term limits grow the base of board alumni and groom a growing field of advocates
for the organizational.

Good board members will be more interested in volunteering on an active, energetic
board rather than one that is mired in the same discussions year after year.

Retiring Board members are not put out to pasture. They are still valuable to the
organization and can be encouraged to continue to participate on committees or as
advocates outside the organization raising the organization’s profile. Especially
valuable retirees can be appointed to advisory positions.

Term limits cause the loss of strong board members along with their experience,
knowhow, connections and expertise, and reduces the board’s institutional memory
and historical perspectives. This is a myth since individual do not totally retain the
total organization history, the board can rely on effective evaluation to support new
proposal and the new directors if effectively selected bring new and updated
knowledge, skills and experience.

Term limits result in the loss and stability provided by capable, dedicated members
who have a proven track record of board. Another myth, since change is inevitable

and changes and re-evaluation healthy.
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Term limits force members to step down with the loss of their passion and interest.
As stated earlier, if there is a great passion there are other ways to support the
organization.

The loss of a seasoned member results in the loss of the relationships held by that
particular member, with their networks of associates, [donors], with elected officials
or government workers. As stated above if there is a great passion there are other
ways to support the organization.

Some members don’t look forward to leaving and parting with long-time members
and relationships. However, the strictly social aspect of board member relation is not
seen as necessarily supportive of the board objectives.

Term limits cause the loss of the investment in training a member in your governing
process and the strategic issues of your organization. As stated above if there is a
great passion there are other ways to support the organization.

Removal of members changes the coherence of the team, which consequently needs
to recalibrate after every shakeup. This really means that the board gets a great
opportunity to reset their effectiveness.

Elected boards’ effectiveness is regularly tested by voters, and annual elections are a
sufficient mechanism for board renewal. This is the current status quo for PEO
Council and felt to be not supportive of effective board renewal.

Some term limit regimes include a cooling off period. However, there is no
consensus regarding the best length of the time for a cooling off period. In addition,
there is no consensus on a rationale for the cooling off period. [In many ways it
seems like a cooling off period is included as a compromise, with a hope that it will
not be used.]
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3.2.2.3 Performance Management Based Systems

The Institute of Corporate Directors (ICD) recommends that boards have a performance
management based system "including effective board evaluations set within a performance
culture.” In other words, boards and individual board members should be subjected to
review in the same way the board reviews their management team. This means instituting
regular and substantive evaluations of board composition and board member performance,
and following through, when necessary, by having “tough conversations” with
underperforming members or directors whose skills do not align with the organization’s
strategy. This will help create a culture of accountability, and foster high performing
boards"™’. However, for this system to be effective there needs to be willingness and an
ability to have the "tough conversation” and a mechanism to remove non-performing board
members.

One example of a board that has taken on the challenge of implementing a performance
management based system is described in Continuous Improvement in the Boardroom by
Tamara Paton and Shona McGlashan, The Corporate Board, March/April 2016 ™°. This
article describes how the Mountain Equipment Co-op (MEC) board strives for continuous
improvement within a performance management based system and without the use of term
limits. The MEC board has some strong parallels to PEO Council in that the board
members are directly elected from and by the membership. MEC allows members other
than those identified by the nominating committee to run for election. MEC has an on-line
voting system and MEC does not provide for proxy votes where the default proxy is a board
member.

MEC has made board development and feedback an ongoing part of the individual members
work in their board. Before the beginning of each election cycle the MEC board provides
updated nominations criteria that set out "the expertise and attributes that best align with
MEC's strategy and environment"™Z, Once all of the nominations are received an external
advisor interviews all the nominees and the board recommends certain candidates who best
align with the organization's needs.

MEC is committed to developing their board members and accordingly after the election
their governance committee reviews the board against an updated skills matrix and
determines the major development needs of the board. New directors attend a two-day
training session that includes a review of the board culture, an administration overview and
a discussion of senior management portfolios. They also have the opportunity of having a
"board buddy" or board mentor. After six months, there is a new director check-in to
determine if there are any additional needs.
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MEC’s board is subject to a robust peer evaluation. There is an annual formal peer
evaluation where each director completes a formal peer evaluation the results of which are
anonymously collated and the chair discusses the results annually with each board member
In addition, there is face-to-face feedback wherein each director spends ten minutes with
each of the other directors to provide specific feedback on their performance. Further, when
a director chooses to seek re-election the nominations committee reviews the director's peer
evaluations, which includes whether their colleagues on the board would support their re-
election and based on this information make a recommendation to the board which if
accepted gets communicated to the membership during the election process.

In addition to having a rigorous nominations and recommendation process, a comprehensive
training process and continuous evaluation of board members, the MEC board seeks
external evaluation every three to five years. The external consultant provides a thorough
evaluation of board practices and dynamics and offers recommendations to the board.

MEC also has a term limit for each board position. Once a board member has reached their
term limit they cannot run again until they have been off the board for a specified period of
time. However, notwithstanding that the MEC allows for a person to return to the board in
practice, board members have not returned.

3.2.3 Analysis

The TF reviewed the proposed three options in support of renewal and evolution of
Council’s effectiveness in light of industries best practice and provides the following:

3.2.3.1 Status Quo

The current situation has led in some cases to a lack of turnover on Council (See Appendix
4). Although most regional councillors limit themselves to two or three terms due to the
demands of this position, Councillors at Large and Officers (Vice President and Presidents)
have recently tended to serve multiple terms beyond what is considered best practice. LGA
councillors have also been staying longer than a desirable time. This situation has resulted
in some frustration on the part of those who would want to be on Council, but do not want to
run against a strong incumbent. The results of some elections can easily be predicted when
a well-known candidate runs against someone with little or no profile.

20



CTLTF-Report and Recommendation

Despite turnover at the regional level, there is a perception that Council does not change its
membership often enough, likely due to the lack of turnover at the more senior levels. This
has led to the current dissatisfaction that initiated the 2015 AGM resolutions and Council’s
decision to establish this TF. The TF terms of reference state that Council has approved in

principle some form of term limits.

3.2.3.2 Performance Management

In 2016 PEO Council undertook a Council evaluation survey. The survey was conducted on
the basis that the results would stay confidential, and were not made available to the TF.
However, it is understood that these evaluations would not result in councillors being asked
to leave Council, and the confidentiality of the results means that it will not affect voting for
elected councillors or the government appointment of LGAs. If a comprehensive and public
performance evaluation system were to be implemented, it would have to be administered
by a third party to be considered valid. The results would be available to voters and greater
turnover of councillors could be expected, as long as the electorate spent the time needed to
read and understand the information. However, third party administration would not
conform to the current system of open and free elections.

The Task Force is of the opinion that a comprehensive performance based system would be
too large a cultural change in view of the system that is currently in place. However, many
of the features of a performance management system should be considered over time.

3.2.3.3 Mandatory Term Limits

Term limits provide a guarantee of Council renewal as members are forced to leave after a
certain period of time. They cannot return and make use of their name recognition to gain
election to other positions. In order to fill the resultant vacancies, a succession planning
process becomes mandatory. This will serve to increase participation by the membership as
people become confident that positions will be available for them to contest. Term limits
for elected positions will also set an example for the government to follow in LGA
appointments.

The TF does not recommend including a cooling off period. A short cooling off period
would effectively be like not having a term limit. Based on the evidence it appears that even
a long cooling off period does not reduce the incumbent advantage in PEO elections. A
mandatory term limit will also help to show that PEO is instituting systemic changes that
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move away from an appearance of an “old boys club.”

Governance best practice strongly supports the implementation of mandatory term limits to
support board renewal.

3.2.3.4 Summary

The use of term limits by regulators and non-profit boards is not consistent. However, it is
considered a best practice, especially when paired with a robust performance evaluation
system, in governance literature. This applies to both elected and appointed boards. The TF
considered three options for PEQO: retain the status quo with no limitations on terms, develop
and implement a system of individual performance evaluations for councillors and publish
the results to the electorate, or implement hard term limits for all Council positions. These
were evaluated as follows:

e The status quo presents challenges for new candidates running against incumbents,
limiting Council renewal. This has also resulted in a Council that is not
representative of the membership’s diversity from age, gender or ethnicity
perspectives. The TF does not consider that this is acceptable.

e Although a performance evaluation based system could be effective, it would take
many years and a substantial change in the attitude of many councillors to make it
work. The first steps to create such a system have begun and the TF supports
continuing in this direction. However, a more immediate solution is required.

e Term limits, i.e. a lifetime limit to the number of terms an elected councillor can
serve in any given position and in total, will result in renewal of Council and prevent
incumbent or former elected councillors from using their name recognition to
dominate elections. They are clear and unambiguous, and have none of the potential
negative impact of publicized poor performance evaluations. They can be
implemented immediately and evaluated based on their results.

While term limits may be viewed as being not required when replaced with a robust
performance evaluation process, the TF is recommending mandatory term limits. Some
would say that is really what the election process provides. In reality, there is little in the
way of performance data provided to the people making the election evaluation decision.
Successful candidate selection is based on limited data and primarily on name recognition
and/or popularity. In contrast, providing mandatory term limits ensures that there is PEO
Council renewal.
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The TF is strongly in favour of mandatory lifetime term limits.

3.3 Succession Planning

The Council Term Limit Task Force was also assigned a second purpose that dovetailed
with term limits, namely to consider “Succession Planning” for the PEO Council. This step
is appropriately undertaken in anticipation of adoption of a term limits strategy. Although
either initiative could be adopted independently, the two are indeed complimentary. PEO
must be active in taking steps to prepare more (in both numbers and skill) candidates to
stand for elected positions on Council.

331 Best Practice Review

In recent years forward thinking boards have started to look seriously at the issue of
succession planning. These boards have realized that new directors will help shape their
future. Organizations that want “to be more visionary, strategic, accountable and action
oriented rather than risk adverse can look to succession planning to establish a foundation
for long term change.” (S6, p.7).

Succession planning provides a structure and a process to address the challenges that may
occur when key members of an organization leave. Succession planning should be used at
all levels of the organization -- staff, CEO, and board.

Diverse literature on board succession planning mentions the following basic criteria for the
process to be successful 658

* A strategic committee, charged with the task of developing a recruitment strategy, is
needed. The Committee must utilize a continuous process looking at both current and
future vacancies.

* Board Assessment: A list of skills, competencies and experiences needed for effective
board governance should be established by the committee. Then there should be a board
member assessment done annually that studies personal competency and skills
assessment and board efficacy needs. A director competency matrix can then be
developed to describe the competencies, skills and experiences of the current directors
and the key ones required for new directors. In developing the matrix, existing needs
should be listed alongside the competencies each current director has. From this the
skills gaps are determined.

* Board Orientation Manual: It is very important that prospective candidates/ new board
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members have an up-to date board manual with the following information:

a.

b.

n.

0.

The organization’s mission statement of the organization

A history of the organization

A description of the organization’s governance structure and operations
Board Code of Conduct

Meeting frequency and format

Board member job descriptions and time commitments

Other committee expectations

Bylaws

Policies and procedures, especially related to board meetings and directors
The most recent strategic plan

The most recent budget and other financial information

A list of the organization’s committees and task forces, and their respective
terms of reference

Minutes of recent meetings and the last AGM
Contact information of each director

Forms related to board members including expense forms and guidelines

« Board Training: This should be provided for all Board members, not just for new
members. It is important to think outside the box with new innovative methods: online
courses, podcasts, conferences, workshops, mentoring, etc. Sharing experiences and
knowledge not only helps members but produces a sense of collegiality on the board.

Composition of Board

Professional skills by themselves do not ensure governance effectiveness. There are other
key criteria such as diversity and culture to name just two. It is also important to choose
candidates for directors who are a good fit with the Board’s core values and aren’t oblivious
to its mission. Boards often recruit for skills that will aid the board in decision-making,
such as finance, accounting, legal and public relations. Academic qualifications, relevant
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experience, demonstrated ability, and understanding of how a board operates are core skills
when looking for a board member. It is also important to consider interpersonal skills. (see
S6, p.12)

If there are external appointments to the board (LGA’s in the case of PEO), a succession
planning program should be conducted in concert with the external body (the Attorney-
General) that makes these appointments. This is also an opportunity to fill possible gaps in
board diversity. The primary purpose of this program is to ensure that the composition of
the board is systematically refreshed to ensure that the board contains directors with:

» Skills and experience relevant to the organization’s strategic direction and operating
environment

« Knowledge and ability to work with colleagues to deliver the high standard of
governance performance expected by stakeholders

« Itis important to note that for a well-balanced board, there should be some directors
with generic governance qualifications, and board content specialists that bring a
special capability to the board and board leadership roles.

Ideally recruitment specifications would also become the basis of position descriptions
within the board’s governance documentation. Recruitment specifications and position
descriptions should be reviewed on a regular basis.

3.3.2 Succession Planning for Elected Boards

Board Works International states that “There is a tendency for boards whose members are
elected to be somewhat fatalistic about succession planning. They seem to think that it is a
waste of time because matters are beyond their influence. Alternatively, they feel that it
would be inappropriate to attempt to influence an electoral process because that might be
perceived as ‘manipulation’. Our view ... is that succession planning is even more
important when boards are elected. In organizations where board elections tend to be a
popularity contest it is easy to end up with a board that lacks the wherewithal to do the job.

“To minimize the risk, the board’s approach to succession planning should be about creating
a transparent process an informed electorate.... The equivalent of the ‘recruitment
specification” becomes an information memorandum that is made available to potential
candidates and to the board’s electors.”s?

Some organizations add another dimension called an independent pre-election assessment
process. An independent panel would assess each candidate against the desired director
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profile and succession planning criteria, including an interview. The panel would then rank
the candidates in order of their fit with succession planning criteria. Members can still vote
how they want, but ultimately the improved information will help them make better
decisions.

If the size of the PEO Council were to be reduced in the future, then the demand for more
skilled councillors would be even greater than before. PEO must adopt the best practices for
succession planning, and increase their efforts on leadership development.

3.3.3 Current State of Succession Planning at PEO
Succession Planning is a three-fold process:

i) identifying suitable candidates,
i) preparing them for their potential future role on the Council, and
iii) mentoring elected new councillors:

3.3.3.1 Identifying Candidates

As stated in the introduction, prior to 1999, PEO had a nominating committee that
specifically nominated candidates. Candidates put forth by the nominating committee were
so recognized, and this was perceived as an unfair advantage, an endorsement of sorts. To
level the playing field, the nominating committee was changed to a search committee to
eliminate the perceived endorsement of a few chosen candidates. The result of this decision
was that the nominated candidates were typically volunteers in the Chapter and/or
Committee system. Very few external candidates outside of the PEO volunteer system, that
is business leaders and general membership, came forward.

The current PEO process for identifying candidates is minimal. The Central Election and
Search Committee(CESC), including both penultimate past, past, and current presidents,
meets to identify potential candidates for the President-Elect, Vice-President, and
Councillor-At-Large positions. The active effort of this committee is limited to perhaps four
or five months preceding the closing date of nominations. Committee members contact
identified individuals to encourage them to consider running for office. It is important to
note that this committee is a search committee, not a nomination committee, and pursuant to
its mandate, cannot endorse candidates. Ironically, this is in direct contrast to certain
external special interest groups which have been formed to endorse their candidates.
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Each of the five Regions has a Regional Election and Search Committee (RESC) that is led
by the Junior Regional Councillor who seeks input from the Region’s Chapter Chairs for
names of individuals that might consider running as a Regional Councillor. Depending
upon the Junior Councillor, this activity may start at the June Regional Congress, but more
likely, after the September Congress, only ten weeks before nominations close. As with
CESC, the RESC cannot endorse any candidate.

Some dedicated members of the Association (who may or may not be part of the CESC and
RESC structure) are always on the lookout for promising individuals, through contact with
the Committee, Chapter, and business worlds. PEO should develop a recruitment strategy
that includes the strengths of this informal process.

3.3.3.2 Training Candidates

The second aspect of succession planning is the training of prospective candidates. To a
minor extent, PEO addresses this succession plan of sorts. The Chapters Department
conducts annual training of Chapter volunteers (Chapter Leaders Conference), but the focus
is on how these volunteers can serve the Chapter system, not Council. Chapter service is
one of the first steps down a longer road towards service on Council.

Likewise, PEO’s Advisory Committee on Volunteers (ACV), also hosts a one-day
conference entitled the Committee Chairs Workshop. As the name implies, this event
brings together all of the Committee Chairs for a training session, and focuses on the
training needs of the Committee Chairs.

Recently a third conference, the VVolunteers Leaders Conference (VLC), was developed to
bring PEO’s volunteers from both the Chapter and the Committees together to discuss
common interests, and raise awareness of one another’s roles and responsibilities. The VLC
Planning Committee is spearheaded by Corporate Services with participation by the
Regional Councillors Committee (RCC), the ACV, and PEO staff.

It is fair to say that this amount of preparation is insufficient. A candidate may realize there
is a significant amount of time and effort required of a good Councillor, but undoubtedly,
the actual amount is understated unless they have had a serious conversation with an
incumbent. Regardless, there is currently no formal assistance to better prepare a candidate
to understand the knowledge and skills necessary to be an effective Councillor.

The current Council Manual provides background on each specific elected position, but it
understates the true time commitment required of a councillor. The best source of
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information for potential board member is consultation with incumbent board members.

3.3.3.3 Mentoring

The process of succession planning must not end when the newly elected Councillor takes
office. Before the first meeting of the new Council, experienced Councillors should mentor
new councillors, one on one, to assist them in understanding their role and responsibilities
within the Council and organization. This would also be done for LGA Councillors
immediately after their appointment. This is to compliment the current Council Orientation
being done by staff. Personal mentoring of new councillors by the experienced councillors
is considered a best practice, and makes the new councillor more comfortable in their new
role. Historically, the Council Workshop in June does provide an opportunity for some
mentoring to occur.

3.3.3.4 Analysis

It is more likely that a driven individual with aspirations for higher office or longevity on
council is the one who will adopt his/her own personal succession plan. Due to the present
electoral process, being visible to the electorate is currently more critical to being elected
than enhancing the required skill sets.

Effective succession planning is not a one-time effort; “it is a marathon, not a sprint” (S7,
p.1). Executed properly, it must be a continuous and permanent activity. It can be likened
to gardening — to quote the Bible, “you reap what you sow”. The agricultural comparison
is an excellent one. However, the growing season may be in terms of years rather than
months.

To reiterate, succession planning is not a three or four-month effort preceding an election.
Rather, it takes many PEO volunteers to be continually diligent in recruitment, knowing full
well that many candidates must be approached, and nurtured, to result in successful
outcomes. Only a few of the original identified volunteers may eventually stand for
election, and be successfully elected to serve on Council.

Finally, once elected to Council, a new representative should be mentored by one of the
more experienced Councillors who can answer questions about board procedures,
expectations, and committee structures (to name just a few areas). This is an example of
best practice in succession planning.
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4. CONCLUSIONS

4.1 General

The TF concludes that for successful implementation of improved board renewal
governance, it is essential that both term limits and succession planning be in place. Term
limits on its own can result in a situation where qualified candidates may not be available
and board renewal may not take place. Outside groups with their own agendas can take
over the function of finding candidates, leaving PEO not in control of its own destiny.
Succession planning on its own will result in situations where qualified individuals are not
able to get elected to Council due to intransigence on the part of incumbents who refuse to
give up their seats. Incumbency is strongly correlated with electoral success. The following
sections provide details of the TF’s conclusions specific to term limits and succession
planning, and assume that these will both be implemented in a complementary manner.

4.2 Term Limits

All elected and appointed positions on council should have a term limit (a limit on the
number of terms). Specific limits are proposed for both general and executive members of
Council. The TF is also proposing a lifetime term limit (total years of service).

The Task Force concluded that six to seven combined years of service was optimal
regarding the general council positions of LGA, Councillor at Large and/or Regional
Councillor. This translates to a term limit of three two-year terms for elected Councillors.
LGAs would be limited to two terms, based on three-year terms (or six years total as an
LGA). If a Councillor has a mix of LGA-member and elected terms, only one three-year
term could be as an LGA. The total service could then be seven years otherwise the six-year
limit would apply with a combination of shorter terms as an LGA. Note that these terms can
be continuous with no gaps required.

If a councillor wishes to run for further leadership roles at the executive level following the
above described limits, the limits should be one term (one year) as Vice-President and one
three-year term as President- elect, President and Past-President. It was felt that former
presidents should not run for any Councillor positions after serving as president.

By way of example, someone could serve a total of six or seven years in the positions of
LGA, Councillor at Large and/or Regional Councillor followed by Vice President and then
President-elect, President and Past President for a total of ten or eleven years.
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It is important that PEO be perceived as an organization that not only welcomes but
encourages participation and encourages a wide range of ideas. By instituting term limits
for every position on Council, PEO will be taking steps to show that it is looking for new
people and trying to increase its relevance by increasing engagement with its membership.

As described above, term limits are considered by many as a best practice for non-profit
boards. There are numerous benefits for implementing term limits for all positions. For
example, it has been observed that after six years on a board, members typically lose focus
and or enthusiasm. As well, after six years some members will have developed entrenched
positions which may be problematic for a board that wants to move forward and institute
new ideas with regards to developing (evolving) practice situations. Best practices suggest
that by limiting terms there is a sharpened focus so that a member can move their issue
forward within their term.

Over the years there has been much discussion regarding the need for a PEO elected Vice-
President. The CTLTF had similar discussions but as long as this position exists it
concluded that there is the opportunity of serving only one term in this office. From a
succession planning point of view, this position actually plays an important function in
preparing potential candidates for President-elect.

The TF acknowledges the need for some flexibility in applying the years-of-service term
limits to accommodate in cases of interim and special appointments. In certain cases,

a qualified member may be appointed to fill a position on Council vacated for health,
business or personal reasons, or which cannot be filled during an election. The TF feels that
an interim appointment, while likely rare, and should not contribute to an individual's future
term limit year eligibility count. Additionally, following completions of their years of
service term limits, a qualified individual could be appointed to fill a Council vacancy
where no candidate has been nominated. Also, being appointed as the ~~Appointed Vice-
President ““does not affect the one year limit for the Vice-President position.

In regards to next steps or implementation, the CTLTF concluded that it would be best if
these recommended term limits are entrenched in our governing legislation.

Since changing the Engineering Act or the Regulations is a time consuming and intense
process the CTLTF concludes that in the short term the need for term limits should be
effectively communicated to the membership. This would be an opportunity for Council to
communicate to the membership that they are being responsive to the numerous motions
that have come to Council in regards to term limits and succession planning. It would also
be an opportunity to provide basic, factual, information on each candidate in regards to at
least previous time served on Council. It would also potentially be an opportunity to
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communicate that role of Council within the organization to provide an opportunity to
evaluate candidates in the context of the role of Council.

4.3 Succession Planning

43.1 Skills and Attributes

For a successful succession planning process, PEO needs to develop a definition of the skills
and attributes a valued future Councillor must have. This is important in two ways. First, it
becomes the tool used to assist prospective candidates to ready themselves for Council
service. Second, it will assist PEO to measure the effectiveness of a current Council
composition, and to provide guidance for improving it.

The following is a suggested starting point for further development:

Academic and professional qualifications

Board experience — service on other volunteer or paid boards for community groups,
businesses, etc.

Engineering experience — preferably worked in the engineering field for at least 10
years

Managerial skills

Understanding of PEO, its role as a regulator and applicable legislation
Understanding of PEO Council’s role and responsibilities

Understanding of the PEO Chapter system

Experience in accounting, law, government relationships, public and media relations
Personality and likely boardroom behaviour

Knowledge of sister associations (OSPE, OAA, OACETT)

Financial acumen — understanding financial statements, employment practices,
Good judgement

Strong communication skills

Impartiality

Compassion and respect for others

Willingness to learn

Ability to devote the time required
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This list becomes PEO’s starting point for both defining who might be approached to run in
the future (say one to five years from now) as well as a basis for developing learning
modules to upgrade those candidates that may need strengthening in some capacity or
experience.

4.3.2 Improving the Search for Candidates

Currently, the two primary sources of candidates are the chapter system and committees. A
third source is other engineering associations such as OSPE and CEO. Recruiting from the
membership at large and outside engineering related companies is minimal.

One avenue that has not recently been tapped is the private professional world. At present,
there is no established link between PEO and the major engineering firms other than through
CEO. In addition to consulting engineers, PEO should tap into the engineering community
in manufacturing, industry, transportation, public infrastructure, etc.

4.3.3 Upgrading Candidate Qualifications

PEO needs to develop a comprehensive leadership training program. This should be based
on the skills and competencies needed to be an effective councillor. These courses should
be readily available to all Members, whether to prepare for Council, or just to broaden their
own knowledge base.

Some material is already available on SharePoint, such as information on PEO, its
committees and chapters, its publications and Council. This material should be regularly
updated, and easily accessible to all members.

An initial step would be an updating, and expansion of the Council Briefing Manual,
including all relevant information as suggested in the Best Practices section. It may also be
advantageous to prepare video modules of council meetings.

Any skill and knowledge courses could be developed and delivered electronically and
through podcasts.

As previously mentioned, PEO currently hosts three, one day conferences (Committee
Chairs Workshop, Volunteers Leadership Conference, Chapter Leaders Conference) to
enhance the skills of their volunteers. The first one focuses on the Committee delegates, the
second brings together both the Committee and Chapter volunteers for interaction, and the
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third is focused on the Chapter volunteers. Typically, each involves the Chairs, and Vice-
Chairs of their respective Chapters and Committees. Junior volunteers in these respective
groups do not attend these events. If PEO is serious about succession planning, then it
needs to develop training that reaches out to all of PEOs membership.

It is important to have an annual Future Leaders Symposium to bring in some of the best
and brightest of PEO’s young volunteers to introduce them to PEO beyond the Chapter
system. This could encourage these volunteers to join PEO committees, take some of the
leadership modules, and eventually assume leadership roles on Committees and/or Council.

There is also the risk of discouraging potential candidates if the wealth of information
becomes overwhelming. Ideally the material could be structured as course work; then
perhaps it could count towards a professional development credit though it is not technical
in nature.

434 Barriers to Overcome to Attract New Candidates

To achieve a better response from individual members, PEO must also understand the
barriers to service facing the engineering membership, particularly those issues that
discourage certain demographic categories. PEO can then take steps to minimize their
impact.

The job description and time commitment for an elected Councillor best fits someone who is
not professionally active, i.e. a recently retired engineer. For a working engineer, the
demand upon their time during the work day is such that few companies are prepared to
allow an individual to be absent from work to such an extent. When a volunteer uses their
vacation time, or lieu time, for PEO service, this only shortchanges their family life. Those
with young children would be particularly disadvantaged. It is important that steps be taken
to encourage employers to understand the value of PEO service to minimize the impact on
personal time.

There is no personal financial impediment to Council service since all expenses directly
incurred due to Council activities are reimbursable. However, with respect to finances, if a
company is not prepared to allow an employee to be out of the office for approximately
fifteen business days each year, then PEO may have to compensate employers for their
absence. It is most easily accomplished with consulting engineering firms that have
established per diem rates. It will be more challenging to establish that with an industrial,
institutional, or manufacturing firm.
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Releasing an employee for approximately fifteen business days is more than just a financial
concern for business. The employer must be convinced that this board experience is of
benefit to both the individual, and the firm as well.

One only needs to examine the OSPE Board to realize that they have made advances in the
areas that this task force is recommending. Gender parity, younger (mid-career)
representation, and a less onerous time commitment are the obvious examples of how they
have succeeded.

435 Council Self-Assessment

As detailed in Section 3.2.2.3, PEO should examine the make-up of PEO Council annually
with a GAP analysis. It should define the attributes of a strong, dynamic, diverse Council
according to an established list of skills.

Recently Council has undertaken a self assessment of Council by councillors. The Task
Force was not able to review the findings of this report, but understand it is an initial step in
this regard. This assessment could be enhanced with input from recently retired
Councillors. Exit interviews for departing councillors would be a good initial step.

4.3.6 Educating the Electorate

Improving the slate of candidates might not be sufficient to achieve the desired effect
without also educating the voting members as to what attributes are most important to have
in an elected Councillor. An information campaign to educate the electorate as to the skills
and the knowledge of engineering issues required for a Councillor position is very important
and would minimize the impact of the simple “name recognition” advantage. Voting is
important, but an educated vote is most important.

With appropriate election articles in Engineering Dimensions, the election package and the
gap analysis for the upcoming Council, the electorate will have the necessary information to
make an informed vote. Whether the members use this information is another matter. It is
important that the electorate understand they play an important role in the governance of the
profession through the electoral process.
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Beyond just electing a candidate, the electorate must understand that they have a hand in
creating a Council that works as a team, a Council focused on the future of the profession.
The electorate must be aware of this responsibility to not just elect a Councillor, but to
ensure the entire Council is properly constituted.

4.3.7 Corporate Support of Council Service

To most of our Members, PEO is merely a licensing body. Those Members pay their annual
fees, which they consider to be “just a tax”. They do not see the fees as a professional
obligation to support the mechanism that protects the public. Many members do attend the
occasional Chapter function, and also read the bimonthly journal, Engineering Dimensions.

A few members contribute to service on Chapter Executives, and various Committees,
though the percentage is small. Many also provide feedback to newly developed standards
and guidelines. Volunteering for other PEO programs such as National Engineering Month
activities, educational outreach, mentoring, etc. invariably come from Chapter volunteers
since the “average” member isn’t familiar with these programs’ existence.

PEO needs to improve its’ public image as the regulator of professional engineering within
the province. Engineering typically captures the public’s attention when there is a serious
failure of some sort.

Coincidentally, PEO must also convince corporations to value the regulating of the
profession of engineering. PEO needs to reach out to leaders in the engineering community
to get feedback on how the two can work together to create partnerships to strengthen their
relations with PEO.

It may be necessary to develop ways of recognizing companies that allow their employees to
serve PEO. This may include acknowledging their support in national newspapers, at the
awards dinners, the Annual General Meeting, etc.

The engineering world has changed over the years, and even if companies like the exposure
for supporting PEO, they still may not be prepared to release employees for service since it
becomes a financial burden as well. Future PEO budgets could allow for compensation to
companies to ensure all efforts taken to improve council representation by younger
members, etc. This aspect of the succession planning strategy is left for a future task force.
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5. RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Term Limits

Further to Council's in principle approval of implementing term limits, the Task Force
recommends the following specific term limits, excluding interim or special appointments as
described in Section 4.2:

General Member of Council

1.

Members may serve a lifetime maximum of three two-year terms as a Regional
Councillor or Councillor at Large, or a combination of both positions. Former
LGA councillors may serve two elected terms if they have one term as an LGA, and
cannot serve if they have more than one term as an LGA.

PEO should influence the government not to appoint LGAs to more than two terms
as a lifetime maximum, and one term if they have previously served on Council as a
Regional Councillor or Councillor at Large.

Executive Member of Council

(Term Limits are in addition to the General Member term limits)

3.
4.

Members may serve one term as Elected Vice-President

Members may serve one term as President-Elect, followed by terms as President and
Past-President

A member having served as President may not hold any subsequent position on
Council.

The TF recommends the following next steps for implementation of term limits:

6.

Immediately, include in the election material information on recommended term
limits for each position and provide information on all candidates’ service on
Council to date.

Entrench in our governing legislation the recommend term limits as specified above.
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5.2 Succession Planning

In addition to a Council decision to adopt term limits for service on Council, even more
important is that a new, or renewed, task force must be constituted to focus specifically on
succession planning as identified herein.

While PEO works on legislative changes to institute term limits through the by-law
structure, a more immediate exercise is to develop a solid succession plan to begin
producing qualified candidates for Council.

The Council Term Limit Task Force strongly endorses succession planning activities to
improve the calibre of all candidates standing for election. Several strategies are necessary
for the best electoral outcome:

1)
2)
3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

9)

Council must_identify the skills and experience that the best Councillors would
exhibit

The search committee/ employs the defined skills list to find suitable candidates in
the engineering community.

PEO must develop a leadership program and provide_training opportunities for
interested candidates to upgrade their skill sets in the areas that are deemed of value
A Future Leaders Symposium should be held yearly or bi-annually to introduce
PEOQ, the organization and leadership possibilities within the organization, to young
volunteers.

The electorate must be educated_on the necessary skills and competencies to look
for in Council candidates

Council undertakes a gap analysis on an annual basis to identify weaknesses in
current council make-up, and identifies appropriate criteria for strengthening the
team

The engineering public_must be educated in the importance of Council’s role in
regulating the profession., This may increase the interest of suitable candidates to
aspire for service to their profession.

PEO must work with engineering companies to encourage ways to facilitate their
employees to consider service to the profession

Determine if it is possible to remove barriers that impede certain volunteers of a
specific demographic (specifically age and family status) from serving on Council

10) PEO must set aside money for training and possibly employer compensation
11) The Council Manual should be updated and made more complete so that it can be

used for information and training

12) A mentorship program should be set up for new councillors.
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13) HRC must communicate to the Public Appointments Secretariat our skills/
competencies guideline for Lieutenant-Governor Appointed Councillors. These
appointments (if staggered in time) may also assist in fulfilling our gap analysis.

5.3 Future Work

The CTLTF recommends that Council implements term limits as soon as possible to have
them in place before the next election. The Legislation Committee has advised that the best
approach would be to make changes to Regulation 941, and that these could be done in a
reasonable time frame. Regardless, the Election Guide should be revised to include term
limits and although these will not have the authority of Regulation, it can be made very clear
what is expected of candidates. The new term limits should also be conveyed to members
via email and with their election package.

Implementation of succession planning will require the creation of a successor task force,
which may need to operate for some years until succession planning is working properly.
Because of the importance of succession planning once term limits are in place, this task
force should begin its work early in the next Council year. This will allow time to prepare
its terms of reference and solicit members, with approval at the first Council meeting. It
should be kept in mind that governance is a specialized area of study and not one that
engineers have much experience in. Because of this, the CTLTF recommends that sufficient
budget be made available to the new task force so it can hire governance specialists to
advise it on the best way to proceed. A business plan covering all reasonable costs for the
task force should be prepared as part of creating the terms of reference. Funding will be
reviewed annually if the task force continues to work beyond one year.

The succession planning implementation task force will also be well positioned to monitor
the impact of term limits and to recommend any adjustments that may be required.
Experience will be the best way to judge their effectiveness. Ongoing attention to
governance issues benefits any organization, and many of our sister organizations have
governance committees that do this. The impact of the 1994 and 1997 task force
recommendations on elections were not reviewed for nearly 20 years, and it is likely that
regular reviews would have had a positive impact.

The CTLTF has been advised that other potential changes to PEO’s governance are being
discussed. Council has embarked on a process of implementing performance evaluation for
Councillors and Council and the Task Force supports the continuation and enhancement of
these initiatives. The composition of Council is also under study by another task force.
These initiatives could be complementary to the implementation of term limits and
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succession planning, but would not be alternative to it. Robust renewal is essential to
improve the relevance and performance of Council and this is best served by term limits and
succession planning.
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7.1 APPENDIX 1: A Summary of Information on Term Limits by other

Regulators

Association

Act or By-Law Excerpts

APEGBC (B.C.)

No

APEGA (Alberta)

No

APEGS

(Saskatchewan)

Yes, only for appointed councillors.

1 term = 3 years

Max. 2 consecutive terms / 6 years

Engineering and Geoscience Professions Act

Public Appointees

10 (3) Subject to subsection (4), a councillor appointed pursuant to
subsection (1) holds office until that person’s successor is appointed and
is eligible for reappointment, but is not eligible to hold office for more
than two consecutive terms.

APEGM

Yes
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(Manitoba)
1 term = 2 years

Max. 3 consecutive terms / 6 years

Engineering and Geoscientific Professions Act

Elected councillors

8(1) Each elected councillor shall be a resident of Manitoba elected from
among the members for a term of two years, or portion thereof as
prescribed by the by-laws, and any councillor may be re-elected for a
second and third term, but is not eligible for election for a fourth or
subsequent term until at least one term has elapsed after the expiry of the
last previous term of office as councillor.

APEGNB Yes, only for appointed councillors.
(New Brunswick)
1 term = 2 years

Max. 3 consecutive terms / 6 years

By-Laws

Public Appointees

8.2.15 Councillors appointed pursuant to Section 8.2.12 may be
reappointed for a second and third term but are not eligible to be
appointed to a further term of office until at least two years has elapsed
since the expiry of the previous term of office as an appointed councillor.
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ENGPEI (P.E.1.) No
ENGNS Yes
(Nova Scotia)
1 term = 2 years
No consecutive terms for President, Vice-President, and Councillors.
Engineering Profession Act
Terms of Office
5 (1) The President and the Vice-President shall be elected annually. Four
Councillors shall be elected annually for a term of two years.
(2) The retiring President, Vice-President and Councillors shall not
be eligible for re-election to the same office for the following year.
PEGNL Yes

(Newfoundland and
Labrador)

1 term = 3 years

Max. 3 consecutive terms / 9 years

Engineering and Geoscientists Act
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Board

4. (5) A member may be elected for a term set by the by-laws which shall
not exceed 3 years and is eligible to be re-elected, but shall not serve as
a member for more than 9 consecutive years.

APEY (Yukon) No
NAPEG No
(NWT & Nunavut)

LSUC No
(Lawyers)

CNO Yes
(Nurses)

1 term = 3 years

Max. 2 consecutive terms / 6 years

By-Law
Election of Council Officers

9.02 A councillor is not eligible for nomination or election if the
councillor held that elected position during the previous two consecutive
terms.
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OCT

(Teachers)

Yes

1 term = 3 years

Max. 2 consecutive terms / 6 years + 1 year

Ontario College of Teachers Act

Composition of Council
4. (2) The Council shall be composed of,

(a) 23 persons who are members of the College and who are elected by
the members of the College in accordance with the regulations;

Term of office

5. (1) No term of a Council member shall exceed three years, except as
permitted by regulation. (see Reg. 225/00)

Multiple terms

5 (2) A person may be a Council member for more than one term but no
person may be a Council member for more than seven consecutive
years.

Regulation 225/00 — Extension of Term of Office of Elected Member of
Council

1. This Regulation applies to persons who,
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(a) are members of the Council on the day Ontario Regulation 611/05 is
filed; and

(b) were elected as members of the Council under clause 4 (2) (a) of the
Act. O. Reg. 225/00, s. 1; O. Reg. 611/05, s. 1.

2. The terms of office of persons to whom this Regulation applies are
extended to the earlier of November 8, 2006, or the day before the first
regular meeting of the Council held after the 2006 election of Council
members at which a quorum is present. O. Reg. 611/05, s. 2.

CPSO (Physicians) | No

CPO No

(Physiotherapists)
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7.2 APPENDIX 2: A Summary of Information on Nomination and Governance

Committees in other Requlators

Nomination Committees in Constituent Associations

Association Nomination Rules for Page(s)
Committee (NC) | Board/Council
Nomination
Process
Provincial Engineers

APEGBC (British Columbia) Bylaw 3 (a.1) Bylaw 3(b-e) 2-3
APEGA (Alberta) Bylaw 2 Bylaw 3, 4, 5 4
APEGS (Saskatchewan) Bylaw 3(1) Bylaw 3(3-6) 5
APEGM (Manitoba) GP-8.1 Bylaw 3.1.2-4 6-7
APEGNB (New Brunswick) Bylaw 9.1 Bylaw 8.2 8-9
ENGPEI (Prince Edward Island) | Bylaw 9.1 Bylaw 8.1 10
ENGNS (Nova Scotia) Bylaw 6(1) Bylaw 6(2-6) 11-12
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PEGNL (Newfoundland/Labrador| Bylaw 5.2 Bylaw 5.4 13
APEY (Yukon) Bylaw 7 Bylaw 8 14
NAPEG (NW Bylaw 3(a) Bylaw 3(b-f) 15
Territories/Nunavut)

Ontario Regulators
LSUC (Lawyers) No NC No NC 16
CNO (Nurses) No NC No NC
OCT (Teachers) Bylaw 6.05 Bylaw 6.06
CPSO (Physicians) Bylaw 44 Bylaw 15
CPO (Physiotherapists) No NC No NC
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Governance Committees in Constituent Associations

Association

Governance
Committee

Provincial Engineers

APEGBC (British Columbia) Yes
APEGA (Alberta) Yes
APEGS (Saskatchewan) No
APEGM (Manitoba) No
APEGNB (New Brunswick) No
ENGPEI (Prince Edward Island) | No
ENGNS (Nova Scotia) No
PEGNL (Newfoundland/Labrador) | No
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APEY (Yukon) No
NAPEG (NW Territories/Nunavut) | No
Ontario Regulators
LSUC (Lawyers) No
CNO (Nurses) No
OCT (Teachers) Yes
CPSO (Physicians) Yes
CPO (Physiotherapists) No
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7.3 APPENDIX 3 A Summary of Information on Succession Planning by other

Reqgulators

As part of PEO’s research into succession planning for Council, a scan request was sent to
other provincial engineering organizations and Ontario regulators asking for general
information about succession planning for their Council/Board and/or Committees. Below
are responses from those who participated.

APEGBC

British
Columbia

Council (REFER TO BYLAW 3 - ELECTION OF COUNCIL
https://www.apeq.bc.ca/getmedia/e0c7d14c-ed74-4872-9a58-
0a4bb2cd59b7/APEGBC-Bylaws.pdf.aspx )

e there are 2 ways by which members can run for election: 1) Nomination by
the Nominating Committee or 2) Nomination by 25 members

e The eligible voters elect those that will serve on Council (elect 1 President,
1 Vice President and 5 Councillors). The provincial government appoints 4
public members to serve on Council.

e APEGBC’s Nominating Committee must nominate 3 or more candidates
than there are vacancies for the role of Councillor, two candidates for the
role of Vice President, and one or more candidates for the role of President

e The Nominating Committee gives consideration to four forms of diversity
with respect to its selection of candidates: disciplinary diversity, gender,
regional representation and ethnicity.

e An analysis is undertaken of the disciplinary balance, regional
representation and gender diversity amongst (i) continuing Councillors
(including government appointees), (ii) the membership as a whole, and
(iii) the candidate pool that is developed. This analysis informs the
committee’s deliberations with respect to the selection of candidates.

e The Nominating Committee has developed a desired skills and experience
candidate profile which is used to select candidates (advanced skills in
leadership, governance, strategy, and financial management)

e The Nominating Committee advertises the opportunity to run as a nominee
for Council under the Nominating Committee slate

e Committee members are asked to recommend potential nominees,
particularly those in their own regional area, which meet the skills outlined
in the matrix

o For the office of President, the committee may only nominate one or more
candidates who have served two or more years on Council.

e For the office of Vice-President, the committee may only nominate
candidates who have served one or more years on Council
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¢ the Nominating Committee reviews the potential candidates and selects the
final slate and submits the names to the Registrar at least 90 days prior to
the AGM

e Once the nominees are published, nominations for candidates may also be
made in writing by any 25 or more members or licenses who are in good
standing. These nominations must be received by the Registrar no later
than 30 days after the publication of the list of candidates nominated by the
Nominating Committee

e Those candidates that are nominated by 25 members do not require
previous Council experience (as is required for Nominating Committee
nominees for the positions of VP and President)

Committees

e Succession planning on committees is encouraged

e Generally, members are appointed to committees by Council for a 2-year
term

e appointments are tracked by our HR department

e the staff support for the committee is notified generally 6 months in
advance of terms expiring

e members can only serve a 6-year maximum on each committee (Council
can extend for special circumstances) — this is to ensure that we
continually have new people joining the committee (new perspectives)

e diversity on committee’s is encouraged (gender, age, ethnicity, discipline)

o all volunteer positions are posted on our website to provide all members
with an equal opportunity to apply

e committee members review applicants and choose volunteers based on the
current needs of the committee

APEGS

Saskatchewan

Our Council / Committees function on a bit of what I could describe as a down
/ up and up / down basis. It is best that | provide you with a link to our
organization chart, as it will make more sense.

http://www.apegs.ca/Portal/Pages/Boards-Committees

What | mean by this is that we have 19 councillors in total, including our four
executive committee members and two public appointees (appointed by
provincial order-in-council). Each of our boards are chaired by a member of
Executive Committee:

- Education Board by vice-president;

- Image & Identity Board by president-elect; and

- Governance Board by president.
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By the time that our vice-president rises to the position of president, he or she
has had the opportunity to chair each of the Education Board and the Image &
Identity Board on the way up the ladder.

Each of the councillors are a liaison to one of the committees, but also a
working member of that committee, with the responsibility to communicate
from Council to their respective committee, and from the committee through
the respective board back to Council. Each board consists of the chair of each
committee reporting to that board, and the liaison councillors, as well as a
couple of "add-ins" such as the APEGS representatives on the U of S and U of
R Senate attend the education board meeting.

Council meets five times per year, and the boards typically meet a couple of
weeks prior to a Council meeting so that minutes of the meeting are available
for Council. The committees meet as required to fulfill their terms of reference
and provide minutes to each board meeting. Our two public appointees serve
on either the investigation committee or the discipline committee as required
by our Act / bylaws, and no elected councillor can serve on either of those
committees.

APEGS seeks members who are interested in serving as volunteers, including
the particular committees they are interested in serving on. We also have a
"committee fair" at some of our events to provide further information to
potential volunteers. In most cases, committee chairs start as committee
members and work their way to being committee chair; however, in some
cases, there is a bit of selection of a committee chair for a specific purpose
among some volunteers who have demonstrated good leadership skills and
who have some special knowledge in an aspect of our association -
particularly in the regulatory area, such as academic review or experience
review.

As for Council, our bylaws require that we have some discipline-specific as
well as geographic-specific representation. Our councillors serve three-year
terms with one-third of our councillors being elected each year to provide
some carry-over. Our vice-president is elected annually; the president-elect is
typically the previous year's vice-president, but that person can be challenged.
The president-elect becomes the incoming president. The immediate past-
president chairs the nominating committee and our nominating committee will
consist of one representative from each of the discipline-specific or
geographic-specific groups up for election, and one former executive
committee member. So, typically, the nominating committee consists of 5 - 6
members, including the Chair.
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The nominating committee members usually are selected on their basis of their
knowledge of the affairs of APEGS and of members who would perform well
on Council. Each member of the nominating committee then receives a listing
of eligible candidates for each of the positions being contested, and everyone
provides potential candidates for each position to create a "long list" for each
position. Staff will consolidate the names into the "long list" and then the
nominating committee members and staff will research and provide
information to the committee to develop a prioritized "short list" for each
position. The chair of the nominating committee or director supporting the
committee will contact potential candidates from the short list in order of
priority to see if they are interested in serving on Council, and contesting the
position. Our bylaws suggest that the nominating committee identify at least
two candidates for each position, except that of president-elect. Before the
Council elections, the registrar notifies every member of the results from the
nominating committee and advises that further nominations for each position
being contested can be made upon the signatures of five APEGS members.
Incumbent Councillors are invited to serve a second team by the nominating
committee, if re-elected by the membership, and there is an understanding that
Councillors who have served two consecutive three-year terms will not be
nominated by the nominating committee. There is nothing preventing them
from seeking a nomination by five members, but it has not happened at least
since | came in 1999. There have been Councillors elected that served many
years prior. After serving two terms, some Councillors go on to become
candidates for the vice-president position. In recent history, we have not had
anyone serve as president who has previously served as president. We did
have one circumstance where a president-elect moved up to serve as president
when the president became ineligible to continue due to relocation outside of
Saskatchewan, and then served his normal term as president.

Essentially, many of our Council nominees come from our committee chairs
and members, or from external liaisons such as ACEC-SK or the constituent
societies such as Regina Engineering Society, Saskatchewan Geological
Society, etc. In some cases, our vice-president nominees have not had APEGS
Council experience, but have been past chairs of ACEC-SK or APEGS
committees.

We use a volunteer database to recruit members of committees. Members are
asked to identify areas where they are interested in volunteering (through their
online profile member portal) and we try to source volunteers on first-in, first-
called basis, however, we also try to populate committees with demographics
in consideration (i.e. representation from various industries, geographic areas,
disciplines, gender, etc.), so that "rule” doesn't always work.
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APEGNB We do not have a succession plan but make every effort to ensure Council and
committees are current and diverse.

New

Brunswick

Engineers We do not have any formal succession planning for our Committee’s or

Nova Scotia Council, but we generally identify individuals who would be a good fit
through their volunteer work on our Committees. As well, we started a Young
Professionals Committee, which has had a lot of younger members become
involved with the association over the last 6 or so years. These members start
on the YP Committee and then work their way onto more senior Committees,
and in some cases, they have run for a position on Council. It has been very
successful for us in engaging younger members.

LSUC The short answer is we don’t have a process for succession planning as it

Law Society of
Upper Canada

would typically be understood, as we have an election process every four years
for board members (benchers) and an election every year for the chair of our
board (the Treasurer). The fact is with such a large board (a core elected and
appointed complement of 53), we aren’t faced with the situation some smaller
boards might be. We have built in a type of process for renewal in that
benchers have a 12-year term limit and then are unable to run for election, but
many serve for 8 to 12 years with large numbers of incumbents re-elected.
Treasurers typically serve two one year terms, and we usually have between 2
and 4 candidates for that election. We don’t have a ‘ladder’ to the Treasurer
position (vice-Treasurer for example). For committees, they are populated
based on a combination of expression of interest, the Treasurer’s assessment
and availability. While there is usually continuity among some members of the
committees from year to year, the chairs of committees can chair from year to
year.
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CNO

College of
Nurses of
Ontario

The nurse members of our Council are elected, which limits the ability to have
a succession plan. Council member terms are 3 years and members are able to
serve a maximum of 2 full terms. But — they need to be re-elected and there
are no guarantees. We once had a great President lose the Council election by
3 votes! She was not able to serve a second term as President.

Our term limits for nurses are:
- 3years on Council, 2 full term maximum
- 3 years as an appointed committee member, 2 full term maximum
- 3 term maximum as both a Council member and non-Council
committee member (some members have served as both)
- 1year as President, VP or Statutory Committee Chair, 2 term
maximum in any role

Vice-President may run for election as President (depending on term on
Council) but that also depends on their term of office

Elections rotate around the province on a three-year cycle — this means we
have some new and a majority of ongoing members each year.

Public members are usually appointed for 3 years. In the past the government
limited them to 1 reappointment but that seems to have changed some. We
encourage that they keep the 2 term maximum so that the public members are
truly reflective of society.

With the appointed committee members, we have more of an ability to sift out
the leaders and encourage them to take on the leadership roles (e.g. panel
chair). While they have the same term limits — if they apply for reappointment
and the feedback we get from the Chair and staff resource is that they are
strong contributors — they will be reappointed.

As you may know we are currently undergoing a governance review. One of
the changes our Task Force is recommending — among many — is that Council
members be appointed based on competencies and that reappointment be
based on merit. They are recommending the above term limits with the
addition that if an officer’s full term of office has expired and they are eligible
to serve in the officer position again and have been doing a good job.

You may know that we are currently undergoing a very extensive governance
review and looking at quite a new paradigm for regulatory governance. One of
the things our Task Force will be recommending is that Council members be
appointed based on meeting the needed competencies and that reappointment
be based on merit (there will be an evaluation process). One of the advantages
of appointments over elections is that it supports the capacity to do some
succession planning.
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7.4 APPENDIX 4: Studies by Task Force

7.4.1 Council Terms Data Analysis

The following analysis is based on twenty-one (21) years of data collected for Councils
during the 1995-2015 period. A few comments are in order to clarify the observations:

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)
7)

An individual who appears only in 1995 is deemed at the end of their term, and is not
included in the analysis since terms are two years.

Although some individuals previously served on Council prior to 1995, this data was not
available, and therefore on their return many years later, were treated as rookie
Councillors. Regardless, their break in service (hiatus) was lengthy.

Regional Councillors, Councillors-At-Large, and Elected Vice-President service were all
treated as one category, i.e. Councillors. Presidents were studied separately.

If term limits are set, there would have to be an exception for Presidential service as
many served as a Councillor to gain experience first. Also, being President is a three-
year term which would negate many qualified individuals.

There are several instances of “odd years” of Councillor service. I know of two times
when this is correct — a Councillor moved, vacated their position (5 years), and the
replacement had a subsequent term (3 years). The others may have omissions.
Surnames of individuals are available, but not shown at this time for anonymity.

No Engineers Canada or LGA Councillor service is analyzed herein.

Comments on Elected Councillor Service (65 individuals)

1)
2)

3)

Seven (11%) exceeded 6 years, including three (5%) with consecutive service (no
hiatus).

Sixteen (16, or 25%) exceeded 4 years, six (9%) were consecutive service without a
hiatus.

For comparison, during the 21 years, a “one term limit” would have had 158 individuals
serve on Council.

PRESIDENTS’ ANALYSIS OVER 20 YEARS (not including 1995)

Years Served 3 5 6 7 9 10 11 13

# of Presidents 5 3 1 3 1 1 1 1
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Fifteen (15) different individuals served as President.

Five (5) Presidents were elected without PEO Council experience, and did not return as
a Councillor later. Their service was limited to 3 years.

Three (3) Presidents had multiple terms (3 + 2 + 2 times), totaling 28 years (13+6+9) of
service.

Four (4) Presidents exceeded four (4) years of Councillor service (three with 6, one with
8).

Four (4) Presidents had four (4) years of Councillor service before their Presidential
term(s).

VICE PRESIDENTS (ELECTED) ANALYSIS OVER 20 YEARS (not including 1995)

Years Served 4 5 6 8 9 10 12 13
# of Vice 2 1 3 1 1 2 2 1
Presidents

1) Thirteen (13) different individuals served as Vice-President.

2) Six (6) went on to become President elect immediately after serving as Vice-President.

One has done this twice.
3) Five (5) Vice-Presidents had multiple terms (3X2, 3, 4).
4) Two (2) Vice-Presidents had previously served as President prior to returning to

Council as Vice-President for two (2) and three (3) terms as Vice-President

GOVERNMENT APPOINTED LGA COUNCILLORS ANALYSIS OVER 20 YEARS

Analyzing the LGA Councillor’s service records is somewhat different than the elected
Councillors for the simple reason that the LGA’s appointments are nominally three years
per term. However, when a LGA resigns, they may extend their service longer until a
replacement is found (i.e. an extra year). For this reason, and to simplify the data
presentation, the chart is in nominal 3 year terms rather than number of years.
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# of Three Year Terms 1 2 3 4
Served

# of LGA’s 18 12 5 5
Notes:

1) Prior to 2005, LGA’s typically served two terms (6 or 7 years maximum).
2) Since 2005, numerous individuals were extended to a third and fourth term.
3) This analysis does not differentiate Member LGAs

7.4.2 Literature Review on Term Limits in Non-Profit Boards

A. Term Limits Impacts

Pros of Term Limits (enable)
Provides members with choice that are not just occasional retirees

Avoids the governance by “grey hair or no hair” to attract younger member involvement and
interest.

No one is indispensable

Simple way to retire (get rid of) nonperforming board members
Provides an infusion of “fresh blood” ™ — fresh ideas, eyes and energy™
From T10:

e Renew boards

e Fresh point of view that challenges opinion

e Good board members will be more interested in volunteering on an active board,
energetic board rather than one that’s mired in the same discussion year after year

Provides and constantly evolving board of directors.

Avoid directors becoming too comfortable with other board members and senior
management™
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Provides new opinions and questions related to the same pattern of proposals.

Reduces or Avoids “group think” going down the same path with no challenge of the
thinking.

Prevent the board member group from steering the organization down a “wrong” path.

Long tenure is viewed with suspicion ™

Directors who have sat on a board in conjunction with same management team may
reasonably be expected to support the management team decision more willing ™

Longer term directors may lose interest, reduce contribution in discussion and miss
meetings ™

From T4:

e They provide a structure to get rid of nonperforming members when courage is lacking.

e They in the nominating committee which might otherwise drag its feet on recruiting new
members.

e Create a sense of urgency knowing that vacancies will occur.

e They enable of the ideal board composition, including opportunities to increase the
diversity of board perspectives.

e They grow the base of board alumni and groom a growing field of organizational
advocates. It’s easier to enter as a new member when you aren’t the only one.

e They enable a graceful to exit for members who would like to leave.

e They light a fire under existing members to complete what they’d like to accomplish
during the length of their service. T

e Promote a willingness to capture potential new board members when they know they are
not committing to a life sentence.

From T5:

e |t opens board seats and organizational opportunity to people with new perspectives and
skill sets who also bring new energy to the boardroom.

e It introduces new members who can ask naive questions and force us to reflect on why
we do what we do. In some cases, that reflection will affirm that we are on the right
track. In others, it may prompt an opportunity to correct assumptions that no longer are
completely accurate. Either way, the opportunity exists to articulate, affirm and change
course where they make sense. It gives us a chance to challenge board complacency.
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e |t creates opportunities to build a next generation of leaders who are committed and
passionate about your work and your mission. (Because let's be honest, those
"irreplaceable™ board members didn't start out that way.)

e |t facilitates new connections to incoming members' personal and professional networks.

Avoids drop in production T

“Term limits can be a tool for looking at board composition and attracting fresh minds to

help increase board effectiveness.”"’

Ongoing reconfiguration or renewal of the board capabilities based on future needs

Board “retirees” can support organization inside as committee members and outside as
advocates.

New members are supported by other new members — not the only one struggling to learn
Recent board tenure concerns center around ':

e adirector’s ability to remain independent after extended service,
e lack of industry expertise and technological familiarity, and
e poor diversity on corporate boards.

From T11:

e Resistance to performing adequate performance assessment

e Lack of term limits causes some directors to hang on too long blocking board renewal,
up-skilling and diversification.

e There is resistance to an expert third-party board evaluation by underperforming
directors for fear of being found out.

e The fact of the matter is that boards, as self-policing bodies, may be incapable of solving
the renewal issue on their own because of entrenchment and self-interest.

e If there is no policy or, better yet, no measurement of actual performance and follow up
accordingly, self-interest is perpetuated and complacency is allowed continue, by the
very people who should be leading by example. Directors need to know when it is time
to go. And if they do not, regulators will. [Term limits can counter this]

Two terms or 6 years’ maximum before ™2

Those who argue for term limits typically cite the need to bring “new blood” onto the board.
New directors bring a freshness of insight, and changes in the operating climate may require
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new skill sets. A systematic rotation on and off the board lessens the likelihood that a board
becomes tired and loses vitality. ™2 [good discussion in paper]

From T14:

e There are pros and cons on the usefulness of this policy. It can infuse the board with
innovative ideas and new skills. T14

e |t can sever important ties and damage institutional memory. A regular process for
assessing individual board members is good practice but is especially important for a
board without term limits.T14

From T15:

e Dealing with a disengaged or misbehaving board chair for a year or two is far less
daunting, complicated, and demoralizing for an executive director than having a
problem board chair for the foreseeable future.

e See above. Term limits provide a painless way for people who aren't doing a good job to
retire gracefully and automatically. Admittedly, this is a pragmatic argument—and the
downside is that a chair who is doing a fantastic job may get forced out early. But I've
never heard a real-life complaint about term limits. And I've heard many complaints
about their absence.

e Term limits help with recruitment. Serving as a board chair requires an intensive
commitment of time and energy. Prospective chairs are more likely to agree to serve if
they know the office has an expiration date.

e Term limits force organizations to develop new leaders. Boards that know they'll need a
new chair every few years are more likely to recruit new members with an eye toward
future leadership roles. And board candidates who want to build their own leadership
skills will be more likely to say yes if they know there are opportunities to lead.

e Term limits help with fund raising. A board chair is potentially one of an organization's
most powerful volunteer fund raisers. But chairs who serve for many years may exhaust
their Rolodexes and grow tired of making the ask. Leadership transitions provide an
opportunity to engage new prospects who have relationships with the new leader.

e Term limits lead to healthier boards. Admittedly, this is a catch-all intended to cover
three or four other good arguments—because five is a nice round number. Board chair
term limits reduce the likelihood that a few individuals will dominate board discussions
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and decisions. They provide periodic injections of new energy and ideas. And they help
prevent board-chair burnout.

Cons of Term Limits (cause)

Loss of a strong board member ™

If the group is small, getting along is important since establish relationships may be
beneficial (providing they are working)

From T4:

Loss of experience and expertise of outgoing members is lost

Forcing perfectly capable members to step down.

Experienced directors add value.

The expertise of that particular board member

Hard to replace knowhow or connections that some members may hold

The passion and interest of that particular board member

The coherence of the team, which needs to recalibrate after every shakeup

The commitment and work of a tested member, exchanged for a newer and thus riskier
one

Money, as often a higher level of giving comes with board service, including family
foundation or corporate giving tied to service on the board

Your investment in training a member in your governing process and the strategic issues
of your organization

Lost Wisdom

Knowledge, not only institutional memory, but also the intricate knowledge of
community connections and the history of issues

Relationships held by that particular member, with donors, with elected officials or
government workers

Interest, which may fall off as terms are reaching their end

Loss of established networks of associates ™.

Some members don’t look forward to leaving and parting with long-time members and
relationships.
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Perception that >:

e You'll never find someone with this person's professional expertise.

e You'll lose the institutional history that he/she carries.

e You'll never find someone as dedicated to your organization and your mission.
e You'll never replace that kind of leadership that you so desperately need.

e You'll lose stability in a time of transition.

Long-tenured directors can be beneficial because of ™:

e their deep knowledge of the company acquired through service,
e the continuity and stability they offer, and
e their grasp of the historical perspectives that can inform current company strategy

An increase in the number of former board members can also raise the non-profit’s profile
in the community, because former board members know the non-profit well and can sing its
praises. ™0

From T9:

e The most commonly disclosed mechanism for board renewal was board assessments

e The most frequently cited reason for not adopting term limits is the belief that they
reduce continuity or experience on the board.

e Other reasons include the belief that director term limits are arbitrary and

e That they force valuable, experienced and knowledgeable directors to leave the issuer’s
board.

Reasons for not adopting term limits or other mechanisms include ™:

e that the boards’ effectiveness is regularly assessed,
e that the issuer’s industry is unique and retaining knowledge of the board is desired, and
o the belief that annual elections are a sufficient mechanism for board renewal.

Those who argue against term limits cite the need for institutional memory and worry about
the loss of dedicated volunteers who have a proven track record of board participation.™3

From (4) we see that Board and board member evaluation is vital to challenge the performance of
the group and individuals.
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New and evolving issues need people who understand the issues. This requires new experience to
deal properly rather than old experience

B. Length and Number of Terms T3
Most organizations select two (2) or three (3) year terms.

“Two-year terms are still short, but some non-profits adopt two-year terms because they fear
that a three-year commitment is daunting for potential board members.”

“[We] usually recommend three-year terms because they allow a new board member a bit of
space to get acclimated to Board involvement before the term is over. A board that adopts a
staggered board rotation then will be re-electing or retiring one-third of the board each
year.”

“If term limits are desired, this office prefers that non-profits provide a longer service to the
organization by adopting a limit of three (3) 3-year terms. This allows for a full nine (9)
years of board involvement before a director retires, during which the organization can reap
the benefits of an individual’s mature judgment and deep knowledge of the organization’s
programs, history, and ethos. However, we realize that this is not possible in many cases,
and that a shorter term of service is often preferred.”

- Kathryn Vanden Berk, of Bea & VanDenberk Attorneys at Law

C. Options for Longer Service™3

« Eliminate term limits but provide strong periodic evaluation systems.

o Allow a time-limited board member to be re-elected to the board after a one-year
hiatus.

e Appoint the board member to a key committee such as the finance or nominating
committee as a non-director.

o If there is a supporting foundation, allow the retired board member to serve on its
board.

e Create an “Advisory Board” or committee for continued informal involvement with
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the board or chief executive.
o Find other ways to include the individual in volunteer activities.

Any of these techniques must be paired with a rigorous evaluation system to ensure that the
board remains viable as a governing body. Nothing does more to kill enthusiasm of
energetic volunteers than finding that board meetings are peopled with “dead wood” — that
is, people who are fatigued by too-long involvement, and thus are disengaged from board
work.”

- Kathryn VVanden Berk, of Bea and VVanDenberk Attorneys at Law

7.4.3 Regional Councillor Time Commitment

If you are considering the PEO Councillor position, here is an estimate of time requirements
to properly fulfill the requirements of the position. The suggested travel allowances are
based upon coming from the Northern Region (my home region) which is probably
comparable to driving three hours in the South.

Typically, Councillors are also involved in other committee work. This is more difficult to
estimate since the number of positions, and the contribution to each, varies greatly.

Another consideration is that 100% attendance is rarely achievable. Occasionally you can
participate by teleconference for a portion of a meeting, saving the travel time, etc.
However, teleconferences are not the ideal medium. Assume 75 to 80% attendance as a
realistic goal.

To save time,

1) Five council Meetings (1.5 days)

Council meetings are typically held on a Friday from 9:00 pm to about 4:30 pm (5:00 pm at
latest). There is usually a plenary session on the preceding Thursday evening which
includes supper, and extends to about 9:00 pm or so. Participation is optional, but the
sessions are informal and usually very educational on specific issues.

Following the November Council Meeting, on the Friday evening is the OPEA awards
banquet. Travel would therefore take place on the Saturday, thereby making this Council
meeting an extra half day or so.

2) The Annual General Meeting (2.5 days) is a full Saturday in late April. It ends by late
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afternoon in time to return home. The preceding Friday is the VVolunteer Leadership
Conference, followed in the evening by the Order of Honour gala. Typically, one travels on
the Thursday, and if arriving early enough, can participate in a Welcome Reception that
evening.

3) In mid to late June the PEO Council attend a workshop (2.5 days). It takes a full Friday,
Saturday morning, and often golf on Saturday afternoon. Arrive Thursday evening for a
supper and social time afterwards.

4) Regional Councillors also participate in two Regional Congresses (2 days each), a full
Saturday in Northern Ontario. Since we all travel on the Friday, there is a supper for
delegates that night, and return travel typically on Sunday since flights are less available up
North on Saturday.

5) A third Northern Congress (0.5 days) in February is an evening teleconference.

6) Three Regional Councillor meetings (1.5 days) with all of the RCC members. It typically
moves around province on a Saturday with travel on the Friday and Sunday (sometimes
Saturday evening).

7) There is also a GLP event annually (1 day). If there is a Regional GLP Congress
(training), add another day.

Using the above guide, | estimate about 23 full days, including travel allowance for a
Regional Councillor. It splits about 50:50 between weekday, and weekend activities.
Important to know for those with young families, careers, etc.

As a councillor, you should probably participate in one or more other committees to
contribute, etc. That could be a few teleconferences, three or four one day trips to Toronto
each year, etc. It is hard to predict, could be 30 to 40 hours annually reviewing material,
preparing briefs, etc. If you serve on Discipline, it will depend upon whether you are
assigned to a hearing, etc. (anything from 2 to 6 days per year) plus two 1-day meetings
(training) each year.

Finally, preparation time, reading council meeting material in advance, reviewing chapter
material for business plans, preparing for Regional Congresses, etc. is at your own
discretion. Adding another 60 to 80 hours in the year would not be unreasonable, when you
can fit it in to your lifestyle.

Nothing yet is included for attending events at your Region’s different chapters. Many
Regional Councillors (particularly in East and West Central) will travel to other chapter
events to be available for presentations, guest of honour, meet the members, etc. | imagine
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another evening every month, possibly two or more is not unreasonable. This doesn't happen
so much in the North because of the distances involved.

It is no wonder that the position of a Regional Councillor does not attract young engineers
starting out in their career, with young families, etc. Even one were a Councillor-At-Large,
the time requirement would still be in the 60% of the above.

7.4.4 Questions for Consultants

Term Limits

1.

Is there a preference for an absolute time term limits (i.e. three terms = six years,
etc.), or allow a break (hiatus between terms)? Many would see this as "resetting the
clock™, but not discouraging multiple years of service. What are the merits of each
approach?

If we implement a term limit, should it be enforced immediately, or gradually over a
couple of years? What is your experience? By that | mean to say anyone over eight
years’ service cannot run again, then the next year or so reduce it to six, then four (if
that is the final number).

Are term limits non-democratic in that they limit who can run for office?

Are there examples of draconian term limits in non-profits, such as not allowing
presidents to join a board or council in any position after their term?

Are there any compelling reasons (irrefutable evidence) that can be used to convince
the few that will resist term limits?

How often should term limits be reviewed? Should they be implemented on a trial
basis or as permanent change?

Should term limits be enshrined in the Act to make it difficult for future councils to
reverse the decision or is the potential to reverse term limits a good thing?

One way to justify term limits is on basic fairness. Is it fair, given the great difficulty
of reaching the electorate during elections, for those with high profiles due to their
previous positions in PEO to run against neophytes? This must be balanced against
the need to retain a level of experience on Council. Where should the line be drawn?
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9. When a vote is taken to approve term limits, everyone is conflicted to some degree,
but no one will abstain from the vote. Is there anything to reduce bias?

Succession Planning

1. Succession planning is a wonderful principle, but PEO will struggle to get the diversity
(age, gender) of candidates that it would like to have. Would the consultants have
experience with other associations that have addressed this issue?

2. Currently council positions are open to anyone who wants to run. Will succession
encourage only certain members to run if we look at a process where individuals are
publicly recommended by a committee?

3. Is there a need for a skills matrix to help in succession planning?

4. Implementing term limits is “easily done", succession planning not so easy. Presumably
both should happen concurrently to be ready with candidates when some retire?

5. What techniques are best for succession planning? Are there universal approaches or are
these organizations specific?

6. Provide examples of and reasons for succession planning successes and failures.

7. Inyour practice, do you know if most regulatory bodies have term limits for their
board/council? Is PEO unique in looking at this problem?

8. | believe succession planning will have a cost associated with it, and perhaps more than
people realize. Any experience to report on that? Presumably any decision must be aware
of the potential budget?

General Questions

1. How does PEO’s governance structure i.e. an elected council rather than an appointed
board, affect both term limits and succession planning. There are other examples of our
governance structure and these should be examined for comparison.

2. PEO Council is composed of both elected, and government appointed, representatives.
On a percentage basis, it currently appears that the more serious term limit challenge
resides with the appointees. Is leading by example sufficient to influence the
government process?
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Democracy -- | too can hear the cries of it being undemocratic from a few. How do we
best respond to that?

On examination of our service records, | wonder if there is a formula, or guideline, that
can be used to determine whether our "refreshing rate" is already reasonable?

Do you see the election process influencing term limits and succession planning? Do
elections make them more or less desirable?

. Will term limits and succession planning have any effect on election turnout? Are there
any examples from other organizations?
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7.4.5 Results of IF...THEN Exercise

Good Council Governance Means....

Objectivity

Good people

Good structure

Effective decisions

Debate

Well-defined roles + responsibilities
Engaged councillors

Diversity of skills & views

Relevant skills, knowledge and experience

Board/governance experience
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Council Term Limits — Things We Want to Happen

Assumption(s)

Outcome — an Outcome- 1St level

level

New grey hair Open spots attract same type of candidates

High turnover of Councillors Average Council life drops

Progress on old issues(1) ~ Reduce eliminate “old boys” Acceptance of new ideas, grey hair on Council,
image groupie’s cliques formed and sustained
PEO public profile New faces on Council New ideas, new members more open, only around
improved (new for term limit
presidents (1)
Regeneration of Council(4) Some Councillors are on too long — lost objectivity;
new blood new energy, new ideas; younger
councillors

PEO seen to be following  LGA appointments will be in

best practices(1) line with our practice(3)
Less influence of Political Turnover reduced individual effort to elect
factions OECD
Non-member LGA influence LGA experience does not become complacent
stronger
Attract new people to run(1) Not running against incumbents
More open dialogue — fewer Some councillors are influenced in voting by others

biased councillors
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More sense of time urgency per

term (1)
Small number of engineer Number of members on Council —too large, LGA
LGAs engineers use has diminished
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Council Term Limits — Things We Want To Avoid

Attract young reps

Loss of political memory

Incumbency advantage (3)

Factions power in a group of members
Group think

Work load does not change

Too close to staff (not independent)

Does not address availability

Experience on Council decisions lost/no research on
issues

Same old boys or just like me

Statutory responsibilities on Councillors

Parking lot: why do councillors continue to serve — control, prestige, free meals?
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Succession Planning — Things We Want To Happen

More diversity (age, gender, All candidates look same, took training;

backgrounds, views)/attract new blood(5) ) ) ) ) o
Motivated candidates take prescribed skills training;

provide more qualified candidates; control of slate
before election; leadership development program

Target sector knowledge skills $ available; identified skills matrix
sets/specific regulatory skills

Knowledgeable councillors /” hit the Skills training modules, (PEO regs, board)
chamber running” (3)

Build skills needed before running(2)

Employer support for “Councillor PEO will develop relevancy with engineering

time” community; recruitment within industries; open to new
ideas; “on job” " training by getting on other
committees; tap on shoulder after working with person;
develop enthusiasm

Happy Councillors

Increased voter turnout(1) Interest in elections

77



CTLTF-Report and Recommendation

Succession Planning — Things We Want To Avoid

Change workload responsibilities of RC, Candidates not responsible to electorate

CAL, LGA

Getting the same type of people

Councillors resigning or not performing

@

People not running because "not ready

Less Politicking (election and during
Council)(»)

Confusion on role & responsibility (2)

Been there, done that

More candidates inspired to run

Better informed voters
More aware of the “real” expectation; better
governance understanding

Reinvent the wheel; better turnover
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7.4.6 CTLTEF Final Conclusions Matrix

TERM LIMITS
ITEM TF CONSENSUS RATIONALE EXCEPTIONS | COMMENTS
General Hard limit in regs |Best practice for Mid-term Communicate
Requirement |or by-laws, staged |non-profit boards, |appointment, requirement
implementation — |councillor burn-out, |lack of effectively,
first voluntary loss of candidates may |election
(Council focus/enthusiasm  |require re- material, gap is
recommended after 6 years, new |appointment of |OK as limits
practice) until ideas on Council,  |councillor are lifetime
enshrined eliminate
officially entrenched
positions, sharpen
focus of councillors
Regional Three full two year |See above, Exclude time Lifetime limit
Councillors  |terms especially 6-year served for mid-
loss of term
focus/enthusiasm  |appointment,
may include one
term as LGA
with extra year
Councillors at | Three full two year As above Exclude time Lifetime limit
Large terms, can't run served for mid-
after five years term
appointment,
may include one
term as LGA
with extra year
Combined Three full two year Maximum time for |Exclude time Lifetime limit
Regional and |terms, can't run being a regular served for mid-
at Large after five years councillor, not in term

any specific

appointment,
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total on Council  |position. may include one
term as LGA
with extra year
Vice One one-year term |Needed only to Exclude Lifetime limit
President allow regional previous time on
councillors to gain  |Council
province wide
exposure before
running for
president-elect,
otherwise no need
for second VP
President One term, three Enhance focuson  |Exclude Lifetime limit,
years president previous time on jcannot return
representing PEO  |Council after gap
rather than trying to
implement a
mandate
LGA Two three-year Important to treat all
terms, limit councillors the
according to same, should not be
previous elected a back door to
terms so total does |extend time on
not exceed seven |Council
years.
Engineers One three-year Need to provide Extend to allow |Possibly
Canada term opportunity to the  |serviceas EC  |exclude LGAs
many worthy president from serving
councillors
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SUCCESSION PLANNING

ITEM

General
Requirement

TF CONSENSUS

Essential to develop
prepared and
informed
candidates,
structured long term
program

RATIONALE

PEO not doing
enough to
find/prepare
candidates, get
the leaders we
want/need,
regeneration,
revitalization,
accountability,

EXCEPTIONS

Should not be
seen as panacea
to deal with
voter turnout or
member
participation
issues

COMMENTS

“preparing”
over
“recruiting”,
“funnel” to
establish
candidates,
decouple
rationale for TL
and SP

transparency
Extent All positions, All positions are Provide govt
including LGAs equally important with info

package incl.
skills matrix for
LGAs, esp. lay.

Type, Tools, Communication, Need a variety of Gap

Methods education —on line |tools and analysis/skills

tools; scorecard for
candidates esp.
Councillors; work
with employers —
focus groups, info
package, encourage
support, recognize
in Dimensions,
recruit executives;
“boot camp” for
candidates post
nomination;
candidates must
affirm they

approaches, not a
simple problem,
need to reach
many
stakeholders,
must be
independent of
council, must be
even-handed and
not favouring or
recommending
any candidates

matrix: efficacy
questioned due
to half of
Council re-
elected
annually,
generic rather
than specific,
relate
candidates to
needs, make
public,
alternative:
require

81



ITEM

CTLTF-Report and Recommendation

TF CONSENSUS

RATIONALE

EXCEPTIONS

COMMENTS

understand role and
responsibility of
position; managed
by committee
outside of Council;
involve chapters and
committees; roles
and responsibilities
document

minimum
experience and
soft skills;
should
affirmation be
mandatory?;
note
sensitivities
around voting
process

Timing

Continuous, follow
annual work plan
starting right after
elections

Long term
solution to long
term issue

Benefits to
Program

Candidates:
Transferrable skills
for employment,
CPD credit,
understanding level
of commitment,
prepared for role on
Council.

PEO - better
candidates, voter
confidence,
effective
councillors,
prepared for
workload

Provides
rationale for
program

Sources of
candidates

Chapters,
committees, OSPE,
technical

Need a variety of
sources to reach
all members
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ITEM TF CONSENSUS | RATIONALE | EXCEPTIONS | COMMENTS
associations,
employers, email to
members at large
Barriers to Lack of perceived |Need to
implementation |problem, democracy |anticipate
model, cost- criticism and
benefit/budget potential
opposition
Budget Need to provide as | All programs Existing Need to provide
inadequate should be committee as inadequate
resources have budgeted structure may  resources have
hampered previous be able to hampered
attempts, separate accommodate  |previous
line item attempt
SUCCESSION PLANNING
ITEM TF MEMBER TF EXCEPTIONS | COMMENTS
CONCLUSIONS CONSENSUS,
RATIONALE
- General Essential despite

election based
system, continual
long term candidate
recruitment strategy,
don't endorse
candidates, formal
program with staff
support, supports
term limits, doesn't
align easily with

Requirement
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TF MEMBER
CONCLUSIONS

“democracy” and
elections

All positions,
including LGAs,

TF
CONSENSUS,
RATIONALE

EXCEPTIONS

COMMENTS

- Type,
Tools,
Methods

Skills matrix,
education on roles
and responsibilities,
involvement leading
to greater comfort
with and interest in
Council,
communication
strategy, education of
voters, workshops for
young members,
liaison with
employers, entice
senior executives to
run for president,
Council HR plan

Standing
committee,
Council or
outside, CESC
(?), separate
from Council,
chapter and
committee
involvement

- Timing

Annual work plan,
ongoing

- Benefits to
Program

Give voters more
confidence in
candidates,
candidates prepared
for workload, more
effective councillors,
experience for
employment, skills
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TF MEMBER
CONCLUSIONS

development, CPD
hours,

Chapters,
committees,
employers

TF
CONSENSUS,
RATIONALE

EXCEPTIONS

COMMENTS

Members at
large
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7.5 APPENDIX 5: PEO Minutes and Resolutions

Terms of Reference

Council Term Limits Task Force (CTL)

Issue Date: February5,2016  Review Date: N/A

Approved by: Council Review by: N/A
Legislated and 1. Respecting two 2015 Member AGM Motions, Council affirms in
other Mandate principle that term limits and succession planning should be
approved by established for all Council positions.
Council

Annual General Meeting.

2. That Council direct the Registrar to develop the draft terms of
reference and proposed list of members for a task force to examine
the issues of term limits and succession planning for Council
positions for approval by Council at its February 2016 meeting.

3. That the terms of reference require the task force to provide a report
with recommendations for approval by Council before the 2017

[APPROVED BY COUNCIL — November 20, 2015]

Key Duties and 1. Examine the issue of term limits for all Council positions including
Responsibilities an analysis of practices at other self-regulating associations in

Ontario and other engineering associations across the country.
2. Examine the issue of succession planning for all Council positions.

3. Provide a report to Council no later than at its February 2017
meeting, detailing pro’s, con’s, principles and recommendations
regarding terms limits and succession planning for all Council
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positions.

4. Circulate the draft report to the CESC, HRC and LEC for peer review
prior to submission to Council.

Constituency,
Number &
Quialifications of
Committee/Task
Force Members

The task force shall consist of six (6) members, all of whom shall be either
current or former PEO Councillors.

Quialifications and
election of the
Chair

The Chair is to be elected from among the members of the task force in
accordance with Wainberg’s Society Meetings and By-Law No. 1, section
25(4).

Quialifications and
election of the Vice
Chair(s)

The Vice Chair is to be elected from among the members of the task force in
accordance with Wainberg’s Society Meetings and By-Law No. 1, section
25(4).

Duties of Vice
Chair(s)

To act in the absence of the Chair.

Term Limits for

The task force is to be stood down following the submission of its final

Committee report to Council.
members
In accordance with Wainberg’s Society Meetings and By-Law No. 1, section
25(1), quorum for having the meeting’s decisions be considered binding is at
Quorum least 50 per cent of the task force’s membership present at the meeting.
Meeting The task force will meet at the call of the Chair.

Frequency & Time
Commitment

Operational year

The task force will commence its work upon approval of its Terms of
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time frame

Reference and is to be stood down following the submission of its final
report to Council.

Committee advisor

Scott W. Clark, LL.B., Chief Administrative Officer

Committee
support

Ralph Martin, Manager, Secretariat
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C-457-3.2
Mppenctix C

Members’ Sobmission
for

2009 Annual General Meeting of Association of Professional Enginéers of Ountario

Where as: PEO is a self-regulating body of active Professiona) Engirieers who practics engineering. These
Professionel Engineers also volunteer their time to manage the seffiregulating functions as per the .
Professional Bngincers Act. The regulatory body should be dynamic and needs to embrace new ideason a
regular basis that requires the constant induction of new volunteers,

_Where ast Many of the volunteer engineers whe have been supparting the reguiatory body tend to remain .
In the same position repetitively for 2 long time, although this may have some advantages but also deters
induction of new velunteers.

Where as: Professional Engineer Regulation 941 and the By-Law No.] desoriba the constitution of the
comneil, their duties and the procedures to fanction. It is proposed that the By-Law No. | be amended to
add the following. .

Théfefore be if submitted that:

PEO elected councxl members (President, Vice President, Councillors-at-large and thc Regional
counmllors) cantiot hold the-same position for two consecutive terms.

(=

3

Moved by: RejoGiEnder, P.Eng.
Seconded by: Matthew Xie , P.Eng.

" Date: April 24, 2009



PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS ONTARIO
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING - 2015
MEMBER RESOLUTION 1

WHEREAS: PEO has experienced a low level of member engagement as evidenced by
poor voter tum-out in elections for Council

WHEREAS: PEO is perceived to not be relevant to its membership particularly the
younger members as evidenced by poor participation in elections and at
association events

WHEREAS: Termn limits help to foster an environment for recruitment to council and for
general activities of the association

WHEREAS: Temm limits force an organization to develop new leaders and provides a
pool of committed people to renew the membership of committees

WHEREAS: Term limits create a sense of urgency as well as opportunity for new
people to join into the governance and leadership of the organization

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT, PEO institute term limits for all positions on
Council for which an individual has already served and going forward will
serve. Suggested term limits are:

President: One term
Vice President: Two terms
Council at Large: Three terms
Regional Councillor: Three terms

Lieutenant Governor Appointees: Two Terms (to be proposed to the

p Government)
Moved By: Nancy Hill /t[/v W

Seconded By: he o Ju sorty Xl P-Enb

Date: April 9, 2015 W AA




WHEREAS:

WHEREAS:

WHEREAS:

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS ONTARIC
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING - 2015
MEMBER RESOLUTION 2

PEQ amploys an ad-hos system of encouraging membars to run for
Council positions, the Central Election and Search Committee's odginal
mandale as a search commilise having been downplayed in recent
years and fthe Regional Election and Search Committees having had
difficulty recruiting cendidates;

In the racent election, four of Rve regional councliior positions were filled
by acclamation (three by incumbents), bolh coungiilor at iarga positions
ware filled by incumbants, and former presidanis of the association
were eloctad to both officer positions (VP and President Elect);

PEO needs systems 1t place to ensure that the PEQ slectorate haa a
choice of new and effective candidales munning for Council;

THEREFORE BE IT SUBMITTED THAT, PEQ institutes a system of identifying

MOVED BY:
SECONDED: |

Date:

polential candidates for all Councll positions well in advance of
elections, opor?g in concert with larm limits for alt Council positions.

Rob Willson / 5’37

" -.
//4*7 i, AP

April 4 2015
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. 9152
ELECTION .
REFORM The Chair referred to background on election reform in Appendix H-2 of

the agenda. He invited S.R. Carkner to read his motion relating to the
material, and to open discussion.

It was moved by S.R. Carkner, seconded by P.M. DeVita, that:
Appropriate Regulations be changed to implement the following:
That beginning with the 1999 AGM, the central Nominating

Committee be replaced with a new Central Election and Search
Committee.

This committee will be chosen annually at the pleasure of Council,
and will:

+ ensure that all members receive equal treatment with respect to
nomination and election methods;

+ not have any powers to by-pass the due nomination process;

+ be responsible to find and encourage candidates to run for office
for the executive positions and all at-large positions;

+ be responsible to organize all-candidates meetings and generally
preside over the election campaign, including the setting of the
nominations criteria, election balloting method, candidate
publicity/expenditure rules, counting and scrutineering rules; and

. That the Regional Nominating Committees become Regional Election
and Search Committees, and will:

+ be responsible for finding and encouraging candidates for
Regional Councillors;

+ not have the power to by-pass the nomination procedures
established by the Central Election and Search Committee; and

¢+ organize all-candidates meetings for Regional Councillors.

MOTION CARRIED

9153

PROPOSAL

TO CHANGE

BYLAW #15 The Chair referred Council to Appendix item G-1, part A, in the agenda,
and invited the mover and seconder to open discussion.

It was moved by P.M. DeVita, seconded by G.P. Wowchuk, that:

Section 15 of By-law No. 1 be repealed and replaced with a clause
that would reflect the following: "All Council meetings are open to
the public for observation. Council may at any time close the
. meeting for a private session. All observers, guests and staff are to
. : be seated in the galleries or at special tables provided. Only
Councillors shall sit at the Council table.”








































Guests: P. Acchione, P.Eng., Chair and President of the Ontario Society of Professional Engineers
[minutes 11275 to 11298 only, excluding minute 11277]
H. Brown, Brown & Cohen Government Relations
[minutes 11275 to 11298 only, excluding minute 11277]
G. Comrie, P.Eng., former President of PEO
[Thursday evening only]
D.L. Freeman, P.Eng., Chair, Central election and Search Committee
[Thursday evening only]
S. Gieury, Ipsos Reid Public Affairs
[Thursday evening only]
M. Howell, Ipsos Reid Public Affairs
[Thursday evening only]
C. Knox, P.Eng., mover of AGM Submission
[minutes 11278 to 11298 only, excluding minute 11277]
R. Linseman, P.Eng., mover of AGM Submission
[minutes 11278 to 11298 only, excluding minute 11277]
C. Redden, former Chief Elections Officer
[Thursday evening only]
B. Steinberg, CEO of Consulting Engineers Ontario
[minutes 11278 to 11298 only, excluding minute 11277]

CALL TO ORDER Notice having been given and a quorum being present, the Chair
called the meeting to order.

The Chair then welcomed guests to the meeting

11275 Council reviewed the agenda for the meeting.
APPROVAL OF AGENDA
Moved by Councillor Gupta, seconded by Councillor Bhatia:

That:

a) the agenda, as presented to the meeting at C-487-1, Appendix
A be approved, as amended; and

b) the Chair be authorized to suspend the regular order of

business.
CARRIED
11276 The Chair introduced Mr. Michael Howell, Senior Research Manager,
2014 ELECTION MATTERS Ipsos Reid Public Affairs, who reviewed the results of the Elections

Membership Survey conducted to help determine the reason for the
low voter turnout in the last Council elections.

The Chair thanked Mr. Howell on behalf of Council.
Ms. Freeman, Chair of the Central Elections and Search Committee,

reviewed for Council the 2013 Council Elections Issues Report and
recommendations of the Committee.

487th Meeting of Council — September 26-27, 2013
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Council requested that recommendations #3, #10 and #36 be
discussed and that a new item regarding randomization of names on
ballots be added to the Report for consideration.

Council discussed recommendation # 3 relating to the period of time
between the end of a president’s term of office and when he/she
would be eligible to run again for the office of president. Ms.
Freeman advised that the recommendation was in response to the
members survey.

Moved by Councillor Kossta, seconded by Councillor Reid:

That PEO use its regulation-making powers to amend the
regulations to prohibit a president from running again for the same
office for four years from the time when his/her term as president
expires.

CARRIED

Council considered recommendation #10 relating to the inclusion of
candidate material with the voting instructions.

Moved by Councillor Roney, seconded by Vice President Chong:

That candidate election publicity material that is published in
Engineering Dimensions be included with voting instructions sent
to members for the 2014 Council elections.

CARRIED

Council then discussed recommendation #36 regarding
endorsements of candidates, particularly as relates to the
appearance of the OEDC logo on candidate material. Council
confirmed that endorsements are not to represent any organization
with which an individual providing an endorsement is affiliated and
confirmed that OEDC is not an organization but an informal group
and therefore use of its logo was permissible.

Moved by Councillor Kuczera, seconded by Councillor Chui:

That there be no change from the 2013 election publicity
procedures with respect to endorsements for the 2014 procedures.

CARRIED

Council then considered the appropriateness of randomizing the
order of names on the ballots when voters log in to the Official
Elections Agent’s elections website so that they do not appear in
alphabetical order.

487th Meeting of Council — September 26-27, 2013
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C-487-1.2

Briefing Note — Decision

2014 ELECTION MATTERS

Purpose: To approve the recommendations of the 2013 Central Election and Search Committee (CESC)
and to approve various other matters related to the conduct of the 2014 Council Elections.

Consideration of these items will be preceded by a presentation by Ipsos-Reid on the results of the
Membership Election Survey.

Motion(s) to consider: (requires a simple majority of votes cast to carry)

That Council, with respect to the 2014 Council election:

a) direct that the elections be conducted by electronic means only;

b) approve the recommendations contained in the 2013 Central Election and Search Committee
Issues Report dated August 16, 2013, as presented to and as amended at the meeting;

c) approve the appointment of Catherine Redden as Chief Elections Officer;

d) approve the 2014 Voting Procedures, as presented to and as amended at the meeting;

e) approve the 2014 Election Publicity Procedures, as presented to and as amended at the
meeting; and

f) approve Computershare Investor Services Inc. as the Official Elections Agent.

Prepared by: Allison Elliot — Secretariat Co-ordinator

1. Need for PEO Action
Members of Council are to be elected annually in accordance with sections 2 through 26 of Regulation
941 under the Professional Engineers Act.

Section 11 of the Regulations requires that Council annually determine whether the voting for the
election of members to the Council for that year shall be by ballot cast by mail, by electronic means or by
either mail or electronic means. Recommendation #19 of the 2013 CESC Council Election Issues Report
recommends that the 2014 Council elections continue to be conducted by electronic means only.

Section 11.1 of the Regulations require Council to appoint a Chief Elections Officer annually to oversee
the nomination of members for election and to ensure that the elections are conducted in accordance
with the established procedures. Catherine Redden has performed admirably in this capacity for the last
three years. Recommendation #17 of the 2013 CESC Council Election Issues Report recommends that Ms.
Redden be appointed again to this position.

In accordance with the Protocol for Annual Review of Election Procedures, the Central Election and
Search Committee (CESC) undertook a review of the procedures for the conduct of the 2013 Council
Elections. As part of this review, key stakeholders to the election such as the Returning Officers, the
Official Elections Agent, the Acting CEO/Registrar, the Chief Elections Officer, senior PEO staff and others
were consulted and their comments reviewed by the CESC. Additionally, an Ipsos-Reid Council Elections
Membership Survey was conducted, the results of which were also reviewed by the CESC. PEO
convention requires that Council approve voting procedures and election publicity procedures, which
form part of the voting procedures, for its annual elections. All recommendations approved by the CESC
have been incorporated into the Voting and Election Procedures and the 2014 Council Elections Guide, as
the case may be, and will be amended, if required, as per Council’s decisions at the meeting.

487" Meeting of Council — September 26-27, 2013 Association of Professional
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There have been no changes from last year in either of the procedures except where noted on the Issues
Report. For ease of reference, each issue in the Issues Report has been annotated to indicate the
procedure number to which the issue relates or, where a recommendation relates to an issue that does
not fall within the procedures or where there is no change from last year, the annotation is “n/a”.

S.19(1) of Regulation 941 permits Council to designate an official agent to manage and report on the
entire election process from ordering and printing the envelopes, inserting the election material in the
envelopes, mailing the materials, and the establishment of a standard voting site so that members may
vote by internet or telephone, and reporting results of the elections in accordance with the guidelines
provided to it.

Computershare Investor Services Inc. has performed admirably in the last four years it has been PEQ’s
Official Elections Agent and, thus, is very familiar with PEO’s unique election process. Computershare
has advised that it can accommodate recommendations contained in the 2013 CESC Issues Report;
namely, to amend its website to reflect a withdrawal of a candidate, provide a mobile application, and
provide a dedicated “help” line during business hours. The cost for an Official Elections Agent who can
meet PEO’s needs is $76,000 and this amount has been included in the draft 2014 budget.

2. Proposed Action / Recommendation
That Council approve the motions noted above.

3. Next Steps (if motion approved)

The name of the Chief Elections Officer and the approved 2014 Voting Procedures and 2014 Election
Publicity Procedures would be published on PEQ’s website and in the November\December issue of
Engineering Dimensions.

4. Appendices
e Appendix A — Central Election and Search Committee Issues Report — August 16, 2013
e Appendix B —draft 2014 Voting Procedures
e Appendix C—draft 2014 Election Publicity Procedures
e Appendix D — Ipsos-Reid Council Elections Membership Survey — July 26, 2013
o Appendix E — Call for Candidates
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2013 Council Election Issues Report

C-487-1.2
Appendix A

as approved by the Central Election and Search Committee

August 16, 2013

No. Issue Related Backeround Recommendations as recommended by the
8 Chief Elections Officer and the CESC
1. Staff involvement in the handling of questions | Candidates are frequently disrespectful of and | Recommend that staff are to be explicitly
and resolution of complaints. harass staff. prohibited from handling and resolving
complaints and questions.
Rationale: to clarify the roles of the Chief
Elections Officer and elections staff.
Note: a review of the process by staff has
determined that there is no further
opportunity to outsource the elections
process.
Note: See #11 — Voting Procedures
2. | Ballots/voting instructions were not clear Survey results * Recommend the script from website/
(Issue raised in Ipsos-Reid survey) e 24% - ballot confusing telephone and where and how to get help
e 22% - needed help and couldn’t find it voting be included on voting instructions;
e 10% - voting instructions unclear better align names of candidates on ballot
* of those who responsed and who had Rationale: to make voting instructions clearer
difficulty voting and make help more accessible so that it
would be easier to vote
Note: n/a
3. | There should be a period of time between the | Survey results — 66% of respondents agreed Recommend that regulations be amended to

end of a president’s term of office and when

there should be a required period of time

prohibit a president running again for the

2013 Issues Report — approved by CESC August 16, 2013
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No.
Issue

Related Background

Recommendations as recommended by the
Chief Elections Officer and the CESC

president.
(Issue raised in Ipsos-Reid survey)

he/she is eligible to run again for the office of

between the end of a president’s term of
office and when he/she is eligible to run again
for the office of president

Note: Minutes from 486" Council meeting
held June 10, 2013.

That Council reinstate the requirement for
prior Council experience for candidates for the
offices of President-Elect and Vice President
that existed at Section 7. of O. Reg. 941 prior
to April, 2007.

DEFEATED

That Council reinstate the provision that
existed at Section 11 of O.Reg. 941 prior to
April 2007 that prevented the Past President
from running again for any officer position for
two (2) years.

DEFEATED
That:

1. No person is eligible to run for
election as president-elect if he/she
has held the position of president
within the past three years from the
expiration of his/ her term as
president; and

2. The Acting CEO/Registrar be directed
to draft the necessary Regulation to
give effect to the above motion.

DEFEATED

same office for four years from the time when
his/her term as president expires.

Rationale: in response to member opinion

Note: n/a

2013 Issues Report — approved by CESC August 16, 2013
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11454

ELECTIONS REGULATION - POLICY
IMPLEMENTATION — PRESIDENT’S RE-
ELECTION WAITING PERIOD

11455
OSPE ADVOCACY COMMITTEE UPDATE

11456
ENGINEERS CANADA UPDATE

11457
REGIONAL CONGRESS OPEN ISSUES
REPORT

11458
CONSENT AGENDA

497th Meeting of Council — November 20-21, 2014

amended to read “refers to all information that would be subject to
provision of Section 38 of the Professional Engineers Act.”

In the course of drafting Regulations to implement Council’s policy
decision to re-introduce a time restriction between a President
completing his or her term of office and seeking subsequent election as
President-elect, the Legislation Committee requested clarification from
Council regarding its intent on the minimum time period.

Moved by Vice President Comrie, seconded by Councillor Dony:

To amend the motion passed on September 26, 2013 by replacing it
with the following motion:

That PEO use its regulation-making powers to amend the Regulation to
prohibit a President from holding office as President-elect for three
years from the time when his/her term as president expires.

CARRIED

The Legislation Committee will present the amended regulation based
on the approved President’s re-election time period to Council at a

future date.

A written report was provided.

A written report was provided.

A written report was provided.

Moved by Past President Bergeron, seconded by Councillor Roney:

That the Consent Agenda be approved as amended:
CARRIED

Included on the consent agenda are:

5.1 Minutes — 236" Executive Committee meeting — August 2014
5.2 Minutes — 496" Council Meeting — September 26, 2014

5.3 Approval of Consulting Engineer Designation Applications

5.5 Committees and Task Forces Human Resources and Work Plans
5.6 Complaints Review Councillor (CRC) Terms of Reference

Items removed from the consent agenda are:
5.4 Approval of 2015 Annual Roster
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Briefing Note-Decision- C-497-3.7
Act/Regulation/By-Law Change

REGULATION CHANGE: ELECTIONS REGULATION - PRESIDENT’S RE-ELECTION TIME RESTRICTION

Purpose: To clarify Council’s policy intent on the minimum waiting period for a President to subsequently seek
re-election as President-elect

Motion(s) to consider: (requires a 2/3 majority of votes cast to carry)

To amend the motion passed on September 26, 2013 by replacing it with the following motion:

“That PEO use its regulation-making powers to amend the Regulation to prohibit a president from running
again for president-elect for <to be determined> years from the time when his/her term as president expires.

Prepared by: Bob Dony, P.Eng., Chair, Legislation Committee
Moved by: George Comrie, P.Eng.

1. Need for PEO Action

In the course of drafting Regulations to implement Council’s policy decision to re-introduce a time restriction
between a President completing his or her term of office and seeking subsequent election as President-elect,
the Legislation Committee requires Council to clarify its intent on the minimum time period.

The motion passed by Council on September 26, 2013 reads:

That PEO use its regulation-making powers to amend the regulation to prohibit a president from
running again for the same office for four years from the time when his/her term as president expires.

The Legislation Committee has noted that the motion is technically incorrect and, therefore, that the
timeframe is ambiguous. According to the current Section 3(1), paragraph 1 of Regulation 941, a person runs
for president-elect, not President, but they assume that position the following year (and as Past-president
the next year).

Depending on how this motion could be interpreted, the time restriction between completing the President’s
term and serving as President in the future could be anywhere between 2 and 6 years. The Committee is
requesting Council’s desire for the minimum time period between serving as President and potentially
serving again as President-elect.

Section 10(1) of the current Regulation states that “a person is not eligible for election or re-election unless
the member’s full term of office will have expired by the time the member would take office, or unless the
member submits his or her resignation in writing, effective at the time the member would take office for the
new term, to the Association prior to nomination for election or re-election.” Section 10 of the Regulation
will have to be amended to reflect the proposed additional time restriction on the President.

2. Proposed Action / Recommendation
Council will clarify the minimum time restriction for a current President to subsequently seek re-election for
President-elect. This could range from 2-6 years.

3. Next Steps (if motion approved)

The Legislation Committee will provide the policy intent to the Attorney General’s office, who will finalize the
Regulation and present it to Cabinet for approval and to PEO Council for ratification. The change would go
into effect for the 2016 Council Elections.

497" Council meeting, November 20-21, 2014 Association of Professional
Engineers of Ontario



4. Peer Review and Process Followed

Process
Followed

From 1984 (the commencement of the current Regulation) until May 1, 2007, Section 11 of

Regulation 941 read as follows:
11. No person is eligible to be elected or appointed as an officer of the Association if the
person has held the office of president within the five years immediately preceding the
year in which the person would hold office as a result of the election or appointment.
R.R.0. 1990, Reg. 941, s. 11.

The intent of the prohibition from seeking office (as President, President-elect, elected Vice-
President, appointed Vice-President, or Past President) for a five year period was to prevent
Presidents from re-running frequently, and to provide more opportunities for new candidates
to run for President-elect or Vice-President.
At its meeting in November, 2006, Council passed a motion removing all restrictions on
candidacy for President-Elect and Vice President:
To remove any service restrictions from those people running for President-elect and Vice
President.

The Regulation changes to implement this decision, along with the approved
recommendations of the Election Procedures Task Force, were approved by Council on January
19, 2007 and were proclaimed in April 2007. As a result, Section 11 of the Regulation was
deleted by amending Regulation 157/07 on May 1, 2007.
Since 2007, only one President has been successful in being re-elected after his term as Past
President expired. However, four former Presidents have run for office as President-elect or
Vice-President unsuccessfully.
In June 2013, the Central Elections and Search Committee (CESC) produced an Elections Issue
Report, which recommended that “regulations be amended to prohibit a president running
again for the same office for four years from the time when his/her term of office as president
expires”. The proposal was subsequently presented to PEO Council, and the following motion
was passed by Council on September 26, 2013:

That PEO use its regulation-making powers to amend the regulation to prohibit a

president from running again for the same office for four years from the time when

his/her term as president expires.
In the course of carrying out its duties to draft the proposed Regulation, the Legislation
Committee identified the need for clarity of Council’s motion, and since they are not policy
makers, felt that this needed to be sent back to Council for its determination.

Council
Identified
Review

Council is being asked to clarify the minimum time restriction between completing one’s term
as President and seeking re-election as President-elect

Actual
Motion
Review

The 2013 CESC proposal was included in a Council Elections Membership Survey in July 2013
(n=7401) conducted by Ipsos Reid, and received a 66% agreement.

Legislation Committee, a Board Committee comprised entirely of sitting Councillors, reviewed
the September 2013 Council motion for the purpose of providing instructions to the Attorney
General for drafting Regulations. As the Legislation Committee is not a Policy Committee per
se, it is asking for Council to clarify its desired time restriction.

5. Appendices

e Appendix A: Preliminary Regulatory Impact Assessment - Elections Regulation (Draft)
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C-497-3.7
Appendix A

PRELIMINARY REGULATORY IMPACT ASSESSMENT - ELECTIONS REGULATION (DRAFT)

Proposal and Context

Under Regulation 941, Professional Engineers Ontario conducts annual elections for the position of
President-elect (who becomes President the following year), a Vice-President, Councillors-at-Large,
and Regional Councillors. The President serves for a one-year term, then continues as Past-President
for the next year.

From 1984 (the commencement of the current Regulation) until May 1, 2007, section 11 of
Regulation 941 read as follows:

11. No personis eligible to be elected or appointed as an officer of the Association if the
person has held the office of president within the five years immediately preceding the
year in which the person would hold office as a result of the election or appointment.
R.R.0. 1990, Reg. 941, s. 11.

The intent of the prohibition from seeking office (as President, President-elect, elected Vice-
President, appointed Vice-President, or Past President) for a five year period was to prevent
Presidents from re-running frequently, and to provide more opportunities for new candidates to run
for President-elect or Vice-President.

At its meeting in November, 2006, Council passed a motion removing all restrictions on candidacy for
President-Elect and Vice President:

To remove any service restrictions from those people running for President-elect and Vice
President.

The Regulation changes to implement this decision, along with the approved recommendations of
the Election Procedures Task Force, were approved by Council on January 19, 2007 and were
proclaimed in April, 2007. As a result, section 11 of the Regulation was deleted by amending
Regulation 157/07 on May 1, 2007.

Since 2007, only one President has been successful in being re-elected after his term as Past
President expired. However, four former Presidents have run for office as President-elect or Vice-
President unsuccessfully.

The mandate of the Central Elections and Search Committee (CESC) under section 12(3) of Regulation
941, is to:

(a) encourage Members to seek nomination for election to the Council as president-elect, vice-
president or a councillor-at-large;

(b)  assist the Chief Elections Officer as may be required by him or her; and

(c) receive and respond to complaints regarding the procedures for nominating, electing and
voting for members to the Council in accordance with this Regulation.
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In June 2013, the CESC produced an Elections Issue Report, which recommended that “regulations be
amended to prohibit a president running again for the same office for four years from the time when
his/her term of office as president expires”. This proposal was included in a Council Elections
Membership Survey in July 2013 (n=7401) conducted by Ipsos Reid, and received a 66% agreement.
The proposal was subsequently presented to PEO Council and the following motion was passed by
Council on September 26", 2013:

That PEO use its regulation-making powers to amend the regulation to prohibit a president
from running again for the same office for four years from the time when his/her term as
president expires.

Approach and Intended Outcomes

The proposal is to re-instate a waiting period between a President serving his or her term and seeking
re-election as President-elect before four years have expired. The rationales for re-instating the
waiting period are:

e there could well be individuals who would be happy to be senior Officers of PEO on a more or
less permanent basis, and

e given the advantage incumbents have in elections, these individuals might be able to be
elected repeatedly to the exclusion of other candidates, and

e itis notin the interest of the Association to have its leadership become "ingrown", nor is it in
the spirit of leadership succession to have the same person or persons occupying the
Presidency on a continual basis.

It is hoped that this will encourage more candidates to seek nomination for the office of President-
elect.

Since PEQ’s election rules are embedded in the Regulation, they must be amended in the Regulation.
They cannot be enforced through a policy or guideline.

Section 10 of the Regulation is amended by adding the following subsection:

The proposed wording for a new section 10(3) of Regulation 941 is:

(3) No person is eligible to be elected to the office of president-elect if the person held the office
of president-elect within the four years immediately preceding the year in which the person
would be elected.

While these are changes to the Regulation, they do not in fact affect any of PEQ’s regulatory
obligations. They pertain exclusively to governance issues internal to PEO.

In order for this eligibility change to be effective for the October 2014 start of nominations for the
2015 Elections, the Regulation change is required by the end of September (there is a Council
meeting scheduled for September 25" and 26™ at which time the draft Regulation could be approved
by Council). If this timing is not possible, then it would have to be enacted before the end of the
following September.
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Affected Stakeholders

This section of the Regulation only pertains to elections to the office of PEO President-elect. As per
section 2, paragraph 2 of Regulation 941, only members of the Association are eligible to serve as
officers (President or Vice President), so there are no impacts on any stakeholders outside of the
members of the Association. There is no impact on public safety by the introduction of a time
restriction between a President serving 2 consecutive terms of office.

Individuals - no
Businesses - no
Non-profit Groups - no
Communities - no
Governments - no

Type of Impact

Health and Safety - no
Environment - no
Social Impacts - no
Trade - no

Economy - no

Other - no

Costs - no

Costs - None
PEO holds annual elections for the elected members of Council, regardless of the number of
candidates. It provides free publicity in the January/February edition of Engineering Dimensions and

holds All-Candidates meetings for members to attend. Any additional publicity or campaigning costs
are borne by the candidates themselves.
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Different Governance Models

Governance Models: What’s Right for Your Board?

By Nathan Garber, Nathan Garber & Associates
INTRODUCTION

Non-profit boards tend to follow one of five different approaches to governance. Each approach
emphasizes different dimensions of the roles and responsibilities of the board and each arises out of a
different relationship between board members and staff members. These in turn reflect differences in the
size, purpose, and history of the organization. | call these approaches the Advisory Board Model, the Patron
Model, the Co-operative model, the Management Team Model, and the Policy Board Model, | conclude
with some questions to ask when you are considering changing your board structure.

ADVISORY BOARD MODEL

This model emphasizes the helping and supportive role of the Board and frequently occurs where the CEO
is the founder of the organization. The Board's role is primarily that of helper/advisor to the CEO. Board
members are recruited for three main reasons: they are trusted as advisors by the CEO; they have a
professional skill that the organization needs but does not want to pay for; they are likely to be helpful in
establishing the credibility of the organization for fundraising and public relations purposes.

Individual board members may be quite active in performing these functions and consequently feel that they
are making a valuable contribution to the organization. Board meetings tend to be informal and task-
focused, with the agenda developed by the CEO.

The Advisory Board model can work well for a short time in many organizations but it exposes the board
members to significant liability in that it fails to provide the accountability mechanisms that are required of
boards of directors. By law, the board has the obligation to manage the affairs of the organization and can
be held accountable for certain actions of employees and committees. It must therefore maintain a superior
position to the CEOQ. Although the board is permitted to delegate many of its responsibilities to staff or
committees, it cannot make itself subordinate to them.

PATRON MODEL

Similar to the Advisory Board model, the board of directors in the Patron Model has even less influence over
the organization than an advisory board. Composed of wealthy and influential individuals with a
commitment to the mission of the organization, the Patron Board serves primarily as a figurehead for fund
raising purposes. Such boards meet infrequently as their real work is done outside board meetings. Writing
cheques and getting their friends to write cheques is their contribution to the organization

Many organizations maintain a Patron Board in addition to their governing boards. For capital campaigns
and to establish credibility of a newly formed organizations, Patron Boards can be especially helpful. They
cannot be relied upon, however, for governance tasks such as vision development, organizational planning,
or program monitoring.

CO-OPERATIVE MODEL

For a number of different reasons, some organizations try to avoid hierarchical structures. The decision-
making structure in such organizations is typically labeled "peer management” or "collective management”.
In this model, all responsibility is shared and there is no Chief Executive Officer. Decision-making is normally
by consensus and no individual has power over another. If the law did not require it, they would not have a
board of directors at all. In order to be incorporated, however, there must be a board of directors and
officers. The organization therefore strives to fit the board of directors into its organizational philosophy by
creating a single managing/governing body composed of official board members, staff members,
volunteers, and sometimes clients.

Seen by its advocates as the most democratic style of management, it is also, perhaps, the most difficult of
all models to maintain, requiring among other things, a shared sense of purpose, an exceptional level of
commitment by all group members, a willingness to accept personal responsibility for the work of others,
and an ability to compromise. When working well, the organization benefits from the direct involvement of
front-line workers in decision-making and the synergy and camaraderie created by the interaction of board
and staff.

I have noted two areas of concern with this model. The first is that although the ability to compromise is an
essential element in the successful functioning of this model, cooperatives often arise out of a strong
ideological or philosophical commitment that can be inimical to compromise. The second concern is the
difficulty of implementing effective accountability structures. At the time of implementing this model, there
mav be a hiah motivation level in the oraanization which obviates the need for accountabilitv mechanisms

http://www.saskculture.ca/programs/organizational-support/organizational-resources?resource=1&subresour... 3/6/2017
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maintainea
MANAGEMENT TEAM MODEL

For many years, most nonprofit organizations have been run by boards which operate according to the
model of a Management Team, organizing their committees and activities along functional lines. In larger
organizations, the structure of the board and its committees usually mirrors the structure of the
organization's administration, Just as there are staff responsible for human resources, fund-raising, finance,
planning, and programs, the board creates committees with responsibility for these areas.

Where there is no paid staff, the board's committee structure becomes the organization’s administrative
structure and the board members are also the managers and delivers of programs and services. Individually
of in committees, board members take on all governance, management and operational tasks including
strategic planning, bookkeeping, fund-raising, newsletter, and program planning and implementation.

The widespread adoption of the Management Team model, arises out its correspondence with modern
ideas about team management and democratic structures in the workplace. It also fits well with the widely
held view of nonprofits as volunteer-driven or at least nonprofessional organizations. This model fits well
with the experience of many people as volunteers in community groups like service clubs, Home and
School groups, scouts and guides, and hobby groups. [t also mirrors the processes involved in the creation
of a new organization or service. It is no wonder then, that most prescriptive books and articles written
between 1970 and 1990 (and many written more recently) define this model as the ideal.

Boards which operate under the Management Team model are characterized by a high degree of
involvement in the operational and administrative activities of the organization. In organizations with
professional management this normally takes the form of highly directive supervision of the CEO and staff at
all levels of the organization. Structurally, there may be many committees and subcommittees. Decision-
making extends to fine details about programs, services, and administrative practices. When working well,
two criteria tend to be used in the selection of members: their knowledge and experience in a specific field,
such as business or accounting; or because they are members of a special interest group or sector that the
board considers to be stakeholders.

While this model works well for all-volunteer organizations, it has proven to be less suited to organizations
that already have professional management and full-time employees. Indeed, the deficiencies of this model
have led to the current thinking in the field which differentiates “governance” (the practices of boards of
directors) from "management” {the practices of employees) and the deluge of research, articles, and
manuals on this topic.

The most important shortcoming is that all too frequently, it degenerates into what | call the Micro-
management Team Model in which board members refuse to delegate authority, believing that their role
requires them to make all operational decisions, leaving only the implementation to paid staff. The result is
invariably a lack of consistency in decisions, dissatisfied board members, resentful staff and a dangerous lack
of attention to planning and accountability matters.

POLICY BOARD MODEL

As noted above, the need to differentiate the board's role from the manager's role arose from the failure of
many organizations to maintain proper accountability at the highest levels and the dissatisfaction of many
board members over the their inability to comply with the expectations of their role. They began to ask why,
when they were such competent and accomplished individuals, they felt so ineffective and frustrated as
board members. This led to an examination of the role of the board, the relationship between the board and
the CEOQ, and the relationship between the board and the community.

The originator and most influential proponent of the Policy Board Model is John Carver, whose book,
Boards that Make a Difference, has had a great effect on thousands of nonprofit organizations. All Policy
Board Models share the view that the job of the board is: to establish the guiding principles and policies for
the organization; to delegate responsibility and authority to those who are responsible for enacting the
principles and policies; to monitor compliance with those guiding principles and policies; to ensure that
staff, and board alike are held accountable for their performance.

Where the models diverge is the way these jobs are done and the extent to which strategic planning and
fundraising as are seen as board jobs

Boards operating under the Policy Board Model are characterized by a high level of trust and confidence in
the CEO. There are relatively few standing committees, resulting in more meetings of the full board. Board
development is given a high priority in order to ensure that new members are able to function effectively,
and recruitment is an ongoing process. Members are recruited for their demonstrated commitment to the
values and mission of the organization.

WHICH MODEL 1S THE RIGHT ONE?

There are a number of reasons for considering a change in your governance model:

board members are dissatisfied with their roles or the way the board operates;

your organization is experiencing problems that can be traced back to inadequacies in board
structure or process;

.

your organization is entering a new phase in its life-cycle;

the CEO has left or is leaving;
http://www.saskculture.ca/programs/organizational-support/organizational-resources?resource=1&subresour...  3/6/2017
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The descriptions above, of the various governance models, will give you an idea of the strengths and
weaknesses of each model, but the difficulty in making the transition cannot be overstated. Changing
models is like changing lifestyles. You must abandon well-established ideas and patterns of behaviour,
replacing them with new ideas, roles, and activities that will seem confusing and unfamiliar. This type of
change takes a considerable amount of time, energy, and other resources to accomplish. The answers to
the following questions will help you to determine how badly you need to change your governance model
and whether your board and organization have the necessary commitment and resources to accomplish it
successfully. Take your time with each question, ensuring that each board member answers each question.

* Do we have a clear understanding and agreement on the purpose of our organization? Is it written
down?
What are the basic values which guide our organization and our board? Are they written down?

How do we know whether the good our organization does is worth what it costs to operate it?
What financial resources do we have and can we reasonably count on for the next few years?
To what extent are board members expected to contribute money and labour to fundraising efforts?

.

Do we believe that the organization should be run as a cooperative or collective - with staff
participating along with board members in the governing of the organization?

How much time is each board member willing to give to the organization in the next year (or until the
end of their term)

How much trust does the board have in the ability of the CEO to ensure that the organization
operates in an effective and ethical manner?

What are our expectations about attendance at board and committee meetings?
What is the attendance record of each board member?

How do we hold board members accountable?
What is the record of each board member and committee with respect to meetings and results?

.

How useful has each committee proven to be?
To what extent do committees duplicate staff jobs? How satisfied are our members with the current

board performance?
Who thinks we should change our governance model?
How much time and money are we willing to devote to increasing our own knowledge and skills to

improve our performance as board members?

How does our board deal with differences of opinion?

How do members deal with decisions when we disagree?

To what extent is it necessary for us (board members) to be involved in the delivery of programs and

services, marketing, public speaking, etc.
Who attends our Annual General Meeting? Why do they come?
As board members, to whom do we wish to be accountable?

How effective is our current recruitment method in getting excellent board members?

Take some time to consider these questions. The answers will tell you the degree of difficulty you will have in
changing to a new governance model and where the problems lie.

© 1997, Nathan Garber. Permission is hereby granted to reprint this article in part or in total provided that
the author is acknowledged

Other links:

The Effective Not-for-Frofit Board: A value-diriving force. Deloitte Centre for Corporate Governance, 2013

205ector/ca_en_gov_Effective-NPO-Board, 061113, pdf

Carver’s Policy Governance Model ® in Non-profit Organizations, by John Carver and Miriam Carver, 2013

http://www.carvergovernance.com/pg-np.htm

International Policy Governance ® Associates, 2013,
hittp://www.policygovernanceassociation.org/resources/ principles-of-policy-governance. html

Policy Governance for Boards. Community Learning Network. Edmonton, AB.
http://www.communitylearning.info/members/resou ree-guide/board-governance-madels/policy-
governance-board. html
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George Comrie, P.Eng., is chair of PEQ's
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PROFESSIONAL SELF-REGULATION:
IMPLICATIONS FOR GOVERNANCE

By George Comrie, P.Eng.

IN MY PREVIOUS ARTICLE, “Professional self-regulation: Protecting the core”
(Engineering Dimensions, September/October, p. 49), I reviewed the nature of Pro-
fessional Engineers Ontario as a delegated authority and professional regulator, and
discussed some of the core principles and values on which our Canadian professional
regulatory bodies operate. I argued that, like any other organization, PEO ought to
distinguish between these core principles—which must be maintained and defended
against erosion and compromise (intentional or unintentional)—and other aspects

of its tactics and business processes, which should evolve and improve in response

to changing circumstances. Now, let’s consider how these principles can inform the
way the profession governs itself.

Like most organizations, whether private or public, and whether for profit or
not, PEO consists of a board of directors (the council), a chief executive officer (the
CEO/registrar) and paid staff.

Unlike most other organizations, however, PEO also has a substantial body of
volunteers, drawn from among its membership, who contribute to both its gover-
nance and its operation. This is because PEO is the embodiment of a self-regulating
profession—it is to the profession at large that the people of Ontario have entrusted
the responsibility for regulating the profession’s affairs in the public interest.

Were this not the case, it might be possible to govern the organization with
minimal volunteer involvement beyond that of elected councillors. In such an orga-
nization, the volunteers (directors) could confine themselves to matters of policy
governance and high-level direction and leave the day-to-day operations to the CEO
and paid staff, as advocated by many governance experts like John Carver.! No
doubt some members of PEO staff wish things were this way.

Yet in the self-regulating professional body, volunteers are involved not just in
governance but in doing the actual work of the organization through task groups,
standing committees and local chapters. This considerably complicates the gover-
nance model, since staff and volunteers share responsibility for achieving certain
ends and outcomes. In most organizations, the owners/shareholders elect directors
to govern the organization, while paid staff have sole responsibility for achieving the
organization’s goals as established by the board of directors.

In PEO’s case, members often work shoulder-to-shoulder with staff to get the
work done and accomplish objectives. Some experts would argue that such an
arrangement is inherently conflicted, i.e. fraught with opportunities for conflict of
interest and authority. However, I believe it can work well if the following implica-
tions are understood and addressed.

1. BOARD ACCOUNTABILITY MUST BE UNDERSTOOD AND ACCEPTED.

This is a principle that applies to any board of directors. By definition, the board
(PEO council, in this case) is accountable for achieving the organization’s goals
and objectives.” Even if this were not a universal principle of organization theory,
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the Professional Engineers Act makes it
clear: council as a whole (not the presi-
dent; not the CEO) is charged with
establishing the organization’s goals
and ensuring they are achieved using
acceptable means. It is the final author-
ity on definition and interpretation of
those goals and objectives and the final
authority on definition and interpreta-
tion of what constitutes acceptable
means of achieving the goals. And it is
the final authority on whether the goals
have been or are being achieved. These
roles belong to the board and cannot be
delegated to anyone else.

Some important aspects of board
accountability are worth noting here:
Organizational success must be
clearly defined.

As the old saying goes, “If you don’t
know where you're going, any road

will take you there, and you won’t
know when you’ve arrived.” Without a
broadly shared vision of where the orga-
nization is going and what it wants to
achieve, neither staff nor volunteers will
know what their roles are in achieving
goals, or what constitutes success for
them individually and collectively. In
an organization like PEO, both staff
and volunteers should contribute to

the definition of corporate success, but
council is ultimately responsible for
establishing clarity around that defini-
tion, for communicating it, and for
building commitment to it.

Progress must be tracked and
results must be measured.

To put it bluntly, PEO has a less than
stellar track record of executing its
plans and initiatives. With the best of
intentions and careful deliberation, we
establish directions, policies, programs
and projects, then often forget about
them as we move on to dealing with
other pressing matters.
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As an example, at the council retreat in 2004 councillors discussed and agreed to

pursue four high-priority initiatives:

*  address government incursions into PEO’s mandate of professional self-
regulation;

* implement mandatory annual reporting for all licensees;

*  make the transition from engineering student to engineering intern to licensee
more seamless; and

e address long-standing deficiencies associated with the Certificate of Authoriza-
tion and make it a more effective instrument for regulation of individuals and
firms offering engineering services to the public.

Five years later, what have we accomplished on these initiatives? Other than the
first (and, arguably, most urgent, which was addressed by PEO’s stand on the build-
ing code testing regulation and by establishing our current Government Liaison
Program), they remain incomplete. Not that they have been abandoned or deemed
no longer relevant—they are still works in progress. But they have suffered from lack
of accountability and, in some cases, from lack of basic project management. Most
notably, council has not regularly reviewed progress on them against plan.

As the saying goes, “The road to hell is paved with good intentions.” Council must
accept responsibility for seeing its directions through to completion by monitoring
progress, measuring results, and adjusting plans and resources, as necessary.

The board must measure its own performance.

The board must be prepared to monitor and evaluate not just the performance of
the organization against the established objectives and its adherence to the estab-
lished means and constraints, but also its own performance as a board in terms of
its accepted responsibilities. In other words, we need to measure how well we are
governing ourselves as distinct from how well we are achieving our stated objectives.
This is a fundamental responsibility of directors in most modern governance models.

2. THE BOARD MUST ACCEPT RESPONSIBILITY FOR VOLUNTEER

MANAGEMENT.

In any organization that depends on volunteer engagement to accomplish its mis-

sion, volunteer management is a critical issue. Although PEO has long had an

Advisory Committee on Volunteers and a staff person assigned to volunteer manage-

ment, I believe there is much more we could and should be doing to enhance the

volunteer experience for both volunteers and the organization. Some suggestions:

*  review on a regular basis (at least every two years), by interview, the experience
of each volunteer to ascertain his or her level of satisfaction with the current
assignment(s), interests/aspirations for future assignments, suggestions for
improvement of the experience, etc. There should be a “career management”
function for volunteers, just as there is for staff;

*  evaluate annually the contribution of each volunteer in his or her current
assignment(s) using a 360-degree review approach, and provide feedback to the
volunteer;

*  do annual, formal succession planning for each volunteer group (council,
committee, task force, chapter executive) with a view to ensuring leadership suc-
cession, diversity, and an effective balance of continuity and “new blood”; * and
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*  provide an ongoing formal program of leadership development to interested vol-
unteers at no cost to the volunteer as an incentive and reward for volunteering.

Measures such as these will require additional staff and budget beyond what PEO
currently deploys on “people development.” I believe this critical corporate func-
tion should be resourced on the basis of 100 staff plus 1000 volunteers. It would be
money well spent!

3. THE BOARD MUST ACCEPT RESPONSIBILITY FOR MANAGING THE

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN VOLUNTEERS AND STAFF.

If volunteers and staff are going to share responsibility for certain tasks and initia-

tives and work effectively together to accomplish them, the relationship between

volunteers will require special attention by the leadership. I see lots of evidence of
volunteers and staff working effectively together within PEO, and consider that to
be one of the organization’s strengths. But we need to extend our best practices in
this regard to all aspects of PEO operations.

It is important to remember that individual volunteers do not have authority to
direct individual staff members, or vice versa. This has several implications:

*  The “volunteer side” of the organization, led by the president, must be diligent
in ensuring volunteers do not abuse their leadership positions by intimidating
or making unreasonable demands of staff, and must be prepared to deal with
any such abuses that may occur;

*  The CEO/registrar, as leader of the staff side of the organization, must be pre-
pared to defend his staff to council against unreasonable demands by individual
volunteers or groups of volunteers;

*  The volunteer side of the organization must take responsibility for instructing
volunteers in the principles and protocols of their roles, and the staff side must
avoid usurping that responsibility; and

e Effective volunteer staff relationships will be based on mutual respect and influ-
ence, rather than on formal authority.

4. THE BOARD MUST CLEARLY DEFINE THE ROLES AND EXPECTATIONS OF THE
EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM.
When I became PEO president in the spring of 2004, it became apparent that
there was an item of unfinished business left over from the Governance Task Force,
namely to establish executive limitations for the CEO/registrar. In addressing this
macter, the Human Resources and Compensation Committee defined what we
called the Executive Leadership Team. This team consists of the three president-level
elected leaders (past president, president, and president-elect) and the CEO/registrar.
This important group has almost no formal authority, but its terms of reference
were defined in the executive limitations approved by council and incorporated in
PEQO’s governance handbook.
The most important notion here is that this group is supposed to function as a
team (remember, teamwork is one of PEO’s core values). Its primary roles are:
(a) to assist and support the president in managing the agenda of council by deter-
mining which items need to be, and are ready to be, brought before council
(and how and in what form); and
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(b) to assist and support the CEO/reg-
istrar by ensuring that the volunteer
leadership (and council, in particular)
are in sync on important operational
and administrative matters.

Rather than usurping the author-
ity of council, the president, or the
CEO/registrar, this arrangement was
designed to enhance their respective
roles by ensuring there is effective
communication, common understand-
ing and cohesion at the top. I believe
most councillors expect this of their
leadership, and they experience great
frustration when it doesn’t exist. This
arrangement has proven to work well
when the members of the Executive
Leadership Team honour and support
it. Unfortunately, this has not always
been the case.

Misunderstandings concerning the
role and authority of the president have
been particularly problematic. PEO’s
governance handbook (now incorpo-
rated in the Council Manual), which is
aligned with most authorities on gover-
nance, makes it clear that the president
does not determine the agenda or work
plan for the organization, or even for
council. Yet the misconception exists
among some leaders and members that
the president is elected by the member-
ship to do whatever was in his or her
election platform.

This belief may stem from our com-
mon experience with public politics,
where the elected leader of a politi-
cal party generally has great personal
authority, at least within the party, and
can effectively drive his or her personal
agenda. The idea is reinforced by the
practice of encouraging candidates for
election to council to articulate “what
they will do if elected” in their plat-
form statements.

Even if this were the case for PEO,
common sense dictates that the presi-
dent must establish broad consensus
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among the leadership for anything he or
she hopes to accomplish, since most sig-
nificant initiatives will take longer than
one term to implement. But this isn’t
the case. The president actually has very
limited personal authority. He or she is,
in effect, first among equals on council.
The authority of the president stems
solely from the authority of council.

Some have suggested that the one-
year term of president is too short to
accomplish anything worthwhile. But I
believe that suggestion is based on the
above misconception concerning the
agenda-setting role of the president.

My counter-argument is that, in PEO’s
present electoral system, the president
has three years in which to influence the
agenda through the Executive Leader-
ship Team, and to build support within
council for his or her priorities. To my
mind, that should be long enough to
make a significant contribution.

This discussion has obvious implica-
tions for how we elect our leaders. If we
were electing a president to govern the
profession for a year, we would want to
choose a very assertive individual with
very strong views on what needs to be
done (and which, hopefully, we can all
support), and strong executive skills. Of
course this assertion begs the question:
What is the role of council and the other
senior elected officers and what is the
role of the CEO/registrar in the process?

If, on the other hand, we are elect-
ing a president to lead the organization
for a year (or three years, as I contend),
then we will want a collaborative team
player with influencing and consensus-
building skills. In other words, we will
want a “servant leader.”

I expect candidates for leadership
roles to have views on what the orga-
nization’s agenda and priorities should
be. But much more important than
asking them what they think needs to
be changed, we should be asking them
to tell us which leadership skills and
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experiences they bring to the table that will help the organization to move forward
cohesively.
In this connection, I would like to propose a minor enhancement to PEO’s pro-
cedures for election to council that I believe would help our governance. This simple
procedural change is within council’s purview and does not require any amendment of
the Professional Engineers Act, regulations or bylaws.
My proposal is to expand the nomination acceptance form to require a nominee to:
(a) accept the role and limitations of a councillor (and officer, where applicable) as
defined in PEO’s Council Manual,

(b) agree to campaign in a manner befitting a leader in a self-regulating profession;
and

(c) agree to abide by and enforce PEO’s core values.

5. THE BOARD MUST ACTIVELY ENFORCE THE ORGANIZATION’S CORE VALUES.
Several years ago, the Human Resources and Compensation Committee facilitated

a bottom-up process to develop a set of core values for PEO that would govern the
way we treat each other within the profession as well as those we deal with outside
the profession. These values, which were approved by council in January 2005, have
been widely publicized, including in PEO’s most recent annual report. To refresh
your memory, they are:

*  accountability;

*  respect;

*  integrity;

*  professionalism; and

*  teamwork.

Of course, core values are meaningless unless they are enforced; that is, unless we
are prepared to “call” each other on breaches of them, and our leadership is prepared
to reinforce them by dealing decisively with flagrant or repeated breaches.

As I listened to the debate in April surrounding the proposed National Frame-
work for Membership and Licensure, it occurred to me that every single one of
PEO’s core values had been breached by the manner in which this proposal was
developed and brought before council.

In conclusion, the special nature of a self-regulating profession like ours places
unique demands on governance. But with clear understanding and acceptance by all
parties of the roles and responsibilities of staff and volunteers, and a strong culture
of respect and teamwork across the board, I believe an organization like PEO can
maximize the contributions of both groups in a productive and harmonious manner. X
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| read articles for and against term limits for nonprofit directors. How would my organization decide what's
right for it?

In Canada, most nonprofits now must have or implement term limits. The new legislation for both federally
incorporated nonprofits and nonprofits incorporated in Ontario sets a maximum term on a board as four
years. As this non-lawyer understands it, if you do not implement term limits in your bylaws, the terms of
all directors expire with each annual general meeting.

However, you still have to decide whether to limit the number of terms. Remember that even if there are
no limits, all directors will now have to think at the end of each of their terms about standing for election.
Organizations seeking to practice good governance will treat incumbents standing for re-election in the
same way they treat new candidates, determining if they are the best fit going forward. Are their skills and
knowledge a match for the current vision, mission and strategic directions? Has their performance been
strong? Are they a constructive force for the organization, adding value, or a drain on resources? These
functions are normally handled by the Governance Committee (some are still forced to call it a Nominating
Committee under old bylaws; new bylaws should get rid of such terms) in collaboration with the Chair.

Many good articles have been written with balanced approaches to nonprofit board term limits. Check out
these articles posted on The Butterfly Effect and by Volunteer Alberta. Unfortunately, the May 2012 pro
and con articles in Director, the journal of the Institute of Corporate Directors, appear to be available only
to members. If you don’t belong, perhaps you know someone who can lend you the magazine.

So rather than rewriting what is in those articles, let me take a different approach to answering your
question. Having read the excellent arguments pro and con, how do you decide what is right for your
organization?

Criteria for number of terms
1. Values

In my opinion, your first consideration is a fit with your values. Do you value democracy and civil society?
Then your members need to have choices when they vote for directors, and not just an occasional
vacancy when some director retires after thirty-five years on the board. Do you value diversity and
inclusiveness? Then look to see how well your current board models those values. They are very difficult
to apply if the board changes more slowly than the community.

Do you need more young people involved with the organization? Then letting the current group with grey
hair or no hair continue to govern for what seems like forever will not serve you well. Do you value
sustainability? That could work both ways. Current board members may have proven ability to bring in
resources but will the next generation be ready to lead?

Look closely at your Values Statement. If the leadership group does not model the values, there is little
chance the community will believe those are in fact your values.

However, you may feel that you can live up to the values better with careful, targeted recruitment for
vacancies than by putting a limit on all directors. Mandatory retirement ages were removed because
individuals vary in what they want and what their employers want; there is increased choice on both
sides. Such choices need to be balanced with good evaluation systems. Not everyone is comfortable yet
with director assessments but they are becoming more and more common. A director who does not want
to be assessed can resign gracefully.

2. Candidate pool
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Consider how many and what sort of people are in your candidate pool. Wisdom and leadership potential
exists in almost all members of our communities. So for a social service agency in an urban setting, the
pool is very large because it includes almost all adults. Good board recruitment can lead to many good
candidates. You may not yet have a pool of qualified people asking to join your board, but that's a
different issue. The arguments for a limited number of terms focus on fresh ideas, eyes, energy, contacts,
etc., and they should resonate strongly in such an agency.

For a hobby group with relatively few people involved in the hobby, the pool may be dozens of people
rather than tens of thousands. And some of those few people may have personalities not well suited to
group decision making, limited interest in organization-wide issues, or personal lives that have too much
stress to make room for board service. | see organizations with passionate people serving for more than
twenty years on a board that would be seriously weakened without them. There is no point deciding that
fresh energy is the most important factor if hardly anyone new exists to provide it.

3. Internal relationships

One strong and quite valid argument against indefinite board service is that directors have become too
comfortable with one another and with senior management. Directors need to challenge assumptions and
ask hard questions. If you are not hearing different opinions being voiced, and if you see every
management recommendation approved without change or good dialogue, new directors are likely key to
the organization’s survival. The current group may well have been recruited from friends and neighbours
in the first place and never wanted to rock the boat.

However, boards of all-volunteer organizations, or those with far fewer staff than needed for programs
and services, may find themselves spending hundreds of hours together every year, not just a few hours
a month. Constant challenges and differences of opinion take energy to deal with, and cause friction. The
ability to get along well really matters, and frequent turnover would cause some of these organizations to
fold.

4. External relationships

How dependent is your organization on personal connections? If your partners, grantors, gala ticket
buyers and more are with you because they know, trust and like one board member, do you have a
succession plan in place for what happens if that board member can no longer serve? Can the board
member switch to another role, such as campaign chair, if they leave the board, and would they? Would
you lose good access to policy makers if a particular board member is gone?

Setting a limit on the number of terms might be an essential catalyst for getting those succession plans in
place. No one is indispensable. But some organizations have those plans in place despite a lack of term
limits. How ready is yours?

5. Career path

Very, very few people want to step into an officer role on their first day on the board. Very, very few
people can be effective as a chair if they serve one two-year term and are chair in their second year. Yet
| see organizations that have set up structures that fail to give directors time to learn and understand their
roles and responsibilities. They change officers so often that people barely learn the job before they are
gone from it; often the changeover is annual and the person cannot be reelected or reappointed to the
same role. Some boards are too small to allow any time for learning before taking on major
responsibilities.

Some of those are student organizations, where people are only eligible during their short time as active
students. | think many student groups do amazing work despite this challenge, but might benefit from
allowing students to stay involved for a couple of years after they graduate, if interested.

Other organizations with governance structures that seem to work against strong volunteer leadership
have senior management staff that appear to me to be control freaks. New officers and directors are
more dependent on senior management than those who have observed the organization for several
years. The frequent changes are usually justified by workload; they say no one should be asked to make
a longer commitment. Yet | see the same volunteers make longer commitments to other organizations.

Mostly, they are just organizations where people don't recognize that leadership volunteering has a
career path. They haven't thought about the value of learning, opportunities to try out new skills and
experience of a couple of annual cycles with an organization at the director level. They can limit the
number of terms, but really need to plan for directors being around four or more years. The return on
investment in director training and education can be immense.

6. Specialized knowledge

While most board skills are generic, many bad decisions are made because board members lack
sufficient knowledge of the sector in which they govern or the impact their choices will have. They may
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not have asked staff for the right information and analysis or the small staff may not have that knowledge
either. Many Canadian nonprofits operate with a couple of administrative people who manage processes
for them but do not have professional credentials or direct experience related to the issues that come to
the board. An umbrella organization setting safety standards for its member groups, for example, needs
directors who can properly frame the issues and ask the right questions of those member groups. In any
one such technical area, there may only be a few people in Canada who qualify. Removing them after
eight years could leave a major void; you usually want them around as a resource for the other directors
for as long as they remain willing.

This is a good example of an issue | cannot imagine coming up in the for-profit world, where staff
members normally have a depth of expertise in their business. We cannot just rely on business articles to
help us with decisions about our governance approaches.

Making the decision

| believe the governments were right to mandate term limits but leave open the possibility of unlimited
number of terms. Our highly diverse sector needs flexibility.

| also believe a limit on the number of terms is appropriate for most organizations. Without such a limit,
too many people just stay too long and impede progress. So | suggest you review the criteria set above,
and whatever criteria you add, based on limits on the number of terms as a default. Consider whether you
can justify not having such a limit when the trend is so strongly towards having them.

Even if you say yes to a limit on the number of terms, that leaves you with the question of how long each
term is and how many terms will be allowed. Most terms are two or three years; one-year terms leave
open the possibility of everyone on the board leaving or being voted out at the AGM. Even if members
want major change, losing all the history and continuity at once is rarely a good thing. | believe two year
terms are becoming less common and four or five year terms more common than a decade ago. How
long of a commitment will your board members make?

In terms of total length of service allowed, | haven't seen formal research but | think six years of
consecutive service is pretty close to average in the bylaws I've read. That's two terms of three years or
three terms of two years. Would a six year maximum work for you? Think through your reasons for more
or less; there is no right answer.

Remember to also address in your bylaws how in-year appointments are counted in relation to the
number of terms (normally they are excluded) and how long people have to be off the board before they
can come back (one year is common) after completely their maximum time. And you may wish to give the
members flexibility to grant exceptions for unusual circumstances, such as when several people in the
pipeline for director or officer positions have to withdraw on short notice for personal reasons.

Since 1992, Jane Garthson has dedicated her consulting and training business to creating better futures
for our communities and organizations through values-based leadership. She is a respected international
voice on governance, strategic thinking and ethics. Jane can be reached at jane@garthsonleadership.ca.

Because nonprofit organizations are formed to do good does not mean they are always good in their own
practices. Send us your ethical questions dealing with volunteers, staff, clients, donors, funders, sponsors,
and more. Please identify yourself and your organization so we know the questions come from within the

sector. No identifying information will appear in this column.

To submit a dilemma for a future column, or to comment on a previous one, please contact
editor@charityvillage.com. For paid professional advice about an urgent or complex situation, contact
Jane directly.

Disclaimer: This article is for information purposes only. It is not intended to be legal advice. You should
not act or abstain from acting based upon such information without first consulting a legal professional.

Please note: While we ensure that all links and email addresses are accurate at their publishing date, the
quick-changing nature of the web means that some links to other websites and email addresses may no
longer be accurate.
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Term limits also provide a regular injection of fresh thinking into the Board, which is
usually advantageous.
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| think term limits are a very important check in an organization's governance life-cycle. It
is a good opportunity for a board to evaluate its performance and the performance of its
directors. The risk, even in organizations with term limits, is having directors, who are not
necessarily high performers, being permitted to simply sit on the board until their
maximum term expires. This doesn't help anyone.
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Negative?

By: Tim Comments: 0

Term limits for

board directors, or

a lack thereof, is one of the most controversial topics of
conversation in the nonprofit/'voluntary sector. Each new
organization must decide at the outset, when writing their
bylaws, whether or not to include a cap on the number of
consecutive terms a board director can serve. In an effort to
learn more about the perceived pros and cons of term limits, |
searched out books, articles and other resources on the subject
in the Volunteer Alberta Resource Centre. Right away | found an
article entitled “Term Limits: Pro or Con” in the May 2012 edition
of The Journal of the Institute of Corporate Directors. In the
article, Deepak Shukla, Corporate Director and Board Trustee
with Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan, makes the case for
term limits; and David Dominy, Chairman of 3D Capital Inc.,
makes the case against having term limits. Both made great

points in support of their arguments.

One of Shukla’s primary arguments in favour of term limits for
boards is that it ensures there is a continuous supply of fresh
blood. This school of thought suggests organizations are best
served by having a constantly evolving board of directors, with
staggered terms to ensure that there is a healthy balance of
fresh perspective and experience. Dominy, on the other hand,
insists that organizations should focus on recruiting, and
retaining, the best and the brightest, rather than forcing perfectly

capable board members to step down. The key question to
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consider is, “which approach is best for my organization?”

According to Shukla, having unlimited consecutive terms can
often result in ‘group think’ — a situation where a board ceases
being a true democracy. Both sides of the issue provided
examples of boards that do not have term limits for their board
directors; Shukla cited Research In Motion (RIM) as an
organization with a board that has no term limits and has seen a
negative impact as a result. Yet, Dominy is quick to point out
that some of the most successful corporations in Canada, such
as BMO, RBC, BCE and Shaw, have no board term limits. While
these examples are for-profit enterprises, instead of
nonprofit/voluntary organizations, it demonstrates that each
organization has its own needs and that there is no one size fits

all approach.

Having term limits in place can work as a safeguard to prevent
board members from steering the organization down the wrong
path, and, according to Shukla, there is no effective evaluation
process for boards, as the most common form is a self-
evaluation. However, Dominy suggests that term limits can put
an organization in the undesirable position of having to replace a
strong board member with a candidate from a less desirable

talent pool.

Shukla and Dominy both want what is best for their respective
organizations and, in the nonprofit/voluntary sector, the board
must consider the organization and the stakeholders with every
decision. The foundation of any nonprofit/voluntary organization
are its bylaws, and whether or not to have term limits is one of
the most important decisions founders must make for the future

of their organization.

Now, my question to readers: what is most important to your
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organization: a fresh supply of independent thinkers or

experienced board directors?

Tim Henderson
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The trend towards board ? » ——
term limits is based on

faulty logic

Robert C. Pozen and Theresa Hamacher - Sunday, May 31, 2015 -

n the business world, experience is generally considered to be positive. When it comes to corpt
increasingly viewed with suspicion. Yet the trend towards board term limits is based on faulty

The movement towards director term limits is global. In France, directors are not considered indepen
company’s board for more than 12 years. In the UK, publicly traded companies must either comply ¢
years of service, or explain why long tenure has not compromised director independence.

Get daily updates from Brookings

In the US, the Council of Institutional Investors, which represents many public pension funds, urges its members to consider length of tenure
when voting on directors at corporate elections. The council is concerned that directors become too friendly with management if they serve
for extended periods.

Institutional Shareholder Services, the proxy voting advisory firm that is a powerful force in corporate governance, penalises companies with
long-serving directors by reducing their “quick score” governance rating. Under the current methodology, a company loses points if a
substantial proportion of its directors has served for more than nine years. Although ISS recognises that there are divergent views on this, it
concluded that “directors who have sat on one board in conjunction with the same management team may reasonably be expected to support
that management team’s decisions more willingly”.
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But the assumption that lengthy director service means cozy relationships with management simply is not supported by the facts.

First, there is a lot of turnover in executive ranks. According to Spencer Stuart, the recruitment firm, in 2013 chief executive officers of S&P
500 companies held their jobs for just seven years on average. This figure has been falling over the past few decades.

Sports, Jobs, & Taxes: Are New Stadiums
Worth the Cost?

The Role of Finance in the Economy:
Implications for Structural Reform of the
Financial Sector

The Corporate Scandals, Why They

Happened And Why They May Not Happen

Again
Second, new research has found that experienced directors add value. In a study, economists at the University of New South Wales defined
an experienced director as one with more than 15 years of service on the same board. This is superior to the typical definition in other
studies, which look at average or median tenure for the entire board. They then looked at the performance of 1,500 companies from 1998 to
2013, including those with and without experienced directors.

The study found that experienced directors were more likely to attend board meetings and become members of board committees. Companies
with a higher proportion of experienced directors paid their chief executives less, were more likely to change chief executives when
performance faltered and were less likely to misreport earnings intentionally. These companies were also less likely to make acquisitions,
which often expand a chief executive’s power while diminishing shareholder value. When they did, the acquisitions were of higher quality.

So, term limits do not increase director independence. Just the opposite: long tenure appears to help directors counterbalance chief executive
authority. While term limits help companies refresh the board with new faces and talents, which can be desirable, they can lead to the loss of
considerable experience and knowledge. This expertise is especially important in a complex company with global operations.

The assumption that lengthy director service means cozy relationships with management is not supported by the facts.

Of course, some directors may lose interest in a company, stop contributing to board discussions or start missing board meetings. They
should be replaced regardless of their tenure.

Each year the nominating committee should make an inventory of the skills, experiences and characteristics the company needs. This analysis
should take into account changes in the relevant industry and board norms, including director diversity. Then the nominating committee
should evaluate whether these needs are being met by current board members or whether board composition should be adjusted.
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In addition, the committee should conduct a rigorous annual review of the performance of each director. Unfortunately, some performance
reviews of directors are superficial; others suppress criticisms of individual directors. If it does an effective review, it will be prepared to ask

an underperforming director to step down, regardless of length of board service.

Careful assessments of board composition and director behaviour are more likely to contribute to corporate performance than mechanistic

term limits.

Robert C. Pozen
Nonresident Senior Fellow - Economic Studies,

Pozen

Theresa Hamacher
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Conventional
wisdom holds
that board
member term
limits are
good practice.
But is this
necessarily

so?
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The Pros of Term Limits

At a February workshop on board transitions that I
led for the Rhode Island Foundation, participants
contributed many reasons that term limits make

sense

= They provide a structure to get rid of
nonperforming board members when
courage is lacking.

» They offer an infusion of “fresh blood.”

= They enable a graceful exit for members
who would like to leave.

= They can strengthen recruitment as
potential new members or officers know
they aren’t committing to a life sentence.
= They create a sense of urgency in the
nominating committee which might
otherwise drag its feet on recruiting new
members.

= They enable ongoing reconfiguration of
the ideal board composition, including
opportunities to increase the diversity of
board perspectives.

= They grow the base of board alumni and
groom a growing field of organizational
advocates.

= It’s easier to enter as a new member when
you aren’t the only one.

= They light a fire under existing members
to complete what they’d like to accomplish
during the length of their service.

= A hiatus before bringing back a beloved
and missed member re-invigorates their
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next term of service.
The cons of term limits

But there is a down side to losing long-term
members. In that training, we also discussed what is
lost when board members are required to leave due to
relatively arbitrary time limits. Lost assets include:

= The expertise of that particular board
member

= Hard to replace know-how or connections
that some members may hold

= The passion and interest of that particular
board member

= The coherence of the team, which needs to
recalibrate after every shakeup

= The commitment and work of a tested
member, exchanged for a newer and thus
riskier one

= Money, as often a higher level of giving
comes with board service, including family
foundation or corporate giving tied to
service on the board

= Your investment in training a member in
your governing process and the strategic
issues of your organization

= Wisdom

= Knowledge, not only institutional
memory, but also the intricate knowledge of
community connections and the history of
issues

= Relationships held by that particular
member, with donors, with elected officials
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or government workers
= Interest, which may fall off as terms are
reaching their end

And as to that hiatus... on more than once occasion
I've noticed that board members who return after a
short hiatus aren’t always vetted as well as they
should be. The loss felt by the organization is often so
great that, in a rush to bring back a beloved former
member, no one notices that the interests and
enthusiasm of the returning member are different,
and often less, than the past.

What’s your experience with board term limits?
What would you add to the pro and con list?

Related reading:

Lions and Longevity

g
— 0
|:|O rd &
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Tagged: nonprofit boards, nonprofit governance, term limits
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Nonprofit board term limits - pro and cons - Cause and Effect

5 responses to ‘Nonprofit board term limits — pro
and cons’

Lori L. Jacobwith

Important topic, Gayle. I'm a fan of board terms. And I'm willing
to make exceptions. But I feel like the energy can wane and a
board can get into a malaise of habits — good and not so good,
without the infusion of new energy. Having some real depth
waiting in the wings can make the process of bringing on more
board members exciting and fun to do. AND finding places for
great board members to stay connected in other ways can be a
great challenge and build some strength in committee structure
and other volunteer efforts.

I just spoke on this topic last week and I referenced this post
about taking the time to really generate competent, effective
board members in the recruitment process:

http://www .lorijacobwith.com/BlogRetrieve.aspx?
PostID=255725&A=SearchResult&SearchID=1492813&0ObjectID
=255725&O0DbjectType=55

Reply March 10th, 2012

I agree Lori. 'm wondering what really good structures or
ways you’ve experienced to keep former board members as
engaged as they were on the board?

Reply March 15, 2012

Sandy Rees

I'm pro term limit. I think when Board members are around too
long, momentum slows down, willingness to accept fresh ideas
dwindles, and the “we’ve always done it this way” thinking takes
over. You certainly don’t want all your experienced Board
members to rotate off the Board at one time, and a solid
orientation program for new members needs to be in place.
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Sandy Res

Reply March 12th, 2012

What’s your cut off time frame Sandy? Six years? Nine?
Less? More?

Reply March 15th, 2012

Term Limits for Non-Profit Board Members |
BoardEffect

[...] despite any financial instability. As part of the review, non-
profit boards are weighing the pros and cons of term limits for
board members. In evaluating this issue, non-profit boards are

reviewing trends, [...]
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In defense of nonprofit board term limits

(Purchased from Bigstock Photo)

"Never can say goodbye. No, no, no, no..."

As a contemporary of the Jackson 5, the words of their song by that name contributed to
the soundtrack of my youth and adolescence. Today, those words are less "soundtrack" than
reminder of one of my nonprofit board mantras - one | woke up feeling compelled to reiterate
here this morning:

Term limits are a very, very good thing.
Term limits are a healthy thing.
Nonprofit boards need term limits.

Some boards | know read that and think, "Wouldn't it be nice to have to reinforce term limits."
They struggle to keep good members through the end of their appointed board terms. Parting
ways at the end of a nice, long board tenure is something they rarely get to experience. Many
others know exactly what | mean, because they've found that balance. They work their board
members hard, they support them in their service, and everyone willingly moves on when an
individual's time is up. Then there are others who look at the prospect of parting ways with
longtime, valued members and simply can't - or won't - bear to bring their official relationship to
an end.

Reasons for that third scenario can vary. The board may have trouble recruiting new members,
so keeping those they have feels critical. If this person leaves, they ask, who will we get to
replace him/her? A more likely scenario is one where the board values the veteran member's
commitment, knowledge and service so much that it can't possibly bear to let all of that go. So it
doesn't. Organization leaders may ignore their term limit policy - if it exists - and allow the vet to
continue to serve indefinitely.

What's behind that reluctance to let go? Reasons probably vary as much as the individual
situation. But at the core of most I've encountered is fear - fear that

« You'll never find someone with this person's professional expertise.
« You'll lose the institutional history that he/she carries.
« You'll never find someone as dedicated to your organization and your mission.
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« You'll never replace that kind of leadership that you so desperately need.
« You'll lose stability in a time of transition.

Does any of this sound familiar? Does the prospect scare you? Does it scare you so much you
freeze in term-limit fear?

Let me ask another question: what is the worst-case scenario? What if you bring your formal
board relationship to a close and that person drops completely off the grid? What is lost, really?
List your concerns. Be specific. Then ask yourself a follow-up: is this person the only source of
what our board needs to govern? Really?

I'll acknowledge that exceptions may exist. Emergencies may require some of those exceptions.
But let's be honest: in the vast majority of cases, the answer to that last question is no. This
person is not the sole source of knowledge/expertise/energy/commitment available to your
organization. It may be a unique mix, but it is not an irreplaceable mix.

I've served to the very end of maximum allowable board terms. I've served with, and interacted
with, others in that situation. Here's a little secret that may ring familiar to your veterans: we get
tired. We may march on out of a sense of commitment to you and/or your mission. We may love
the work and our role in it. But we become fatigued. Sometimes, we know it. Sometimes, we
sense it but ignore the pangs. Sometimes, we're completely blind to it. But once that fatigue sets
in, it can hamper our performance and our overall leadership contribution.

Let's ask another question: what do term limits make possible? Here are a few personal
observations:

« It opens board seats and organizational opportunity to people with new perspectives
and skill sets who also bring new energy to the boardroom.

« It introduces new members who can ask naive questions and force us to reflect on
why we do what we do. In some cases, that reflection will affirm that we are on the
right track. In others, it may prompt an opportunity to correct assumptions that no
longer are completely accurate. Either way, the opportunity exists to articulate, affirm
and change course where they make sense. It gives us a chance to challenge board
complacency.

« It creates opportunities to build a next generation of leaders who are committed and
passionate about your work and your mission. (Because let's be honest, those
"irreplaceable” board members didn't start out that way.)

« It facilitates new connections to incoming members' personal and professional
networks.

What do you really lose? In the end, maybe not as much as you think. As mentioned earlier,
unless that retiring board member moves to a remote South Pacific island, his or her knowledge
always will be available if you really need it. Maintaining institutional history is a legitimate
concern, as boards who lack that context risk reinventing the organizational wheel. (Been there.
Done that. Bought the t-shirt.) However, history is lost to the extent that we still act as if it only
exists in board members' heads. If that's literally the case, you have bigger problems than a few
board members overstaying their welcome. Having ways to capture and share essential
information across board member generations - in the form of well-documented minutes,
policies, board portals and other performance support mechanisms - mitigates the need for
human sources of information. It's also just smart, sustainable business.

What about allowing retiring board members to take a year off before reappointing them for a
fresh round? | get that question a lot, and my general response has been "That's an option..."
But the more | think about it, the more I'm inclined to add a qualifier. Instead of a one-year
break, make it two. Give yourself and your board member vet time to miss each other. Recruit
well in the meantime. Recruit to not only fill the gap left by the retiring member but for your
future governance needs. If at the end of two years time, you find that you simply can't live
without each other, then consider a new round. (But really. Think about it. Again. Really.)

Stated publicly or not, the notion that ending one's board service means ending one's
commitment to your organization and your mission is a silly one. In fact, offering a metaphorical
gold watch and sending them on their way is as big a mistake as not letting them slip from your
grasp. Retired board members are perfect candidates for leadership roles in those initiatives you
never seem to have time to flesh out. They can offer pro bono consulting in their area of
expertise, without some of the ethical issues that can arise in board service. Retired board
members can assist with reaching out to donors and public policymakers. They can be granted
emeritus status or serve on an advisory board (though remember: advisory boards require their
own kind of support).
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There are other, legitimate ways to transition to a next chapter of contribution and commitment
from our valued senior board members. Boards need to act as if that's the case - and it will be.

Posted by Debra Beck, EdD at 5:41 PM

mu Recommend this on Google

2 comments:

Paul Quin said...
Well done. The same should apply to Government.
April 3, 2016 at 12:00 PM

Debra Beck, EdD said...

e Appreciate the feedback, Paul. Thanks!
April 3, 2016 at 12:30 PM
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This paper examines the effect that directors with extended tenure have on corporate innovation
based on a sample of US firms from 1996 to 2006. Using the propensity-score matched-pair research
design, | find that firms with a higher portion of outside directors enjoying extended tenure produce
significantly fewer patents and that these patents receive fewer subsequent citations. These firms
also have lower research and development (R&D) productivity and exploration intensity than their
matched control firms, although | found no significant difference in their R&D investment intensity.
Difference-in-differences tests based on director deaths and regulatory changes in the early 2000s
suggest that the adverse effect of long director tenure on innovation performance is causal. | also find
that the effect is mitigated when long-tenured directors have more years of overlap in service with
CEOs, and when long-tenured directors are executives at other firms. Finally, | find that boards with
extended tenure attenuate the contributions of innovation outputs to future firm value and
performance. These findings shed new light on the debate over length of board tenure and provide

another justification for imposing term limits on directors.
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The term-limit era has begun to SUBSCRIBE to
The new “comply or explain” regime for gender diversity on boards and in senior LISTED MAGAZINE

management that comes into effect for 2015 also requires issuers to embrace board
renewal. For some, it will be a challenge—and that’s the point

By Ken Mark ROUERTISEMENT
December 18, 2014

Boards and senior staff at many Canadian publicly listed companies face new

paperwork and then some before their 2015 annual general meetings. That’s because as P D Ac 2 D 1 7

of December 31, 2014, securities regulators in nine of Canada’s 13 provinces and
territories will require non-TSX-Venture issuers to disclose information on their policies Where the world's mineral &
to promote gender diversity on boards and in senior management; and if none are in finance industry meets

place, to explain why. The exceptions are British Columbia, Alberta, Prince Edward
Island and the Yukon.

2017 MARCH5-8

pdac.ca/convention

As regulatory changes go, the introduction of this “comply or explain” regime has had an
extremely high profile. The initiative also continues to be scrutinized, debated and

. , - . . Join Our Mailing List
discussed. But we're moving into the execution phase—these disclosures are part of the
management proxy circular that must be issued 21 days before the AGM—and on that

ors . . . Email Address *
front, it’s a safe bet many issuers are still getting up to speed.

Compounding the challenge is that to date most of the emphasis has centred on diversity
policy disclosure. Yet the new regulations also address director term limits and other
mechanisms of board renewal. And it’s not clear that Canadian issuers are entirely ready

Client Features
for this aspect of the regulation.

A survey of almost 1,000 TSX-listed issuers in late Twitter
2013 by the Ontario Securities Commission found
that 82% of respondents— eight out of 10—did not
have a policy regarding term limits for their
directors. The OSC did say awareness was
significantly higher, and undoubtedly that number
has come way down since the new regulation was
adopted, but it’s just as likely many directors and
boards are still wrestling with the change—if not
due to the mechanics of compliance, then as a

result of the collective soul-searching and critical
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self-analysis the adoption of such policies is

intended to spark.

Jackie Sheppard, chair, Emera Inc:
When responding to term-limit and renewal issues, "Recruiting board members is a
disciplined process...managed to ensure
the right balance of continuity and
renewal"

Andrew MacDougall, a partner at Osler, Hoskin &
Harcourt in Toronto, recommends a process by
which boards consider and undertake the following:

» Review and assess the company’s historic board
renewal experience;

« Identify any existing formal board renewal practices or mechanisms;

Facebook

» Document existing informal practices;
« Consider adoption of additional board renewal mechanisms;

« Examine other issues such as suitable lengths, flexibility and transitional concerns for
existing board members if introducing term limits;

« Prepare draft disclosure responsive to the new requirement. You like thisBe the first of your friends to like this
B Rkl L
DIRECTOR TERM LIMITS and board renewal; women’s partici-pation on boards and in L i

senior management—traditionally, these two elements were rarely mentioned in the same News Feed

breath. But times have changed. “Gender diversity is a public policy issue. But what’s = | isted Magazine shared a

more important today is bringing in people previously not in the talent pool to avoid LE group.

‘group think’,” says Carol Hansell, founder and senior partner of the Toronto-based law March 3 at 12:10pm

firm Hansell LLP. Listed Magazine is migrating to a new
Facebook format. Visit
https://www.facebook.com/groups/22219

Term limits can be a tool for looking at board composition and attracting fresh minds to 088818810/

help increase board effectiveness.”

And so while all TSX issuers must address the new requirements, there’s still latitude for
December 2014

different practices and policy specifics—and some ongoing debate.

M T w T F s s
“There are many ways to address board renewal,” says Jackie Sheppard, board chair for
Halifax-based Emera Inc. (TSX:EMA) and a director on other boards in Canada and the 6 17 18 19
UK. “Recruiting members is a disciplined process that examines the matrix of skills
required, and the tenure schedule of members, where there are age limits, looks a lot like
a debt maturity schedule. «Oct Feb »

“It is all actively managed to ensure the right balance of continuity and renewal. The

http://listedmag.com/2014/12/the-term-limit-era-has-begun/[3/6/2017 3:22:45 PM]


http://listedmag.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Jackie-Sheppard.jpg
http://web.tmxmoney.com/quote.php?qm_symbol=EMA
https://www.facebook.com/CAMESErspencerramshaw
https://www.facebook.com/edhoho
https://www.facebook.com/michaelvstewart
https://www.facebook.com/james.hatch2
https://www.facebook.com/groups/222190898188103/
https://www.facebook.com/groups/222190898188103/
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/
https://www.facebook.com/groups/222190898188103/
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/?ref=nf
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/posts/1459011857443493
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/
https://www.facebook.com/ListedMagazine/
http://listedmag.com/2014/10/
http://listedmag.com/2015/02/
http://listedmag.com/2014/12/16/
http://listedmag.com/2014/12/17/
http://listedmag.com/2014/12/18/
http://listedmag.com/2014/12/19/

The term-limit era has begun | Listed Magazine

annual assessment process might reveal deficiencies that require addressing.”

Fearing that directors become too cozy with management the longer they served, United
Kingdom regulators have introduced nine-year term limits. But not everyone is a fan of
having that here. Says Manulife Financial Corp. (TSX:MFC) board chairman, Dick
DeWolfe: “That [directors overstaying and getting too cozy] is less likely to happen here
in Canada, especially compared to U.S. experience, because of the separation of the roles
of CEO and board chair.

“I also believe that nine years is not long enough. New directors can often take two years
and even longer to get up to speed on their firms’ operations. Such limits reduce the time
they can contribute their insights and oversight.”

In any case, term limits are no panacea since problems can arise if they are taken for
granted. “Some firms and board chairs consider it a kind of guarantee—after the member
serves the full length, they leave,” says Hansell.

Such laxity may have more serious consequences. “Today’s boards tend to be smaller in
size than before. However, since members now have more responsibilities, it is no longer
feasible to ‘carry’ colleagues who are not doing their share,” says Osler’s MacDougall. “As
a result, corporations need to plan for this—finding new members who can add value to
the firm.”

Sheppard stresses her view that the best way of doing so is by maintaining board
discretion to judge and do the best thing. “Imposing term limits would be employing a
very blunt instrument to manage what is in fact a very complex and delicate exercise,”
she says.

The OSC appeared to acknowledge this perspective in so far as it did not impose any
requirements for issuers to have a specified quota of women on boards and/or in senior
management, at least at this time.

Age limits are another board-renewal mechanism. In most major Canadian corporations
they range from 70 to 75 years. Some have a combined age/length-of-service approach
stating that retirement kicks in after 10 years of service or the age limit, whichever comes
first. Originally, the rationale for adopting 75 years as the age was to ensure CEOs who
retired at 65 they could expect a 10-year career as a director.

Manulife has recently taken the bold step of eliminating its age limit (72) while extending
term limits to 12 years from the previous 10 years. The bylaw amendment also includes a
clause stating that if a board member becomes chair he or she will be able to serve a full
five-year term as chair. Says DeWolfe, “In our experience, we found members in their 60s
and 70s who can still make valuable contributions.”

Equally important, he has found recruiting suitable replacements for outgoing directors
becoming more difficult. He attributes that to increasing competition from other
corporations that are often seeking the same candidates. He also notes that certain
regulations make the job even harder, especially the one requiring that two-thirds of
board members of financial institutions must be Canadian residents.

However practical such objections, lawyer MacDougall says directors should always try to

remember that one of the most important functions of board members is to identify
practices that could lead to board failures. Not having, or not properly employing,
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turnover and renewal policies is just such an act.

“Changing up the cast of characters brings in fresh minds and new ideas that help change
board dynamics—the key driver of business oversight,” says MacDougall.

At the same time, he prefers a gradualist approach. Too much change is not good, nor is
too little.
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The appropriate length of service by a company director is an emerging
issue in corporate governance that yields varying responses among
large shareholders, proxy advisors, and directors themselves. Recent
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A Closer Look at the Emerging Debate Over Board Tenure : NACD Blog

board tenure concerns center around a director’s ability to remain
independent after extended service, lack of industry expertise and
technological familiarity, and poor diversity on corporate boards.
Conversely, long-tenured directors can be beneficial because of their
deep knowledge of the company acquired through service, the
continuity and stability they offer, and their grasp of the historical
perspectives that can inform current company strategy. As this issue
continues to draw attention from various interested constituencies,
corporations should continually assess board composition and consider

Steven Haas

their current policies on director tenure as shareholders become more
attuned to extended service and its implications.

The Current State of Director Tenure in the U.S. and Abroad

No overarching law or regulation currently limits the length of board service in the United States. In fact,
few United States public companies address board tenure directly in their bylaws. According to
SpencerStuart, approximately 3 percent of company boards in the S&P 500 have specified term limits for
directors. Only 17 companies in the S&P 500 set term limits for their directors in 2012, with no company
adopting a term of less than 10 years. That same year, board turnover on the S&P 500 reached a 10-year
low, reflecting the trend toward directors remaining in their positions.

Mandatory retirement ages are more common. SpencerStuart reports that 72 percent of companies in the
S&P 500 have mandatory retirement ages, which reflects a 6 percent increase since 2003. Of those, the
mandatory age exceeds 72 in 88 percent of corporate boards. Over the last 10 years, the percentage of
boards with mandatory retirement ages of 75 or older has increased from 3 percent to 24 percent, while
the percentage of boards with a mandatory retirement at age 70 decreased from 51 percent to 11 percent.
Moreover, some U.S. public companies allow boards to waive the mandatory retirement age for directors,
which is typically between age 72 and 75, according to David A. Katz and Laura A. Mcintosh, authors of
Renewed Focus on Corporate Director Tenure.

The lack of term limits and mandatory retirement ages promotes extended board service. Last year, 20
percent of U.S. corporate boards in the S&P 500 had an average director tenure of at least 11 years. The
median age of directors was 63.

Director tenure limits are more prevalent outside the United States. The European Commission notes that
an appropriate maximum tenure for a director is three terms, or 12 years. The United Kingdom employs
the “complain or explain” model, which presumes that directors are no longer independent after nine
years of service unless a company can explain why it has determined that a director remains independent
after they reach the presumption threshold. France employs one of the most stringent guidelines for
independent directors, capping director service at 12 years, though this does not give France the lowest
average director tenure in Europe. That distinction goes to Germany, with an average director tenure of
five years., Collectively, Europe has relatively shorter board tenures on average compared to the United
States, which is 8.6 years. For reference, Spain has the highest average tenure in Europe at 7.7 years. In
Asia, Hong Kong does not limit director service, but companies appointing an independent director to
serve longer than nine years must employ a separate vote for the director using a special resolution.

Calls for Change

Recently, shareholder advocates have pushed director tenure to the forefront. Institutional Shareholder
Services has been visible in highlighting potential issues with corporate director tenure, with its new
Governance QuickScore 2.0 program. The product, which uses specific governance factors and technical
specifications to rate company governance, takes director tenure into account. According to ISS, “[a]
tenure of more than nine years is considered to potentially compromise a director’'s independence.” ISS
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has not disclosed the weighting that each metric will actually have, so it is unknown how much impact
long-tenured directors will have on a company’s QuickScore rating.

ISS has yet to alter its voting policy outside of QuickScore such that tenure can lead to a determination
that a director is not independent. ISS does urge shareholders to vote against proposals to limit tenure by
mandatory retirement ages or term limits, but it suggests shareholders scrutinize the average tenure of
alldirectors if their tenure exceeds 15 years in order to promote independence and alternative
perspectives.

State Street Global Advisors (SSGA) revised its view on board tenure in 2014 to reflect its support for
board refreshment and planning for director succession. According to SSGA’s Head of Corporate
Governance Rakhi Kumar, the new policy is “designed to identify companies with a preponderance of
long-tenured directors, which may indicate a lack of refreshment of skills and perspectives . . . . [L]ong
tenure may also diminish a director’s independence.” Though SSGA does not consider long-tenured
directors to be entirely ineffective, SSGA discourages their presence on committees where
“independence is considered paramount,” including the audit, compensation, and nominating/governance
committees.

SSGA has indicated that it will screen companies based on whether their average board tenure is above
one standard deviation from the average market tenure. If a company has a longer-than-average board
tenure, SSGA will further screen it for (a) whether one-third of the non-executive directors have tenures in
excess of two standard deviations from the average market tenure and (b) classified board structures.
Following this screening, SSGA has indicated it may vote against the chair of the nominating committee,
long-tenured directors serving on key committees, and/or (c) both the members of the nominating
committee and long-tenured directors at companies with classified boards. SSGA, however, has not
provided additional details on how it computes average board tenure.

The Council of Institutional Investors supports board turnover in order to guard against a “seasoned board
member” losing his or her independence or thinking more like an insider over time. Further, CII's policy
highlights the high salaries that accompany director positions, and how the compensation fails to promote
board refreshment. It is estimated that S&P 500 companies pay independent directors an average annual
salary of $250,000. Despite an updated policy, however, Cll refuses to deem its policy as endorsing a
tenure limit, highlighting that removing long-tenured directors “could rob the board of critical expertise.”

Glass Lewis & Co. pushes back on the idea of an inflexible rule limiting director service. Glass Lewis
believes such inflexible limits may not provide benefits or returns for shareholders. Its 2014 proxy policy
thus reflects the idea that term and age limits are not in shareholders’ best interests, and that there is no
evidence of a connection “between either length of tenure or age and director performance.”
Nevertheless, Glass Lewis supports “periodic director rotation” through shareholder monitoring to promote
fresh perspectives, new ideas, and business strategies. Glass Lewis notes that if a company does have
an age or a term limit, shareholders should vote against the board waiving its self-imposed limit absent
extenuating circumstances like a merger.

The Effects of Board Tenure Limits

There is no “one-size-fits-all” approach to board tenure. There are merits to imposing board tenure limits
at some companies, specifically the potential to promote the independence of corporate directors by
limited extensive service. Some directors may also become complacent or out of touch with the company
or industry after extensive service. Replacing long-tenured directors may offer a new opportunity for the
company to infuse fresh perspectives into the board, whether it may be in corporate strategy or industry
expertise. In addition, boards can use mandatory retirement ages or term limits to avoid otherwise
unpleasant conversations with directors whom the board believes should retire.

Despite the potential benefits of mandatory director refreshment, there is no strong indication that long-
serving directors are not independent, which is the primary concern of those who criticize extended board
service. A “one-size-fits-all” approach to term limits or mandatory board refreshment would restrict or
remove experienced, knowledgeable board members arbitrarily and create situational difficulties for the

https://blog.nacdonline.org/2015/03/a-closer-look-at-the-emerging-debate-over-board-tenure/[3/6/2017 3:25:43 PM]



A Closer Look at the Emerging Debate Over Board Tenure : NACD Blog

company going forward. As noted above, long-tenured directors are often the most knowledgeable about
the company and offer stability, particularly during changes in senior management. In addition, at some
companies the most long-tenured directors often exercise considerable influence over less-tenured
senior management. These factors balance heavily against any strict rule on board tenure. Additionally,
term limits offer the potential to interfere with the development of effective collaboration among board
members that have developed strong working relationships over the course of their tenures.

It remains to be seen if the increased attention on board tenure will have a significant impact on the
corporate governance of U.S. public companies going forward, or if the international trends will be
imitated in the United States. Mandatory term limits applicable to all U.S. companies are inappropriate.
Rather, companies should continue to have the choice of whether to impose restrictions on board tenure.
The important issue, therefore, is how companies make that choice. We suggest a thoughtful
consideration of board composition by nominating committees, boards and shareholders on a case-by-
case basis that considers tenure, expertise in the particular industry, knowledge about a particular
company, diversity, director competency, and the company’s success over the director’s tenure. Boards
must also carefully assess their own composition in light of various experiences, backgrounds, skills, and
traits that could enhance board performance. Boards themselves, along with input from their shareholders
via annual director elections and shareholder engagement, are best equipped to assess whether to retain
or remove their own directors, and should not be burdened by a uniform rule that may potentially yield
unintended consequences to the detriment of the company and the shareholders.

Steven Haas is a partner in Hunton & Williams’ Richmond, VA, office. He represents clients on corporate
governance and M&A matters. He also regularly counsels clients with respect to corporate governance
issues and fiduciary duty litigation.
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On September 28, 2015, the Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) released a staff notice summarizing the findings from its review of the corporate governance disclosure of non-
venture issuers related to policies regarding director term limits and other mechanisms for board renewal.

The review relates to the amendments to National Instrument 58-101- Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices and Form 58-101F1 Corporate Governance Disclosure
(Amendments), implemented by the securities regulatory authorities of Manitoba, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Northwest Territories, Nova Scotia, Nunavut, Ontario,
Quebec, Saskatchewan and Yukon (Participating Jurisdictions) on December 31, 2014.

The staff notice, titled CSA Multilateral Staff Notice 58-307— Staff Review of Women on Boards and in Executive Officer Positions — Compliance with NI 58-101 Disclosure of
Corporate Governance Practices (Staff Notice), also provides some limited guidance to assist issuers with the quality of their disclosure with respect to such mechanisms for board
renewal.

For background information regarding the development of the Amendments, please see our October 21, 2014 MMMMW
memm&@nd&%ﬂxﬂm@m our January 2014 Blak y
our September 2013 B Bulletin: ion P n Women on B in Seni rM n

For a discussion of the CSA’s contemporaneous review of issuer disclosure of policies regarding the levels of representation of women on boards and in senior management and their
actual and any targeted figures for such representation, please see our October 6, 2015 Blakes Bulletin: CSA Findings from Gender Diversity Disclosure Requirements Review
Released.

BOARD ASSESSMENTS COMMON, TERM LIMITS NOT SO MUCH
The Staff Notice summarizes the CSA's review of the corporate governance disclosure of 722 non-venture issuers (Sample Group) listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

The CSA found that among the issuers in the Sample Group, only 19 per cent disclosed that they have adopted director term limits and 56 per cent disclosed that they have adopted a
mechanism for board renewal other than director term limits. The most commonly disclosed mechanism for board renewal was board assessments. Just over 20 per cent of issuers in
the Sample Group disclosed that they did not have director term limits or similar mechanisms for board renewal.

The most significant indicator of whether issuers adopted mechanisms of board renewal, and particularly director term limits, was issuer size. For example, the CSA found that:

» Issuers with a market capitalization of C$2 billion and above were more likely to adopt director term limits
» Issuers with a market capitalization of less than C$1 billion were most likely to adopt mechanisms for board renewal other than director term limits

Types of Term Limits

Of the 137 issuers in the Sample Group that disclosed they have director term limits, just over half of that group disclosed they have director age limits in place. Twenty-four per cent
of that group disclosed they have director tenure limits in place and the remaining 23 per cent have both director term and age limits in place.

Reasons for No Term Limits

Several reasons were provided by the Sample Group issuers that disclosed they have neither director term limits nor other mechanisms in place. The most frequently cited reason for
not adopting term limits is the belief that they reduce continuity or experience on the board. Other reasons include the belief that director term limits are arbitrary and that they force
valuable, experienced and knowledgeable directors to leave the issuer’s board. Reasons for not adopting term limits or other mechanisms include that the boards’ effectiveness is
regularly assessed, that the issuer’s industry is unique and retaining knowledge of the board is desired, and the belief that annual elections are a sufficient mechanism for board
renewal.

DISCLOSURE QUALITY

In addition to setting out the findings of the CSA’s review of the corporate governance disclosure resulting from the Amendments, the Staff Notice also provides some limited guidance
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Director Term Limits Not Common

to assist issuers with the level and detail of disclosure that is necessary to satisfy Item 10 of Form 58-101F1 Corporate Governance Disclosure, which requires issuers to describe any
mechanisms of board renewal that the issuer has implemented other than director term limits. The CSA Staff Notice provides that non-venture issuers must not disclose only that a
board assessment process is in place, but also how such assessment relates to board renewal. The Staff Notice includes an example of disclosure compliant with that item of the
Amendments.

For further information, please contact:

John Tuzyk 416-863-2918
Stefania Zilinskas 212-893-8141

or any other member of our Capital Markets or Corporate Governance group.

Posted by: John Tuzyk and Stefania Zilinskas
Tags: Capital Markets, Corporate Governance

Blakes periodically provides materials on our services and developments in the law to interested persons. For additional information on our privacy practices, please contact us
at privacyofficer@blakes.com. Blakes Bulletin is intended for informational purposes only and does not constitute legal advice or an opinion on any issue. We would be pleased to
provide additional details or advice about specific situations if desired.

For permission to reprint articles, please contact Teona Baetu, Blakes Client Relations & Marketing Department, at 416-863-4345 or teona.baetu@blakes.com. ©2016 Blake, Cassels
& Graydon LLP
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Not-For-Profit Director Term Limits
by Elizabeth Layne
E: |

A nonprofit board needs engaged, energized members, since they are
responsible for the organization's financial health and meeting its
legal and ethical requirements. In 2012, nonprofit board members on
average served approximately six years, BoardSource reports, with
approximately 27 percent of nonprofits imposing no term limits. While
many nonprofits have difficulty finding new members and hesitate to
lose good ones, term limits offer more plusses than minuses.
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Although it's tempting to have long or no board terms to allow good

QOrganizations board members to remain, bringing on fresh members can renew
[Human Resource Matters] What Is the hoards. Boards closed to new members can return to the same
Responsibility of Board Members in arguments repeatedly; a newcomer can offer a fresh point of view or
Human Resource Matters on Nonprofit  challenge opinions. While it might be tough to find new board
Boards? members, Barbara E. Taylor, a consultant to nonprofits, points out

that term limits can actually make it easier to find them. She notes
that potential good board members will be more interested in
volunteering on an active, energetic board, rather than one that's
[Succession Planning] Succession mired in the same discussions year after year. An increase in the
Planning for Board of Directors number of former board members can also raise the nonprofit's

profile in the community, because former board members know the
nonprofit well and can sing its praises. Term limits also ensure that poor-performing board members leave the
board. New nonprofits can wait to establish term limits until their program and polices are established.

[Legal Rights] Legal Rights of Members
in.a Non Profit

How Much Time?

A nonprofit's bylaws, created at its establishment, contain information on how long board members may serve.
The nonprofit's board can revise the bylaws if it chooses. No standard guideline exists for determining board
service length, but BoardSource reports that many nonprofits limit board members to two consecutive terms,
with a break of at least one year before board members can be re-elected. BoardSource advises staggering
terms so that one-half or one-third of the board is elected every one or two years for terms of 2-4 years. This
allows the expertise of the longer-standing board members to remain, while the fresh perspective of new
members is incorporated into the board's work. The Child Abuse Prevention Association in independence, Mo,
offers a novel method. A board member's initial term lasts one year. If the board member shows a good level of
activity and commitment, the association asks the member back for a second term of three years, then a third
term for two years, for a total of six years of service.

Using Former Members

The end of board service doesn't mean the nonprofit has to lose a valued source of knowledge. Some nonprofits
retain the services of former board members by including them in an advisory council. A board member with a
financial background, for example, might pitch in to help the board develop a capital campaign.

Job Descriptions
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Prevent new board member s from wasting time and energy by making sure they understand what their new
jobs require, the Rhode Island Land and Water Partnership advises. Written job descriptions help new board
members make the most of their terms by telling them in precise terms what the organization expects of them.
Typically, this means knowledge and skills in an area of board governance such as finances or personnel;
regular attendance at board meetings, abstention from conflict of interest, participation on at least one
committee and preparing for board meetings by reading and studying materials in advance.
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How long is too long for board directors?

Hint: 50 years is too long
Sep 20, 2013 Richard Leblanc

| spoke to corporate and not-for-profit directors in Dallas, Texas this week about board
dynamics and board renewal. The subject of the length of board service and director
retirement arose. | said there was a recent study that the optimal service for a director was
nine years, beyond which firm value was adversely affected. Many directors serve beyond
nine years. The most excessive example of long service occurred once when a director of a
community bank board said, “Richard we have four directors who have been on our board for
over 50 years.” | mistakenly thought that this was 50 years in total, among the four directors.
But | was wrong. There were four directors who had been on the board for over 50 years
each.

Many directors hang on to directorships for far too long. | counted several directors who have
been on corporate boards for 10, 15, 20 and 25 years. This blocks board renewal, up-
skilling, and diversification. Incumbent directors offer reasons for staying: how they know the
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company, enjoy serving, etc., and are skillful at wiggling, raising the retirement age to 71, 72
and now 75 (from 69 and 70).

The academic evidence however does not support excessively long-serving directors, or
directors who are serving on multiple boards (known as “over-tenured” and “over-boarded”
directors, respectively). Firm value is adversely affected for over-tenured directors. Oversight
and long-term performance are compromised for busy boards composed of over-boarded
directors.

Often the most vocal directors are those who are the least relevant or most effected by
renewal. When you do a proper board review, it is apparent who is performing and who is
not. There is resistance to an expert third-party board evaluation by underperforming
directors for fear of being found out. Directors know who the non-performers are. | said to
the audience this morning that every board has one (or more) underperforming or
dysfunctional directors, and if you don’'t know who it is on your board, then it is you.

If boards do not solve their lack of renewal, regulators will do it for them. It is already starting.
Regulators in the UK, Australia, India, Hong Kong, Singapore and other countries are
imposing term limits on directors of between 9 and 10 years, beyond which independence is
guestioned. Regulators are imposing diversity requirements on boards. In the UK, even
auditors are subject to tendering every five years. Regulators read the press reports of
directors serving 40 years, auditors even serving up to 100, and communicate with
academics on what the empirical research findings are.

The fact of the matter is that boards, as self-policing bodies, may be incapable of solving the
renewal issue on their own because of entrenchment and self-interest. And herein lies the
ethical question, posed to me by a director today: “When does hanging on or digging in
breach a fiduciary duty by the director to act in the company’s best interest, rather than the
director’'s?” When should doing what is right; putting oneself at risk; having proper succession
planning; mentoring, coaching and developing the next generation of directors; and letting go
gracefully and honorably, matter?

This is an integrity issue. If — or perhaps when — a director becomes irrelevant, or is
destroying value, is it ethical for that director to continue? Is it ethical for the board to allow
that director to continue? The problem is doing what is ethical vs. acting out of self-interest
can get commingled in an under-performing director’'s mind, or even a founder’s mind, or
even other directors’ minds (who have been captured by the entrenched director colleague),
without an objective measurement. This is not in the interests of the company and its
shareholders.

Aggrandizing long service, referring to “godfathers,” compounds this renewal problem and
wearing as a badge of honor how many boards one has served on, or does serve on. As
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one “godfather” recently remarked in open session at a corporate governance conference,
referring to guidelines he had coordinated, “We did virtually no research.” Well, maybe
research should be looked to more when governance guidelines are developed. Firm value
and the oversight of shareholder investment are at stake.

Eventually, a director fights redundancy and relevance. A tipping point is reached if there is
indefinite service. It is inevitable. No one wants to be irrelevant. If there is no policy or, better
yet, no measurement of actual performance and follow up accordingly, self-interest is
perpetuated and complacency is allowed continue, by the very people who should be leading
by example. Directors need to know when it is time to go. And if they do not, regulators will.

Richard Leblanc is a governance lawyer, academic, speaker and independent advisor to
leading Canadian and international boards of directors. He can be reached at
rleblanc@boardexpert.com.
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N eW HELPING NONPROFITS
MAKE A DIFFERENCE

Establishing Term Limits for a Nonprofit Board

If your nonprofit board is establishing term limits for the first time or if you are a young board and
have not followed your bylaws regarding term limits and you are now trying to institute terms and
term limits, please keep these things in mind:

1. You do not want to have any more than one-third of your board members completing their
terms in any given year. It is best to divide your board members into classes and stagger
terms.

2. When setting your terms and term limits keep your organization'’s lifecycle in mind. If you
are a start-up, be generous with terms and term limits. NEW recommends that start-up
boards allow 3-year terms, and re-election for 2 additional terms, or 9 total years on the
board before term limiting off for at least one full year. More mature boards might want to
consider 3-year terms, limiting o two-year terms or é years total before term-limiting off for
at least one year.

3. Never lose engaged people! If a high-quality, engaged person is term-limiting off your
board ask them to join or chair a committee or to stay involved in some other way.

4. Allow partial terms to be added onto your term limits. Once your classes are established,
when you add people to your board they may be coming into a class that has a seat open
for a partial term. Allow them to finish that term and still be eligible for re-election for full
terms, until they are term-limited.

For example, your board has three-year terms and allows people to fulfill three terms, or nine
years total before term-limiting off the board. Your board is ready to bring someone on to the
board and will be putting them into a seat that was vacated by someone who did not fulfill
their whole term. The new person will be elected to fulfill the 1.5 years left on that pervious
person’s term, and then they will eligible for another nine years. So, they could end up
serving 10.5 years total before being required to term-limit off the board.

5. When starting ferm limits, divide your existing board members into classes to start. You
might want to say that current officers will start with a three-year term. Then use seniority on
the board to set up the other two classes. Each remaining class has either a two-year term or
a one-year term. Then, each group can be re-elected for another term or two depending on
your term-limit policy.

NEW (Nonprofit Enterprise at Work) www.new.org Page 1



Sample Board

Beginning Term Limits for the First Time — July 1, 2010

Your bylaws now allow 3 year terms with a total of two terms or 6 years maximum before
term limit. You have agreed that you will allow anyone who starts with a partial term to
serve a full 6 years beyond that partial term.

Your bylaws allow no less than 7 and no more than 12 people on the board. (I¥'s best to

have a range rather than specific number of board members in your bylaws so you don’t
have to keep adjusting them.) You set up three classes with 1/3 distribution to start. You
have decided officers will get full three-year terms to start.

Current Board:
Tina — Chair

Tom - Vice Chair
Doug — Treasurer
Susan — Secretary
Joe

Sarah

Leslie

Fred

Class One Three Year | Current Term Will Expire Term Limit Year
Term

Tina X 6/30/13 June 2016

Tom X 6/30/13 June 2016

Doug X 6/30/13 June 2016

Susan X 6/30/13 June 2016

Class Two Two Year Current Term Will Expire Term Limit Year
Term

Joe X 6/30/12 June 2018

Sarah X 6/30/12 June 2018

Open Seat

Open Seat

Class Three One Year Current Term Will Expire Term Limit Year
Term

Leslie X 6/30/11 June 2017

Fred X 6/30/11 June 2017

Open Seat

Open Seat

NEW (Nonprofit Enterprise at Work) www.new.org Page 2
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Board Term Limits — Pro and Con

We have had a number of clients ask about whether it is mandatory to include term limits in their nonprofit bylaws.
The arguments for and against term limits are equally valid, and we suggest that each board must make its own
decision about whether term limits are essential to the board’s governance function.

Those who argue for term limits typically cite the need to bring “new blood” onto the board. New directors bring a
freshness of insight, and changes in the operating climate may require new skill sets. A systematic rotation on and
off the board lessens the likelihood that a board becomes tired and loses vitality.

Those who argue against term limits cite the need for institutional memory and worry about the loss of dedicated
volunteers who have a proven track record of board participation.

The IRS tends to favor term limits on grounds that a board with static membership can adopt unhealthy insider
attitudes, and begin to govern out of self-interest rather than for the good of the organization. State charity
regulators often voice similar concerns. But there are no laws — either at the state or federal level — that mandate
term limits.

Defined Terms of Service are Important

Regardless of where you fall on the issue, it is essential that every nonprofit adopt specific terms in office — of
two or three years, for example. The fact that there are specified terms allows a board to cull out those who have
proven to be unproductive, incompetent, uncooperative, or perpetually absent. Removal can be accomplished by
simply not re-electing the director to another term. The volunteer can be thanked for his or her service and sent
on. Competent and committed directors can be re-elected indefinitely.

Imposing Term Limits

Where an organization wishes to impose term limits, the questions to be first answered are: (1) how long is a
term; (2) how many consecutive terms are permitted; and (3) can there be any options for longer service to the
organization?

e How Long Is a Term?
Most organizations select two (2) or three (3) year terms. A single-year term is just too short for any significant
service, and it requires the board to hold elections for every member on an annual basis. Two-year terms are still

short, but some nonprofits adopt two-year terms because they fear that a three year commitment is daunting for
potential board members.
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This office usually recommends three-year terms because they allow a new board member a bit of space to get
acclimated to Board involvement before the term is over. A board that adopts a staggered board rotation then will
be re-electing or retiring one-third of the board each year.

e How Many Terms are Desirable?

Some nonprofit boards adopt term limits that expire a board member’s involvement after six years. If the board
terms are two years, then bylaws will typically limit involvement to three (3) 2-year terms. If their terms are three
years, then they limit involvement to two (2) 3-year terms.

If term limits are desired, this office prefers that nonprofits provide a longer service to the organization by adopting
a limit of three (3) 3-year terms. This allows for a full nine (9) years of board involvement before a director retires,

during which the organization can reap the benefits of an individual’s mature judgment and deep knowledge of the
organization’s programs, history, and ethos. However, we realize that this is not possible in many cases, and that
a shorter term of service is often preferred.

We also serve many excellent nonprofit organizations that have no term limits at all, where the absence of term
limits enhances the board’s ability to retain good volunteers. Some of our clients have positive and productive
board relationships that last for years and even decades. The benefit of long term participation is that capable
board members will remain in place, while “new blood” is brought in when directors leave the area, retire
voluntarily, or are incapacitated by age or illness.

 Options for Longer Service

It's always sad to lose a director or officer who is committed to the organization, is knowledgeable about its
governance issues, and who wishes to remain an active volunteer. How can you retain such a person if the board
wishes to do so in spite of term limits? Here are some techniques:

« Eliminate term limits but provide strong periodic evaluation systems.

« Allow a time-limited board member to be re-elected to the board after a one-year hiatus.

« Appoint the board member to a key committee such as the finance or nominating committee as a non-director.
 If there is a supporting foundation, allow the retired board member to serve on its board.

o Create an “Advisory Board” or committee for continued informal involvement with the board or chief executive.

» Find other ways to include the individual in volunteer activities.

Any of these techniques must be paired with a rigorous evaluation system to ensure that the board remains viable
as a governing body. Nothing does more to kill enthusiasm of energetic volunteers than finding that board
meetings are peopled with “dead wood” — that is, people who are fatigued by too-long involvement, and thus are
disengaged from board work.

By Kathryn Vanden Berk

This article is provided for general information and should not be relied upon as legal advice for a specific
situation. If you are in need of specific advice or legal representation, please do not hesitate to contact us.

©2014 Bea & VandenBerk
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Term Limits

TAKEAWAYS

64% of independent boards and 40% of public boards have term limit policies.

There are pros and cons on the usefulness of this policy. It can infuse the board with innovative ideas
and new skills. It can sever important ties and damage institutional memory.

A regular process for assessing individual board members is good practice but is especially important
for a board without term limits.

A term limit policy identifies the maximum number of consecutive terms a board member can serve.
While by no means universal, the use of term limits is a common governance practice. Among
independent institutions, 64% have term limits, and among public institutions, 41% use this practice. The
term limit policy, as well as the length of each term, should be clearly defined in the board’s bylaws.

THE PROS AND CONS

The line is pretty clear between those who support the use of term limits and those who don't. Critics of
term limits say that these policies deprive a board of expertise and institutional memory. Others worry
about the loss of engagement when a trustee leaves the board, especially if he or she has been particularly
generous to the institution. They also point out that term limits result in the need for constant recruitment
of new board members, putting a strain on the Committee on Trustees.

Proponents argue that term limits are a healthy way to infuse the board with new ideas and new energy.
With term limits, they say, a board has a regular opportunity to ensure it has the range of skills and
experiences it needs. When a new candidate is found, it can be easier to add him or her to the board if
there are term limits. Term limits also provide a graceful way to rotate ineffective members off the board.

2010 SURVEY DATA FOR BOARDS OF PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS

e 41 percent of public boards have term limits. This represents a 25 percent increase from 2004.
e The average number of consecutive terms allowed is two.
o The average length of a term is 5.7 years.

2010 DATA FOR BOARDS OF INDEPENDENT INSTITUTIONS

® 64 percent of boards of independent institutions have term limits.

e The average number of consecutive terms allowed is three.
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e The most common length for a single term is four years, approximately the same as was found in
AGB’s 1997 and 2004 surveys.
e Among boards with term limits, 90 percent allow a trustee who has served the maximum number of

terms to serve again after a hiatus of one year.

IMPLEMENTING TERM LIMITS

If your board doesn’t have term limits but would like to implement them, there are various strategies for
doing so. For example, once a policy has been created, some boards hold a drawing to determine the term
lengths of existing members, with equal numbers assigned one-year, two-year, and three-year terms. This
establishes a regular rotation that will naturally occur once the policy begins to be implemented. Others
grandfather existing board members, but begin term limits with newly appointed members. Whatever the
process, make sure that it’s clearly explained and discussed in advance of implementation.

ASSESSMENT INDIVIDUAL BOARD MEMBERS

It's good practice to assess individual board members on a regular schedule. This becomes a critical
practice in the absence of term limits. Board members who can serve for an indefinite length of time need
regular feedback on performance, and the board needs a mechanism to bring poor service to an end.

KEY QUESTIONS

‘ How does the board’s term limit policy compare to those of peer institutions?

Can the board use a board member’s expiring term to increase the diversity on the board or to add a
| new member with a specific set of skills that the board currently lacks?

What does our board stand to gain with such a policy? What might we lose?
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Five Reasons Board Leaders Should
Have Term Limits

By Rick Moyers

Every few months (not an exaggeration), I have a conversation with an executive director who is struggling with a difficult

relationship with his or her board chair.

One of the first questions to ask an executive director with a Board Chair From Hell is how much longer that chair has to

serve. There are only two common answers: a year or two, or indefinitely.

Of the two possibilities, dealing with a disengaged or misbehaving board chair for a year or two is far less daunting,

complicated, and demoralizing for an executive director than having a problem board chair for the foreseeable future.

This is one of the most powerful arguments for term limits for

board chairs.

MAKING BOARDS BETTER

Despite all the good reasons for board chair term limits, many A well-run board can help a nonprofit operate better, but it can be

organizations don't have them. According to BoardSource's hard to make the most of board members’ time and talents. We've

. collected a variety of resources to help nonprofits and trustees work
2010 Nonprofit Governance Index (a national survey of 1,750 o
together to advance a nonprofit’s mission.

board members and executive directors), one third of the

organizations reported no term limits for board chairs.
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limits may be even higher.

So for the thousands of executive directors, board members,
and governance committee chairs who need to make a case for officer term limits—and for those who may never have given

this topic much thought—here are my top five arguments for board-chair term limits:

1. See above. Term limits provide a painless way for people who aren't doing a good job to retire gracefully and
automatically. Admittedly, this is a pragmatic argument—and the downside is that a chair who is doing a fantastic job
may get forced out early. But I've never heard a real-life complaint about term limits. And I've heard many complaints
about their absence.

2. Term limits help with recruitment. Serving as a board chair requires an intensive commitment of time and
energy. Prospective chairs are more likely to agree to serve if they know the office has an expiration date.

3. Term limits force organizations to develop new leaders. Boards that know they'll need a new chair every few
years are more likely to recruit new members with an eye toward future leadership roles. And board candidates who
want to build their own leadership skills will be more likely to say yes if they know there are opportunities to lead.

4. Term limits help with fund raising. A board chair is potentially one of an organization's most powerful volunteer
fund raisers. But chairs who serve for many years may exhaust their Rolodexes and grow tired of making the ask.
Leadership transitions provide an opportunity to engage new prospects who have relationships with the new leader.

5. Term limits lead to healthier boards. Admittedly, this is a catch-all intended to cover three or four other good
arguments—because five is a nice round number. Board chair term limits reduce the likelihood that a few individuals
will dominate board discussions and decisions. They provide periodic injections of new energy and ideas. And they

help prevent board-chair burnout.

I'd love to hear some war stories from readers who have seen board chairs serve for too long. And from anyone who would

like to push back.
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MANAGEMENT AND LEADERSHIP RETURN TO TOP 1]

SHOW COMMENTS

0 Comments The Chronicle of Philanthropy [l Login

Recommend [] Share Sort by Oldest

Start the discussion...

https://www.philanthropy.com/article/Five-Reasons-Board-Leaders/190561[3/6/2017 3:44:38 PM]


https://www.philanthropy.com/search?topics=management+and+leadership&sort_by=date
https://disqus.com/home/forums/thechronicleofphilanthropy/
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#
https://disqus.com/home/inbox/
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#
https://disqus.com/embed/comments/?base=default&version=1973d3a3c1957d897d05fa77fa3b9839&f=thechronicleofphilanthropy&t_i=27534%20http%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Fblogs%2Fagainst-the-grain%2F%3Fp%3D27534&t_u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.philanthropy.com%2Farticle%2FFive-Reasons-Board-Leaders%2F190561&t_e=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_d=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&t_t=Five%20Reasons%20Board%20Leaders%20Should%20Have%20Term%20Limits&s_o=default?AcrobatWebCapTID3#

Boardtenure:

ow long
is toolong?
Directors Ray Troubh
e the nieed for term limits ...
pard evaluations

and bett

« Diversify the board — by personality type
* The makeup of elite performers
¢ The director’s classic dilemma

ﬂ]\r@p@ﬂiﬂoﬂw Raymond Traubh,

prafassional director

— & strang presence

in boardraoms for

WWW.DIRECTORSANDEOARDS.COM over three decades



BOARD PRACTICES

COVER STORY

Director term limits
come up for review

Our panel participants tackle some thorny topics concerning board tenure: How long before

directors get stale or too complacent? Are term limits a necessity or a hindrance to board
performance? How useful (or useless) are director evaluations? What should be done about

‘duds’ on the board? ... and other dynamics that determine a board’s effectiveness.

HE DIRECTOR AS POTTED
PLANT? Not a welcome
image in thinking about ef-
fective board governance —
i.e., a director of longstand-

ing service who reaches an inflection
point, drifting from engaged oversight
into listless and lifeless complacency. Yet
it is just such a possibility that provided
impetus for the following discussion
about the pros and cons of board tenure
and term limits.

The panelists represent an inclusive
spectrum: CEO, board member, aca-
demic, investor, and legal. Moderating
the discussion is Charles Elson, Edgar
S. Woolard Jr. Chair in Corporate Gov-
ernance and director of the Weinberg
Center for Corporate Governance at
the University of Delaware. He is also a Kellogg Corp., AMR Corp. and Ameri-
member of the Directors ¢ Boards edito- can Airlines, Host Marriott Corp., and
rial advisory board. A bio note on each ~ “The difficulty that I found with ~ Vulcan Materials Co.
of the par‘ti‘cipants: board evaluations has been the — Robert P. May, chief exe{cutive of-

— Sanjai Bhagat, professor of finance ficer of energy company Calpine Corp.,
at the Leeds School of Business, Univer- ~reluctance to pull the trigger on who has served in leadership positions
sity of Colorado at Boulder, whose “em- with several companies over a 30-year
pirical work on director independence, career, including Charter Communica-
director ownership, and director equity — Charles Elson  tions, Cablevision Systems, and Health-
is unsurpassed,” says Elson. South (serving as an interim CEO and

— Kenneth Daly, president and CEO of the National As- on the board with Jon Hanson and Charles Elson during its
sociation of Corporate Directors since 2007; he was a KPMG  turnaround).
partner from 1978 to 2005 when he retired to assume the role — John W. Noble, vice chancellor of the Delaware Court
of executive director of KPMG’s Audit Committee Institute. ~ of Chancery since November 2000; he practiced law with the

— Lawrence Dickinson, corporate secretary of Barclays PLC ~ firm Parkowski, Noble & Guerke P.A. in Dover, Del., before

and “the corporate governance person,”’
as Elson says of him, at the major British
banking institution; he offers a singular
perspective on board tenure policies and
director independence based on the U.K.
governance model.

— Jon Hanson, founder and chair-
man of the Hampshire Real Estate Com-
panies, whose board service includes
lead director at Prudential Insurance and
chairman of HealthSouth Corp. follow-
ing the leadership crisis that the health
care provider faced with the ouster of
former CEO Richard Scrushy.

— Ann McLaughlin Korologos, for-
mer U.S. Secretary of Labor in the Rea-
gan administration, is chairman of the
RAND Corporation and a veteran direc-
tor currently serving on the boards of

a nonperforming director.
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joining the Court of Chancery.

— Raymond Troubh, a professional director who has
served with distinction on some 30 boards over a three-de-
cade career in the boardroom, including chairing the board
of Enron Corp. in its post-bankruptcy workout; his current
directorships include Diamond Offshore Drilling Inc., Gen-
tiva Health Services Inc., General American Investors Co., and
Triarc Companies.

— Ann Yerger, executive director of the Council of Insti-
tutional Investors since 2005 (and with the organization since
1996); the Council includes more than
140 public, corporate, and union pen-
sion funds managing over $3 trillion in
assets.

The roundtable was held in October
2007 at the University of Delaware’s
Alfred Lerner College of Business. This
is the third of the governance center’s
roundtables that Directors & Boards
has featured in our pages. Previous
panels addressed “Whose Company Is
It Anyway?” in 2000, a roundtable that
launched the center eight years ago, and
“Handling Dissent in the Boardroom”
in 2004.

Excerpts from the debate on board
tenure follow.

— James Kristie

Charles Elson: Historically, once you got
elected to a board, you were there for the
duration as long as you wanted to stay.
The only thing that would knock you off
would be an age limit. A lot of boards
did have age limits, typically between
68 and 72. For boards that didn’t, you
could stay as long as you wished, which
meant people could be there for 20 years
or more.

Starting a number of years ago, ques-
tions began to be raised as to whether
this was a good idea. The arguments in
favor of long-term directors were that
they have experience, that it is hard to replace them, and that
once you have been there a long time you have a good sense
of the company and can be a better monitor. The argument
against long tenure was the inclination to get stale in the job
and that, after 10 years or so, there were concerns — raised
by CalPERS, in particular — that you were not viewed as in-
dependent of management, i.e., lengthy tenure compromised
your independence.

Another view, one a bit in between, was not that you were
no longer independent after 10 years but that you got too
comfortable. It becomes hard to innovate against yourself. The
more accustomed you are to the procedures and approaches

to be tougher.

‘We have got to do something

about the evaluation processes.
They have to be better. They have

— Raymond Troubh

the company takes to various issues, the more you lose your
ability to be critical of what management is doing and to be
aware of problems that develop, and you become a less active
monitor than you should be.

All this started the call for term limits. The National Asso-
ciation of Corporate Directors, in its 1996 Report on Director
Professionalism, was the first document to issue an affirmative
call for some kind of term limit. The NACD suggested a term
limit of between 10 and 15 years, after which the board would
say to a director, “Thanks, but you need to do something else.”
No one could stay on the board beyond
15 years. There was an alternative view
that was proposed at the time that term
limits really aren’t necessary and that
the key is having a director evaluation
process. If everyone is evaluated on an
annual basis, you can allow someone to
stay as long as they are productive.

Let’s have each of you state your ini-
tial opinion on the subject. Ray, lead us
off on this notion of the term limit as a
good thing or bad thing — a necessity or
a hindrance to board performance.

Ray Troubh: On balance, whether it’s
60-40 or 70-30, I think term limits are
good — good for the corporation and
good for shareholders. The arguments
against long tenure are all correct. I find
in my own experience that a coziness, a
comfortableness, develops between and
among the directors, the management,
and the staff, which doesn’t produce the
most electrifying results that one would
like. The blood gets diluted, so to speak.
I would say 15 years is about right, be-
cause if you do get young people on
boards, after 15 years they still have a
future to do other things.

I also would vote for age limits. I find
it very difficult to apply a test at a point
in one’s career that says, “You’re good”
and “He’s bad,” or “He’s going to go, and
you’re going to stay.” That’s very awkward. You’re better off
having some automatic test that applies to everybody across
the board.

Ann McLaughlin Korologos: I would be on the side of say-
ing term limits are neither necessary nor a hindrance as long
as you start with a nomination process of finding the best
people, accompanied by an evaluation and renomination pro-
cess. In today’s culture, with policies on age limits, resignation
on job loss, and other factors affecting individuals, it’s a little
more acceptable to go on and off boards without staying for
20 years. Twelve to 15 years is more often the reality. But even
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then there are exceptions extended by nominating committees
and boards.

I took alook at several of my own boards. Since I joined the
board of Kellogg Co. over 17 years ago, we’ve had 19 people
join the board and 21 leave. The average tenure is 8.8 years,
and we’ve had five CEOs during that time. At Host Hotels,
where I went on the board 15 years ago, six directors joined,
six left, the average tenure is 10 years, and we’ve had three
CEOs. At AMR and American Airlines, where I have been on
the board for 15 years, we’ve had 10 new directors, 13 depart-
ed, a nine-year average tenure for the board, and three CEOs.
On many of my boards I am what would be thought of as a
seasoned director. I stay on a board if I
can add value. I’ve also voluntarily left
six or seven boards.

Jon Hanson: I am for having some
term limit — 10 to 12 years. Directors
do get stale. They do stop contributing.
At HealthSouth we have instituted a 12-
year term limit. The board is permitted
under circumstances to invite someone
to be extended beyond that. In general,
after 10 or 12 years you probably con-
tributed as much as you’re going to con-
tribute.

But, with 70 being the new 50, I am
not supportive of an age limit. I can
give a good example where an age limit
would have forced two directors off at
a bad time. Prudential was converting
from a mutual company to a publicly
traded corporation, which is a very dif-
ficult process. We needed our two senior
directors, Paul Volcker and Roy Vagelos,
who just retired as CEO of Merck, to help
us get through this. Both had turned 70.
The board decided to extend their terms.
That was a good example to me why you
should not go off just because of age.

the board’
Robert May: I will take more of a man-
agement perspective. Like Ray, I am on
balance in favor of term limits, but my balance is more like
55-45. Certainly, the argument for the board staying fresh and
bringing new thinking into the board is the most compelling
reason for why we should have term limits. But it does create
additional work for the CEO, and some added complexity. It
can be a couple-year process for the CEO to take on the ad-
ditional work of getting used to a new director and getting a
new director up to speed on the business. That takes time and
takes away from the business. Those are some negatives, but
overall I would be on the side of having term limits with the
flexibility to modify them when circumstances warrant.

And, as Ann’s information shows, the average shelf life of
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‘If a director got through the

nomination process, he or she is
usually not a total dud. If that

is so, then shame on the rest of

— Ann McLaughlin Korologos

CEOs these days is fairly brief. The notion of the board getting
cozy with the CEO would be the rare case.

Elson: Ken, since you published that report on director profes-
sionalism, give us the NACD perspective.

Kenneth Daly: Let me share several themes from our research.
While I initially thought that this was not that interesting an
issue, the more I got into it, the more I realized that is not the
case. In fact, in our 2007 survey, 41 percent of respondents
consider the issue “critical,” and another 47 percent consider
it “important.” So nine out of 10 have it high on their radar
screen. Boards use a variety of ways to
keep board membership fresh. Term
limits are actually the least popular. Only
8.3 percent of the respondents approve
of term limits. An evaluation process is
clearly the most popular, with 55 percent
saying that is the way to go.

Typical tenure of directors is getting
shorter — 7.6 years. I would have never
guessed that without looking at the data.
Nearly half the boards (49 percent) re-
placed board members in the past year
— and of those, 46 percent replaced
more than one member. That’s some-
thing you do not hear a lot about. Di-
versity of age is becoming an interest-
ing new byword. It used to be that the
preponderance of directors were 62-
plus. But as I go around to different ses-
sions where directors are present, I find
that there are a lot of directors now in
their 40s and 50s, which historically we
have not seen. Another thing that plays
into this is that directors are serving on
fewer boards. In fact, 39 percent of re-
spondents to our 2007 survey said their
board has a policy restricting the num-
ber of boards the CEO can serve on, and
86 percent said the board should have
such a policy!

The key to effective boards is to get
the right skill set on the board. However that happens — and
it ought to happen through nominating committee selec-
tion — the priority is getting the right skills on the board.

Lawrence Dickinson: The problem with rigidly imposed term
limits is that they fail to take into account the different circum-
stances facing each board and the different characteristics and
composition of boards from company to company. Having
said that, in the U.K. we do have a system whereby under the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance — which listed
companies have to comply with or explain why they don’t
comply — nine years is the presumption of independence.



BOARD PRACTICES

You are allowed to keep directors on the board after nine years,
but you have to justify why they remain independent.

At Barclays, where we have done quite a bit of board refresh-
ing over the last few years, we have one nonexecutive director
who has served nine years and who continues to add a lot of
value. Good quality nonexecutive directors are hard to come
by. If you have one who is still adding value you do not want
to lose him or her because of some rigidly imposed limit. I do
not think there is necessarily a link between tenure and inde-
pendence. Quality nonexecutive directors live on their repu-
tations, and will not let their independence fall away simply
because they have been on the board a long time. In fact, for
many individuals, the length of stay can affect their indepen-
dence positively.

I do, however, think there is an issue about staleness that
underlies the need for board refreshment. High-quality board
evaluation procedures are an absolute key to making sure that
the board is looking at its own processes and the quality of its
own membership rigorously every year.

Ann Yerger: From an investor’s prospective, the Council of
Institutional Investors does not endorse mandatory retirement
ages or tenure limits on directors. We have discussed both is-
sues. We examined them well over five years ago — pre-Enron,
pre-scandals — when there was more of a perception that some
directors were potted plants and that certain individuals were
sticking around perhaps longer than they needed to. But our
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policies committee rejected the concept of the Council tak-
ing any kind of position on these issues. We agreed they were
overly prescriptive and that what was most important was that
companies and boards have robust independent nominating
processes and independent nominating committees, and very
robust director evaluations.

The board needs to change and adapt according to what the
needs are for the organization. Who is to say what skill set is
necessary or most appropriate for a board at any given time?
It is the board’s responsibility to think that through and make
determinations about skills, backgrounds, and diversity — not
just race and gender but also age. That evaluation is essential.
That is why ultimately we did not take a position on the issue,
and the market has shown that shareowners at large are not
that supportive of these ideas. Every year there are a couple of
shareowner proposals that call on companies to adopt either
tenure limits or mandatory retirement ages, and they tend to
not do very well — sometimes getting under 5 percent of the
votes. It is interesting that the investor prospective is so differ-
ent. Maybe it’s because the dynamics in the boardroom have
changed so significantly.

Sanjai Bhagat: [ would not support a rigid board tenure re-
striction or age restriction. What I could support would be ro-
bust evaluation by the rest of the board of a member’s tenure
or age. If someone is adding value after 12 or 15 years, there is
no reason to ask them to step off if they want to continue to
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serve. Data show that there is almost no evidence that compa-
nies doing poorly are those that have boards with ages on the
high side or where tenure is on the high side. If anything, the
data would suggest the opposite — that these companies are
doing better. (Ed. note: See exhibit on page 23 showing about
1,500 U.S. companies sorted into four groups on the basis of
their industry-adjusted return on assets.)

Board tenure restriction may even enhance independence of
boards. But then the question is: Is independence such a good
thing for shareholders? There is very strong evidence that com-
panies that have more independent directors systematically
have underperformed their peers. That is a well-documented
result for almost all publicly listed U.S.
corporations. So, if you are thinking
about board tenure in the context of
greater independence, that is probably
not the right case to make. Maybe the
right reason is the need for newer ideas,
which come from new board members.

Hon. John Noble: When I think of in-
dependence, particularly in the context
of a shareholder suit, I worry about how
cozy the director has become with the
chief executive officer and those who
control the company in a de facto sense if
not through pure voting power. I do not
know that, as a legal matter, I would ever
say a director has lost his independence
simply because of time in grade. But
where that director has other relation-
ships with the company — as a supplier
or other business connection — a long
tenure would suggest that perhaps one
of the reasons he is being kept around is
that he has become compliant and will-
ing to go along.

On the other hand, the lawyer in me
forces me to say that although by num-
bers the panelists are in favor of term
limits, let’s recognize that being around
for a while gives you the experience, the knowledge, the status
— the gravitas — that makes you an effective counterweight
to a CEO who may be running amuck. And there are a lot of
little things that one picks up by having been on the board for
a while, such as who you can trust and how you get the infor-
mation that you need, which is important because so much
of what contributes to how well a director does his or her job
is how that information is provided to them.

Optimal timing

Elson: All good points from the panel. Now that we know
everyone’s starting position, let’s dig in a bit on some of the
hard questions. What is the optimal time for board service?
What is that optimal point where you know enough to be an

22 DIRECTORS & BOARDS

‘m more in favor of term

issue, not as a way to deal with

performance issues.

effective counterweight, but you begin to get stale and become
too complacent and too cozy? Is it five years? Eight years? Ten
years? There has to be a number somewhere in that realm. It’s
true that no individual is the same, that everyone reacts dif-
ferently in different situations. There are times when someone
who has been on a board for 20 years is more engaged and
active than someone who has been on a board eight years. The
problem is, how do you know?

Yerger: As investors, we don’t know how a director is per-
forming. We can’t get behind boardroom doors. We like to
try sometimes, but we can’t. It is tough getting rid of under-
performing employees. But that’s the
board’s duty. We are counting on the
directors to do the right things, and to
make the hard decisions.

Dickinson: Evaluation is absolutely
critical. Our former chairman once said,
“Well, if performance appraisal is good
for management, why isn’t it good for
boards?” It is still an evolving process
because it has only come in over the last
few years. But if you get it right, it can be
a very powerful tool.

Elson: The board should have the
strength to terminate someone who is
not properly performing. But it is not
like a CEO terminating the CFO. With a
director, you are talking about an equal,
someone who isn’t appointed by you but
is elected by shareholders. It is just a lot
more complicated than it appears.

limits because of the freshness

Yerger: Well, what happens if you have
a 15-year term limit and you have a dud
after five years? Should shareowners
suffer with this person for another 10
— Robert May  years?

Dickinson: What we do at Barclays is that the chairman and
I will meet with our top 20 institutional shareholders at least
once a year to talk about purely corporate governance issues.
We talk about the composition of the board and our views on
the independence of the nonexecutive directors. That helps
to get some shareholder feedback. Under U.K. regulations,
directors who have served more than nine years have to be
re-elected by the shareholders every year. So at our annual
shareholder meeting, it goes for a vote. I fully accept that it is
difficult for shareholders to know how specific individuals are
performing, but we know as a company we have to justify to
our shareholders that it is worthwhile keeping individuals on
the board. That is quite a useful discipline to have in place for
directors who have served over nine years.
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Elson: You should have evaluations to remove the dud if you
can. The difficulty that I found with board evaluations has
been the reluctance to pull the trigger on a nonperforming
director. When the NACD report was in development, there
was a conflict within the commission between those for evalu-
ation and those for term limits. My argument at the time was
not against evaluation, but relying foo heavily on evaluations.
Theoretically, evaluations are a terrific tool, but practically
speaking it is hard, even with an evaluation, to move someone
off the board. The term limit and/or age limit, as unpleasant
and draconian as it may be, does make it a lot easier to ro-
tate someone off because you don’t have to embarrass them
through a poor evaluation or have to say to someone, “You are
at an age where you are just not contributing anymore.” No
one wants to say that to someone. Boards aren’t theoretical
institutions. They are collections of people —people you get
to know and work with. So I was one of those on the NACD
commission who favored the term limit. I thought 15 years
was plenty of time to contribute your optimal value to the
corporation.

Evaluations — all they could be?

Troubh: Evaluations are becoming better, but my experience
on a lot of boards is that evaluations are ineffective overall.
They don’t go deep enough.

more than any evaluation by any other board member. That’s
point one. Second, I have been on boards where we have asked
people to leave. The evaluation process itself as a process does
good. It’s not an either/or — you stay on or get off. We have
had directors who had issues that affected their performance
which the evaluation process was used to remedy.

Elson: You're right. There is an informal term limit just
through natural processes. The concern is when you have
that 20-year person on the board who is not always there,
who doesn’t recognize that he is going stale and not contrib-
uting anymore. Does it make sense to have a hard and fast
rule to take care of that kind of outlier on the board?

Troubh: Because it’s so difficult to get rid of board members,
what you tend to do is ignore the laggards. With 10, 12, 15
people on the board, the feeling is you can afford to have a
10 percent or 20 percent error rate. You know who the good
people are, the cream always rises to the top, and those are the
ones whose opinions you listen to.

As Ken Daly said, the present effectiveness of the evaluation
system is terrible. But that’s our fault. We get these standard-
ized forms — 10 or 12 pages, and you check, check, check and
off it goes to an independent agency to be counted. They come
back and say, “The board is OK on these six points.” Then you

Daly: Some of the board evaluations I've
seen don’t even rise to the level of awful.

Board tenure and corporate performance

Essentially, they don’t even evaluate the
board member. Because of collegiality,
you don’t want to go to somebody and
say, “Look, you're no longer productive.
You're a dud.” So what happens is you

1,500 U.S. companies sorted into four groups
on the basis of their industry-adjusted return on assets

evaluate the whole board. I don’t know 10%
what good that does for figuring out

problems with particular individuals.

Korologos: I am trying to look at the
practical side of the problem that we are
supposed to be solving with term limits
and [ am having trouble seeing the prob-
lem solved. Keep in mind that there is
a natural progression of board turnover
— through retirements, resignations,
adding people with new skill sets, all of
those reasons. This accomplishes much
of what term limits would do. With the
addition of one, two, three new people
every year or every other year, the board
is getting fresh insights.

I’'m a big proponent of stepping up to
the plate to do evaluations. When you
are standing outside the room for your
evaluation, as happens with the Kel-
logg board, your self-examination does

Low Performers

Quartile 3

Quartile 2

High Performers

Source: Sanjai Bhagat, University of Colorado at Boulder
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destroy the documents because you are worried about lawsuits
— you don’t want anyone to see what you really wrote. There
are a few comments, which are anonymous. You may say, “He’s
a jerk,” but you don’t sign it.

We have got to do something about the evaluation pro-
cesses. They have to be better. They have to be tougher. That’s
going to take a long while.

Daly: The companies that have the most aggressive evalua-
tions might also have the biggest shredders. You can imag-
ine how difficult it is to do a thorough evaluation when you
are holding in your hand something that could create quite a
mushroom cloud.

Korologos: I think of evaluations as a tool for board effec-
tiveness as opposed to a report card about how you did that
semester. As a tool, you are going to use it for whatever pur-
poses. It’s up to a nominating or governance committee or an
executive session of the board to use the
results of that tool well.

Dickinson: We actually do disclose some
of the outcomes of the evaluation pro-
cess, but not individual director evalua-
tions. If we say, “Well, the board decided
that it wasn’t spending sufficient time
on such and such topic,” we would be
prepared to disclose that, to give some
sense of what happened as a result of the
evaluation process.

When a dud is a dud

Elson: Let’s consider this: Sometimes a
dud may look like a dud but might be
much better than you think. I know of
a situation where a board thought they
had a dud who should not have been
there. Then the company ran into a cri-
sis, and the dud started to talk. And the
dud, as it turned out, was a lot smarter
than the other directors thought. In fact,
he was extremely smart, and became
vice chairman of the board because he
helped them out of the problem.

The point is that the evaluation of the
dud was incorrect. Sometimes people
get called duds because they are dissent-
ers. They express a different opinion, which can lead to them
getting ganged up on.

Korologos: If a director got through the nomination process,
he or she is usually not a total dud, or a dud that has potential
to be “rediscovered.” If that is so, then shame on the rest of
the board. If we are not using all of the tools we already have
— the executive session, the lead director, building a collab-

24 DIRECTORS & BOARDS

‘Typical tenure of directors is

getting shorter — 7.6 years. I
would have never guessed that

without looking at the data’

orative team, and tolerating differences of opinion — then we
are not doing our job. Term limits becomes an excuse to not
address a problem when it should be addressed.

May: I, too, am a little troubled with trying to solve a perfor-
mance issue with term limits. If you have a board, a chairman,
or a lead director who doesn’t have the mettle to deal with
the performance issue of a director — having the tough face-
to-face conversation — then you have to wonder what other
issues they are ducking in the boardroom. I'm more in favor
of term limits simply because of the freshness issue, not as a
way to deal with performance issues. Term limits means you
push out dealing with the performance issues for some speci-
fied period of time.

Hanson: On the boards I have served on, after every board
meeting, and sometimes before the board meeting, we have an
executive session without the CEO. There you will find direc-
tors speaking who may never speak at a
board meeting. The “duds” come to the
surface, and you find they are not duds.
There are people who are shy, who won’t
speak at a large board meeting, espe-
cially in front of management, but will
when you get them in an executive ses-
sion. The lead director, which I am on
one board, gets the opportunity both in
those types of sessions, and in the side-
bar conversations, to really pick up what
is on a director’s mind. That is dramati-
cally changing how boards function.

Troubh: The emergence of the lead di-
rector concept, which practically every-
one is adopting now and which I very
much favor, is going to make evaluations
a better tool. The lead director has the
responsibility to go amongst the board,
coordinate opinions, and then talk to
the individual and say, “You are good,”
or “You’re not good” — without the
shame and anger and antipathy of the
past. The lead director is an extremely
effective tool for board management and
board self-governance.
— Kenneth Daly

Korologos: I don’t think all board mem-
bers contribute 100 percent at every meeting. It’s all based on
their skills, their background, their knowledge, their interests.
What’s important is that, over time, you all benefit by that
director. You may go a couple of years and not know that old
Sam knew as much as he did about something until the issue
comes up, and then you marvel as he gets into it. That’s great,
as long as Sam is participating generally and knows the strat-
egy and knows what’s expected. We’re not all wired for sound
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every meeting. Sometimes your interests pertain to different
issues as they come before the board. What is important is
building the team, where the diversity of talent, age, and per-
spective collectively enhances the shareholder value.

Dickinson: I couldn’t agree more. It is incumbent upon boards
to discuss what the ideal composition of the board should
be, and what mix of skills and experiences you want on that
board, particularly from your nonexecutive directors. In our
case, we discuss geographic mix — we don’t just want U.K. di-
rectors, we want people from the U.S. and continental Europe
— and backgrounds. We might be looking for somebody to
bring retail or brand experience, IT ex-
perience, or financial experience to the
board. Boards are like a team, and you
have to get that team working properly
in order for it to be effective.

Thumbs up for rotation

Elson: Ken, you were in the auditing
field before you came to NACD. You ef-
fectively had term limits vis-a-vis your
auditing work — rotating on and off
client accounts. Does that influence the
way you look at this?

Daly: It does. First of all, as a new per-
son on the scene you’re able to ask stupid
questions, which sometimes turn out
to be not that stupid. So that’s good. A
point that I would add in to this discus-
sion is that a fundamental problem is the
onboarding process. Most onboarding
processes are, “The first meeting will be
Thursday — be there.” You've now been
onboarded. It can take a long period of
time for directors to get up to speed on
what the issues are. Longtime directors
have a huge amount of institutional
knowledge that’s easy to tap into. That’s
something you lose by rotating them. The onboarding pro-
cesses have to work a lot better for the new directors to get
up to speed.

Elson: That’s been one of the arguments against the term limit
— the notion of indispensability. “This person is the best audit
committee chair we have ever had.” Yes, that person may be
terrific and you don’t want to lose them, but what happens if
they get hit by a bus? The world goes on. There is always a pool
of people ready to come in and do good things. After a given
point of time, a board needs to give someone else a try.

Hanson: One point that needs to be made is where a board
member does most of his or her work. It’s in the committee
meetings. That’s a good opportunity for fellow board mem-

is the presumption
of independence’

— Lawrence Dickinson

bers to judge the contribution that’s being made. In these
smaller meetings you’ll really see someone’s productivity or
lack of productivity.

Troubh: All of the arguments we cited about longevity would
apply to committees. They should be mixed up constantly.
You should have new people coming in who are “ignorant”
in a sense that they ask all new questions, tough questions,
that wake up the accountants and the specialists. And I would
rotate the committee chairman every three years.

In the old days when I first went on boards, the audit com-
mittee was composed of rookies or people who were nearly
dead. Nobody cared about the audit
committee. Now the audit committee is
the most important committee on the
board. You can make a mistake in the
compensation committee and cost the
company a million bucks. You make a
mistake in the audit committee and it
can be 15 cents a share.

Korologos: Depending on committee
chairs and membership, I'm seeing on
my boards a rotation of three to five
years. You can have somebody on the
board for 15 years and they take over
a committee they have never been in
charge of and you get a renewed energy
and freshness there.

Yerger: The Council endorses rotation
on committees.

‘We have in the U.K.

a system whereby nine years

What do you measure?

Bhagat: That the board member is not as
effective in the beginning of their learn-
ing curve and that at some point during
their tenure we start to see diminishing
returns is, conceptually, a valid point.
For different people that inflection point
comes at different times, which may not be all that obvious to
them or the other board members. A rigid rule cannot pick up
that inflection point. It is just not easy to know when different
people become less productive.

But why is it so difficult to evaluate peers? We do it routinely
in a lot of professions. In accounting partnerships nowadays,
partners have to take less compensation when they are not as
productive. If we expect a CEO to make hard decisions about
his staff, why would we not expect the board to make hard
decisions among themselves? That is a legitimate expectation
of the shareholders.

Hanson: I've been on about 10 public boards, and there are
always laggards. Peer review is mandatory. You’ve got to bite
the bullet if a director is not performing. We do represent the
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shareholders. Therefore, it’s no different from evaluating any
other employee — if someone’s not performing, it’s our duty
to find a way to remove that person.

Elson: A CEO is easily measured by metric — how the com-
pany performs. For a director, if someone isn’t showing up for
meetings, or doesn’t own a requisite amount of stock, or has
business relationships with a company, that’s easy to evalu-

Present state of play

Hanson: In the 30 years since I have been on boards, I've seen
directors gaining more control of the company — not the day-
to-day control but in the governance. In the old days, you lost
your independence the longer you were on a board, because,
as the vice chancellor said, you got co-opted by management. I
do not feel today on the boards I serve on that we are being co-
opted by management. In fact, management realizes that the
tide has turned and the board is much

ate. Going beyond that into subjective
observations of performance gets a lot
tougher. The director is almost a judge,
a monitor. How do you determine the
effectiveness of someone as a monitor?
There is no body of knowledge that you
specifically can test and master. When
you get down to it, what you do as a di-
rector is evaluate management and what
management is saying to you. How ef-
fective is this person? How effectively are
they relating their vision, their strategy,
to you? Do you feel they are competent
and capable?

How do you evaluate how effective a
director is at that? Ray, you have been
around a lot of boards. How do you
evaluate someone?

Troubh: I've tried to maintain high stan-
dards for evaluation of my fellow direc-
tors. They ought to be conscientious,
smart, team-oriented, and work hard. I
ask myself, are they trustworthy and in-
dustrious custodians of my investment
as a shareholder? of productivity’
Korologos: It is up to the director to

have competence, character, common

sense, business knowledge and industry knowledge, and a
willingness to just go and do their job. The bottom line is the
quality of that individual. I do not have time to waste, so if I
do not add value to a board, I am out of there. It has nothing
to do with my length of service. It has to do with whether I
am intellectually engaged, curious enough to find out what is
going on, mindful of what is happening in the external world,
and committed to my fiduciary duties.

Troubh: I don’t think it takes nuclear physicists to be great di-
rectors. What [ mean by that is that it doesn’t take a long time.
You bring someone on the board, you show them a couple of
plans, they go to a couple of meetings, and if they are halfway
intelligent, which most of them are, they will pick up on the
nuances of the business and an understanding of the industry,
and within a short time, if they are any good, they will be a
very effective director. The inflection point of effective contri-
bution can be rather quick.
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‘I’s in the smaller committee

meetings where you’ll really see

someone’s productivity or lack

more in control of governance of the
corporation than even 10 years ago.

May: If you join the board as an inde-
pendent director, you see the value of
‘being independent’ and you protect
that fiercely, whereas in years past it may
not have made a difference. In today’s
world, it does. In the beginning you are
an uninformed independent director for
some period of time, and then you get
to be an informed independent director.
Maybe at the end you become a bored
independent director, which is when you
need to leave the board.

Troubh: One of the things that makes
me feel a bit better is that the nominat-
ing committees are improving. They are
taking their job seriously. The chief ex-
ecutive no longer has a dominant role in
the selection of director candidates. Itis
going to take time to build up a nucleus
of really independent nominating com-
mittees. When that happens, you will see
a better class of board membership.
— Jon Hanson

Elson: Let’s turn to the vice chancellor

for a concluding observation.

Noble: The question you leave with is the following. We have
changed dramatically in the last five to 10 years in how boards
operate, how directors view their jobs, and how board mem-
bers are selected. Do those changes somehow obviate the
good reasons that are cited for term limits? Will these cura-
tive measures achieve what the term limit notion is designed
to achieve? Ultimately, this is the question that each company,
each board, each set of shareholders will need to answer for
themselves. My sense is that, net net, this issue is probably
going to go the way of congressional term limits.

Elson: There was a U.S. senator from Georgia who was once
asked about the seniority system. He said, “Well, when I
first got here, I wasn’t too big on it, but the longer I’ve been
around, the more I like seniority.” [Laughter]. Thank you,
panelists. ]
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Executive Summary

The debate over board renewal is
moving into sharper focus. New public
company disclosure requirements
demand greater transparency on such
things as term limits and other renewal
mechanisms, and some large investors
are sending the implicit message that
companies must renew the board or
they will seek to do it instead. The ICD
agrees that the composition and renewal
of the board are vital processes that
demand rigour and analysis and are best
undertaken by the board pro-actively.

In this paper we seek to provide a
framework for boards to build a renewal
process that increases accountability
and achieves the right mix of skills

and experience to create long-term

effectiveness.

To that end, we propose that boards
across the for-profit, not-for-profit

and Crown sectors build their renewal
processes around the concept of
performance management, including
effective board evaluations set within a

performance culture.

In other words, boards should review
themselves the way they do their
management teams. This means
instituting regular and substantive
evaluations of board composition

and board member performance, and
following through when necessary by
having “tough conversations” with
underperforming members or directors
whose skills do not align with the
organization’s strategy. This will help
create a culture of accountability, and

foster high performing boards.




Beginning in 2015, most provinces in Canada will require greater transparency regarding
gender diversity policies for non-venture issuer boards. One new rule stipulates that
companies disclose their director term limits policy or details of other board renewal
mechanisms they employ.

Proponents of term limits as a driver for board diversity point to the increasing age and
tenure of directors on Canadian boards as evidence for the need for change. According to
Spencer Stuart, the average age of non-executive directors in Canada in 2014 has risen to 63
(from 60 in 2009) and the average tenure to nine years (from eight in 2009).

The ICD has been one of the strongest advocates of gender diversity on Canada’s boards.
We also strongly agree that ensuring directors continue to add value to their boards is
crucial. However, we are concerned that the board renewal discussion in Canada has been
placed in the context of manufacturing boards that meet externally motivated criteria or
targets for membership.

In our submission to the CSA regarding their gender diversity disclosure rules, we took the
position that board renewal should be focused on making boards better and not with a view
to achieving a homogeneous formula:

The broad pressure for better board governance has come primarily from shareholders and
other stakeholders insistent on improved organizational performance, transparency and
diversity of director opinion and experience. The ICD shares these views. Further, we believe
it is critical that, in Canada, we recognise the increasingly global environment in which our
organizations compete and that, now more than ever, our boards leverage every opportunity
to be the best they can be to help drive long-term effectiveness.

On the issue of term limits, the prevailing discussion in Canada has centered on their
potential to foster greater gender diversity, whereas in other countries the issue of director
tenure has been considered in the context of director independence from management. In
France, for example, a director that serves on a board for more than 12 years is no longer
considered to be independent. In the UK, the board must publicly state why it believes a
director serving beyond nine years is still considered to be independent.

'1CD Comment - Request for Comment on Proposed Amendments (Proposed Amendments) to Form 58-101F1 Corporate Governance Disclosure (Form
58-101F1) of National Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices (NI 58-101), April 15, 2014.



The investor community has also been applying pressure on public company boards to
adopt board renewal strategies. Activist shareholders, including certain hedge funds, have
been vocal in demanding that the companies in which they are invested are serious about
board renewal - ostensibly with a view to adding more sector experience or leadership to
their boards. Some institutional investors in Canada have also expressed a desire to pursue
greater proxy access — that is, to have the right to nominate a percentage of board directors
once a certain share-holding threshold has been achieved. The message to boards from the
large investor community is to renew or they will seek to do it instead.

Proxy advisory firms such as ISS have also begun to look at director tenure in the context

of independence. For example, in their Quickscore 3.0 product, ISS considers length of
tenure in its opinion of directors’ independence. These firms have grown into key sources of
information, analysis and guidance on proxy votes for institutional investors and, therefore,
are considered by their clients as arbiters of corporate governance practices.

Whether due to regulatory changes such as mandated diversity or independence disclosures
or due to increased focus by shareholder groups, boards are feeling external pressure to
review their renewal practices. While external pressure can sometimes bring about positive
change, on the question of their future composition, it is vital that boards build a framework
unique to their forthcoming challenges and that they apply a great deal of thought and
analysis if they seek to maximize their effectiveness over the long term.

Performance management systems, characterized by objective-setting and supervisor
evaluations are commonly applied to executives and other employees and are an effective
way of ensuring quality throughout organizations and of making key staffing decisions.
Indeed, boards regularly use performance management in their evaluations of CEOs.
Importing this concept to the board is a useful way of building a framework for renewal.

By incorporating performance management tools, including board composition reviews

and board evaluations with mechanisms such as term limits, boards can identify areas for
development and/or underperformance and recognise needed skills and competencies
around the boardroom table. Framed within a performance culture that expects and
enforces accountability with a tone set by the chair, an effective framework for board renewal
can emerge.

A crucial first element of any performance management system is a thorough and regular
review of staffing and skills needs of the organization. At the board level, this means a review
of who sits on the board and the skill-sets they bring to the table. Many boards employ skills
matrices for this purpose to ensure that the competencies needed to carry out its mandate



and advance the organization exist at the board. Core skills could include CEO or senior
executive experience, audit experience or relevant industry knowledge.

Skills that are being added to matrices also include risk management, IT and social media
experience and, while not traditionally an element of a skills matrix, diversity — of opinion,
gender and background - is increasingly being viewed as a key component of board
composition.

Behavioural competencies are also an important component of effective board composition.
As detailed in a Korn Ferry International/Patrick O’Callaghan and Associates survey,
Canadian directors highlight integrity and trust, courage, ethics and values, and strategic
agility as examples of the personal character qualities critical to a successful board.

Those skills and qualities the board determines it needs should be a primary input into its
performance management and succession planning process, including the recruitment of
new and/or replacement directors.

Understanding actual and needed director skills is an important first step but the most

vital component of board performance management is an assessment of the strengths and
weaknesses of the current board and directors. Most public corporations in Canada already
undertake some form of annual or rolling self-evaluation — whether full board, director self-
evaluation or peer-to-peer evaluation - and we would argue that one or a combination of
these practices would benefit organizations across all sectors.

Full board evaluations
Full board evaluations require directors to focus on the functioning of the board as a whole,
rather than on individual directors. Questions may, for example, focus on the board’s
understanding of management strategy, the composition of the board and the mix of skills
around the table, the structure and organization of board meetings and committee meetings
and other issues core to the execution of the board’s mandate.

Individual director evaluations
Director self-evaluations require individual directors to respond to a series of questions
regarding their own board performance, including how their skills contribute to the
effectiveness of the board, their commitment to the board, their preparedness for board
meetings and other responsibilities.

Peer-to-peer evaluations require individual directors to respond confidentially to questions
regarding their colleagues’ board performance and commitment, including how their fellow
directors’ skills contribute to the board's effectiveness.



The most basic approach to board evaluation is the written questionnaire where directors
respond to a series of questions regarding either the functioning of the full board, their own
performance or the performance of their colleagues.

While questionnaires can provide a good baseline of information and offer some insight
into issues for further discussion, they can be too simplistic to capture nuance and drive
real change.

A slight alternative is the survey, which offers directors an opportunity to expand on their
responses through open-ended questions and can often lead to more thoughtful views on
the direction of the board.

Interviews conducted by the chair of the board or the chair of the governance committee
can also elicit greater depth of responses. This practice provides directors an opportunity
to expand on certain crucial issues (e.g. the mix of skills at the board) and bring areas for
improvement into sharper focus.

Independent third-party interview evaluations performed by board consultants can also
produce meaningful responses and provide an added layer of confidentiality for directors.

Finally, some boards opt for a facilitated board discussion. While the relative anonymity
provided by questionnaires, surveys and one-on-one interviews is no longer available in
a group meeting, the iterative nature of these meetings can produce fruitful discussion

regarding the direction of the board and the need for new skills in the boardroom.

Ultimately, the goal of the evaluation process is for the board to achieve greater insight
from its individual directors regarding their perceptions of the strengths of the group and
its members and to identify areas for improvement. While questionnaires and surveys can
provide a baseline, we believe internal and/or independent, external interviews provide the
greatest opportunities to gain quality feedback.

Many boards in Canada feel that term limits serve a purpose, with 56% of Canadian Spencer
Stuart Board Index (CSSBI) companies reporting they employ voluntary term or age limits.
According to a recent Korn Ferry International/Patrick O’Callaghan and Associates survey,
term limits for Canadian public companies surveyed ranged between seven and 20 years
with 53% of those companies having a 15 year term limit.

The ICD agrees that voluntary term limits have their place and can act as a backstop against
excessive tenure lengths, which can lead to the perception of eroding independence.

They may also provide some predictability around director position openings. However,
mandatory limits could also be counter-productive to the good governance of Canadian
organizations.

Term limits are a blunt tool and, without flexibility, they eliminate effective as well as non-
effective directors. For this reason, we believe that boards must retain discretion to preserve
vital institutional memory of high performing and contributing members.



On some boards, we have also observed that term limits can have the effect of replacing
"tough conversations” with directors who no longer add value to the organization, therefore
obviating the accountability inherent in identifying and addressing weaknesses. Boards
should not “wait out” a poor director’s term and, instead, should be prepared to ask them to
resign before their terms are finished.

Ultimately, the tools described above are only of value if they are set within a culture that
values — and enforces — high performance from individual directors and the board as a
whole. That is to say, the data provided through these mechanisms is acted upon.

Performance cultures are characterized by the high value they place on accountability and
are continually striving to meet their objectives.

A board operating within such a culture will act on the results of evaluations. This can and
should mean that processes that are not working well will be changed and, sometimes,
directors who are not adding value or who do not have skills aligned to board and
organizational strategies will be asked to resign.

Occasionally, tools such as skills matrices and evaluations will reveal a gap in terms of
competencies at the board vis a vis organizational strategy but no obvious deficiencies in
terms of individual director performance. Boards seeking to maximize their effectiveness
must reconcile this by being willing to move out directors whose input may still be valuable
but whose skills and experience do not align with where the organization is moving.

At the board, performance cultures are established primarily by the Chair who must take the
lead in the director evaluation process and must set a tone of accountability. If, after building
a skills matrix and completing board evaluations, weaknesses at the board are apparent, it
falls to the chair to address these with directors who are deemed by their colleagues to no
longer be adding value.

A board that is subject to rigorous evaluation and that understands from the Chair that it
is accountable has every incentive to be effective. Stated simply, if the Chair informs the
director from the start that he or she may be involved in a tough conversation, there is
usually no need to have one.

Just as the board should be subject to a performance management-based renewal process,
so too should the Chair be evaluated and held accountable. This should be done through

a well-understood process managed, typically, by the chair of the Governance Committee
and that takes into account the Chair’s unique role in setting the tone and fostering a
performance culture.



New reporting requirements in Canada demand that boards of non-venture issuers think
more deeply about their renewal process, but organizations across all sectors are equally
confronted with the challenges of building boards that are effective in the long-term.

Modern boards are increasingly expected to take on complex organizational oversight

and governance roles. We would argue then, that renewing them should also be a process
involving a great deal of thought and analysis. While term limits can be a supporting
mechanism, relying solely on them to renew the board is insufficient and may be counter-
productive to good corporate governance. Rather, establishing renewal around the concept
of performance management within a culture that demands accountability of directors and
maintains a firm view on the future needs of the board provides a more effective framework
for renewal.

The Institute of Corporate Directors (ICD) is the definitive ‘go-to’ resource and voice for
Canada’s directors and boards in the for-profit, not-for-profit and Crown sectors. As the
national community for directors, the ICD is a not-for-profit, member-based association

with more than 9,000 members and a network of 11 chapters across Canada. Representing
the interests of directors, the ICD fosters the sharing of knowledge and wisdom through
education, professional development programs and services, and thought leadership and
advocacy to achieve the highest standard of directorship. For more information, please visit:
www.icd.ca.

For more information about this paper, please contact:
Matthew Fortier

Vice-President, Policy

Institute of Corporate Directors

Tel: 1.877.593.7741, ext. 246

Email: mfortier@icd.ca

For media enquiries and interview requests, please contact:
Maliha Ageel

Director, Communications

Institute of Corporate Directors

Tel: 1.877.593.7741, ext. 229

Email: mageel@icd.ca
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PR E S S
Why Your Board Needs Term Limits

f
L

Do you have a board that is reluctant to enforce term limits for its members? Or do you G+
have bylaws that don’t even mention term limits?

Term limits are important to a smoothly functioning board. In fact, they can be a nonprofi.
CEQ’s best friend. They keep a board from becoming stale and set in its ways. When that g
happens, your entire organization may be at risk—sooner than you think. With today’s
wildly shifting environment, this is a very dangerous place to be.

To illustrate just how term limits can make a difference, let’s look at five types of boards
who've ignored them.

\. The Martyrs. These board members overwork themselves to death. They're doing the work of staff

and constantly complaining: “We work SO hard and we’re SO burned out. Woe to us.” At the same
time, they don’t want to let go—because it’s their organization.

The irony is that this board may work hard to enlist new and “diverse” members. But
when the new recruits see this group’s attitude and what’s expected, they drift away.

The downside: there’s little future for this board because they can’t enlist new
leadership. Their martyr attitude drives the new people away.

. The Social Club. These board members are really, really comfortable with each other. They may be

best friends. Getting together for the board meetings has become social time for what has evolved
into a group of very close friends.

The downside: Over time, governance activities like policy and serious work about the
organization’s future are always last priority. Worst of all, no one on the board wants to
rock the boat. Difficult decisions never happen.

. The Frozen-in-Time Club. This board is full of the same people for many years. Their mantra is:

“We’ve always done it this way.”
New ideas? New ways to implement their mission? Innovation? Close out a
nonperforming program? Fire nonperforming staff?

https://charitychannel.com/why-your-board-needs-term-limits/
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Not a chance!

Jack Welch said it best: “If the rate of change on the QUTSIDE exceeds the rate of
change on the INSIDE, the end is near.”

The downside: The Frozen-in-Time Club sees no advantage for moving its members on
and bringing in new members who just might not see it the way it should be. Their
future is dismal, because they are not open to new ideas or change.

4. The “We Own This Organization” Club. This happens when the sense of ownership becomes so
deeply ingrained that people think they literally own the organization. They start to feel entitled *»
the position. A few people call the shots, and that’s it. Their opinion is all that matters. f
The downside: This board drives out or ostracizes any new members—who will simph
feel excluded.

Worse, the rest of the board is simply disengaged. The in-crowd that is running the G+
board will push out new board members who may have important connections to A
funders or community leaders. =t
n
S. “The Lazies.” This group is so comfortable with itself that innovation and hard work go out the
door. This board values their position, but not the work that goes with it. They are as stale as la ***
weel’s bread. Are they interested in learning experiences or stimulating discussions? Nope.

The downside: Aesop said it best: “When all is said and done, more is said than done.”

The bottom line: All these boards are laying out their organizations’ ruin. When board
members get too cozy with each other, and when they exclude new people with new ideas,
the end really can be near.

Term limits are a great vehicle for changing these boards. But it takes discipline and
willingness.

Like the joke about how many people it takes to change a light bulb, the answer is “none.”
The light bulb has to want to change itself. Term limits can make a positive difference but it
takes at least one board member to recognize the need for change and push forward that
change.

Rotating more community members through your governing body can only broaden your
influence and connections with your community’s leadership.

If you welcome new board members, you'll get fresh thinking and innovation that every
board needs. But it takes term limits to make it happen.

https://charitychannel.com/why-your-board-needs-term-limits/



Continuous Improvement

In The Boardroom

by Tamara Paton and Shona McGlashan

Board orientation, training and evaluation
tend to be handled as sporadic, one-off events.
This explains why they are so often ineffective.
What if a board instead took a “continuous
improvement” approach that made board
development and feedback as much a regular
element of governance as board meetings
themselves? Canadian retail co-op MEC has
put this strategy to work in their boardroon.
Here, an MEC director and their chief gover-
nance officer review the results.

In a New York Times op-ed, Yale University fellow
David Brooks observed that “people who live with
passion start out with an especially intense desire to
complete themselves. We are the only animals who
are naturally unfinished. We have to bring ourselves
to fulfillment, to integration and to coherence.”

Brooks’ insights need notapply solely to passionate
artists, scientists or entrepreneurs. Mountain Equip-
ment Co-op (MEC), a Canadian outdoor retailer, is
brimming with people who possess what Brooks
calls “an unquenchable thirst to find some activity
that they can pursue wholeheartedly.” MEC supports
its members’ pursuit of outdoor active lifestyles by
providing goods and services through 18 stores and
online.

Motivate board members by investing in di-
rector capabilities and performance of the
board as a whole.

This dedication is equally true of the MEC board,
which consists of nine directors holding staggered
three-year terms. Respecting the privilege and ob-
ligation inherent to our role, directors feel highly
motivated to be the best we can be. The organization
reinforces these individual aspirations by investing

in director capabilities and performance of the board
as a whole.

More than four million outdoor enthusiasts rely on
MEC for the gear they bring to mountaintops, hiking
trails and campsites across Canada and beyond. Asa
co-op, MEC builds its board from this membership
via annual elections. Every member has a right to
seek nomination and cast a single vote in the election.

The election mechanism tends to create boards that
are more diverse than others we have encountered
in other governance settings. When any member
has the right to seek nomination, the resulting ballot
presents arobustrange of professional backgrounds,
personalities, and problem-solving styles, all held
together by shared values and commitment to MEC’s
purpose.

Whilerespecting the value of and intent underlying
our election process, it is critical that the board find
balance inits directors’ skills, experience and styles.
Through annually updated nominations criteria, the
board communicates the expertise and attributes that
best align with MEC'’s strategy and environment.

All candidates for the board must share a passion
for active outdoor lifestyles and align with MEC’s
values. Most have experience leading or overseeing
organizations of comparable scale and complexity.
Many candidates have completed governance train-
ing programs and hold professional designations in
relevant fields. Soft skills related to collaboration,
communication and empathy are also critically im-
portant to group dynamics.

After an external advisor interviews all nominees,
the board recommends certain candidates who best
align with the organization’s needs. Through a five-
week campaign period, members can engage with

Tamara Paton is a board consultant and board member with
Mountain Equipment Co-op (MEC). Shona McGlashan is
MEC chief governance officer.

[www.tamarapaton.com] [www.mec.ca]
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candidates online and interpret their perspectives,
track records, and personal stories. The resulting
vote produces what we find to be an increasingly
strong board each year.

From the board’s first day of work together, we
collectively offer decades of experience in retail
operations, real estate, and business development.
Functional expertise typically includes strategy, fi-
nance, accounting, marketing and human resources.
Just as importantly, we are enthusiastic proof of
MEC’s purpose, as we lead active outdoor lifestyles.

As strong as our board roster may be, however,
no group aligns perfectly with the needs of the
organization. With our current strategy and longer-
term vision in mind, MEC’s governance committee
assesses the board’s expertise against an annually
updated skills matrix. This analysis reveals the
board’s major development needs, progress on which
the chief governance officer and the board chair can
subsequently initiate.

Board development activities frequently include
guest speakers, facility tours, and external training.
Several directors have completed courses and cer-
tification programs through The Directors College
and Institute for Corporate Directors.

MEC has moved beyond board evaluation 1.0
annual board assessment—to evaluation 2.0
continuous focus on strategic, behavioral and
cultural issues.

A recent board meeting concluded with a tour of
an innovative retailer. Another included a presenta-
tion and lively discussion facilitated by a retired
real estate development executive. The board holds
regular casual “pizza and beer” evenings with head
office departments to gain greater exposure to MEC’s
operations. Regardless of the context, the board’s
curious nature reflects its desire to consistently im-
prove the way it serves MEC members.

As we seek continuous improvement, the MEC
board believes that development is not a one-time
event. We have moved from what we would consider
evaluation 1.0—an annual assessment of the board’s
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compliance with policy and its terms of reference—to
evaluation 2.0 which focuses on exploring strate-
gic, behavioral and cultural issues. Having regular,
focused check-ins throughout the year ensures that
directors are not spending a large amount of time
in reflection mode, but allows us to quickly make
changes and plan developmentactivities as necessary.

The diagram atright describes the MEC board’s an-
nual cycle of evaluation and development. Although
it may look intimidating, we estimate the time spent
on evaluation activities to be as little as four hours
annually for each director.

L] New director development. New directors attend
atwo-day orientation. Thisisintended to ensure they
have the information and context necessary to fully
participate in committee and board meetings from
the outset. The orientation includes areview of board
culture, an administrative overview, and discussion
of senior management portfolios, including each
department’s strategic deliverables and risk areas.

After six months on the board, new directors and
the MEC governance team determine what additional
orientation needs still exist, and create a personalized
follow-up plan for each director.

Ul Director peer evaluation. Annually, directors
complete formal peer evaluations online. The results
are made anonymous and collated by the board
chair, who then meets with each director to share the
insights revealed. Based on this, each director sets
a personal development goal for the next year and
commits to extending their knowledge and skills in
a certain area.

When a director seeks re-election at the end of his
or her term, the nominations committee reviews the
director’s past peer evaluations. Noting the director’s
specific contributions and the degree to which other
directors would support their colleague’s re-election
gives peer evaluations real teeth.

Separately, directors complete an annual survey
reviewing the performance of the board chair. The
results are accessed and communicated to the chair
by the chair of the governance committee.

After several years of formal peer evaluations,
the board asked ourselves whether we could also
provide feedback in a more personal way, one that



IMPROVEMENT IN THE BOARDROOM

Better And Better

MEC’s Continuous Board Improvement

May

April

® Board and
committee
compliance
checklists

® Year-end
survey results

\

March

® Peer review

o Chair review

® Committees
and board
year-end
surveys

® Orientation for
new directors

Ongoing
development
including a
session at
every board
meeting

November

® Mid-year board
and committee
review
(3 question
survey)

September
® Mid-year
peer review

would build bridges for long-term collaboration.
In her day job, one director had seen an innovative
structure for face-to-face feedback with her execu-
tive team. Eager to experiment, MEC paired up in
a structure that one director likened to “boardroom
speed-dating.”

Prior to the face-to-face feedback session, directors
prepared independently. They were invited to think
in advance about their own boardroom performance
and that of their peers. Board members identified, for

each of their fellow directors as well as themselves,
behaviors and contributions which they should begin,
continue andend. MEC’s governance team provided
directors with a template to record their conclusions.
Then, in a managed, timed session (overseen by a
member of the governance team with a stopwatch),
each director spent ten minutes face-to-face with
each of his or her peers in turn. During each segment:
o Director A shared their assessment of their own
start/continue/stop behaviors.
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T. Paton and S. McGlashan

o Director B supplied feedback, supporting, ne-
gating or changing director A’s statements.

0 Thedirectors thenreversed roles so that B shared
and A gave feedback.

The board tried this approach for the first time at
its winter 2014 board meeting, and was sufficiently
impressed with the results that we repeated it again
less than a year later. Each session took 90 minutes in
total, and was characterized by quiet concentration,
intense discussion and occasional bursts of laughter
from the pairs of directors. In nearly every pairing,
directors wished they had more time to explore the
emerging insights.

While the process seems simple, MEC’s board
discovered that the exercise constituted a powerful
tool forreceiving tangible and constructive feedback.
Directors reported that the greatest value lay in
uncovering overall themes from the group, and that
they felt highly motivated to implement behavioral
changes as a result.

Face-to-face director evaluation “yielded
countless suggestions that had never occurred
to me,” a director commented. “It takes trust
to truly get value out of this.”

“Way more valuable than our end-of-year [paper]
survey,” is how one director described the method.
“It is easier to be frank and constructive face-to-
face.” When speaking in person, directors could tell
that colleagues’ suggestions were driven by positive
intention and generosity.

The combination of self-evaluation tied to external
evaluation was a winning one for many of our board
members. The process “yielded countless sugges-
tions that had never occurred to me,” a director
commented. “It takes trust to truly get value out of
this,” observed another.

One director reported increased confidence in
bringing senior-level expertise to the board table.
Another felt bolstered in the ability to pursue
challenging lines of questioning. Others received
important feedback about how their demeanor and
communication style were perceived by the group.
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Overall, directors rated the exercise highly and are
keen to make it an annual part of the board’s evalu-
ation process.

U Annual board and committee evaluation.
Looking to committees and the board as a whole,
directors complete online surveys that ask questions
about their dynamics, performance and strategy.
The results are compiled by MEC’s governance
team, which also creates compliance checklists that
demonstrate the extent to which each committee has
fulfilled its mandate. Together, these are discussed at
end-of-year committee and board meetings, and they
set the focus for board development in the coming
year.

To ensure continuity, each committee chair writes a
memo to the committee’s future chair, summarizing
the year. It is quite powerful to see a committee’s
performance on two typed pages, particularly when
the content explores the challenges faced. The MEC
board’s willingness to explore both wins and losses
frankly helps us improve year over year.

L1 External evaluation. Every three to five years,
anexternal consultant provides a thorough evaluation
of board practices and dynamics, and offers a suite
of recommendations. The latest exercise occurred in
2014, beginning with one-hour individual interviews
of all directors and members of MEC’s executive
team. Armed with more than 100 pages of notes,
the consultant further developed her theories while
observing the dynamics of a board meeting. She
then returned to the group with a polished report of
observations and facilitated a productive discussion
among management and directors.

Directors are welcome to seek development
advice and guidance. New directors may ask
for a “board buddy” to help provide insight
into company culture.

Our plan for improvement changed the way man-
agement tees up a topic for discussion and poses
questions of directors. While many management
teams face a firing squad of board questions, MEC
board meetings feature management’s invitation to
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Performance Feedback

Strategies For Success

Nomatter how thorough the framework, feedbackwill have
limited impact on a director who is not primed to receive
it. A handful of strategies work well for MEC'’s board:

O Prepare well. Prior to giving and receiving feedback,
thoughtful reflection is a must. How can you best support
your colleague’s development? Do youknow the individual
well enough to take a risk and step outside the “I think
you’re great” comfort zone? What examples can you cite
to illustrate the behaviors you observe?

We also receive feedback more productively when we
begin with a solid view of our own strengths and oppor-
tunities for improvement. During an MEC peer feedback
session, one director communicated a desire to lead more
of the board’s problem solving, rather than simply syn-
thesizing the discussion and posing a question. Her col-
leagues responded with ways to step into that leadership
role, based on their observation of her past performance.
Sharing our own thoughtful preparation assures colleagues
that we would appreciate—and not resist—their input.

O Listen. Board relationships need to be conducive to
the exchange of useful, and perhaps critical, feedback, in
the pursuit of a common goal of excellence. Your board
colleagues ought to be on your personal list of people
whose opinions matter. Author Brené Brown’s Engaged
Feedback Checklist sets out basic criteria for this feedback
exchange to work.

O I'amready to sit next to you rather than across from you.
O I'am willing to put the problem in front of us rather than
between us (or sliding it toward you).

O I am ready to listen, ask questions, and accept that 1
may not fully understand the issue.

O I want to acknowledge what you do well instead of
picking apart your mistakes.

0 I recognize your strengths and how you can use them
to address your challenges.

O I can hold you accountable without shaming or blaming
you.

O I am willing to own my part.

O I can genuinely thank you for your efforts rather than
criticize you for your failings.

O I can talk about how resolving these challenges will
lead to your growth and opportunity.

0O I can model the vulnerability and openness that I expect
to see from you.

If a relationship with a colleague fails any element of
this list, consider whether exchanging feedback is going
to be helpful (or, even worse, destructive). The solution?
The board chair needs to take a keen interest in the web of
relationships among directors, and intervene as necessary.

O Take action. With fresh feedback in hand, directors
can take key messages to a trusted peer or coach for further
reflection. These advisors sift through the noise, suggest
high-priority issues, and turn director attention to actionable
steps. With the help of a thought partner, we can commit
to changing behaviors and investing in continual progress.

For extra support, we share our new development plan
with a fellow director or two. Doing so allows others to
observe and acknowledge our progress going forward in
real-time and in ways that we might not perceive ourselves.

collaborate on key strategic issues emerging from
each report.

The board also benefitted from the consultant’s
view of its evolving needs for strategically critical
skills and expertise with complex organizations. The
consultant’s report does not collect dust on a shelf.
Our board chair checks in with her periodically to
mark progress and refine our focus.

Outside of the annual cycle, directors are welcome
to seek development advice and guidance from the
board chairand MEC’s governance staff. New direc-
tors may ask for a “board buddy” to help with their
transition in the critical first year of information

overload. Board buddies often provide insight into
MEC culture, board social norms, and interpersonal
context.

MEC’s governance office is collating a monthly
digest of articles, resources and training opportu-
nities, which will be available to directors on our
board portal. A development log will track group
and individual training sessions, including a sum-
mary of lessons learned.

The board aims to include a development session
on the agenda of each board meeting, with defined
learning objectives. External experts, management
and directors contribute to these sessions. Recent
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learning sessions have looked at the governance of
strategic risk, retail innovation, real estate develop-
ment, and sustainability governance.

(1 The future of governance at MEC. At MEC,
we view our governance as an evolutionary process,
and we would be the first to say that we still have
progress to make. However, we know that investing
in the evaluation and development of our board and
directors pays dividends for the whole organization.

Each year, we have been able to hone in more closely
on the experience and knowledge we need around
the board table. We have moved from a “check the
box” system of evaluation to a continual feedback
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loop that ensures our development works remains
relevant, focused and timely. Our experience so far
suggests that this not only leads to more knowl-
edgeable directors, but more engagement around
the board table.

It might surprise you to learn that The New York
Times columnist David Brooks found the inspiration
for his article in Lady Gaga, who once admitted that
“I didn’t know what I would become, but I wanted
to be a constant reminder to the universe of what
passion looks like.”

Let us all pursue that objective, in the boardroom
and beyond. |



Board Succession Planning & Recruitment © Garthson Leadership Centre 2016 Page 1 of 2

PURPOSE To set out ’s approach to Board recruitment and succession planning.

POLICY STATEMENT The Governance Committee (referred to as the Committee in the balance of this
document) will develop and maintain a pool of qualified, interested candidates for the Board and for
officer positions in readiness for both annual elections and in-year vacancies. APPLICATION 1. Succession
Planning The Committee and Board will consider its long term leadership needs, and strive to develop
the next generation of leaders as well as fillimmediate needs. The Board will recommend candidates
with leadership potential to members, and help them develop the skills and experience to move into
officer roles and take on committee chair positions. 2. Integration with governance functions Board
succession planning and recruitment will be a year-round function that considers Board education
needs, Board terms, development of directors for officer and committee chair roles, and identification
of candidates through their involvement in Board committees, working groups, community
consultations and partner organizations. 3. Links to Strategic Planning The Committee will consider the
most recent strategic thinking and planning of the Board to determine which attributes, skills and
experience are most critical for upcoming recruitment. 4. Obligations of Existing Directors Directors will
comply with requests for profiles and profile updates so the Committee can identify strengths and gaps.
Directors will also participate actively in Board assessment activities to help the Board Chair and the
Governance Committee with early identification of performance issues. Directors will notify the Board
and Governance Committee Chairs at the earliest opportunity if they are unable to complete their term
or do not plan to run for another term even if eligible. 5. Starting the Annual Recruitment Process The
Committee will ensure the Director job description and the Director Application Form are up to date,
and will incorporate them into a candidate information package. The Committee will also review the
pool of previously identified Board candidates. The Committee will pay particular attention to the
attributes and skills needed if any officer position is expected to become vacant. The Committee will
also consider diversity, including but not limited to . The
Committee members will also review the applicable section of the bylaws and the Governance
Framework policy to remind themselves of any limitations, requirements and policy guidance. In
particular, the Committee will strive to have no more than directors from any one (e.g.,
geographic area, specialty). 6. Developing the Prospect List After all the above steps have been
completed, the Committee will review the pool of individuals who have expressed interest and consider
their qualifications. The Governance Committee will decide who else to approach, either as a candidate
or as a source of names of possible candidates. The Committee will also decide how to inform the
community that director applications are being accepted and the deadline for applications. Board
Succession Planning & Recruitment © Garthson Leadership Centre 2016 Page 2 of 2 7. Approaching
Prospects/Applicants Individuals who are selected for their potential, whether through their applications
or directly, will be approached by a Committee member or another Board member to ensure they
understand the nature of the work and the expectations, including time commitments. Prospects
approached directly will complete and sign an application in order to be considered for Board
recommendation. All prospects will have an opportunity to ask questions of at least one experienced
Board member. The discussion with prospects may be one-on-one or as a group. The Committee may
choose to share additional documents, invite the individuals to a Board meeting or take other action to
help them make an informed choice about whether to stand for election. Candidate Applications
Candidates will confirm their interest through completing an application and signing their commitment




to meeting the position requirements and to abide by the Code of Conduct including Conflict of Interest
provisions. The signed application must be received by the established deadline or the candidate is
ineligible. Preliminary Selection The Committee will develop a short list and conduct reference checks
before bringing a list to the Board for discussion In Camera. The Executive Director wil! be recused while
the Committee decides who to recommend to the Board for the next election. Candidates will be
advised if they will be recommended to members. Candidates not being recommended may still stand
for election. The Committee will decide what information to make available in advance to members
about the candidates, and will include such information for all candidates who choose to stand. A
deadline will be set for individuals to confirm their candidacy, so voters can receive advance information
about all candidates as part of their AGM material. In accordance with the bylaws, nominations will not
be allowed from the floor. 8. In-Year Appointments The Board may use the candidate pool to fill any in-
year vacancy, and such appointments will terminate at the AGM. In-year appointees from outside the
pool will complete and sign an application before their appointment takes effect. gh 9. Officer
Recruitment The Committee will determine which attributes, skills and experience are most critical for
the upcoming officer elections, especially if current officers will not be continuing in their role. It will
review the Officer Job Description, Board profiles and other relevant documents to determine which
internal candidates to consider. The Committee chair will meet with the Board chair to review the
situation. If there is no desirable internal candidate, the general recruitment will give priority to finding a
suitable candidate. This search will normally be for a Secretary or Treasurer, not a Chair or Chair-Elect as
those will come from existing directors. Committee Chairs The Committee will determine which
attributes, skills and experience are most critical for appointments to head continuing and new board
committees, especially if current chairs will not be continuing in their role. It will review the Committee
Chair Job Description, Board profiles and other relevant documents to determine which internal
candidates to consider. The Committee chair will meet with the Board chair to review the situation. If
there is no desirable internal candidate, the general recruitment will give priority to finding a suitable
candidate.
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INTRODUCTION

Community Literacy of Ontario (CLO) is delighted to present our resource guide on
effective board governance practices for nonprofit organizations. This guide has been
newly revised and updated as of June 2014.

The topic of board governance is timely as nonprofit organizations continue to be held
to high standards expected by clients, the community, government and corporate
funders and other stakeholders.

In an era where public trust of corporations is low, accountability to stakeholders is
particularly important.

Community Literacy of Ontario has designed this self-study resource guide to help
organizations further develop and strengthen their board governance practices. This
resource guide will examine effective governance in the areas of:

e Board roles and responsibilities
e Governance structures

e The board and risk management
e Board development

e Effective board meetings

e Evaluation

Embedded within each section are links to additional resources.

For the sake of simplicity, we have tried to use consistent language throughout the
guide. Individuals and organizations may use different terms so we have provided a
quick reference as follows:

Organization refers to the governing body (others may call it an agency, society,
program, etc.).

Non-profit refers to the incorporation status of the organization (others may call it
not-for-profit, non-governmental organization, etc.).

Board member refers to any individual who is part of the governing body (others may
call it a board director).

Executive Director refers to the senior management staff of the organization (others
may call it a Manager or CEO).



http://www.communityliteracyofontario.ca/

CHAPTER 1: BoARD ROLES AND
RESPONSIBILITIES

KEY ROLES OF THE BOARD

The board of directors of an incorporated, non-profit organization is legally responsible
for the governance of the organization. Within that mandate is the expectation that
the board will develop, implement and monitor policies that will allow the organization
to carry out its work. A board is elected by, and accountable to, its membership. While
a board may appoint staff and/or committees to carry out specific work related to its
policies, programs and services, the board is ultimately responsible for meeting
organizational outcomes.

There are limitless resources available that define key roles and responsibilities of
boards. While details vary from resource to resource, there are some broad-based
philosophies that are consistent.

Collectively, the board must:

Determine a governance model and ensure that appropriate organizational policies
and structures are in place

Participate in the development of a mission and strategic plan for the organization
Hire and ensure that an effective senior management team is in place (i.e.,
Executive Director)

Maintain effective partnerships and communication with the community, the
organization’s members and its stakeholders

Maintain fiscal responsibility, including raising income, managing income, and
approving and monitoring annual budgets

Ensure transparency in all communication to members, stakeholders and the public
Evaluate the organization’s work in relation to a strategic plan

Evaluate the work of the board of directors, ensuring continuous renewal of the
board, and plan for the succession and diversity of the board
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Individually, each board member must:

e Act in the best interests of the organization
e Understand the roles and responsibilities of being a board member

e Be familiar with the organization's bylaws, policies and procedures, strategic plan,
mission, etc.

e Ensure he/she avoids conflicts of interest including operating in the best interest of
the organization not in self-interest or the interest of a stakeholder group

e Respect confidentiality policies that pertain to membership and board discussions
e Keep informed about the organization’s financial activity and legal obligations

e Bring his/her own skills, experience and knowledge to the organization

e Attend board meetings regularly and arrive prepared for meetings

e Support board decisions once they have been voted on

Ideally, when joining a board (or perhaps before deciding to join) one should learn the:

e Governing structure the organization operates under
e Roles, responsibilities, and functions of the board within the governing structure
e Job description for board members

e Measurement and standard by which board members are evaluated

While the level and detail may vary from board to board, overall, effective board
members are continuously:

e Governing
e Leading

e Recruiting
e Supporting

e Planning
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Cyril Houle, a governance expert and author often cited in board governance
resources, defines the board's role and responsibilities based on three different
activities of organizations:

1.

2.

Governance: The board develops policies that give overall direction to the agency.

Management: The board takes actions and makes decisions to ensure that there
are sufficient and appropriate human and financial resources for the organization to
accomplish its work.

. Operations: These are the activities related to the delivery of services or programs

of the organization. (The degree to which this occurs depends on the board
governance structure.)

BOARD MEMBER JOB DESCRIPTIONS

Clearly written job descriptions help board members understand, and agree to, the role
they are expected to play in an organization. Job descriptions, which need to be
approved by the board, can also serve a purpose in evaluation and recruitment of
board members. One job description can be developed for general board members and
then specific descriptions can be developed for each executive officer member (Chair,
Vice-Chair, Treasurer and Secretary).

The Muttart Foundation provides an excellent and free online guide to developing board
member job descriptions:
www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/developing job description

s.pdf

Of course, sometimes, even when you detail the roles and responsibilities of board
members, it's no guarantee that all board members will follow those guidelines. What
do you do when board members are not following their job descriptions, or are not
following through on their responsibilities? Check out some good tips in an article called
Enforcing Board Member Responsibilities at this link:
www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/newsletter/summer 2010.pdf
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Below is a starting point for the type of information you will want to include in a board
member job description:

Position: What is the job title?
Authority: What authority does the position carry?

Responsibility: To whom is the position accountable? What are the broad areas of
responsibility?

Term: How are board members elected and for how long? How do board members
leave the board?

General Duties: What are the typical duties board members are responsible for?
Evaluation: How will board members’ effectiveness be assessed?

Qualifications and Skills: What specialized or practical skills are needed to do the
job?

Benefits: What benefits can a board member expect to receive?

Time Requirements: What is a realistic estimate of the time required as a board
member?

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Depending on the governance structure of the organization executive officers will vary.
Some examples of executive officer positions include:

Chairperson (or president): Chairs board meetings; responsible for conduct of board
meetings and of board members; sets and follows agendas; the spokesperson for the
organization to the public; often a signing authority on legal and financial documents.

Vice-chairperson (or vice-president): Fulfills duties of the chairperson in his/her
absence.

Secretary: Takes accurate minutes (or reviews minutes taken by staff) of board
meetings; keeper of board bylaws, policy statements and board correspondence;
maintains database and accurate contact information of current board of directors.
(Depending on the board’s governance structure, some or all of these functions may
also be assigned to staff with the secretary providing more of a support or oversight
role. All, many of these resources are often stored on Wikis or other forms of cloud
computing to ensure ease of access by all board members.)
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Treasurer: Accounts for and reports on the funds, budget and expenditures of the
organization; often a signing authority on financial documents.

Although not as common, some boards also have a past chairperson (or past
president) as an executive officer whose role may be to mentor and support the
current chairperson. Some boards may also decide to have a shared leadership model
with co-chairs taking turns chairing the meetings rather than having a chair and vice-
chairperson.

Executive officers may be elected and/or appointed by the board as a whole or by the
broader organizational membership. These positions may also be rotating positions
throughout the term of a board. When these positions exist, the board as a whole
needs to define the executives’ functions and decide on the amount of authority each
title brings with it.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND STAKEHOLDER REPRESENTATION

The number of board members required to be in place on an organization’s board is
specified in the organization’s constitution and bylaws. This number can be changed
with the approval of the board and the membership. Criteria around representation of
stakeholders and clients are also laid out in an organization’s constitution although in
some cases there may be guidelines imposed by a funder.

A general rule of thumb for non-profit organization board composition is a minimum of
five board members and ideally no more than 11. It is also recommended that a board
have an odd number of members so that ties when voting may always be broken.
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The Pros and Cons of Small and Large Boards

Source: The Non-Profit Board Development Workbook. Edmonton Social Planning Council

Small Board Large Board
Easier consensus on difficult or Increases chances for greater diversity on the
challenging issues board
Less or no need for committees Increases opportunities for greater

representation of the community or specific

Less or no need for executive members )
target groups of the community

or an ‘inner board’

Requires board to function together in all Easier to establish quorum at board meetings

decisions Opportunity for committees and for board
members to specialize or hone skills

When seeking out stakeholders and/or clients of the organization to hold designated
board positions it’s important to have specific job descriptions and roles clearly
identified. For example, is the person representing, speaking on behalf of, or voting on
behalf of a stakeholder agency or as an individual?

Boards may also choose to develop a policy in terms of client representation on a
board.

Before deciding whether clients or consumers will have a designated seat, boards
should ask:

1. What will the board and organization gain from their presence and perspective?

2. What challenges, if any, does their participation create for the board and
organization?

The answers to these questions will assist the board in making a decision and allowing
for supports if needed. For example, it would be very important to have the input of a
young person on a board that has a mission to serve youth, but it also may be
necessary to appoint another board member to be mentor and support to this young
person. To use another example, literacy organizations that have an adult with low
reading levels on their may need to provide help with reviewing agendas and minutes
prior to a meeting.
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BOARD-STAFF RELATIONS

One of the key responsibilities of board members is to hire a senior staff member to
ensure effective management is in place. In most cases in non-profit organizations that
means hiring the Executive Director (also may be known at the Chief Executive Officer,
Administrator, Manager, etc.). From there, the Executive Director (ED) hires other
staff.

The ED is the link between the board and other staff, and the board communicates its
directives or human resource policies to other staff through the ED. Board and
committee meetings are usually the place for the board and ED to communicate, share
information and decide on work related to the organization. The ED is usually
considered an ‘ex-officio” member of the board, meaning he/she attends board
meetings, participates in discussion, and receives and provides reports but has no
vote.

Whether a board is preparing to hire an ED or conduct a performance appraisal of a
current ED it’s important to clearly define the role, responsibilities and expectations of
both the board and the ED.

Depending on the governance structure of the organization the relationship between
the ED, other staff, the Chairperson of the board, and other board members will vary.
However, the board is responsible for ensuring:

e Development of the ED job description which includes areas of authority, a
summary of responsibilities and the communication and reporting protocols
between the board and the ED

e Interviewing, hiring and providing training opportunities for the ED

e Conducting evaluation and performance appraisals of the ED on a regular basis

Depending on the circumstances related to hiring, an outgoing ED or external expert
may also be called upon to play a role in this process. Either way, the board is
ultimately responsible for making the final decision.

The Hiring and Performance Appraisal of the Executive Director published by the
Muttart Foundation is an example of a workbook that provides a board with tools and
strategies for carrying out tasks such as developing job descriptions, developing a
search committee, pre-interview activities, advertising, making the job offer, and
templates for conducting evaluations and assessing the working relationship between
the board and ED.
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When boards and senior staff are supportive of each other it creates a strong team that
in turn enhances the strength of the organization. Both Marsha Roadhouse and Linda
Conley, former board members of Community Literacy of Ontario speak about the
importance of this support.

As noted by Linda, who is also the Executive Director of the Prince Edward Learning
Centre:

When they are working on things such as strategic planning or developing
policies and procedures I do the leg work and present them with
information and structures that they need to act effectively and efficiently.
I try not to bother them with too much detail about the day- to-day
operation of the centre, but organize myself so that the centre benefits
from the time and effort that they put into setting our direction,

BOARD MEMBER AGREEMENTS

Board members are often asked to sign agreements as part of their responsibility on
the board. These reflect the organization’s policies. A breach of an agreement is often
grounds for a board member’s termination. Examples of such agreements include:

Confidentiality and/or Privacy Agreement—Board member is asked to respect
the confidentiality of information gained as a result of serving on a board such as
client information, personnel, membership, finances, etc.

Conflict of Interest—Requires a board member to declare if he/she has a personal
interest in an area that is of interest to the organization. Being in a conflict position
does not automatically disqualify a board member, but not disclosing the conflict
can lead to a breach of the agreement.

Code of Conduct—Boards may develop codes of conduct that cover everything
from communication protocols, use of expense accounts, dress codes and language
used at board meetings. Generally, non-profit organizations with volunteer board
members are less formal on conduct rules; however, there may be overall rules and
expectations about respect for the organization and other members. Any such rules
are often included as part of a board member’s job description.
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e Competition—This applies more to individuals who in their working life may be
involved in the same line of business as the organization for which they are also a
board member. It protects the organization from people who may gain inside
information, or skills and experience, from serving on a board and then use that
knowledge and information to compete with the organization to offer services.

While it’s true that agreements may seem overly ‘formal’, especially when a board is
working well and there is strong communication and trust amongst members, when
boards aren’t working well this is often a time when it helps to have agreements to fall
back on. Sample templates for confidentiality and code of conduct agreements can be
found at The Institute on Governance: www.iog.ca/publications/sample policies.pdf.

CREATING A MISSION AND VISION

One of the board’s key responsibilities is to define the mission of the organization. The
mission, or purpose, is the reason the organization exists. The mission informs the
organization’s values, objectives, policies and procedures. The board, its committees,
its staff and its members work to achieve the mission while ensuring the organization
works with integrity, transparency, efficiency and accountability.

Vision is based on a future state the organization is working toward. For example,
Every adult will have access to free literacy services is a vision understood by everyone
in the organization and forms the basis for decision making. Mission is the way in
which the vision is realized. Organization ABC will provide free literacy services to
adults in the XYZ community is an example of a mission.

The United Way Canada’s Board Development resource suggests the following items to
consider when developing a mission statement:

e What is the organization’s vision of its future?
¢ What will distinguish the organization from similar organizations?
e How do the organization’s values relate to its vision?

e What results and/or benefits can the members or clients of the organization expect?

BOARD GOVERNANCE RESOURCE GUIDE 9
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CREATING A STRATEGIC PLAN

Strategic planning is a critical role for boards. It involves looking ahead, making
decisions and taking appropriate action to avoid pitfalls and bring about improvements
in an organization. This process results in a strategic plan for the organization that
often covers a 2 to 5 year period. Both the process and the plan provide direction and
goals for the organization but also have a direct impact on programs and services, the
number and role of committees, resources needed, governance and staff structures.

Two key points to remember about strategic planning is that the process is as
important as the plan and that the planning process is a continuous one. You can learn
more about strategic planning and follow a step-by-step process by visiting Community
Literacy of Ontario’s self-study training module on Strategic Planning:
http://literacybasics.ca/strategic-planning/

Community Literacy of Ontario has recently completed its own strategic plan; you can
view it at: www.communityliteracyofontario.ca/wp/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/CLOs-
strateqgic-plan-August-2012.pdf
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e ACTIVITY

»

Many boards decide to hold retreats, focus groups, or other professional development
events to help them define the roles and responsibilities of their boards and directors
and evaluate their performance. These events can also serve as a platform for further
governance development such as creating a mission statement, drafting job
descriptions and designing a strategic plan.

Recently, CLO’s Board of Directors held a board development focus group. The
questions put forth to our board were extremely effective in generating discussion.
They can be a template for a similar activity you may want to organize for your board.

Here are the questions we asked:

1. What do you see as your board’s job?

2. What do you see as not being a role of your board?

3. Name three key board responsibilities.

4. What does your board do well? Not so well?

5. How do you provide board orientation, training and ongoing support?

6. What are your strategies for board recruitment and succession planning?
7. How does board evaluation happen in your agency?

8. What tools and resources have helped your board be more effective?

9. What are your tips for effective board meetings?
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ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

1. Imagine Canada’s “Sector Source” contains a wealth of
free, practical resources related to board governance.
Don’t leave home without it!:
http://sectorsource.ca/managing-organization/board-

governance

2. Community Literacy of Ontario hosted two helpful podcasts on Board Roles and
Responsibilities. Just click on these links to access them: Part 1 and Part 2.

3. Online Modules to Help You and Your Board Clarify Roles and Responsibilities. The
Board Development Program, in partnership with Alberta Library Trustees
Association, has developed an online learning module to help new board members
and library trustees (and those looking for a refresher) to strengthen their
governance skills. This module has sound, text and graphics to guide you through
the content. The module can be found at
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/alta/index.html

4. Sample Governance Policies, by Mel Gill from The Institute on Governance, covers
board structures, board roles, committees and many other key topics. This
document can be found at www.iog.ca/publications/sample policies.pdf

5. Nathan Garber & Associates has a template for creating questionnaires to obtain
feedback about Executive Director performance from board members, partner
agencies, funders and employees. The template is available at
www.garberconsulting.com/360 degree questionnaire.pdf.

6. Enforcing Board Member Responsibilities, Non-profit risk management Centre
www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/newsletter/summer 2010.pdf
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CHAPTER 2: GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES

The Board of Directors represents the membership of the organization. The board sets
in place policies, procedures, values and long-term planning to meet the mission of the
organization. The board does this through a governance structure or model. The
structure a board decides to implement will dictate not only the policies of the
organization but also such things as the relationship between staff and the board, and
the role and use of committees.

While it is the board’s responsibility to determine the governance structure, activities of
the organization are carried out by board members, staff, and committees. There is no
single right structure for all non-profit organizations, and it may be necessary to
change models over time. What can often dictate how a board chooses to govern is the
experience of board members and staff, past experiences within an organization, how
the organization wants to deliver its programs and services, and how the board views
power and authority within the organization.

The activity provided at the end of this section takes boards through an exercise to
help them decide which governance structure is best suited to their organization.
However, there are three key questions to ask to help you decide upon a governance
model:

1. Which decisions does the board want to make and which does it want to delegate?

2. How much involvement does the board want to have in the operations of the
organization?

3. How will the reporting relationship between the board and the staff be defined and
communicated?
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DIFFERENT GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES

Governance structures can be put into two basic categories: policy boards and
administrative boards. Policy governing boards develop policy and hire an Executive
Director to implement the policy whereas administrative governing boards play a more
hands-on role in managing the organization with the support of committees and staff.

Within these two broad categories of governance, there are four common types of
board models:

1. Policy Board: Sometimes referred to as Management-Team Board, this model is
commonly used in non-profit organizations. Several committees help carry out the
activities of the organization, and the relationship between the board and staff is
one of a partnership.

2. Policy Governance Board: Sometimes referred to as a ‘Carver Board’ after
founder John Carver, this model has a more formal structure. The board operates
as a whole, using one voice and rarely works with committees. The Executive
Director is given a very clear scope and role as well as limits about what she/he can
undertake, and the main emphasis of the board is on policy development. For a
more complete definition of the Policy Governance Board Model, visit
WWW.carvergovernance.com/model.htm.

3. Working Board: Directors on this type of board play a more hands-on role with
some of the administrative functions of the organization such as public relations,
financial management, program planning and personnel. It’s not uncommon for
these boards to not have any staff.

4. Collective Board: Sometimes known as a cooperative or coalition, a Collective
Board also carries out many administrative functions of the organization. These
boards are comprised of like-minded people that support a specific goal. Staff and
directors operate together as a single entity. There is not usually an Executive
Director, and often there is no voting as everyone works within a consensus model.
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No particular structure fits every organization but, Building on Strength: Improving
Governance and Accountability in Canada’s Voluntary Sector states that organizations
governed by a board should have at least three basic elements:

e A board capable of providing objective oversight

¢ An independent nominating committee to ensure the appropriate succession of the
board

¢ An audit committee, whose primary responsibility is to report whether the
organization is in compliance with the laws, rules, regulations and contracts that
govern it

Nathan Garber, a renowned author of several books and articles on organizational
governance, provides insight into other, lesser known types of boards such as Patron
Boards and Advisory Boards. For more information on these types of boards and for
help in deciding whether an organization should change its current governance model
visit:
www.garberconsulting.com/governance%20models%20what%?27s%20right.htm.)

It is recommended that after selecting its governance structure, the board seeks
training to understand the model and the roles of the board within that model. Ongoing
training is also important as a refresher to board members and as orientation to new
members.

Using the framework of the four detailed types of boards outlined above, the United
Way Board Development Resource Guide provides an overview of the different
functions carried out by each type of board.

Areas of Policy Board Policy Working/ Collective
Responsibility Governance Board Administrative
Board
Creates vision, Creates vision Board and staff Shared
mission Set licies f create plan and responsibility -
Vision - €ts policies Tor implement it among the
o Planning ends, i.e., desired

P|ann|ng & . .. Board and Staff
Committee draws results Sets policies and -

Evaluation up plan to be general direction for setting

Limits means, i.e., policy

approved by Board procedures and

Sets policies and practices
ensures
procedures are in
place
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Areas of
Responsibility

Policy Board

Policy
Governance Board

Working/
Administrative
Board

Collective

Volunteer Sets limits on Financial decision- | Board and staff

Treasurer CEOQ'’s financial making largely in work on
Finances Fi C itt decisions Board’s hands financial

inance Committee Ny ey ¢ matters as a

Board reviews rore fikely to team

financial include fundraising

statements (than other

models)

May or may not be

involved in

fundraising

ED reports to Chair | ED = CEO May not have Staff,

Communications Board speaks with senior staff person manage.m_ent

Human bet Chair and ice to CEO: Board b and chairing

Resources etween Chair an one voice to ; oard members functions often

ED

CEO responsible to
full Board

often act as direct
service volunteers

shared

Little or no
management
hierarchy
Extensive No/limited Committees Operational
committee committee support functions
Organization | structure structure; operational shared

al Operations

supported by staff
to perform the
work of the Board

Board receives
reports

Decisions made by
voting

committees are
only used as
needed and are
often charged with
topics related to
policy as opposed
to operations

Broad discussion
leads to decisions
by consensus

Individual officer
roles minimized

CEO attends to all
operations

responsibilities

Heavier Board
member workload

Decisions by
consensus

Community
Relations

Marketing
Committee
develops
awareness of
agency in
community

Interprets and
reflects community
needs to the
organization

Defines results
that the
organization is
trying to achieve in
the community

Staff and Board
represent the
agency to the
community

All members
represent the
agency to the
community
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ROLE OF COMMITTEES

The number and type of committees an organization has is often related to the
governance structure it operates under. A policy-governance model tends to carry out
work as a whole and has very few committees. Other types of boards may have several
committees charged with carrying out the work of the organization.

There are generally three types of committees within an organization—standing, ad hoc
and advisory.

Standing committees have specific areas of concern that they monitor, report on and
provide advice about to the board on an ongoing basis. Examples of standing
committees are:

e Executive Committee

e Personnel Committee

e Finance Committee

¢ Nominating Committee
e Fundraising Committee

A recent trend in some non-profit organizations is having a Governance Committee.
Sometimes this encompasses or replaces the Nominating Committee and its duties
including reviewing bylaws, planning board development, and monitoring the board’s
governance structure.

Standing committees are more common within boards with an administrative/policy
model and usually include one or more board members on the committee, along with
staff support. While policy-governance boards rarely have standing committees, they
often still have a nominating committee responsible for recruiting new board members.

Ad hoc committees are formed by boards for time-limited, specific purposes. When the
purpose or goal of the committee has been accomplished, the committee disbands.
One example would be a committee struck to organize a conference or fundraising
event.

Similar to ad hoc committees, advisory committees are often put in place to deal with
specific, time-limited issues. They may be charged with researching, investigating or
monitoring an issue and then providing informed advice to the board. Advisory
committees may be established to bring together experts who can provide particular
advice on specific matters of interest to the Executive Director or board.
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Boards sometimes make the mistake of establishing committees that may not be
needed or keeping committees going after they have outlived their need. Before
establishing an ad hoc committee a board should determine whether the work may be
better done by the board as a whole, by staff or by an individual board member.
Similarly, boards should evaluate the work of standing committees on a regular basis
to ensure the committee still has a purpose and is working effectively.

In order to function effectively, committees need:

e A clear role and purpose

e Terms of reference

e A chairperson

e An appropriate number of members suited to the role of the committee
¢ A mechanism to report back to the board

e A way to evaluate their work

ONTARIO’S NEW NOT-FOR-PROFIT CORPORATIONS ACT

The Province of Ontario is developing new legislation called the Not-for-Profit
Corporations Act (or ONCA). Will this legislation is not yet in force, it will impact the
bylaws and membership structures of many Ontario non-profits.

Here are three excellent sources of information on ONCA:

e The Ministry of Government and Consumer Services:
WWW.Sse.gov.on.ca/mcs/en/Pages/oncal.aspx

e The Ontario Non Profit Network: http://theonn.ca/understanding-onca/

e Community Legal Education Ontario: http://nonprofitlaw.cleo.on.ca/
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ByLAwsS

Every organization should have its own bylaws. An organization that is not
incorporated may refer to its governing documents as a constitution rather than
bylaws. A constitution provides an overview of the organization’s purpose, mission and
objectives. It often provides the framework for the Letters Patent required when an
organization applies for incorporation status.

An incorporated organization must have bylaws that comply with the requirements of
incorporation legislation. The bylaws are literally the laws that enable organizations to
carry out their activities effectively and efficiently. Boards that do not review their
bylaws may sometimes find themselves working against them, therefore putting the
organization at risk. Bylaws can only be amended by a board of directors, and changes
must be approved by the general membership (however this is defined).

It is often difficult to find samples and templates for developing bylaws as they are
unique to each individual organization. Good sources of templates are from other like-
minded non-profit organizations.

The standard framework for bylaws however, is fairly generic and should include:

e The organization’s purpose

e A description of the membership

e A description of the board composition and governance structure

e Location of head office

e Terms of office for board members

¢ Number of meetings held by the board, including Annual General Meetings
e Special meetings and in-camera meetings

e The number and a brief description of any standing committees and the process for
appointing a committee chairperson

e Description, title and responsibilities of Executive Directors (if applicable)
e The election and voting process

e Details about quorum

e Filling board vacancies

¢ Removal of directors

e Senior staff positions
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¢ Making amendments to bylaws

e Required reports and legal filings

e Charitable status

e Details about fiscal year

e Bank accounts, financial obligations, funders
e Conflict of interest

¢ Indemnification

e Disbanding the organization and disbursement of funds and capital assets

The Muttart Foundation has an excellent resource on drafting and revising bylaws:
www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/drafting revising.pdf

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Policies and procedures in essence are the instructions for how an organization and its
board and staff adhere to its governance structure, governing documents and
regulations. The policy tells an organization what to do, and the procedure tells how to
do it. Each policy should have a procedure, and together these documents will direct
board and staff on making decisions and working within certain limitations.

The first step, and often the hard work, is in the development of policies and
procedures. Fortunately, once a template is established it's easier to develop new
policies as they arise. The governance model of an organization will dictate how the
development of policies and procedures unfolds, but often the development of policies
falls to the board and the development of procedures to the Executive Director.

It is the board’s responsibility to develop, monitor and amend policies as well as to
ensure that decisions are made and actions are taken that comply with policies and
follow proper procedures. Regular review and revision of policies is good practice and is
often conducted by a committee for board discussion and approval.

Community Literacy of Ontario has developed two comprehensive guides to developing
policies and procedures. They are available under the “Publications” section of our
website: www.communityliteracyofontario.ca/resources/publications/

As well, the Institute of Community Directors of Australia created a free online “Policy
Bank”: www.communitydirectors.com.au/icda/policybank/
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INCORPORATION AND CHARITABLE STATUS

A non-profit organization carries out activities that benefit the community and has
individual members who do not gain a profit from the work of the organization. Some
boards maybe confused by the term ‘non-profit’, thinking this means the organization
cannot make money nor have surpluses or reserve funds at the end of the fiscal year.
As long as the surplus or reserve is used to carry out the programs and services of the
organization and not for the personal gain of members or staff, it is acceptable (and
actually encouraged) for a non-profit organization to have a ‘profit’. (Source: Duties
and Responsibilities of Directors of Non-Profit Organizations. Canadian Society of
Association Executives). It is not mandatory for a non-profit organization to become
incorporated or to apply to be a registered charity. These are separate and distinct
processes that create certain benefits and responsibilities for organizations that choose
to do so.

INCORPORATION

Incorporation is the process of creating a legal entity that has an independent
existence, separate and distinct from that of its members. Members sitting on a board
of an unincorporated organization are considered the ‘owners’ of the organization and
are therefore liable for the assets, funds and debts of the organization. For more
information see the section about Boards and Risk Management.

An organization must be incorporated to be eligible to receive government funding. For
example, many government agencies require that any organization that they fund
must be incorporated. Most foundations also require organizations seeking funding to
be registered charities.

An incorporated organization is required to file regular reports and comply with specific
regulations or risk losing its corporation status. Be sure to check the specific
regulations for incorporated and charitable organizations in your province or state.

Most organizations in Canada can apply for corporation status through the appropriate
ministry of their provincial government. Some organizations, depending on their
mission, are required to apply for federal incorporation.

The Not-for-Profit Incorporator’s Handbook, which is available at no charge from the
Ministry of the Attorney General, will guide you through this process.
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CHARITABLE STATUS

In order to issue a receipt for donations suitable for income tax purposes, an
organization must be a registered charity. Most foundations require organizations
seeking funding to be registered charities.

The Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) has information and forms related to becoming a
registered federal charity under the “Charities” section of its website. Again, there are
reporting and compliance procedures required for charities, but many organizations see
the advantage in being able to accept charitable donations. A charity can provide
donors with an income tax receipt, often an incentive for donors. It's not mandatory
that an organization be incorporated before becoming a charity, but it does often make
the process easier.

The CRA website provides sample ‘purposes’, or objects, suitable for organizations to
include as part of their governance documents, which are needed when applying to
become a registered charity. Visit the site to learn more about becoming a federal
charity and to view sample objects.
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witthe ACTIVITY

»

Nathan Garber & Associates has developed a helpful process to help you identify where
you agree and disagree on the areas of authority of the board and Executive Director.
It starts by listing a number of activities that must be undertaken in a successful
organization. Add any activities that are specific to your organization; then use the
activities to guide discussion and clarify your expectations of the board/ED relationship.
The result will be the basis for a governance structure tailored to your own
organization.

At a board meeting:

1. Hand out the list of major organizational activities undertaken by your
organization to all board members and the ED.

2. Allow about 15 minutes for each person to mark in which column the decision or
activity belongs.

3. Compile the answers on a master sheet, showing how many responses were put
in each column.

4. Review the distribution of answers, noting the items on which:

a) there is consensus
b) there is a diversity of opinion
c) the consensus of the board is different from the response of the ED

5. Discuss the items in categories b and c until you reach an agreement among the
board and between the board and Executive Director.
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A B C D E F G
ED Collab-
Eli))nm:xnact EaDctn?)?]y respon- Sole board orative.
Not : own. Must sibility but respon- ED or Other or
required to inf.orm must sibility. board may To Be
?nform board obtain Board initiate. Negotiated
board ASAP board initiates. Work is
i ) approval. shared.
1 Define and write vision,
mission and values
statements
2 Set long term goals &
objectives (3-5 years)
3 | Set medium term goals &
objectives (2-3 years)
4 Set annual (1 year) goals &
objectives
5 Determine what programs &
services to provide
6 Evaluate programs &
services
7 Apply for foundation &
government grants
8 Organize fundraising events
9 Donor development
10 | Other fundraising activities
11 | Set financial procedures &
controls
12 | Prepare annual budget
13 | Monitor income & expenses
14 | Spend within budget
15 | Sign cheques
16 | Manage investments
17 | Set personnel policies
18 | Recruit, hire and set
compensation for employees
19 | Accept & use the services of
volunteers and reimburse
expenses
20 | Discharge staff & volunteers
21 | Assign work to employees
(other than ED)
22 | Supervise employees &
volunteers
23 | Settle grievances among

staff
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A B C D E F G
ED Collab-
Eli))nm:xnact EaDctn?)?]y respon- Sole board orative.
Not : own. Must sibility but respon- ED or Other or
X - must sibility. board may To Be
re?:#gfr?]to |Q(f)<;rrrg obtain Board initiate. Negotiated
board. ASAP. board initiates. Work is
approval. shared.
24 | Communicate with auditor
25 | Settle complaints from
clients/ stakeholders
26 | Speak to media on behalf of
organization
27 | Serve on interagency
committees
28 | Plan the Annual General
Meeting
29 | Allocate funds for
conferences & professional
development
30 | Recruit board members
31 | Plan & deliver board
orientation program
32 | Evaluate board & board
member performance
33 | Set agendas for board
meetings
34 | Take minutes at board
meetings
35 | Engage expert advisors or
consultants within budgeted
amounts
36 | Ensure that organization
operations & budgets are
aligned with plans
37 | Determine methods,
procedures for delivery of
programs
38 | Ensure board complies with
bylaws
39 | Write/update bylaws
40 | Negotiate & enter into
contracts
41 | Ensure that board policies
are up to date & followed
42 | Establish & manage a
system for periodic review of
policy
43 | Advocate with government

for greater priority to agency
issues
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ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

1. Seven Pillars of Democratic Governance by Mel Gill.
Synergy Associates. Charity Village, July 2009.

https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=seven pillars of democratic gov
ernance

2. Policy Governance.com: The Authoritative Website for the
Carver Policy Governance® Model. www.carvergovernance.com/pg-np.htm

3. Governance Check-Up help sheet from Nathan Garber & Associates to help
organizations assess whether their current governance model is working well.
www.garberconsulting.com/governance checkupl.htm

4. Grassroots Governance: Governance in the Nonprofit Sector by Certified General
Accountants: www.cga-
ontario.org/assets/file/publication grassroots governance.pdf

5. Colouring Outside the Box: One Size Does Not Fit All in Nonprofit Governance by
the Management Assistance Program: www.mapfornonprofits.org/wp-
content/uploads/2013/10/Coloring-Outside-the-Box-One-Size-Does-Not-Fit-All-
In-Nonprofit-Governance.pdf

6. Management Assistance Program for Nonprofits has created a free toolkit to help
boards assess their organizational culture. This toolkit is called “Ten Dimensions
that Shape Your Board”.
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CHAPTER 3: THE BOARD AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

Along with roles and responsibilities of boards come risks and liabilities. Whether an
organization is governed by a hands-on working board or a policy-driven board, board
members need to be aware of the legal duties that come with their positions. Directors
of non-profit incorporated boards are not usually paid for their work, but that doesn’t
absolve them from being liable for the decisions and actions they make.

Some of the items covered in previous sections, such as having clear job descriptions,
may help board members stay informed of their responsibilities, but the onus is on the
individual to be knowledgeable about risk management. Many volunteers mistakenly
believe that if the organization is incorporated they are automatically protected from
liabilities, but that is not the case. The governing laws of incorporation do go a long
way in protecting boards and board members, but there are duties that fall to the
individual.

Board members may also assume that they do not have to assume any liability or
manage risk if there are paid staff within the organization that execute the day-to-day
operations of the organization. True risk management is the result of teamwork
between an agency’s board members and its staff. For more information on boards,
through a strong focus on governance, can work with staff to manage organizational
risk, refer to What's the Board Got to Do With it? The Vital Link Between Good
Governance And Risk Management from Nonprofit Risk Management Center:
www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/articles/board091004.shtml

The language and terms used in risk management and liability policies can be
confusing and often mired in ‘legalese’. It is therefore recommended that individuals
seek out advice, and possibly counsel, if they are unsure of their personal liabilities or
the liabilities of the organization as a whole. Volunteer Lawyers Service was launched
in 1994 through the efforts of Toronto lawyer Ronald Manes in cooperation with
agencies such as the United Way of Greater Toronto, the Ontario Bar Association and
many other supporters and contributors. Over 600 volunteer lawyers provide legal
services to more than 700 community agencies, specializing in areas of business law
important to non-profit and charitable organizations.

The information provided in this section is not meant to discourage or intimidate
individuals from getting involved in non-profit organizations, but rather to assist them
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in being informed. In the end, using common sense and being honest, knowledgeable
and cautious will go a long way toward avoiding risk and liability. The information
provided in this section is not legal advice. Any questions or concerns should be
discussed with a legal professional.

Both Volunteer Canada and the Canadian Society of Association Executives have
published clear-language pamphlets outlining details about risk management, duties
and liabilities for directors of non-profit organizations. Briefly, the basic duties of
directors are:

The duty of diligence (also referred to as fiduciary duty) — to act in good faith
and in the best interest of the organization through such actions as:

e Staying informed by reading minutes, agendas and support material
e Attending meetings regularly and voting on issues brought before the board

e Being knowledgeable about the policies and operations of the organization

The duty of loyalty—to place the interest of the organization first through such
actions as:

e Avoiding and/or declaring conflicts of interest
¢ Representing the organization in a positive manner

e Respecting confidentiality

The duty of management—to act and make decisions in line with the governing
policies and bylaws of the organization through such actions as:

e Understanding the scope of authority for staff and directors

e Regularly reviewing bylaws and policies

e Ensuring legal requirements related to governance, incorporation, etc. are met
¢ Ensuring meetings are held and documented with minutes

e Understanding the requirements of laws and standards related to the clients the
organization serves
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A board member who does not comply with these duties may be held liable for the
outcomes and results that occur. Members can be found liable if the actions and/or
decisions that they make (or don’t make) result in:

A law being broken
A contract being breached

Injuries or damage (could be physical, environmental, emotional, etc.)

More information about legal duties can be found in Volunteers and the Law: A guide
for volunteers, organizations and boards.

Board members of Ontario’s Literacy and Basic Skills Agencies can stay aware of the
latest contractual developments required by the Government of Ontario via the
Employment Ontario Partners Gateway website at: www.tcu.gov.on.ca/eng/eopdg/.

INDEMNIFICATION

Indemnification is one of those legal terms related to risk management that is
necessary but cumbersome. Even trying to understand its meaning can lead to
confusion as directors with little board experience may again assume that if they are
indemnified they are wholly protected. Incorporated organizations are required by law
to indemnify directors which means that if the organization is sued, fined or charged
with any legal costs the organization will reimburse the legal fees and/or any financial
settlements incurred by the board member.

However, indemnification is only as good as the organization’s ability to cover those
financial costs, and members still have to prove that they conducted business and
made decisions with due diligence. It should be noted that while indemnification
doesn’t unequivocally protect a board member, it substantially lessons the risks as
compared to those who are part of an unincorporated board. Unincorporated boards
are not required by law to provide indemnification; therefore a director on such a board
facing any legal costs would be personally responsible for those costs.

BOARD GOVERNANCE RESOURCE GUIDE 29



http://volweb.ca/volweb/public_files/Volunteers_Law.pdf
http://volweb.ca/volweb/public_files/Volunteers_Law.pdf
http://www.tcu.gov.on.ca/eng/eopg/

INSURANCE

Liability insurance for boards is known as Director’s and Officer’s (D & O) Insurance.
This insurance covers the legal costs that an organization is responsible for if liabilities
have occurred. While the Canada Corporations Act does not state that boards and their
members must have insurance, some funders require it before granting money to
organizations, and some organizations have this written into their bylaws and policies
as a requirement.

In organizations where D & O insurance is not purchased, individual members may
want to look into purchasing it for themselves. The amount of coverage on a policy and
the cost of premiums may vary depending on the activity of the organization, but it is
generally recommended that organizations be covered for no less than $2 million.

The cost of D & O insurance can sometimes be a financial burden to organizations. It is
a cost, however, that should be a priority, and organizations are encouraged to shop
around for quotes and even look into becoming members of affiliations or provincial
organizations that offer insurance as one of its benefits. A document called Directors’
and Officers’ Liability Insurance: An Overview provides further insight into the issue of
insurance.

BOARD GOVERNANCE RESOURCE GUIDE 30



http://laws.justice.gc.ca/en/C-1.8/index.html
http://www.cwilson.com/pubs/insurance/alb1/
http://www.cwilson.com/pubs/insurance/alb1/

FINANCIAL AND HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

The issue of risk management is complicated and reaches beyond the scope of
governance and this document, but there are some key areas that directors will want
to be informed about pertaining to risk management and financial and human resource
management.

In relation to human resource management, board members should be knowledgeable
about:

¢ Employment insurance and income tax laws and payroll related standards and
regulations

e Workplace safety and liability
e Workplace hazardous waste and material handling (if applicable)
e Consultant and non-employee regulations

¢ Employment legislation and standards

With regards to financial management, directors should ensure:

e Auditors are appointed annually and audit reports are reviewed thoroughly

e Finance committees are in place and financial reports are provided and reviewed
regularly

e Safeguards are in place for financial resources, including banking and back-ups of
financial reporting documents

e Policies are in place and monitored that are related, but not limited to, investing,
use of credit cards, signing authorities and fundraising

e They are knowledgeable about revenues and costs of the organization

Board members also have fiduciary responsibility, meaning that they must exercise a
high standard of care in managing the organization. To further prepare board members
for their fiduciary responsibilities, refer to 20 Questions Directors of Not-for-Profit
Organizations Should Ask about Fiduciary Duty as produced by the Chartered
Accountants of Canada.
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Hithe ACTIVITY

»

The Canadian Society of Association Executives provides a risk assessment checklist for
boards in its resource Duties & Responsibilities of Directors of Non-Profit Corporations.
It cautions that it's not an exhaustive list or the ultimate shield from liability but can be
a good step towards reducing risk.

The list has been adapted and included below as an activity to assess your position in
terms of risk management within your organization:

Do you know your organization’s mandate, mission, vision and objectives, operation
policies and bylaws?

Do you always act objectively and in the best interest of the organization?

Do you prepare for all board meetings and all committee meetings by reviewing all
agenda material and reports?

Do you attend and participate in all board meetings and committee meetings for
which you are a member?

Do you keep careful notes at meetings and review the minutes of all meetings?

Do you insist upon the establishment and regular review of operating policies and
monitor staff adherence to them?

Do you obtain outside expert advice whenever necessary?
Do you disclose all personal dealings and/or conflict of interest as early as practical?

Do you ensure that official minutes record all disclosures by directors of conflict of
interest as well as any dissent to motions and abstention from voting?

Do you ensure that there are effective internal systems and policies in place in all
areas of organizational activity, particularly finance and human resources?

Do you avoid possible conflict of interest situations?

Do you ensure that the organization maintains a proper financial record-keeping
system?

Does the organization undergo an annual financial audit?
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ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

1. Non-profit Cost Analysis is a toolkit designed specifically to
help guide non-profit leaders through a six-step cost-
analysis process and offers blank financial templates and
concrete examples. www.bridgespan.org/nonprofit-cost-
analysis-toolkit-introduction.aspx

2. The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(www.rmgb.ca/publications/index.aspx) has produced a series of reports for
board directors that poses 20 Questions’ every board director should ask on
several subjects, including those related to risk and liability such as:

20 Questions Directors Should Ask about Codes of Conduct
20 Questions Directors Should Ask about Executive Compensation
20 Questions Directors Should Ask about Internal Audit
20 Questions Directors Should Ask about IT
20 Questions Directors Should Ask about Privacy
20 Questions Directors Should Ask about Risk
3. 5 Good ideas for Risk Management for Not-for-Profit Organizations and Charities
http://maytree.com/fgi/risk-management.html

4. Going Up? Elevator Talk, Risk Management and the Nonprofit Board (newsletter
- Volume 19, No. 1, Winter 2010) Nonprofit Risk Management Center
www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/newsletter/0110.pdf

5. 20 Questions Directors of Not-for-Profit Organizations Should Ask about
Fiduciary Duty_www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-
risk/not-for-profit-director-series/20-questions-series/item12325.pdf

6. 20 Questions Directors of Not-for-profit Organizations Should Ask about Risk
www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-
profit-director-series/20-questions-series/item12324.pdf
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7. Community Literacy of Ontario’s CAPACITY PLUS: Organizational Capacity
Resource Guide for Ontario’s Community Literacy Agencies
www.communityliteracyofontario.ca/wp/wp-
content/uploads/2013/08/capacity plus book 02.pdf

8. Community Literacy of Ontario’s Reducing Risk/Protecting People: An Annotated
Guide to Risk Management Resources
www.communityliteracyofontario.ca/wp/wp-
content/uploads/2013/08/reducing risk annotated guide.pdf

9. What's the Board Got to Do With it? The Vital Link Between Good Governance
And Risk Management, Non-Profit Risk Management Centre, Melanie Lockwood
Herman: www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/articles/board091004.shtml

10.Some helpful checklists are available here from the Community Sector Council:
http://communitysector.nl.ca/node/54952
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CHAPTER 4: BOARD DEVELOPMENT

Board development is a cycle that includes:

e Recruiting board members

¢ Holding elections

e Providing ongoing support and recognition
e Providing board orientation and training

e Succession planning

RECRUITMENT

Recruitment is a key part of the organizational development cycle. Recruiting is not
just about how, but who and what—who do you want on your board and what skills
and qualities are you seeking to help govern your organization. Recruitment should be
an ongoing process for boards so that ideally when it’s time to select new members
organizations have a pool of skilled, appropriate and diverse individuals to draw from.

While some organizations have recruiting protocols similar to hiring paid staff such as
advertising and interviewing, others keep the process more informal. Regardless of the
approach, boards at a minimum should:

e Assess their needs in terms of skills, experience and diversity
e Have clear board job descriptions

¢ Have an application and screening process

Some boards have specific requirements in terms of representation. For example, CLO
has a regional board structure where board members must come from all the diverse
regions of the province. Other non-profit organizations may have bylaws that specify
representation based on gender, culture, geography and/or age. Boards may also have
designated seats for clients. During the recruiting process, boards need to ensure that
any designated positions or representatives are covered. Regardless of what interests
and organizations your board members represent, they are expected to act in the best
interests of your organization.
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Other attributes boards look for when recruiting are related to skills. For example, a
board may want to have someone experienced in finance and accounting or public
relations and marketing. Professional, such as accountants and lawyers who hold
volunteer positions on a board can be valuable because of the expertise they bring, but
it's important not to treat this as free access to services and advice.

When recruiting members, boards will also want to take into consideration personal
characteristics. These characteristics are often listed in the job description and can
include:

e Dedication

e Ability to make a time commitment
e Good judgment

e Strong communication skills

e Compassion and respect for others
¢ Willingness to learn

e Ability to work well with others

e A sense of wider community and passion for the mission of the organization

Past experience on other non-profit boards can also be an asset. Once you know what
you need on the board, compare that to what you currently have and what you expect
to have in the near future. Recruitment efforts should then focus on the gaps.

In the end, a substantial board that is comprised of talented, forward-thinking and
connected individuals can give your organization the profile it needs to get things done.
In the words of one of our own board members, find the best people you can and ask
them to “give everything they’ve got to your organization.”

A board composition analysis tool related to recruitment can be found in the Muttart
Foundation’s Board Building: Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members for
Not-for-Profit Organizations. It lists general criteria (i.e., being a willing team
member), specific criteria (i.e., fundraising skills) and a desired community balance
(i.e., contributing to the urban/rural mix). It provides a chart to make notes and track
criteria met by current board members and criteria required from new board members.
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Ideas for recruiting potential board members include outreach to:

Be sure use your social media accounts to recruit board members. Post that you are

The broader membership of the organization

Friends, family and associates of current board members

Stakeholder organizations affiliated with the organization’s target client base
The business and corporate community

Other volunteer organizations and service clubs

Faith-based organizations

Educational organizations and institutions

Volunteer centres and online volunteer database organizations

The community at large during special events, fundraising activities, etc.

seeking board members, share stories of agency successes and board member

achievements, and follow the social media accounts of people and organizations that

you would like to have on your board.

Some organizations hold open houses where they provide information about what the

organization is about and how people can get involved. Having a package of materials

(both in print form and on your website) to distribute to prospective board members

(and also ready for those who may contact you looking to get involved!) can help with
recruitment efforts. It can include items such as a:

Links to your organization’s website and social media accounts

Board member job description

Brochure, pamphlet, or links to online information about the organization
Information about board time commitment, meetings, committees

Copy of the most recent annual report

Copy of recent newsletter or e-communique of the organization

Links to your website and social media accounts

Orientation and development opportunities

List of other board members

Board member application form

BOARD GOVERNANCE RESOURCE GUIDE

37




Potential board members can be invited to visit the organization, attend an event or
attend an upcoming board meeting. Be sure to encourage them to follow your social
media accounts to learn more about the great work that you do. They should then
complete an application form. Organizations that do not have an application form can
find a template available at: http://garberconsulting.com/board application form.htm.

If the potential members appear to be a good match for the organization, the next
steps in the selection process, which usually includes nomination and election, should
be explained. Boards need to keep in mind that people who say no now may say yes in
the future so they should continue to keep connected with potential board members
who are a good match for the organization and consider having them join a committee
or help out at a special event.

ELECTIONS

The role of selecting new board members usually falls to the nominating committee of
the board. Even in policy-governance structured organizations with few or no
committees, a nominating committee often exists. Some boards have replaced a
nominating committee with a governance committee. In both situations, the work
focuses on identifying gaps and recruiting skilled individuals.

Nominating committees should work throughout the year, not just as board vacancies
and Annual General Meetings approach. The committee is responsible for identifying
potential candidates to fill vacancies and any gaps identified. Ideally, more candidates
are recruited than there are positions available so that an election, rather than
acclamation, occurs. In this instance it's important that candidates are aware of the
nominating and election process and that just because they have been recruited
doesn’t mean they will automatically be elected or appointed to the board.

The nominating committee usually prepares a slate of candidates that is presented to
members at an Annual General Meeting for voting. Members cast their votes for the
candidate(s) of their choice, and the board is formed. This process is always the
responsibility of the membership, the board and the nominating committee although
staff may be asked to play a supporting role. The nominating and election process can
sometimes be an awkward one for non-profit organizations, especially if no one is
experienced or familiar with the procedures. Herb Perry’s Call to Order: Meeting Rules
and Procedures for Non-Profit Organizations provides a user-friendly overview of
election rules and voting methods.
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SUPPORT AND RECOGNITION

Once a board has recruited and selected board members it will want to keep them!
Building in support and recognition will make members feel valued and loyal to the
organization. Volunteer websites and organizations have countless ideas for
recognition. One example is CLO’s online training module on volunteer recognition,
available at: http://literacybasics.ca/volunteer-management/volunteer-recognition/.

Social media provides an excellent way to recognize your board. Share out stories and
pictures of board successes (with permission of course), and highlight the great work
of the board.

AGMs are often a good time to publically recognize the work of board members
through a gift, a certificate or a thank you note. Throughout the year board members
can be recognized and supported through training opportunities which show the person
their contribution is valuable and worth the time and money associated with training
and professional development.

Board mentorship is another way to support new members and to show how the skills
and knowledge of existing members are valued. Mentoring is in addition to, and a
complement to, the governance training and orientation provided to members.

The Maytree Foundation has produced a Board Mentoring Handbook that can be
downloaded at no charge. This handbook talks about activities, benefits and steps to
mentoring. It offers a semi-structured program that involves a one-on-one mentoring
relationship between a new board member and a more experienced board member that
takes place face-to-face, over the phone and online for a total of nine hours over a six-
month period.

The Maytree handbook lists some of the benefits to new board members such as:

¢ Having a more immediate connection to the organization

e Being better able to contribute more effectively to the governance of the
organization

e Seeing the big picture better and therefore be better able to make informed
decisions
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For the mentor, benefits of a mentorship program include:
¢ New insights
e New, fresh perspectives

e Leadership and skill building opportunities

For the organization as a whole, mentorship programs:

e Provide a more cohesive board
e Minimize the risk of errors in judgment by new board members

e Allow for succession planning

Being a mentor may be an ideal role for a long-term or former board member who has
lots of historical information about the organization but who is no longer able to serve
as a director.

ORIENTATION

Orientation occurs when a new member joins a board, and training occurs throughout
the term of the board. Both are important for sustaining members’ interest and
contributing to a healthy organization.

Orientation may take the form of a meeting or workshop complemented by a manual
or guidebook. Whatever the format, it is more than just reviewing the organization’s
policies. It includes discussion about the values and mission of the organization, details
about governance and bylaws, information about committees, and getting familiar with
the organization’s office and staff.

Each board member should be given his or her own copy of a board member
orientation manual. As well, the manual could be posted online for easy access. It
could also be the basis for an informal orientation process. Ideally, orientation should
occur prior to a member’s first meeting, but realistically this often occurs at some point
during the first few months of a new term. It may be led by staff or senior board
members and can be beneficial to returning members as well.
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An orientation manual will contain a variety of resources but should at a minimum
contain:

The organization’s mission statement

A history of the organization

A description of the board’s governance structure and operations

Meeting dates and format

Links to the organization’s social media accounts

Board member job descriptions

Bylaws

Policies and procedures, especially related to board meetings and directors
The most recent copy of the organization’s strategic plan

The most recent copy of the organization’s budget and other financial information
such as core funders

A list and description of the board’s committees and their terms of reference
Information about membership
Minutes of recent meetings and the last AGM

Contact information for each director and staff (including any personal social media
accounts, if desired)

Forms related to board members such as expense forms

If it seems overwhelming to print and bind all this information, boards should consider
loading the documents onto a CD or memory stick or posting documents on an
organizational website or wiki. Once the main orientation has been completed, a
personal check-in with new members should occur three to six months later to see if
further support is needed. As well, hosting a special "meet and greet” session for new
board members, and/or a social event, go a long way to breaking the ice and making
new board members feel included from the start.
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TRAINING

Boards should think outside the box when it comes to training. Retreats, online
courses, podcasts, online training and attending conferences are alternatives to tried
and true workshops and guest speakers.

Elizabeth DeBergh, CLO board member and the Executive Director of the Wellington
County Learning Centre in Arthur, Ontario, believes strongly in social activities and
interaction with her board as a form of orientation and team building. Ideas she
suggests include:

e Taking the board to tour a company or business in the area

e Taking a historical tour of the region it serves

e Having a BBQ and inviting board members to bring their family and/or friends
e Making a float for board members to join a holiday parade

e Planning golfing days and/or a tournament

¢ Holding a book exchange amongst board members

e Inviting board members’ families to the Annual General Meeting or other
organizational events

e Getting together to socialize at a unique restaurant or coffee shop

For skill-specific training and orientation, conduct regular surveys with board members
to determine their training needs and plan accordingly. Training topics may coincide
with trends and challenges facing organizations (e.g., fundraising or risk management)
but should also focus on continuous learning required and related to board
development and the organization’s specific governance structure. Also, look to
evaluations and feedback from previous training sessions that board members rated as
useful and valuable for training topic ideas. You may also learn what might be useful
through your regular board evaluation processes.

A definite "must” is for boards to provide training on understanding the governance
structure and how to operate within that structure.
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Other possible training topics for boards could include:
e Board evaluation

e Strategic thinking

e Risk management

e Working with teams
e Conflict management
e Advocacy

¢ Organizational ethics
e Cultural diversity

e Strategic planning

e Effective communication and social media

If an organization has a budget or has individual board members interested in investing
in their own professional development, specific training can include how to chair
effective meetings, how to take meeting minutes, working with financial software, etc.
As well, don’t overlook the skills of board members who may be able to provide in-
service training on a variety of topics.

Organizations in your community such as the United Way or local volunteer centre may
offer training opportunities for board members. Compass Point has an article posted on
its website about unique ideas for board retreats: Where to Have a Board Retreat.

Be creative! Many training topics are freely available online as downloadable print
resources, online videos, online conferences, podcasts, webinars or online training
courses.
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SUCCESSION PLANNING

As the baby boom generation nears retirement and the competition for volunteers
increases, it's safe to say the need for succession planning in non-profit organizations
will become increasingly important. Succession planning means not only preparing for
the loss of key positions but also being pro-active. Organizations need to ensure they
are able to retain leadership, skills and experience, while at the same time allow for
growth and introduction of new people. Succession planning also looks at the current
and future needs of an organization so that work can be done to ensure staff and board
members are recruited to match those needs.

Part of ensuring the good health of an organization is having a good balance of new
and experienced board members. We all know stories about organizations that have a
‘lifetime’ board member, someone who is not interested in retiring and yet is not
bringing fresh life to the organization. Or what about the horror of having all
experienced board members leave at the same time, taking the skills, knowledge and
background of the organization with them?

Planning for board succession can be incorporated into the strategic planning of an
organization and should be a regular part of board meetings. The board as a whole and
the organization’s Executive Director should be involved in the succession planning
process. The plan should look three to five years into the future and be reviewed
annually. It's also important incoming board members know what is in the plan.

Literacy Link South Central and Community Literacy of Ontario engaged in a
partnership to develop an online module on Succession Planning. It includes a variety
of generic tools, including an agency succession planning needs assessment and a
succession planning policy template.

The kit notes the first step in succession planning is to determine what you already
have in place at your organization and then determine the gaps. The needs assessment
includes 40 questions, including:

¢ How well informed and up-to-speed is the board on the issues, trends and
challenges facing the agency?

e Does the board know where corporate records are kept in the office?

e Does the board secretary or chair keep a separate copy of board corporate records,
such as letters of incorporation and letters patent, off-site?
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Does the board have, or do they know who to ask, to easily get a list of key
stakeholders for crisis/emergency/transition communications?

Does a board member and/or key staff member have an extra copy of the office
keys?

Is there a staff person designated as board liaison in the absence of the Executive
Director?

Who is responsible for succession planning in an organization depends largely on its
governance structure. For example, in a policy-governance model the board is
responsible for preparing for succession related to the organization’s management
(i.e., Executive Director) and key board positions. The ED is usually responsible for
succession planning for other staff.

Charity Village suggests that organizations take the following steps in a succession

planning process:

1.

Develop a list of key positions, volunteer and paid, who could disrupt the execution
of your strategic plan and its components by their departure.

. Develop an inventory of skill sets required for each key position.

. Identify current staff or volunteers who could step up to replace a vacancy, either

on a temporary or long-term basis.

. Document sources of people with the required skills, either on a temporary or long-

term basis.

. Document what information will need to be readily accessible to those choosing the

successor and for the successor.
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Hit® ACTIVITY

»

Have your current board members develop your board recruitment materials. Devote a
special meeting (or part of a meeting) to the board development process each year.
Use the following questions and format adapted from How to Be a Winning Board (by
the Alberta Association of Rehabilitation Centres) to understand the benefits of being a
board member.

Ask current members the following questions:

1. What attracted you to become a board member with the organization?
2. What do you find most rewarding about your role on the board?

3. How can the board make board roles more attractive to both current and
prospective board members?

4. What things make you feel valuable as a board member?

5. What activities do you feel are appropriate for you to be involved in on the board?
What activities do you think aren’t appropriate?

Record the answers (you may consider having board members complete these
questions privately and then present the collated data to the whole board). Encourage
group discussion about the items. Write up the results in a summarized format. The
results will be useful for promoting positive benefits of being involved on the board but
also to help identify improvements that could encourage greater participation from
current members.
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ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

1. Board Building: Recruiting and Developing Effective Boards,
The Muttart Foundation.

www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting _development
.pdf

2. Seven Steps to Renewing Your Board, Canadian Co-operative Association.
www.coopscanada.coop/assets/firefly/files/files/GovMatArchives/GM9 apr05.pdf

3. Mentoring Canada’s online Fundamentals of Effective Board Involvement provides
modules to help new board members understand their goals and motivations for
joining a board. www.mentoringcanada.ca/training/Boards/index.html

4. Suite 101: Selecting Optimal Non-Profit Board Members. http://non-profit-
governance.suitel01.com/article.cfm/selecting optimal nonprofit board members

5. Nathan Garber & Associates: What You Need to Know about the Board of Directors
of ABC is a useful template to use when recruiting new board members.
www.garberconsulting.com/what%20you%20need%20to0%20know.htm
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CHAPTER 5: EFFECTIVE BOARD MEETINGS

Incorporated organizations are required by law to have members’ meetings. This often
translates into an Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the full membership and regular,
more frequent meetings of the board of directors. The number of meetings a board
holds in a year is outlined in its bylaws, but it's often monthly or bi-monthly although
it’s not unusual to only meet quarterly. Board members attend and vote at board
meetings.

Other members of the organization or special guests may be welcome to attend board
meetings but usually as invited visitors with no vote. The Executive Director attends
board meetings as well as an ex-officio (or non-voting) member of the board.

At one time, Robert’s Rules of Order was used by many non-profit organizations as a
guide to conduct meetings. The book, however, was based in parliamentary language
and was often confusing and too formal for volunteer directors. Many resources have
since been adopted by boards to help them run meetings that are effective, matched
with their organization’s governance structure, and easy to read and understand. One
excellent example is Call to Order: Meeting Rules and Procedures for Non-Profit
Organizations by Herb Perry of Big Bay Publishing (www.morfa.com/bbp/).

Just because meetings are a necessary and legal part of board governance doesn’t
mean that they can’t also be an enjoyable and productive part of the governance cycle.
For board meetings to be effective they need to:

e Have a purpose

e Provide enough notice and appropriate materials for members to be prepared

e Be chaired effectively

e Follow proper meeting procedures and respect the time of board members

e Have clear supporting documents such as an agenda, minutes and other reports
e Ensure all participants have a voice and are respected

e Include some social interaction and networking time

e Accomplish results and/or have action items

e Be documented with minutes
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Carter McNamara, (www.authenticityconsulting.com) author and trainer experienced in
non-profit management), says the most frequent reasons for poor board meetings are
insufficient time to review materials before the meeting, insufficient member
participation, and poor time management during the meeting.

MEETING PURPOSE

The usual purposes of board meetings are to:

¢ Make decisions
Set policy

Solve problems
Plan and evaluate

These may not all occur at every meeting, but satisfied board members will leave a
meeting having at least learned something or accomplished something. While boards
are legally required to meet, it's equally important to value the time of the volunteer
members or risk losing them. The United Way Canada’s board development resource
states that an estimated 50% of meetings could be replaced with other actions such as
memos, emails or conference calls. Although technology may be able to replace the
need for some meetings, it is important that meetings still be held in accordance with
organizational bylaws.

The Ontario Trail Council has produced a meeting management document with several
useful tools and templates for effective meetings including a Meeting Options Matrix
(www.ontariotrails.on.ca/assets/files/pdf/member-archives/planning-
governance/Meeting%20Management%?20Handout.pdf) to help boards decide if a
meeting is necessary. It lists criteria such as time available, further information needed
and the level of involvement and commitment of members. A couple of examples from
the matrix are:

Options
Criteria No Meeting — Take Communicate or Convene a Group
Personal Action Meet Selectively Meeting
Available time Only you are available Few people are All are available
available
Full understanding of Only you need to Some others must All others must
subject understand understand understand
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MEETING PREPARATION

The role of planning and preparing for board meetings usually falls to the chairperson
and the Executive Director. The extent to which each is involved is dictated by the
organization’s governance structure. For example, the chairperson of a hands-on
administrative board may prepare the agenda after getting some input from the
Executive Director while a policy-governance chair may meet with the Executive
Director prior to a meeting to determine board issues versus staff issues are and then
plan an agenda around only the board issues.

The key to preparation is for everyone to be clear about the role they play and what
needs to be done prior to the meeting. Examples include:

e Adequate notice has been provided to board members in a format that has been
previously agreed upon (i.e., two weeks prior to the meeting all board members are
emailed a reminder and package).

e Copies of all documents needed prior to the meeting are distributed to members or
are available on an organizational Wiki (agendas, past minutes, correspondence,
proposed policies, committee reports, etc.).

e Facility space is booked or confirmed along with any equipment that may be needed
for the meeting (i.e., flipchart, LCD projector, coffee machine).

e Arrangements for food and refreshments are confirmed (if applicable).

e Special guests (if applicable) have been confirmed and arranged to appear at an
agreed upon time on the agenda.

The Ontario Trail Council suggests some key questions be considered prior to a board
meeting including:

1. What is the agreed upon purpose of the meeting? (to train, inform, plan, decide?)
2. What are the desired outcomes from the meeting?

3. What materials are needed to facilitate the meeting? Who will handle them?
(agenda, handouts, visual aids, etc.)

4. Are additional resource people needed? (who, who will contact them)

5. What activities can best be used to achieve the stated goal? (brainstorming, survey,
discussion, etc.)
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6. How much time will be needed to deal with the issues? (agenda should be planned
with time frames when possible)

7. What background information needs to be circulated to the participants?
8. Where could the meeting most effectively take place?
9. Who will be responsible for room arrangements, refreshments, clean up, etc.?

10. What form of minute taking will be most effective?

EFFECTIVE CHAIRING

The chairperson is ultimately responsible for ensuring that meetings stay on track,
timelines are respected, everyone’s voice is heard, and goals are accomplished. Most
organizations have an elected chairperson in place for a term that is outlined in the
organization’s bylaws. However, some organizations have a rotating chair, appointing
someone different from the board as a whole at each meeting. In either case it's
important to have a clear job description of what is expected.

During meetings, the chair should:

¢ Encourage participation by all board members

¢ Allow time for all views and sides of an issue to be heard and discussed before a
vote

e Ensure members understand the discussions and terms of an issue by asking for
clarification when necessary

e Summarize discussions before voting or moving on to the next item

e Keep the meeting on schedule by adhering to the agenda and keeping board
members on topic

e Manage conflicts that arise during the meeting

e Ensure decisions are made clearly and explicitly (by vote or consensus) so that
there is no room left for misunderstanding or misinterpretation

e Read or call for motions, call for votes on an issue, ensure votes are counted and
recorded in the minutes (if required)

e Ensure that the recorder of minutes reflects attendance, motions and votes
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On some boards the chairperson does not vote unless there is a tie, but this would be
clearly laid out in the organization’s bylaws.

One thing most volunteers will agree on is the importance of meetings starting and
ending on time. While everyone has a responsibility for ensuring this happens by
reading material beforehand and staying on track with discussion, it is the chair’s role
to call the meeting to order, move through the agenda as per timelines, and adjourn
the meeting. Waiting for a late board member disrespects those who made the effort to
arrive on time, and keeping people long after a meeting should have ended disrespects
everyone’s time.

Of course, common sense should always play a role. If half the board is missing and
you know traffic was bad then it makes sense to wait an extra few minutes if everyone
present agrees. Similarly, if a topic generated more discussion than was planned the
chair should ask whether the group wants to stay later or stick to the end time and
defer other items to a future meeting.

It should be noted that when the chairperson is not able to attend a meeting, the vice-
chair or other designated board member will assume the above duties and
responsibilities.
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MEETING PROCEDURES AND QUORUM

There are certain procedures common to board meetings such as:

e Calling the meeting to order

e Reviewing and approving an agenda

e Ensuring there is a recorder and having minutes taken

e Reviewing and approving minutes from previous meeting

e (Calling for motions, a seconder and voting on items when appropriate

¢ Adjournment

Further to that, the board’s governance structure and bylaws will dictate other aspects
expected at meetings such as committee reports, staff reports and open
discussion/networking time. For a board meeting to be considered legal in terms of its
governance and incorporation status there needs to be quorum. Quorum represents
the minimum number of voting board members who need to be present at a meeting
for decisions to be made. The number defined for quorum is stated in the
organization’s bylaws but is generally the majority, or half plus one. For example, a
board of ten may have quorum set as six which means at least six board members
must be in attendance for the meeting to be called to order.

When quorum is present the chair can call the meeting to order. When quorum is not
met a meeting cannot be called to order nor can any decision be made, issues voted on
or minutes taken. A record should be kept that showed the meeting was cancelled due
to quorum not being met.

Herb Perry’s Call to Order is a well-regarded resource used by board members to
understand the procedures to attending and participating in a meeting. It contains
easy-to-read instructions for issues related to board meetings including:

e Dealing with other business not on the agenda
¢ Making, withdrawing and amending motions

e Voting procedures and methods

e Proxies

e Declaring conflicts of interest

e Tabling discussions

e Adjournments and recesses
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As well, United Way Canada’s Board Development Resource Manual provides a
template for proposing a motion as per the following chart:

Explanation of Motions Template

Type of Motion Purpose of Motion Requires | Requires Can be Vote
Seconder | Discussion | Amended | Required
To table To clear floor for more Yes No No Majority
urgent business/set aside
To amend To improve motion Yes Yes Yes Majority
To refer to To allow more careful Yes Yes Yes Majority
committee consideration
To limit or extend To provide more or less Yes No No 2/3
discussion to certain | time for discussion
time
To call for the vote To end discussion Yes No No 2/3
immediately and vote
To raise a question To bring up an urgent No No No Majority
or privilege matter due to undesirable
conditions
To recess To secure a rest Yes Yes Yes Majority
To adjourn To end the meeting Yes No Yes Majority
To rise to a point of To enforce rules or call No No No Majority
order attention to rule violation
To appeal ruling To determine attitude of Yes Yes No Majority
made by Chair assembly on ruling made by
Chair
To suspend rules To allow special action not Yes No No 2/3
temporarily possible within the rules
To withdraw motion To prevent vote or inclusion | No No No Majority
in minutes
To object to To prevent wasting time on | No No No 2/3
consideration of a an unimportant decision
motion
To rescind To repeal motion discussion | Yes Yes Yes Majority
To ratify To approve previous action Yes Yes Yes 2/3

taken
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AGENDAS AND REPORTS

One of the best ways to hold effective meetings is to put thought into the agenda,
distribute it prior to the meeting, and then stick closely to it during the meeting.
Ideally agendas should note:

Topics/issues to be covered at the meeting
Action required for each topic/issue (i.e., information only, discussion, decision)
The person responsible for leading the discussion or providing information

A timeline associated with each item

Some organizations, in keeping with their governance structure, have standing items
that appear on the agenda such as a report from the governance or nominating
committee. Some organizations ensure there is time at every meeting to discuss the
organization’s strategic plan and succession plan, especially in relation to goals
achieved related to the plans. It can also be helpful to include the organization’s
mission statement on the agenda as a constant reference and focus.

Boards that work under a policy-governance model have clearly laid out rules about
what appears on an agenda that often link to the organizations ‘ends’—in other words
the goals of the organization and the results it hopes to achieve through its existence
and work. (Policy Governance.com: The Authoritative Website for the

Carver Policy Governance® Model. www.carvergovernance.com/pg-np.htm)

However, all boards can borrow from the policy-governance model when it comes to
setting an agenda by asking a simple question: "whose issue is this: the board’s or
staff?” If the answer is the board then the item should be added to the board meeting
agenda; if the answer is staff then it is better left for the Executive Director to deal
with. A sample agenda that represents the typical format and content of a board
meeting can be viewed at Free Management Library.

Most boards in an effort to be effective and efficient will avoid one-way communication,
i.e., having someone read a report or present information that requires no discussion
or action. An Executive Director who reads through a list of activities that have
occurred since the last meeting or a fundraising committee representative who reads
committee meeting’s minutes is not only inefficient but can be tedious and boring. It's
more appropriate to include the reports and any updates in the board package and
have members read it beforehand.
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The chair should acknowledge the reports during the meeting and ask for any specific
questions, concerns or further discussion; otherwise reports should receive no further
attention at the meeting.

The same can apply to correspondence. Many organizations receive a large quantity of
information between board meetings. The board package sent prior to the meeting can
include a list of the correspondence and copies (if feasible and warranted). Members
who want to look at the information can do so prior to or after the meeting, but time is
not devoted to correspondence at the meeting unless board input is needed.

EFFECTIVE PARTICIPATION

Members of a board who don’t play a leadership or executive role still have
responsibilities to ensure the effectiveness of a meeting. This includes active
participation but also to:

e Arrive on time and stay for the duration of the meeting
e Read materials prior to the meeting to be prepared for discussion

e Be respectful of others who are speaking and avoid interrupting, rudeness and side
conversations

¢ Have an open mind when listening to discussion and opposing perspectives
e Ask for clarification before voting or making a decision if unsure about something
e Carefully word motions

¢ Volunteer to help with items that require action and follow up on action items prior
to the next meeting

Board members need to feel they are accomplishing something and being recognized
for the work they do. When this happens at board meetings members are more apt to
participate. Ideas and tips for encouraging participation from board members can be
found in the article How to Get Your Non-profit’s Board of Directors Excited and
Involved.
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NETWORKING/SOCIAL TIME

Some boards have found it beneficial to include social/networking time on the agenda.
This has to be something closely monitored by the chair to ensure it is not too time
consuming and doesn’t take away from priorities of the meeting. It should be
something that everyone agrees upon.

An alternative can be to tag social time onto the beginning or end of a meeting. It is an
optional time for members to either arrive early or stay later to catch up with other
board members and share information. Boards may also opt to have a social gathering
once or twice a year in place of a regular meeting, such as a social event during the
winter, or a BBQ/picnic during the summer months. Board members who have social
media accounts can also chose to link with another using them mediums.

It is important for boards to have social opportunities as it builds a more cohesive team
and ultimately leads to more productive and effective meetings.

MINUTES AND ACTION ITEMS

The long-standing debate about meeting minutes is deciding how much information to
include. It is a challenge to be able to reflect the intent of an action item without
providing all of the nitty- gritty discussion details. The key is to realize that minutes are
legal documents of the organization, but they are also intended to be read in the
future, often by people who weren't at the meeting. While it's important that all
motions, decisions and action items are recorded, it's equally important that there be
some context to how the decisions were made.

At a minimum, minutes need to include:

e The date and location of the meeting

e Members who were present for voting

¢ Motions put forth, the mover and seconder
¢ Amendments to motions

e The outcome of the motion (whether it was carried or not) and record of the vote
including dissenters and those who voted in abstention or by proxy
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The responsibility of recording and distributing minutes is usually given to an appointed
or elected officer of the board called a secretary. On some boards, responsibility for
taking minutes is delegated to staff and the minutes are then reviewed and approved
by the secretary. As well, some boards that don’t have executive positions may appoint
the secretary on a rotating basis or may delegate the responsibility to a staff person.

In addition to the formal minutes of an organization, some organizations also prepare
action items. The action items may be part of the minutes or a separate document
attached to the minutes. To view a sample and tips for effective minutes see How to
Take Meeting Minutes by Estela Kennen.

Minutes and action items should be distributed to board members as soon as feasible
after the meeting. At a minimum they should be distributed to the board to provide
enough time for members to review them prior to the next meeting. At each meeting
there needs to be time allotted to raise questions, clarify items or make amendments
to the previous meeting’s minutes. Ideally, the minutes should have been read and
reviewed prior to the meeting, eliminating the need to read through them at the
meeting. Any board member who requires assistance in reading and reviewing the
minutes should have the opportunity to do so prior to the meeting.

Once the minutes are approved by a vote of the board they become part of the official
record of the organization. A copy of all minutes should be kept in one location along
with a back-up copy. Many boards get the secretary (and sometimes the chair) to sign
an official copy of the minutes. Board members should receive their own copy of
minutes including any amendments.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

In addition to regular board meetings, organizations hold general meetings. These are
often referred to as Annual General Meetings (AGMs) because one must be held no
later than 18 months after incorporation and annually thereafter. Often, there are
government requirements that there must be no more than 15 months between Annual
General Meetings.

General meetings include the broader membership of the organization and board
members. Every member in good standing of an organization is entitled to vote at
general meetings, and those not able to attend may vote by proxy (through another
member who is present). Membership criteria and eligibility are set out in an
organization’s bylaws. The current board of an organization runs the general meeting.
There are agendas and minutes taken, similar to a board meeting, but there are
differences in some procedures including voting methods, notice of meetings, conflict
of interest and quorum. Herb Perry’s Call to Order: Meeting Rules and Procedures for
Non-Profit Organizations provides details on the differences in procedures between
board meetings and general meetings.

Items usually addressed at general meetings include:

e Presentation of an annual report of the board of directors
¢ Nominations and elections of new directors

e Presentation of the financial statements of the past fiscal year (usually by the
organization’s treasurer or auditor)

e Appointment of auditor for the next fiscal year

¢ Amendments, changes or additions to the organization’s bylaws
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e ACTIVITY

»

The topic of board evaluation will be covered more fully in the next section, but the
activities suggested below are some ways to gain input on the effectiveness of your
board meetings. At the same time, the results can feed into the larger board evaluation
process.

Boards can take a formal or informal approach to gaining feedback about their meeting
effectiveness. Informally, once or twice a year (depending on how often the board
meets) a simple survey can be handed out to directors asking questions like:

e What do you like best about board meetings?

e What do you like /east about board meetings?

e Are you satisfied with the items that are usually on the agenda?

e What could be done to encourage more discussion at the meetings?
e Is the timing and location of meetings convenient for you?

e What changes would you suggest to make meetings more effective and productive
for you?

The more formal tool provided below has been adapted from the Muttart Foundation’s
Board Building: Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members for Not-for-Profit
Organizations. It involves selecting an objective observer (paid or volunteer) to sit in
on one or more meetings to observe the board’s process as it carries out its activities
at a meeting. Using the checklist provided, the observer is not meant to give advice
but to summarize the feedback and provide it to the board for review.
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MEETING OBSERVER CHECKLIST

Rate items 1—Poor; 2—Needs Work,; 3—Adequate; 4—Very Good; 5—Excellent

Meeting scheduled at convenient time/location

Majority of board members were in attendance

Agenda and supporting documents circulated prior to meeting

Meeting began on time

Agenda items relevant to mission, goals and objectives of the organization
Agenda items related to board work (not staff or committee issues)

Structure and leadership of meeting encouraged thoughtful discussion
Agenda items were clearly identified as for information, discussion or decision

Reports were tabled and only questions and/or discussion related to them were
considered

Decision-making method being used, such as collaborative or simply majority, was
identified before the decision was made

Appropriate information was available to make decisions
Atmosphere was relaxed and friendly

All board members were encouraged to participate
Motions were accurately recorded in minutes

Meeting duration was appropriate to needs of the group and the issues to be
addressed

Staff and board members presenting information were prepared and effective

Ask each board member to also rate:

Strengths of the meeting:
Weaknesses of the meeting:

Suggestions for future effectiveness:
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ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

1. Ten Quick Ways to Improve Board Meetings has unique
and fresh ideas for keeping board meetings effective and
interesting. www.compasspoint.org/boardcafe/details.php?id=16

2. The Importance of Board Meeting Attendance from The Non-profit Conversation
blog touches on how effective meetings can enhance board member participation
and attendance. http://nonprofitconversation.blogspot.com/2009/06/importance-
of-board-attendance.html

3. Board Building: Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members for Not-for-
Profit Organizations. The Muttart Foundation. A tool for assessing the work of the
board.
www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting development

-pdf

4. How to Run an Effective Meeting from WikiHow. www.wikihow.com/Run-an-
Effective-Meeting
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CHAPTER 6: BoARD EVALUATION

In the previous sections, the importance of strong and effective governance has been
emphasized. If the board does not evaluate, however, all the good work it does can be
in vain. Both for-profit and non-profit organizations need to evaluate their work as a
way to be accountable and transparent to their stakeholders. It's a task that is often
overlooked or under-rated in the non-profit field. Non-profit boards may feel they don't
have the expertise or knowledge to carry out evaluation, or they may tackle it only
when faced with an organizational crisis or at the special request of a third-party such
as a funder.

Board evaluation is a key part of the board governance structure and is different from
an evaluation of programs and services. Boards need to take ownership and control
over their evaluation. To evaluate effectively a board first needs to ensure that there
are benchmarks in place, many of which have been touched upon in previous sections
such as:

Having clear board job descriptions
Hiring competent senior staff
Having a strategic plan

Having a strong chairperson
Holding effective board meetings

Adopting a governance structure that fits with the culture of the organization.
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THE PURPOSE OF EVALUATION

Board evaluation is linked with planning and is directly tied to achieving the outcomes
and results outlined in the board’s strategic plan. While it’s important to not wait until
your board is in crisis mode before doing an evaluation, an evaluation can bring to light
warning signs that your board is getting off track. Charity Village has a comprehensive
article called Board Assessment — Why Bother?

This article reviews the importance of board assessment and evaluation. The article
talks about the correlation between evaluation and high organizational performance
and states that, among other things, a high performance organization is more likely to
have:

¢ Competent board and staff leadership

e Board engagement in strategic planning

e A customer and results focus

e Positive relationships with key stakeholders
e Good financial stewardship

o Effective and efficient use of resources

e Clear lines of accountability

¢ Good meeting management

¢ An organizational culture that encourages good teamwork, respect for
organizational norms, values staff, and encourages excellence

e Low levels of internal conflict
e Perceived legitimacy and credibility

As noted above, one of the main drivers for board evaluation is often an accountability
expectation by funders. However, it's also important for the board to evaluate its work
to provide accountability to individual board members, staff, clients, its membership
and the broader community it serves. If done properly, it also is an effective way to
gain feedback and learn how to improve its work.

Organizations that work within a performance management system understand that
evaluation is a key part of measuring effectiveness, efficiency and client satisfaction.
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EVALUATION PROCESS

The evaluation process looks at what the board has achieved and how it has achieved
it. The board is responsible for evaluating the areas that pertain to governance. Staff
or independent consultants are usually responsible for evaluating programs and
services. The board’s area of evaluation responsibilities include:

e Board management (meetings, roles of individual directors, committees, etc.)

e Board development (recruitment and orientation process, governance structure)
e Board goals, mission and strategic plan

e Evaluating the Executive Director

Some tasks may happen more regularly, such as evaluating board meetings and
checking in with work related to the strategic plan, while other areas such as
evaluating the ED may occur on an annual basis. Boards may choose to hire an
independent consultant to assist with evaluation, but it is the board’s responsibility to
decide on the process and to ensure that the evaluation is implemented and the results
reviewed.

United Way Canada’s board development guide suggests a six-step process:

1. Decide on the purpose of the evaluation
2. Set up an evaluation structure

3. Prepare the evaluation design

4. Gather information

5. Analyze information

6. Action and implementation
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For example, using this suggested six-step process, a board who decided it needed to
evaluate its current governance structure could develop the following plan of action:

1.

The purpose: To determine if the current structure is still an effective way to
govern.

. Evaluation structure: The board as a whole will work together on the evaluation

using a combination of self-evaluation and engaging an outside facilitator.

. Evaluation design: The board will access tools that help them evaluate

effectiveness and efficiency related to the board decision-making process, the
current level of board involvement of daily organizational operations, and the
relationship of authority between the board and staff.

. Gather information: A questionnaire for individual board members and senior

staff will be used to anonymously collect information, and a focus group will be
facilitated with the board as a whole.

. Analyze information: An independent consultant will collect all the data,

summarize and present it to the board as a whole.

. Action and implementation: Based on the results presented to the board, the

board will decide whether to maintain its current governance structure or to
investigate another model that fits more with the culture of the organization based
on the information collected. The board will agree on any action steps to take.
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BOARD EVALUATION QUESTIONS

Organizations can choose a variety of tools to conduct evaluations and gather
information including surveys and questionnaires, self-assessment tools, personal
interviews and focus groups.

Board members should conduct self-assessments regularly. This can include a brief
check-in after each meeting along with a more comprehensive one annually or at the
end of a term. An annual self-assessment may be kept confidential for the member’s
own personal growth and development goals, or it may be collected by the chairperson
or board development committee so that a broader perspective can be gained about
possible board training needs. A self-assessment can include items such as:

e The percentage of meetings attended over the year (or term)

e The satisfaction level of meeting preparation

e The satisfaction level of meeting participation

e Personal strengths and weaknesses

e The success level of meeting the criteria laid out in the board job description

Sources for board member self-assessment tools include Board Member Self-
Assessment Evaluation of Job Performance and Am I A Good Board Member?

Items that a board will want to look at when evaluating its work as whole include:

e How it operates within its mission, goals and bylaws

e Board members’ understanding of their roles and responsibilities

e Board job descriptions

e The work of committees and their terms of reference

e The composition and structure of the board

¢ Risk management policies and safeguards

e Recruitment and orientation practices

e Evaluation procedures for senior staff and individual board members

e Accomplishments and actions taken that relate to the organization’s strategic plan

e Board and organizational communication
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i@ ACTIVITY

»

The board of Community Literacy of Ontario conducts an in-depth review of its
activities annually. We've included CLO’s comprehensive board evaluation checklist
below. Have each board member fill out the checklist and email the results to the
board evaluation committee (or board chair). Compile, discuss the results, highlight
and act on areas needing further development.

Board Evaluation Checklist

Source: CLO’s Board Development Committee; Mel Gill, Governing for Results: A
Director's Guide to Good Governance (Charity Village); and Greater Twin Cities United
Way Checklist.

Scale:
1 - Not happening, development needed DK - Don’t Know
3 - OK, development may be needed NA - Not Applicable

5 - Excellent, no development needed at this time

Rating Performance Indicator

Board has the minimum number of members according to the bylaws.

Majority of board completes at least a two year term.

Competent board and staff leadership.

Roles of the board members are clearly defined and respected.

Board members provide support for staff to carry out their roles.

Staff provides support for board members to carry out their roles.

Majority of board attends meetings.

Committees complete tasks in an effective and timely way.

Committees report to the board at least twice per year.

Board’s nominating process ensures that the board remains appropriately
diverse.

Each board member has a board manual (or access to board information
online) and can locate required information.

New board members are oriented to the organization.
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Rating

Performance Indicator

New policies are discussed and approved before they are implemented.

Policies are reviewed at least annually and updated as needed.

Agenda and materials are given to board members with time for review before
meetings.

Board prepares for meetings by reading background material.

Board engages in strategic planning at least every two years.

High degree of agreement and support on values and mission.

Good financial stewardship, budgets and reports are reviewed, understood and
approved by board.

Familiarity with business plan.

Clear lines of accountability are in place.

Sufficient board independence from management to make objective decisions.

Good meeting management is in place.

Commitment to board self-evaluation and development.

Constructive dispute resolution process in place.

Organizational culture that encourages good teamwork.

Organizational culture that encourages excellence.

Low levels of internal conflict.

Good balance between stability and flexibility, innovative and adaptive responses to
change.

Process for handling urgent matters between meetings in place.

Conflict of interest policy is in place and complied with by board and staff.

Perceived legitimacy and credibility in the community.

Positive relationships with key stakeholders.

Board members are clear about who is the official spokesperson for the organization.

Effectiveness of the board and committees is evaluated annually.

Effectiveness of the board meetings is evaluated after each session.

Comments/Concerns/Suggestions for improving the board:
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ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

1. The Bruner Foundation partners with other funders and non-
profit service providers on projects targeted at building evaluation capacity and/or
evaluative thinking. It has recently published eleven individual Integrating
Evaluative Thinking Bulletins covering the following topics: evaluation basics and
definitions, evaluative thinking basics and assessment of evaluative thinking,
evaluation and non-profit boards, commissioning evaluation, collecting, analyzing
and using evaluation data, communicating about evaluation, evaluation and
technology, evaluation and HR, evaluation and alliances, increasing participation in
evaluation, and sustaining evaluative thinking. Each bulletin is brief and full of
practical suggestions made by non-profit partners who reviewed the work. A
complete set of all bulletins, as well as other complementary tools and resources
are available via the Bruner Foundation, under the Evaluative Thinking component
of their website: www.evaluativethinking.org.

2. Checklist to Evaluate a Non-profit Board of Directors. (Edited by Carter McNamara
for the Greater Twin Cities United Way). The checklist indicators represent what is
needed to have a healthy, well-managed organization.
http://managementhelp.org/organizationalperformance/nonprofits/boards.htm

3. Diagnosing the Effectiveness of your Board is a newsletter article from Canadian Co-
operative Association that focuses on how to diagnose problem areas of board
effectiveness, including board leadership and board functioning, the role of the
chair, meeting dynamics, board behaviour and board relationships. Also includes
some practical tips and ideas that you can implement to address the various
problems you may diagnose.
www.coopscanada.coop/assets/firefly/files/files/GovMatArchives/GM14 MarQ7.pdf

4. Board Building: Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members for Not-for-
Profit Organizations. The Muttart Foundation. A tool for assessing the work of the
board.
www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting development

.pdf
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CHAPTER 7: ADDITIONAL TOOLS AND
RESOURCES

This resource guide was designed to assist individuals with no, or little, board
governance experience or those who are working with boards that have gotten a little
off track. Each section provides activities and resources that will hopefully provide
direction, but may also point to areas that need work. It may seem overwhelming to do
all the things suggested in each section, and at the end of the day the reality is that
not everything is possible, especially all at once. Sometimes boards experience
dysfunction but don’t recognize the warning signs. Going through several of the
exercises in this resource guide, can highlight areas that boards need to work on to
strengthen their board governance practices and create a more dynamic organization.

Your work doesn’t have to end with this resource guide. People who are interested in
further training and resources on building organizational capacity in board governance
have limitless options. There are many helpful and free online training courses,
podcasts, wikis and webinars on the topic on board governance. As well, this issue is
widely discussed on social media. In short, you can find a wealth of valuable
information with a click of your mouse whenever you need it.

Following are just a few examples of additional resources:
¢ Imagine Canada

o A wide variety of online tools, webinars, podcasts and other resources are
available through Imagine Canada. In particular, be sure to check out their
‘Sector Source”, which provides a goldmine of information for non-profit
organizations: http://sectorsource.ca/

o Facebook: www.facebook.com/ImagineCanada

o Twitter: @ImagineCanada

e Imagine Canada’s Standards Program for Canada’s Charities & Nonprofits.

¢ Volunteer Canada

o Website: http://volunteer.ca/
o Facebook: www.facebook.com/VolunteerCanada
o Twitter: @VolunteerCanada

e Better Boards: http://betterboards.net/
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e Ontario Nonprofit Network

o Website: http://theonn.ca/
o Facebook: www.facebook.com/OntarioNonprofitNetwork
o Twitter: @o_n_n

e Charity Village

o Website: http://charityvillage.com/
o Facebook: www.facebook.com/CharityVillage
o Twitter: @CharityVillage

¢ National Council of Nonprofits

o Website: www.councilofnonprofits.org
o Twitter: @NatlCouncilNPs
o Facebook: www.facebook.com/NationalCouncilofNonprofits

e Board Source

o Website: www.boardsource.org
o Facebook: www.facebook.com/BoardSource
o Twitter: @BoardSource

¢ Non-profit Conversation is a blog that provides a forum for discussion, advice,

observations and solutions for the non-profit community.
http://nonprofitconversation.blogspot.ca/

¢ Nonprofits on Facebook is devoted to sharing resources and information to build

capacity in nonprofit organizations. www.facebook.com/nonprofits

And, be sure to also follow Community Literacy of Ontario:

o Facebook: www.facebook.com/CommunityLiteracyOntario
o Twitter: @Love4Literacy

FEEDBACK TO THIS GUIDE

We would love to hear your feedback! Please email us at
info@communityliteracyofontario.ca

e — 80 Bradford Street, Suite 508, Barrie, Ontario L4N 6S7
COM@ TEL 705-733-2312 | FAX 705-733-6197
OF ONTARIO EMAIL clo@bellnet.ca | WEBSITE www.communityliteracyofontario.ca
TWITTER @Loved4Literacy | FACEBOOK www.facebook.com/CommunityLiteracyOntario
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Throw away your old board recruitment matrix - Cause and Effect
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Throw away your old
board recruitment matrix

February 29™", 2012
Gayle Gifford

Just yesterday I was asked if I had a “matrix” for
board recruitment.

So when my colleague Jane Garthson happened to
share this wonderful piece on another list on which I
participate, I just had to ask her if I could share it
with you.

Jane is President and Principal Consultant of the
Garthson Leadership Centre, based in Toronto,
Ontario, Canada. Jane’s been a part of an online peer
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circle of consultants that I’'ve known and relied on for
advice almost as long as I’'ve been consulting. It’s
always great to share advice with you from a such a
wise international colleague .

Thank you, Jane.

P.S. We do have a sample “board matrix.” You can
find here it in our free toolbox. You’ll see we’ve
already taken Jane’s advice.
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Four reasons to throw away your old board
recruitment Matrix

By Jane Garthson

I remember when we first started
plotting board member skills and
demographics in a table—we felt so

organized. We could put check marks

on a grid; plan our board recruitment to fill current
and upcoming gaps, and document that plan. It was a
big step forward over just brainstorming to get a list
of people we knew, with no thought to what we really
needed. And consultants like me started routinely
recommending the board grid or matrix to
governance clients.

That started about twenty years ago, and I see the
same old formats and lists still being used. We have
learned much since then, but these outdated matrices
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have not been updated to match. Here are four key
reasons the old matrix format is critically flawed.

1. The matrix demographics encourage
“representational” thinking.

Here’s how the thinking plays out. “Given our current
composition, we need one member under 30, one
member from Quebec, one director who is a visible

minority and one (insert your custom specification
here).”

There are three major problems with this thinking.
One is that passion for your mission, and skills to
govern, should always be considered; never recruit for
demographics alone. You should be looking for people
who have the passion, skills AND knowledge of some
part of your community. Don’t look at different parts

of your matrix in isolation.

The second is thinking that any one person can
“speak for” a whole community. No one can speak for
all young people, all members from the prairies, or
any other such group. These individuals often feel
like, and are made to feel like, tokens. The retention
level is poor for people who feel that way, and often
their contributions are lessened while they are on the

board.

The third problem, not unique to boards that use
matrices, is that the individuals may feel they
represent their demographic group. When that
happens, they may vote in the best interest of one
part of your community or membership and not in

the best interests of the whole. They then fail to carry
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out their duty of care to your organization.

The problem is often made worse by having people
elected by segments of your membership, such as
provinces, and then failing to educate them on their
true board role. Such election processes often also
lead to boards of unwieldy size as more segments are
added. I have yet to hear of any organization that
retained this system of electing board members after
a facilitated and independent governance review.

Bylaw changes, however, take time, and in the
meantime you can readily communicate to both the
directors and the communities that elect them that
once on the board, they can bring knowledge of their
community to the table so everyone can make
informed votes. And they can be a communications
link back the group that elected them or is part of
their demographic. But they must put the whole

community and whole organization first.

2. The traditional matrix skills encourage
operational thinking and meddling.

There are dozens of accepted lists of roles and
responsibilities of board members, and CSAE among
others sells a monograph on the topic. The lists quite
properly focus on governing the organization, such as
hiring and managing the chief staff officer and
carrying out fiduciary duties.

In twenty years of reviewing, and creating, such lists,
I've never seen a reference to engineering,
information technology, marketing, operations
management or public relations as board
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responsibilities. But these operational areas and
others like them appear on many board matrices
under skills or knowledge. There are even
organizations that will help recruit board members
for nonprofits that foolishly list ONLY such
operational skills. If you try to sign up as a candidate
and indicate skills in an area like strategic planning
or audit, there is no place to do so.

Once you tell candidates they are being considered
because of their operational specialty, they quite
naturally expect to use it in their board work. One of
two things then happens. The board, operating well,
avoids getting into operational details and areas for
which the chief staff officer is being held accountable
—and the new board members are confused. Or the
board has set up board committees in operational
areas such as facilities management or newsletters,
that often duplicate the work of staff and blur the
lines of accountability.

Of course many Canadian associations are not large
enough to have all the operational skills they need
within the staff, or enough staff time to carry them
out. Wise organizations know that the board cannot
delegate board work, but both the board and the chief
staff officer can find other volunteers to help with
operational work, often on operational or program
committees properly reporting to or through the chief
staff officer. Board members can also volunteer for
such committees, but only after making sure they
have enough time for their board commitments.

Your matrix should list only the skills and knowledge
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directly relevant to board work. It can be very
valuable to have someone with experience in hiring
and evaluating senior leaders, and overseeing high
level human resource policies, but a check mark
against “human resources” won’t help you know that

kind of detail.

3. The traditional matrix focuses on
occupation not knowledge.

In the next few years, most Canadian associations will
be redoing their bylaws, due to new federal or
provincial laws. Do you think it will help to have a
lawyer who specializes in real estate and isn’t even
aware of the new legislation, let alone how to develop
nonprofit bylaws? Or would you prefer directors who
understand the legal framework applicable to your
nonprofit, and maybe even have recent bylaws

experience?

Remember that while lawyers make excellent board
members because their education teaches them to ask
good questions, others can ask good questions too.
And the lawyer on your board is primarily a board
member, not a lawyer, so solicitor-client privilege
likely does not apply. You can’t just recruit a lawyer
to save legal fees.

Similarly, do you want someone with a current
understanding of financial reporting methods, risk
management and investment policies to head the
audit committee? Not all accountants have that sort
of expertise. A CFO, or someone who has chaired an
audit committee before, may fill the bill better for
you, so don’t restrict your search to professional
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accountants.

In other words, specify the knowledge or skills you
need, rather than the professional designation or
occupational title.

4. A two-dimensional matrix is not helpful for
board education planning.

Finally, it is just no longer appropriate to have yes/no
answers in areas where all the board members need
to have enough knowledge for informed decision-
making. Yes, you want a few people with good
financial backgrounds, but EVERY board member
needs to be able to understand the financial reports
and statements. You need to find out what level
directors rate themselves at for such comprehension.
If eight out of ten members say they cannot read the
financial statements at all, you need an in-house
workshop for all directors, so the two that do
understand can help the others (and perhaps fill in
gaps of their own). If eight of ten can read the
statements, you could schedule a coaching session for
those two or send them to a local public workshop for
nonprofit leaders.

Every board member needs to be a positive
ambassador to the community, to participate in group
decision-making, to comprehend reports to the board,
and, now in many organizations, to be comfortable in
electronic communications and virtual meetings. You
do not need IT expertise from your board members,
but you do need to know which directors need
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training to participate between meetings.

So learn from the hot trend in movies. Put on the 3D
glasses and see skills and knowledge as a cube and
continuum, not as yes/no. Have the training needs
jump out at you! You can ask people to rate
themselves. Have a scale from “I need training” to “I
have expertise” with several points between.

For candidates, ensure they understand that low
scores in certain areas will require a willingness to
take training. And of course, you are able to more
readily see which candidates come closest to having
the skills and knowledge you need.

Start Over

The old matrices are so detrimental to your
recruitment that I truly suggest you just throw them
away. Rethink your needs from scratch, based as with
all board work on the Vision, Values and Mission
Statements, and the current strategic priorities in
your plan.

I predict you will have a stronger pool of candidates,
more satisfied directors, and more directors prepared
to take an active role, become committee chairs or
officers, and be your next leaders.

Sidebar:

A national association that was a client of mine in
governance in 2009 had one-half of the board seats
reserved for a particular demographic, to match the
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fact that half of their programs served that
demographic. They thought this would be important
to the communities being served, but my
consultations showed hardly anyone in those
communities were even aware of the board

composition.

These directors tended to speak only when the board
agenda topic was about their community, and be
much less involved in overall governance of the
organization than the directors at large. Also, while
they were legally part of the demographic in question,
many were not living in the same areas as the
programs were being delivered, and were poorly
connected with those geographic communities.

Once those issues were disclosed to the board, there
was unanimous consent to change the bylaws and
focus more on skills and knowledge, and much less
on demographics. That actually made the board more
appealing to the most qualified candidates from that
demographic, as they no longer saw themselves being
asked to fill the quota specified in the bylaws. And the
board had more ability to seek directors from another
demographic that had been identified as greatly
needed at that time.

They threw away their old matrix, and they are glad

they did.
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7 responses to ‘Throw away your old board
recruitment matrix’

Sherry Truhlar

Thanks for sharing, Gayle.

I have been inspired with a kernel of an idea ... applying
something like this to volunteers serving on fundraising auction
committees. I'm off to mull over this new thought.

Reply February 29th, 2012

I can’t wait to hear what you are thinking about, Sherry.

Reply March 15t, 2012

Mazarine

Hi Gayle,
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thanks for talking about not having diversity for its own sake. It’s
not noah’s ark here, and we definitely don’t need one of everyone,
just for the sake of a quota!

That said, board matrices are encouraged by some grant
applications, so let’s not throw the baby out with the bathwater.
Specifically, some grant applications want you to have a member
of the community you serve on your board, which leads to the
quota system with a certain number of people of different
ethnicities or income brackets.

I also think that it’s always a good idea to have a younger voice
on your board, because there are often not enough resources for
young people to move up in their nonprofit careers, and having a
role on a board (through a quota or no) allows them to
understand the higher workings of a nonprofit and gets them
ready for leadership.

In 2010 a New York Times article talked about the quota system
that Norway put in place to get 40% representation of women on
corporate boards by 2010. They did do it. This link talks about it:
https://www.nytimes.com/2010/01/28 /world/europe/28iht-
quota.html

Now France and Spain are following suit.

The idea behind it was that women would have more power if
they had greater representation on these boards. I don’t know if
it actually works that way, but I would like to hear how it works
over time. Norway is ahead of the US in a lot of ways, when it
comes to arts in healthcare, as well as a system that allows
everyone to get an education at no personal cost to themselves.
So this might also be a good idea.

Just trying to say that quota systems aren’t necessarily bad.
Because there’s no upper limit on board members, you can have
TONS of people who are passionate about the mission while still
having representatives from various groups.

You know?

Peace,

Mazarine

Reply March 15t, 2012
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Gayle L. Gifford

Mazarine,
Thank you for your thoughtful comment.

Jane’s point, and I agree, is that we shouldn’t put people on our
boards just to check a box on some matrix that may or may not
be relevant to our organizational needs.

That said, I'm in complete agreement that it benefits our
organizations to make serious commitments to seeking out and
finding categories of people who may be underrepresented on our
boards — who also fit the other competencies and characteristics
we are seeking.

In Francine Ostrower’s 2007 report “Nonprofit Governance in the
US?, it was pretty shocking that 51% of boards are solely made up
of white, non-Hispanic members, with the smallest organizations
the least diverse. In organizations with budgets over $40 million,
only 29% of board members are women.

And of course, a number of funders do require constituent/client
members on boards. There it particularly requires our boards to
be astute about power relations and ensure that everyone has a
voice.

So, yes. We can accomplish both. The ideal board matrix is the

one uniquely suited to each organization.

Reply March 374, 2012

Sandy Rees

I'm a big advocate of the matrix as a place to get people started
thinking. And I totally agree that passion and dedication to the
mission trump skill and knowledge.

Thanks for sharing, Gayle!

Sandy Rees

Reply March 4th, 2012
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Fundraising Headlines: March 5, 2012 | Growing Your
Donors

[...] Away Your Old Board Recruitment Matrix
http://ow.ly/9oIHg The Butterfly Effect [...]

Jane Garthson
Gayle, thank you so much for boosting the signal on my thoughts

about this important topic.

To Mazarine’s comment about grant requirements: I find that a
focus on skills and knowledge, including a respect for local
knowledge, ends up with more directors from the community
than the old style matrix ever would. And where voices are
needed to share knowledge about specific groups, three voices are
strong where one voice feels like a token, and puts far too much
pressure on the individual.

Reply October 28th, 2014

Leave a reply
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Competency-Based Succession Planning

Building a board with the right skills,
diversity, and culture

Even before the Enron scandal, which featured directors who
didn’t understand the company’s complex financial transactions,
and before the Sarbanes-Oxley Act required publicly owned
corporations to disclose whether their boards include directors
with financial expertise, it should have been self-evident that
relevant knowledge and experience are prerequisites for

effective governance.

Until recently, though, many governing boards, including those
at community hospitals and health systems, approached the
nominating process without a great detail of precision or
planning. Community hospital boards filled vacancies from the

same social and business circles as current members.

Without question, many visionary, dedicated, and accomplished
individuals have joined boards through this pathway over the
years. However, as the expectations for governance
accountability and effectiveness have increased, the limits of
traditional, informal board recruitment are becoming apparent.

Some boards have found themselves rich in directors with
certain backgrounds, such as finance or law, but short of
individuals with needed backgrounds in healthcare, audit,

As the
expectations for
governance
accountability
and effectiveness
have increased,
the limits of
traditional,
informal board
recruitment are
becoming
apparent.



quality, advocacy, or community health. Diversity—or rather
the lack of it—also has been a problem. The “good old boy
network” plentifully produced older white males but has a
harder time unearthing mid-career individuals, women, and
ethnic minorities. Health systems that populate parent board
seats with “representatives” from local boards can find these
directors protect back-home interests and fail to appreciate

their fiduciary responsibility to the system as a whole. Some The same rigor

physician directors have a hard time recognizing they are that goes into

system fiduciaries and not medical staff representatives. choosing

managers and
Boards may elect new members based on limited information. A clinicians
lack of careful vetting sometimes produces new directors who, certainty ought
despite good intentions, simply lack sufficient training, to be applied to

experience or time to master the high-level, complex issues governance.

they are asked to address. Asked to candidly assess their
boards, it's common to hear the board chair or CEO observe,
“We have some great people, but we have other trustees who

don’t add a lot to discussions.”

Succession Planning Process

Ironically, hospitals and health systems have formal skills
requirements and hiring practices for every other job, from the
lowest-level technician to the CEO and medical staff, but not for
their highest position: the board. The same rigor that goes into
choosing managers and clinicians certainly ought to be applied

to governance.
An explicit, competency-based succession planning process is

the best guarantee a board has for recruiting and developing

directors who bring a range of needed professional skills,

November 18, 2010e Great Boards Newsletter



backgrounds, and diversity that is reflective of the
community served. These 10 elements are integral to a

competency-based succession planning process:

1. Committee responsibility. The board delegates specific
responsibility for succession planning to a committee,
such as the Governance and Nominating Committee or

the Executive Committee.

2. Competency-based criteria. The governance
committee develops and recommends to the board
competency-based criteria to be used as a guideline for
recruiting and electing board members. Competency

criteria may be grouped into two categories:

e “Universal competencies” that all directors should
possess, such as commitment to the mission,
leadership skills, communications, and teamwork
abilities; personal integrity; strategic and critical
thinking skills; and a demonstrated understanding of
the difference between governance and
management.

e “Essential collective competencies” that one or more
members bring to help the board execute its
responsibilities effectively. Common collective
competencies include backgrounds in executive
leadership, business management, healthcare,
investments, audit, clinical care and quality

improvement, law, and community health needs.

November 18, 2010e Great Boards Newsletter
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3. Skills matrix and “gap” analysis. At least annually, the

governance committee should identify near and long-
term recruitment needs by analyzing a matrix that
displays the board’s competencies, current members
who fill each competency, and “gaps” based anticipated

vacancies and emerging subject area needs.

Continuously updated pipeline. The committee should
maintain a running list of prospective members and
their backgrounds. All board members should be invited
to submit suggestions. The board and committee chairs
and the CEO should connect with various community
leaders to identify prospective board members,
including those who might broaden the board’s diversity

and not be identified traditional recruitment channels.

“Short list” interviews. Focusing on “gaps,” the
committee should agree on a “short list” of prospective
directors to be interviewed. Usually, the chair of the
board and/or governance committee interviews
prospective directors. The interviews should include an
explanation of a board member’s responsibilities, a
discussion of the prospect’s background, and a candid
exploration of the prospect’s interest and ability to

devote the time required for board work.

Recommendation. The committee should finalize a
recommended slate of candidates for election to fill

board vacancies.

November 18, 2010e Great Boards Newsletter
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7. Performance-based reelection. Directors who are

eligible for election to an additional term should not be
automatically reappointed. They should be asked to
confirm their interest in reelection and undergo a clearly
defined, performance-based reelection process. The
governance committee should review a performance
profile that summarizes the director’s attendance
record, participation in education and community
events, noteworthy contributions, and evaluations from

committee chairs and the board chair.

Board leaders. The governance committee should also
ensure there is a line of succession for future board

chairs and committee chairs.

Term limits. Reasonable term limits, such as a
maximum of three or four consecutive three-year terms,
encourage the board to keep its pipeline fueled with
prospective new members and board leaders. Although
term limits have the disadvantage of forcing retirement
of some highly productive directors, their advantage is
encouraging a continuing flow of fresh thinking,
objectivity, and community connectedness into the work
of the board.

10. Self-renewal. Like all governance elements, the

succession planning process should be evaluated as part
of ongoing board self-assessment. The governance
committee should update its competency-based
recruitment criteria every one or two years to ensure

currency.

November 18, 2010e Great Boards Newsletter
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Competencies + Diversity + Culture
Professional skills and experience by themselves do not
ensure governance effectiveness. Two other components

are needed: diversity and culture.

Diversity. When coupled with subject matter competencies,
a diversity of backgrounds enhances a board’s credibility
with its community and brings different life experiences and
ways of thinking to group interactions. Many boards believe
that the addition of women and ethnic minorities to the
board table makes them better as deliberative and decision-
making bodies. Diversity doesn’t happen by itself. Boards
need to broaden their connections with organizations and
individuals who can connect them to women, minorities,

and rising stars in business, academia, and community life.

Culture. The final ingredient to realizing the full value of
board members’ individual competencies is the board’s
culture. Does the board’s culture, its way of doing things,
allow directors to make their voice felt? Does the board
chair encourage members to engage and raise challenging
questions? Will new directors find their questions and
insights welcome or resisted by the current leadership?

It’s also important to choose directors who are a good fit
with a board’s core values. Most boards value collegiality.
Thus, while challenging conventional wisdom can be a good
thing, boards with a collegial culture should recruit
directors who don’t personalize criticism and know to frame
tough questions in a non-confrontational manner. Similarly,
Catholic hospital boards need directors who are bring “hard

November 18, 2010e Great Boards Newsletter
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skills such as finance and business but aren’t tone deaf to the
mission. The interview and conversations with executives and
directors of organizations where the prospect has served are

good ways to assess an individual’s cultural fit with the board.

Composition

] _ can be a trans-

Power of Succession Planning formational
As it evaluates potential new directors, the governance strategy.

committee should consider all three components—professional
competence, diversity, and cultural fit—to find and nominate

individuals who will blend into a strong working team.

Composition can be transformational. This year’s class of new

directors will be the board’s leaders in the future.

Organizations that need governance to be more visionary,

. . . . Great Boards
strategic, accountable, and action-oriented rather than risk

. . . . The Online Governance
averse can look to succession planning to establish a foundation
Newsletter

for long-term change. They can look for new directors among
www.GreatBoards.org

executives from other industries that have undergone

transformational change, such as banking and airlines. Systems Published by :

that want to move from representational governance to system EST N .

thinking can seek members who understand complex systems. 10050 East Calle de Cielo

Scottsdale, Arizona 85258
Succession planning, like board orientation and education, is a

good governance practice that pays long-run dividends. Phone: 480-614-0422

GreatBoards@gmail.com

Barry S. Bader is the Publisher of the Great Boards newsletter
and the President of Bader & Associates, governance
consultants.
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Resources for Competency-Based
Composition

American Hospital Association’s Center for Healthcare
Governance, Competency-based Governance: A Foundation for
Board and Organizational Effectiveness
Available for $45 or download free at
http://www.americangovernance.com/americangovern
ance/BRP/BRPmain.html)

The Governance Institute, Board Recruitment (Elements of
Governance series)
Available to Governance Institute members only at

http: //www.governanceinstitute.com/

Great Boards newsletter and resources
Diversity and Competence: Recruiting for Both, May
2002
Recruiting a More Diverse Board, Winter 2007/2008
Sample Policy on Board Composition, including Sample
Competency Guidelines for Board Selection
Available free at www.GreatBoards.org

Trustee magazine
Why Board Diversity Matters: Practical ways to meet
community needs, September 2010
Available for download at
http: //www.trusteemag.com/trusteemag app/index.jsp

“Boards need to
move beyond
personality-
driven
governance

to leadership
based on the
knowledge,
skills, and
behaviors best
suited to helping
organizations
achieve their
mission and
goals.”

—AHA Report

Modern Healthcare
Raising the bar for boards, March 2, 2009
Available at http://www.modernhealthcare.com/
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continued from page 3

mainly to provide community perspec-
tive for activities such as strategic
planning, or convene town-hall meet-
ings in local communities for the same
purpose. They also begin to employ
other mechanisms to maintain connec-
tions with the communities they serve.
These include holding system board
meetings at various locations across the
service area, convening “listening
sessions” with community leaders and

elected officials or including local
leaders on system board committees.

A critical role for boards to play at this
stage of development is to ensure their
systems remain disciplined about future
growth. Boards must continually ask,
“How would new organizations add
value?” and have the discipline to say
“no” unless the value they would
contribute is clear. Boards that impose

this discipline will help their systems
optimize the benefits that appropriate
scale and integration can deliver and
add substantial value at this and future
stages of system development.

Casey Nolan can be reached at
casey.nolan@navigant.com. Mary
Totten can be reached at
marykaytotten@gmail.com.

Board Development: A Marathon Not a Sprint

by Barry S. Bader

What does it take for a governing board
to truly excel, adding tangible value to
the organization through its work in the
boardroom and its connections to key
stakeholders?

Whether a board’s starting point is
average performance or mediocrity, the
journey to the top echelon of gover-
nance effectiveness cannot be achieved
with a few quick steps. Board develop-
ment is more like a marathon than a
sprint. Similar to a marathon runner’s
regimen, board development should be
a long-term process requiring personal
commitment, honing of critical skills,
rigorous training and a disciplined plan
to create a sustainable culture of out-
standing governance.

Nonetheless, many trustees and CEOs
—if they're honest with themselves —
recognize that they are good but not
great. For example, year after year,
some board practices get the lowest
scores in the annual governance surveys
by the AHA and other organizations.
Boards self-report that they trail their
own aspirations when it comes to such
practices as:

e Competency-based succession plan-
ning for future board leaders and
board members.

e Keeping the board educated on
changes in a complex, transforming
health care system.

e Using the majority of board meet-
ing time for forward-looking, strate-
gic board discussions.

e Understanding and overseeing
management of enterprise risks.

e Using the results of board self-as-
sessments to make improvements.

e Evaluating individual trustees to
help them improve and to base
their re-appointment on perfor-
mance.

A recent McKinsey survey of 25 large
public companies found that board
agendas “still spend the bulk of their
time on quarterly reports, audit re-
views, budgets, and compliance — 70
percent is not atypical — instead of on
matters crucial to the future prosperity
and direction of their business.” In other
words, boards still spend too much time
on retrospective review, not the sort of
forward-looking work that optimizes the
knowledge and experience of directors
to advise management and make better
informed board decisions.

Exceptional governance requires cre-
ation of a board culture of high expec-
tations, continuous learning, active
engagement, candor, independence and
informed action. Culture development
is inherently a long-term process. It can
take years for a board to define, nurture
and embed the desired culture in its
work. For example, to populate a typical
board with members serving staggered,
three-year terms with the right compe-
tencies —i.e., the knowledge, skills, out-
side connections and diversity it needs
— it will take several years to recruit the
"board of the future" and then develop
the “best of the best” as board leaders.

Case in Point: New England Baptist
Hospital

A marathon-style approach to board
development is very different from typi-
cal board assessment and improvement
efforts. In 2009, New England Baptist
Hospital in Boston had a new CEO, Trish
Hannon, and an incoming board chair,
entrepreneur Richard Maloney. They
recently reflected on the board’s multi-
year board development process.

Top-level commitment. Hannon would
formally come on board in November,
but after observing her first board
meeting in September, she and Maloney
began conversations about the future
work of the board. “The idea wasn’t
hers or mine but ours,” says Maloney.
They began to solicit feedback from
other board members and determined
that a new governance committee
would steer the future direction of the
board.

“For me the driving focus was strate-
gic planning,” says Hannon. “As a new
CEOQ, | needed a board that would be
fully engaged in the work that would
be required under health care reform.
We needed board leadership to guide
the medical staff and support the CEO
in moving the Baptist beyond its deeply
held traditions and market position.”

Among the board and medical staff
leaders there were “four schools of
thought” about the Baptist’s future,
recalls Hannon:

continued on page 5



continued from page 4

e  “Restore the glory days” of being a
full-service community hospital.

e Being a surgical specialty hospital,
in the tradition of Baptist’s role as
the Lahey Clinic’s surgical hospital
before that group moved to subur-
ban Burlington, MA.

e Merging with a larger system and
becoming a highly focused, center
of excellence for bone and joint
surgery for that institution.

e Becoming a niche specialty institu-
tion providing an accountable care
system for musculoskeletal disease
that would partner with multiple
networks in the marketplace.

Passions were strong around each
vision, “but there had been no for-
mal, board-driven planning process to
decide,” says Hannon. So the board
development journey began by educat-
ing the board about the health care
environment and engaging the board
deeply in the strategic planning process.
The board chose the fourth alternative
vision, becoming an accountable care
system for musculoskeletal care, and

in so doing began to change its gover-
nance culture. “We needed to move
from being an operationally focused
board to being a strategic, forward-
looking, and competency-based board
that relied on the management team
for great execution and operational
effectiveness, with appropriate board
oversight,” says Hannon.

Governance committee and coach. “To
change the board’s culture, its role and
the skill set needed wasn’t a one-time
fix,” says Maloney. A governance com-
mittee was formed, its composition
thoughtfully crafted. The committee
chair was an attorney with both vi-

sion and strong connections with the
Baptist’s traditions; members included a
retired executive from an international
financial services company and two
highly respected medical staff leaders,
along with the board chair, CEO and the
hospital general counsel.

Maloney recalls, “I had a sense of what
was needed” to create a best practices
strategic board but not “how to get

Figure 1: Five-Year Board Development Goals, 2011 — 2015

Defining expectations: Achieve a board culture characterized by enhanced
accountability, engagement, strategic thinking, continuous learning, and an
action-orientation, as described in the Governance Charter.

Succession planning: Increase the competence and diversity of the NEBH

Board by implementing a competency-based, succession planning process
to recruit and elect new directors and to evaluate directors eligible for re-
election to additional terms based on performance.

. Orientation and continuing education: Implement an ongoing, compe-

tency-based orientation and education process (while being sensitive to
demands on directors’ time), including: on-boarding process, mentoring,
personal learning plans, education via board portal, outside educational
conferences and other activities.

. Strategically driven board work: Implement a strategy-driven approach for

board work at board meetings, committee meetings, board retreats and
mini-retreats, board portal, and related educational events; benchmarking
visits; “shadow a team member”.

External relationships: Enhance NEBH’s external relationships, including
philanthropic support and political connectedness, with greater leadership
and engagement from the board.

. Efficiency of time and resources: Streamline governance structure and

activities to ensure that board education and work are being completed as
efficiently as possible and optimizing the time resources of directors and
management, by eliminating redundancy, unnecessary structures, and cum-
bersome decision-making processes.

. Self-assessment and ongoing improvement: Implement an ongoing process

of board self-assessment and improvement that enhances the effectiveness
of the board as a whole, its committees and leaders, and individual direc-
tors, as well as the relationship of the board with management and clinical

leaders.

there. We needed an expert to assist in
the journey.”

The committee chose a governance
consultant to provide insight from other
organizations that had upgraded their
governance and to serve as a “coach,”
asking challenging questions, offering
expertise on best practices and keeping
the committee focused on its goals. “It
was important that the board saw the
driver as the governance committee,
not the CEO,” adds Hannon.

Multi-year board development plan.
With the consultant’s guidance, the
committee crafted a five-year board
development plan with specific goals in
seven areas (see Figure 1):

e Defining expectations.

e Filling vacancies based on compe-
tencies.

e Orientation and continuing educa-
tion.

e Strategically driven board work.

e External relationships, including
philanthropy.

e Efficient use of time and resources.

e Self-assessment and continuous
improvement process.

Annual board development action
plans. After an educational retreat
about best practices in governance,
the full board approved the long-term

continued on page 6
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board development goals and imple-
mentation plan in 2011. In building
block fashion, the plan called for specific
activities under each goal, year by year,
to develop the new culture.

First, the board defined the responsibili-
ties and expectations of the full board
and individual trustees in a “governance
charter.” Next, the governance commit-
tee built a sustainable board succession
planning process based on needed com-
petencies. To identify potential trustees
with the right backgrounds, committee
members spoke with “connectors” in
key stakeholder groups (e.g., board,
business community, academic com-
munity, local community, medical staff,
and honorary trustees). The committee
winnowed down the suggested names
to a short list who were interviewed,
and who over time may be invited to
join board committees and possibly

the board. Already, Baptist has filled a
half-dozen vacancies with individuals
with specific, needed competencies,
including banking, quality improvement,
entrepreneurship, community leader-
ship, real estate development, venture
capital and media—all important assets
as NEBH charted its course for the
future.

Board committees have been strength-
ened with charters, competency-based
composition, improved oversight

Key Elements of the Baptist’s
Board Development Journey

Commitment from the top.
Long-term goals.

Multi-year board develop-
ment plan with annual evalu-
ation and updates.

Competency-centric culture
related in all board practices,
starting with succession plan-
ning.

Leadership from the Gover-
nance Committee assisted by
a coach.

reports and more substantive agendas.
Board meetings have grown steadily
more strategic, and senior management
changed presentations to discussions.

A board portal facilitates trustee access
to meeting materials and other educa-
tional resources. Thick board books that
once frustrated trustees are a thing of
the past, says Maloney.

The board completed a customized
version of the Center for Healthcare
Governance’s “GAP” board assessment
tool and used the results to refine the
board development plan. In 2013, the
board instituted a competency-based
individual trustee assessment process.

Taking Stock

Mary R. Wittenberg, president of the
New York Road Runners Club, puts
marathon running in the context of the
long and dedicated preparation that’s
required to complete an eventual mara-
thon: "A marathoner is a marathoner
regardless of time,” she writes. “Virtu-
ally everyone who tries the marathon
has put in training over months, and it
is that exercise and that commitment,
physical and mental, that gives meaning
to the medal, not just the day’s effort,
be it fast or slow. It's all in conquering
the challenge."

So too is the challenge of achieving
great governance.

“From management’s view, any trans-
formational journey takes an invest-
ment of time to work,” says Hannon.
“We didn’t take the position that

the current board is ineffective” and
requires “sweeping changes.” Rather,
the board development plan called for
education to build the competencies
of current board members and gradu-
ally incorporated new competencies
as trustees reached tenure limits and
created vacancies.

As Baptist’s board development jour-
ney nears its fifth year in 2015, the
results are evident in the organization’s
strategic performance. With the board’s
leadership and support, New England
Baptist, says Hannon, has achieved a

strong brand position in the market-
place. It is becoming the market leader
in musculoskeletal care, has added out-
patient locations and doubled volumes,
posted excellent clinical outcomes,

and improved both community and
philanthropic support. The hospital has
reopened service lines it shed a decade
ago, including occupational medicine
and the spines service. In the highly
competitive New England market, it
has joined the Beth Israel Deaconess
network as a “full partner providing ac-
countable care.”

Going forward, Baptist’s board develop-
ment won’t require the same intensity
of effort; the board has built a self-
sustaining governance culture to ensure
governance continues to perform well.
Each year, the governance committee
updates the board development plan
for the following year. Earlier this year,
the governance committee began com-
piling a list of potential trustees to fill
expected vacancies in 2015 and 2016. A
leadership succession planning process
is underway to choose a chair-elect and
other future board leaders. Each year,
the governance committee will develop
new goals, consistently nurturing its
culture.

“We wanted to make ‘forever-type
changes,”” Maloney says. He hands to
his successor a board with the capacity
to do exactly that.

Barry S. Bader is a governance consul-
tant and the founder of Great Boards.
This will be his final, regular commen-
tary for the newsletter, which Bader
and Associates began in 2001. Great
Boards continues under the aegis of the
American Hospital Association’s Center
for Healthcare Governance.

Editor’s Note: The AHA and the Center
would like to thank Barry Bader for the
wealth of information and resources

he provided through the Great Boards
newsletter and Web site at no cost to
health care board members and leaders.
Governance of our nation’s hospitals

is better because he turned a vision of
more informed and educated boards
into action.
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Succession Planning

What would you do in your organization if a key employee resigned, fell ill or had to be fired tomorrow? Would you be

prepared?

In this Section:

o Introduction

e What is succession planning?

e Why is succession planning important?

e Who is responsible for succession planning?

e What are some challenges to effective succession planning?
o Succession planning in small and mid-sized organizations
e Succession planning in larger organizations

o Tips for successful succession planning

Introduction

Succession planning is not an issue that many organizations address in any systematic way. Because many nonprofits are
small (with fewer than 10 employees) and because they may be facing other organizational challenges, thinking about who the

next executive director might be or what would happen if the director of finance suddenly left is not high on their priority list.

There are many reasons why organizations need to be thinking about succession planning. The most important reason, of
course, is that we rely on staff to carry out our missions, provide services and meet our organization's goals. We need to think

about what would happen to those services or our ability to fulfill our mission if a key staff member left.

Another reason to focus on succession planning is the changing realities of workplaces. The impending retirement of the baby
boomers is expected to have a major impact on workforce capacity. Teresa Howe in "Succession Planning and Management"

identified other emerging realities about the workforce in Canada:

e Vacancies in senior or key positions are occurring in numerous organizations simultaneously and demographics indicate

there are statistically fewer people available to fill them

o Baby boomer retirements are on the rise just at the time when the economy is growing and increasing the demand for

senior management expertise

http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/planning-succession.cfm[3/6/2017 4:03:27 PM]
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Looking for a specific checklist,

tool, template or sample policy?

Find it fast in the Resource Index.
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o There is no emerging group of potential employees on the horizon as in past generations (i.e. baby boomers, women

entering the workforce, large waves of immigration)

e Many organizations eliminated middle manager positions during restructuring in the 1980s and 90s and no longer have this
group as a source to fill senior level vacancies

¢ Younger managers interested in moving up do not have the skills and experience required because they have not been
adequately mentored. This is because middle managers, who would normally perform this type of coaching role, were

eliminated

With careful planning and preparation, organizations can manage the changes that result from a generational transfer of

leadership as well as the ongoing changes that occur regularly when key employees leave an organization.

Although the type and extent of planning will be different, organizations both large and small need to have some sort of
succession plan. Effective succession planning supports organizational stability and sustainability by ensuring there is an
established process to meet staffing requirements. Boards and executive directors can demonstrate leadership by having the

strategies and processes in place to ensure that these transitions occur smoothly, with little disruption to the organization.

Related HR Management Standards:

W Standard 3.3

o All employees have a work plan and performance objectives
What is this? i . .
that identify the tasks/activities and expected results for future

performance.

Standard 6.2
Backup plans are documented to address any key employee
leaves of absence.

Standard 6.3
Critical positions in the organization are identified and
succession plans are established.

~ Recommended Reading

La Reléve: Succession in Quebec’s Community Sector

Commissioned by Quebec’s Comité sectoriel de main-d'ceuvre,
Economie sociale et Action communautaire, and translated with
the generous support of the Institute for Nonprofit Studies at
Mount Royal College, La Reléve is a combination discussion paper
and workbook, aimed at raising awareness about succession and

workforce demographics in the province’s community sector. While

the majority of the statistics found in the document are specific to
Quebec, the issues and concepts about succession have broad and
universal applications for the sector in provinces and territories in

the rest of Canada.

Back to top

What is succession planning?

(1 Important

While the term executive director is used throughout this discussion it is understood it is only one of many terms (such as
president & CEO, senior manager and general manager) used by organizations in the sector to refer to their most senior
staff person. The same is true of terms used for other positions so that an accountant in one organization may be a

financial officer or CFO in another. The important consideration is not the title but the work-related responsibilities and

http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/planning-succession.cfm[3/6/2017 4:03:27 PM]


http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/resources-resources.cfm
http://checkup.hrcouncil.ca/
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/raisingthebar.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/standards-display.cfm?intCategoryID=12&id=16
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/standards-display.cfm?intCategoryID=15&id=27
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/standards-display.cfm?intCategoryID=15&id=54
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/documents/La_Releve_English_Web.pdf
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/documents/La_Releve_English_Web.pdf

Succession Planning | HR Planning | HR Toolkit | hrcouncil.ca

their value within the organization.

A succession plan, simply put, is a component of good HR planning and management. Succession planning acknowledges that
staff will not be with an organization indefinitely and it provides a plan and process for addressing the changes that will occur
when they leave. Most succession planning focuses on the most senior manager - the executive director, however, all key
positions should be included in the plan. Key positions can be defined as those positions that are crucial for the operations of

your organization and, because of skill, seniority and/or experience, will be hard to replace.
Whenever size and resources permit, a succession plan should involve nurturing and developing employees from within an
organization. Employees who are perceived to have the skills, knowledge, qualities, experience and the desire can be

groomed to move up to fill specific, key positions. Organizations should:

o Assess their current and future needs based on either their strategic plan, goals and objectives, or priority programs and

projects
o Match these to the capabilities of the existing workforce
e Develop a plan to manage the gaps that will arise when individuals in key positions leave or are promoted

The plan will generally include a combination of training and developing existing staff, and external recruitment.

To avoid a potential constructive dismissal or other claim, include a statement to specify that a succession plan is not a
guarantee of a position; rather it represents a developmental plan to prepare an individual should opportunities arise
within the organization.

Back to top

Why is succession planning important?

The benefits of good succession planning include:

o A means of ensuring the organization is prepared with a plan to support service continuity when the executive director,
senior managers or key people leave

o A continuing supply of qualified, motivated people (or a process to identify them), who are prepared to take over when
current senior staff and other key employees leave the organization

e An alignment between your organization's vision and your human resources that demonstrates an understanding of the

need to have appropriate staffing to achieve strategic plans

o A commitment to developing career paths for employees which will facilitate your organization's ability to recruit and retain

top-performing employees and volunteers
o An external reputation as an employer that invests in its people and provides opportunities and support for advancement
o A message to your employees that they are valuable
The absence of a succession plan can undermine an organization's effectiveness and its sustainability. Without a succession

planning process, an organization may not have a means of ensuring that the programs and services that are crucial to its
operation are sustained beyond the tenure of the individual currently responsible for them.

A mid-sized arts organization lost an employee who had been hosting, organizing and managing a major fundraising

event for a number of years. When he left, staff knew very little about how it was put together and there was no

http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/planning-succession.cfm[3/6/2017 4:03:27 PM]
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operations manual documenting the event. This very important event ended up being abandoned by the organization
because they simply did not know how to run it.

A succession plan ensures that there are qualified and motivated employees (or a means of recruiting them) who are able to
take over when the executive director or other key people leave an organization. It also demonstrates to stakeholders such as
clients, funders, employees and volunteers that the organization is committed to and able to provide excellent programs and

services at all times, including during times of transition.

A mid-sized organization relied heavily on the corporate memory, skills and experience of a longtime employee. In her
final position, she was responsible for office administration including payroll, budget monitoring and the organization's
major annual fundraising event. Over the course of her employment she held a variety of positions and had a very good
understanding of the organization's operations and history.

Her unexpected death was both an emotional blow and a wake up call to her colleagues. Everything she had known about
the organization was "in her head." While discussions had occurred regularly concerning the need to document this
information and to pass this knowledge on to others - this had never happened. The organization was able to regroup and
survive the transition but the employees experienced high levels of stress as they struggled to determine what needed to
happen when. A great deal of time and effort was spent recreating systems and processes and even then, some things fell
through the cracks resulting in the need to rebuild relationships with supporters.

Back to top

Who is responsible for succession planning?

Both the board and the executive director have pivotal roles to play in succession planning.

The board is responsible for succession planning for the executive director position. The board hires the executive director to
ensure it has a skilled manager at the helm to implement the organization's mission and vision. It is therefore very important
for boards to spend some time reflecting on what they would do if, or when, the executive director leaves. All too often, boards
find that they are unprepared for such an occurrence and are left scrambling to quickly replace that person. There are many
examples of an executive director leaving only to have the organization fall into disarray: funders withdraw resources, and
other key staff members leave due to lack of effective leadership. Even when provided with adequate notice, boards sometimes

find themselves in the position of having to scramble to find an interim solution.

The executive director is responsible for ensuring a succession plan is in place for other key positions in the organization.

These will likely be developed with help from the management team with input from implicated employees.

To ensure the process is fair and the succession plan considers different perspectives, ask for input from all key
stakeholders.

Back to top

What are some challenges to effective succession planning?

Some challenges to succession planning are:

o Size of the organization: some nonprofits have so few positions that they may not have the ability to offer opportunities for
advancement; employees with the potential and the desire to advance their careers may move to larger organizations as a

result

o Lack of financial resources: employees may leave for better salaries and benefits offered in other workplaces
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o The nature of funding: as more and more organizations depend on project funding as opposed to core funding, there are
fewer core staff members available to take up positions in the organizations
o Project staff come and go and may not be seen to be part of the talent pool available to organizations

« In some cases, senior leaders are staying on in their positions, despite the fact that the skills needed for the job may have

changed or they are no longer making a meaningful and productive contribution to the organization

o Indiscriminate inclusion of employees in the succession plan including those who are disinterested, unmotivated or lack

capacity to advance
o Inadequate training and development resulting in an employee who is not prepared for a promotion

o A plan that does not promote people in a timely fashion, leading potential successors to leave the organization to seek new

opportunities

e Poor communication resulting in confusion and turmoil within the organization as staff speculate about what the

succession plan really is

o Potential candidates for promotion cannot be guaranteed that they will be promoted; a lot depends on timing and need of

the organization

Back to top

Succession planning in small and mid-sized organizations

In many smaller organizations, succession planning may be viewed as a luxury, but it isn't. At the very least, boards of
directors have a responsibility to consider and plan for the departure of the executive director, who is often critical to the
existence and sustainability of the organization.

When faced with the loss or impending loss of an executive director, these kinds of questions quickly surface:

o Should we hire from within or look for an external candidate?

¢ Do we have anyone internally who is qualified?

o Whether we hire internally or externally; does anyone really know the specifics of what that person was doing?

o What kind of impact will this change have on our capacity to deliver on our mandate and on our relationships with our
clients, donors and volunteers?

o What do we tell our stakeholders?

Developing a succession plan for the executive director

In some instances, the board may decide that there needs to be a "second in command" who has the capacity to replace the
executive director in the future. This means:

o Identifying that person in collaboration with the executive director
o Ensuring that the person is motivated to take on the top job
o Developing a plan to ensure that the eventual successor gains the requisite skills and knowledge to take the job on

o Ensuring that the second in command is exposed to a broad range of experiences so that he or she has a wider

understanding of the operations of the organization

The plan could include a formalized process of mentoring or coaching and training in more specific aspects of the job. When
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the size of the organization permits, it would be preferable to have more than one person identified as a potential successor to
the executive director.

In a small nonprofit, it may not be possible to groom a successor from within the ranks of existing staff. To ensure continuity
and stability when an executive director leaves, employees may be paired to cross-train each other to ensure there are two

people on staff who know each job.

The board chair should have a conversation with the executive director on an annual basis regarding his or her career
aspirations. While the executive director is not required to share any career goals, the conversation can allow for a frank

discussion about future plans.

Steps to put in place

First and foremost, the board is responsible for drawing up a plan of action and effectively communicating it to the rest of the
staff as soon as possible. This is necessary to demonstrate that the board is taking decisive action, to deal with any

misinformation that may be generated by a quick departure and to ensure that all of the employees' questions are answered.

The board must also communicate its plan of action for replacing the executive director in a timely manner with its funders.

Funders will need to be assured that plans and programs are on target and deliverables will not change.

With no succession plan or second in command identified, the board may want to name an interim executive director until a
replacement is selected. This choice should be made wisely because someone with the right skills and knowledge needs to be
chosen. If a person is asked to take on the executive director responsibilities in addition to his or her job, there should be an
adjustment in that employee's compensation to reflect the additional responsibilities and work load.

Another option is to ask a qualified group of two or three employees to co-manage the organization by sharing the executive
director responsibilities. In order for this approach to be effective, it requires a clear understanding of the various aspects of
the executive director 's position so that tasks may be given to those with ability to take them on. It also requires ongoing
communication and coordination between the employees that are part of the co-management team.

If there are no employees able or willing to take on the task on an interim basis, a board member may be asked to temporarily
assume these functions. Of course, the board member will have to resign from the board if he or she takes on a paid position

with the organization.

™ Links and Resources

HR Toolkit: Transitioning to a new executive director

Learn more about things board members should consider when hiring a new executive director.

Ideas for recruiting for other key positions

The following ideas can be incorporated into your succession plan for key positions in the organization other than the

executive director.
Look to other organizations for exceptional employees

New employees are often found in other nonprofits. While some may view this as poaching, the reality is that employees who
aren't being challenged or aren't happy will leave the organization for a better opportunity. In some cases, employees have
been known to leave for a position in another organization but return years later with new experiences and skills. Helping to
keep exceptional employees in the sector by allowing them to move around to develop their careers should be seen not as a

loss for individual organizations, but as a gain for the capacity of the sector.

An innovative approach would be to develop a pool of candidates with other organizations and develop a rotational program
to allow key employees to move from one organization to the next. This approach would ensure key individuals remain
challenged and motivated while a group of nonprofits all benefit from the expertise.

Look to your organization's volunteers

There may be board members or volunteers in other positions within the organization with the talent, knowledge and

experience who can effectively make the transition to a paid position.
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Look to project staff (either current or those who did project work for your organization in the past)

As a result of a shift from core funding to project-based funding, there are more and more project staff who move from
organization to organization with short contracts. These people will often have gained information about your organization's

operations and could move seamlessly into a core staff position.
Look to consultants (either those that have worked with your organization or other similar organizations)
While most consultants may prefer to stay in their line of business, there are those who would like to become staff members, if

asked. In some cases, consultants worked for a nonprofit before becoming a consultant and are interested in moving back into
the sector to work.

Knowledge transfer is a key component of the succession plan. Ensure that core organizational processes are well
documented. Whenever possible, ensure an overlap of time so the exiting employee can help orient and train the new

employee.

Back to top

Succession planning in larger organizations

The steps outlined below provide a roadmap for larger organizations interested in developing succession plans. Different
organizations will implement these activities differently. While there is no right or wrong way to develop a succession plan, the

following provides important components that need to be considered.

Capacity and needs assessment

Step 1
Identify key positions for your organization. These include the executive director, senior management and other staff
members who would, for their specialized skills or level of experience, be hard to replace. Ask yourself which positions would

need to be filled almost immediately to ensure your organization continues to function effectively.

Step 2

Review and list your current and emerging needs. This will involve examining your strategic and operational plans to clearly
articulate priorities.

Step 3

Prepare a chart that identifies the key positions and individuals in the organization. The positions might include those listed in

step 1 and/or others that are pertinent to your organization, such as volunteers.

Step 4
Identify and list the gaps by asking questions such as:

o Which individuals are slated to or likely to leave (through retirement, project completion, etc.) and when?

o Which new positions will be required to support the strategic plan?

o Which positions have become or will become obsolete (for example, those related to a program that has been terminated)?
o What skills and knowledge will need to be developed (for example, to support a new program)?

Step 5

Evaluate/assess all staff members with the goal of identifying those who have the skills and knowledge or the potential along

with the desire to be promoted to existing and new positions.

o The evaluation can be formal or informal and can include, but is not limited to, performance reviews, 360 degree

assessments and informal conversations with the individuals under consideration.
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o The executive director may be aware that an employee has aspirations to and the capacity to move up. This may be an
opportunity to recognize this goal and support it.

» Take this opportunity to give younger workers a chance. Many young people enthusiastically enter the sector and then,
finding few opportunities for advancement, leave. Younger workers can remain engaged if you help to match their interests

to opportunities provided through effective succession planning.

Develop and implement the plan

Based on the evaluation and on the requirements of your strategic plan, identify the key person or people you will want to
develop and nurture for the future, the position you would like to groom them for, and the timeframe required to prepare
them. Consider different ways of developing your employees like: self-development, books/journals, mentor programs, special

project work.

Identify the career paths that the selected individuals should be following. Customize the path to fit the individual's abilities
and talents by developing an action plan. The plan must be dynamic - able to be changed as the individual's and the
organization's needs change. It must also consider the specific needs, learning styles and personalities of the individuals

involved in order to be effective.

Formalize education, training, coaching, mentoring and assessment activities. The mix of activities included within the action

plan should be linked to timelines and specific outcomes.

If possible, move people into different areas for experience and training before they are needed in critical positions. Have
individuals job-shadow for an agreed upon period of time to give the successor a real sense of the responsibilities and to allow

the organization the chance to determine whether the individual really is suited for the new position.

Monitor and manage the plan

As people leave and new people assume their responsibilities, the plan will have to be updated to identify the next person to
be groomed for promotion and the requirements of his or her individual action plan. For organizations that engage in an

annual (or regular) strategic planning process, the succession plan should be included in that discussion.

Be prepared to address issues such as concerns of staff who have not been selected for career advancement. Ensure alternative
paths are identified to allow all employees who are interested in career enhancement to be given some type of professional
development opportunity. Professional development can include such wide ranging activities as formal education and training,
workshops and seminars as well as less formal learning opportunities such as the chance to represent the organization at a
consultation.

Recognize that no matter how well you plan, something can still happen which the succession plan doesn't address. For

example, you may have dutifully trained a "second" only to have that person leave. Even though there may be no one able to

fill the breach immediately, the succession plan will ensure that there is a process for you to follow in filling the position.

Back to top

Tips for successful succession planning

Secure senior management and board support for a succession planning process. This gives employees and staff an

understanding of how important succession planning is to the organization.

Review and update your succession plan regularly. This ensures you reassess your hiring needs and determine where the

employees identified in the succession plan are in their development.
Develop procedure manuals for essential tasks carried out by key positions. Include step-by-step guidelines.

Adequate time should be provided to prepare successors. The earlier they are identified, the easier it is on the individual to be

advanced and on other employees within your organization who will know whether certain options are available to them.

Understand that your succession plan will be a unique reflection of your organization. Succession plans are as different from

each other as the organizations for which they are developed.
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This article is the 10th in our Nonprofit Toolkit series. You can find past articles in our library which have

dealt with how staff can support their board of directors; the strategic plan tool; policies and procedures; a Related Articles

communication plan tool; risk management; competency-based boards; creating a volunteer handbook;

how to conduct your own member survey; and using templates. This month’s article deals with How play can improve creativity and trust in

succession planning for both paid staff and elected volunteer leaders. the workplace: An interview with Sheena
Greer

What would happen to your not-for-profit organization if the chief staff or chief volunteer leader were
incapacitated and not able to serve for several months or forever? What about your accountant or

March 1, 2017

perhaps your director of finance? What about your major event leaders (staff or volunteer)? What about One year later: How Canada's nonprofit
your government relations team leaders? What about the staff person in charge of your golf tournament if sector continues to support Syrian refugees
it happened the day before the event? Even if you are fortunate enough to not experience such traumas, February 22, 2017

eventually all of these folks will complete their maximum term of office, retire, or move to greener
pastures. They will have to be replaced. Getting fired is another scenario to consider; if your volunteer
leader loses his/her job or a key member of your staff deserves to be dismissed, are you prepared?

When passion for work goes too far: How to
avoid burnout

February 22, 2017

These situations have occurred in not-for-profit organizations and there are lessons to learn from the

experience of others. As part of your planning process you need to plan to replace key people if required

to do so. It is called success planning.

. . . . . . . A Bacome a Certifled Nonprofit
Before we get into the how of succession planning, consider this. According to the HR Council, paid Accounting Professional

employment in Canada’s voluntary/nonprofit sector totals 1.2 million employees who make up 7.2% of the ] ;
country’s paid workforce, involving more than 68,000 employers paying $22 billion in annual payroll. ol |
Voluntary sector leaders know that the sector is not competitive when it comes to wages and benefits > SIS clors,

Treasurers) Board members,

compared to government and industry. The HR Council also reports that the state of the labour force in Bookkeepers and Accduntants
Canada is one of high employment rates, labour shortages, and the pending retirement of baby boomers, HUMANITY
and that these realities are going to grow in scope. It's safe to predict that competition for employees and FIRANCIAL MANAGERMENT

P, e Mgt 1 G Tt Cnrd

volunteers is going to get a lot stiffer in the next 10 to 15 years.

So how can you go about introducing succession planning in your organization? Here is a suggested list
of steps to take now:
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Connect your

1. Develop a list of key positions, volunteer and paid, who could disrupt the execution of your
strategic plan and its components by their departure.

passion with
2. Next, develop an inventory of skill sets required for each key position. Don't just copy the skill pUTPOSE.
set that the current volunteer or staff occupant possesses; seize the opportunity to aim high or make .
changes based on your organization’s vision. }CHAHI TYVILLAGE

3. Identify current staff or volunteers who could step up to replace the vacancy, either on a
temporary or long-term basis.

4. Document sources of people with the required skills, again either on a temporary or long-
term basis. There are people skilled in the not-for-profit sector who work on short-term contracts to fill
in temporary needs on an “interim” basis to allow leaders time to fill the void(s).

5. Document what information will need to be readily accessible to those choosing the
successor and for the successor.

In a recently published article in Association™ magazine, Jack Shand, CAE, President of LeaderQuest
Inc. the job experts™ offered the following examples of documentation that should always be up-to-date
and available:

1. Board of directors (list of directors; terms of reference; meeting schedule; briefing/orientation binders;
committees of the board; minutes, etc.).

2. Staff (names; titles; job descriptions; personnel policies; reporting relationships; contract personnel;
performance appraisals; salaries; staff meetings, etc.).

3. Organizational details (policies; organization chart; by-laws; strategic plan; business plan; annual
budget; filing system; manuals for operating systems; key suppliers; contracts; official documents such
as letters patent and leases).

4. Comprehensive status and operating details regarding the key business lines or member services,
such as major events (contracts, contacts, project timelines); publications; and advocacy.

5. Financial (budget; signing authorities; financial reporting to the board; auditor and audit; banking and
investment details).

Your organization needs to plan for staff retirements. In her article on succession planning and
management posted on Charity Village.com, Theresa Howe, CHRP suggested that a simple starting point
for the identification of succession needs is an organization chart that includes key staff and their
expected retirement dates. Succession management also requires a clear view of the organization's
unique and specific information. Such items include:

* positions that may need to be filled

* job and industry specific competencies/descriptions,

expected timeframe

* assessment of internal talent and identification of gaps

creation of high potentials or talent pool through a variety of methods

development plans

ability to track and retain the talent pool

support for succession candidates

sourcing external candidates if necessary.

Your succession plan needs to be developed and also routinely reviewed and updated. So who should do
this?

It depends on your leadership model. If your board/council works under a policy governance framework,
your senior volunteer leaders need to plan how to replace the chief staff officer and, of course, their peers
in key leadership positions. Staff leaders typically own the equally important role of identifying skills sets
and competencies for staff succession planning.

As with all plans, your succession plan deserves champions who will support and promote its execution
and implementation. Such champions should come in the form of key board members and the chief staff
officer.
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And what happens if one of your volunteer leaders wants to either conduct the search or apply for vacant
positions? In her Ethics Q & A column, ethics consultant Jane Garthson explains the delicate steps that
must be taken before this can be considered:

Plans are road maps; if you do not lose key leaders, you don't need to take the trip. But you should have
a detailed map - just in case!

Paulette in President of Solution Studio Inc., a consulting practice that serves the nonprofit association
community. She can be reached at 1-877-787-7714 or Paulette@solutionstudioinc.com.
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Vision and Mission
The Ethics Practitioners Association of Canada envisions a world where people in organizations are
ethically aware and act ethically.

EPAC promotes ethical knowledge, wisdom and competency in Canadian organizations.

Organization Status

EPAC is a federally incorporated nonprofit created in 1996. It was formed by ethics practitioners wishing to
raise the bar on ethics in Canadian organizations through education and information sharing among those
giving ethics advice to organizations. EPAC has always included ethics officers, consultants, academics and
emerging practitioners as members.

EPAC has had some remarkable successes in the past, for example in establishing a Competency Profile of
Ethics Practitioners and a Magazine with quality material. The challenge now is to adapt the association to
the current external environment and to involve a younger cohort of practitioners.

The EPAC Board and committees work in English. Major documents are on the EPAC website in both
languages, communications with members can be conducted in French, and EPAC encourages use of French
at workshops, etc. to the extent possible. Some communications must be translated in order for our partners
to distribute them.

Governance Approach

The governing board sets direction, leads strategically and provides oversight of assets, strategic plan status
and compliance. Board members serve as officers, committee chairs and committee members of both board
and working committees since there are no staff members. Non-board members can serve on committees.

Board meetings are held monthly by teleconference, and last up to two hours. The current schedule is late
afternoon of the last Monday of each month. Documents are sent in advance for review, and there is active
online discussion between meetings. EPAC tries for at least one in-person board meeting a year in addition
to the short one after the AGM, and for at least one in-person all-day planning session.

Committees also meet virtually and each determines its own processes. Current externally focussed
committees are Communications, Education, Membership and Revenue Generation. Committees supporting
the board are Governance, and Audit and Risk Management. The Committees need more members. There is
an active sub-committee of Education putting on workshops.

Due to having critical mass only in Ottawa at this time, national events are scheduled there, with other
events in Toronto and where they can be hosted by partner organizations. In the past meetings and events
were moved around the country. The 2011 Annual General Meeting will be May 27" in Ottawa.

Strategic Plans

The 2013-2015 Strategic Plan was approved on November 26, 2012 and is on the web site. A Strategic
Action Plan, primarily consisting of committee plans, is being used to monitor progress. An update on
progress will be given at the AGM as part of the President’s report.

http.//www.epac-apec.ca Thursday, April 11, 2013
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Administration
The board receives fee-for-service administrative support from Virtual Option for mail-outs, memberships,
event registrations, voting eligibility at AGMs, posting website updates and more.

Resources

EPAC operates on a minimal budget and must generate more revenue in order to achieve its priorities. In the
interim, monies are leveraged as much as possible, and membership dues form the core funding. A
Sponsorship approach is under development.

Directors and Officers liability insurance is in place through EPAC’s membership in Volunteer Canada.
There are no funds at this time to pay travel expenses.

Partners/Regionalization

The partnership with the federal Values and Ethics Network is working well, and CBERN sponsored an
event in 2011. The EthicsCentre CA, based in Toronto, predates EPAC and throughout much of EPAC’s
history there was a considerable membership and volunteer overlap; good will remains. EPAC is in
discussions with the Canadian Centre for Ethics in Public Affairs, based in Halifax.

The fastest-growing area in Canada for ethics practitioners was the Quebec Region of EPAC, which has
now formed a separate legal organization to make finance and administration easier. It still supports and
promotes EPAC membership. Its annual conference is a highlight of ethics in Canada.

The Ottawa Ethics Round Table predated EPAC and always supported it well; it is now inactive. EPAC
round tables also existed in Toronto, North Bay/Sudbury, Calgary/Edmonton, Victoria and Halifax but these
have been inactive for some time. Given current resources, social media is a better way to engage
practitioners across Canada for now. As significant numbers become engaged in different locations, in-
person events can again become possible. EPAC currently has active discussions on its Linked In group.

Events
A number of workshops take place in Ottawa each year, and EPAC partnered with the BizEthics Series for
an event in Toronto in 2012. More Toronto activity is being planned.

Oversight
A financial review engagement is carried out each year by an accounting professional. The results are made
available to members at the AGM and on request.

The organization is in compliance with its bylaws, governing statute and government filing requirements. A
new federal act governing nonprofits was enacted in November 2011. EPAC, like all other federally
incorporated nonprofits, has three years from that date to revise its bylaws and renew its registration. New
bylaws have been drafted for legal review and member consultation.
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Taking a Structured Approach to Board Succession Planning

A subject on which we have been asked to advise on Boardworks International
increasingly in recent years is board succession
planning. Given the performance pressures on
boards it is a very positive sign that organisations
are becoming less inclined to leave board
composition to chance. We would argue that taking
a deliberate and structured approach to director
succession planning is as important in organisations
where boards are ‘elected’ as it is in those where
they are ‘selected’. This article is in two parts to
reflect the different challenges of these two
situations.

=

Succession planning when boards are ‘ selected’

Where board members can be selected on the basis of predetermined criteria a well
understood and well structured process should be conducted as a matter of
routine. To that end there should be a formal director succession planning
and renewal program in place. If the selection planning process is not conducted
by the board itself but, for example, by an electoral college or dominant
shareholder, the program should be conducted by that appointing/selecting
authority, in association with the board. This program should be focused on
identifying and recruiting new directors (perhaps even in advance of vacancies).
The primary purpose of this program is to ensure that the composition of the board
is systematically refreshed to ensure the board contains directors with:

» skills and experience relevant to the company's strategic direction and
operating environment; and

« the knowledge and ability to work with colleagues to deliver the high standard
of governance performance expected by stakeholders.

When recruiting new directors it is important to be clear what competencies, skills
and experiences are needed on the board and which ones, if any, are missing. To
assist in clarifying this information the board should ensure that there is an up-to-
date director competency matrix. The process of developing the matrix should
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describe the competencies, skills, and experiences of the current directors and the
key ones required for new directors.

Whether the board is the primary selecting authority or not, a board committee
may be helpful in giving focus to this process. Committees with this responsibility
are often referred to as 'nominating’ committees.

The key steps in the competency matrix development process are likely to be as
follows:

1. Assess what competencies the board needs given the challenges faced by the
business and taking into account the strengths and weaknesses of the
executive team. The roles and responsibilities of board and management are
different but the capabilities of each need to be complementary.
Consideration should also be given to weighting particular competencies. Note
this first step is not an assessment of the competencies and skills the board
currently contains.

2. Assess what competencies each existing director possesses. This is done by
asking current board members to self assess themselves and their colleagues
relative to the matrix. Those self assessments should be reviewed by, for
example, the board chair or the nominating committee as some directors tend
to be excessively modest while others overestimate themselves.

3. Evaluate the extent of any competency gaps resulting from a comparison
between steps 1 and 2.

4. Define a ‘recruitment specification’ for the competencies a new director
would need to bring to the board to fill defined competency gaps. It is quite
likely that a new director will need to ‘tick a number of boxes’. Consequently,
it may be desirable, in the first instance, to develop recruitment specifications
separately for

o individual directors (reflecting generic governance capabilities);

o board content specialists (e.g. to the extent that a director may be
recruited to ensure there is a specific capability within the board); and

o board leadership roles (e.g. board and committee chairs).

Candidates for the first two of these categories will be sought from outside the
board but board leadership roles should, ideally, be filled from among incumbent
board members.

Even though these will vary in importance according to organisational context,
recruitment specifications should be sufficiently thorough that they will provide the
basis to assess potential candidates’:

academic and professional qualifications;
relevant experience;

demonstrated ability;

understanding of the industry;

character;

personality and likely boardroom behaviours; and
ability to devote the time required.

In some contexts, competition for directors of the calibre needed is likely to be
strong and the availability of suitable candidates limited both by actual numbers
and potential conflicts of interest. Therefore, consideration should be given to
establishing and maintaining a list of potential appointees ahead of an active
recruitment process. ldentifying suitable candidates ahead of time facilitates a rapid
response when either an unplanned vacancy occurs or when there a change in a
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potential candidate’s availability. In some situations it may be appropriate to
approach such candidates well ahead of time to assess and engage their interest.
It was suggested recently by one client that boards often need to be ‘cleverly
opportunistic’ with key board appointments.

Once the active recruitment process is underway, recruitment specifications can be
translated into clear statements of the contribution expected of appointees and
contained in a letter of appointment that also sets out relevant conditions (e.g.
remuneration, tenure, etc).

Ideally, recruitment specifications would also become the basis of position
descriptions contained within the board's own governance documentation (e.g.
board charter). This would facilitate transparency in the subsequent evaluation of
appointees’ performance against applicable expectations.

Both recruitment specifications and position descriptions should be reviewed on a
regular basis. They should be benchmarked against emerging organisational
challenges and evolving thinking about governance best practice.

Succession planning when boards ar e elected

There is a tendency for boards whose members are elected to be somewhat
fatalistic about succession planning. They seem to feel that it is a waste of time
because matters are beyond their influence. Alternatively, they feel that it would
be inappropriate to attempt to influence an electoral process because that might be
perceived as ‘manipulation’. Our view, and that of a number of our clients, is that
succession planning is perhaps even more important when boards are elected. In
organisations where board elections tend to be a popularity contest it is easy to
end up with a board that lacks the wherewithal to do the job.

To minimise that risk, the board's approach to succession planning should be about
creating a transparent process and an informed electorate. It can do that by
following the same steps described above. The equivalent of the 'recruitment
specification' becomes an information memorandum that is made available to
potential candidates and to the board’s electors.

To avoid leaving it entirely to electors to make an assessment against such a
specification, an added dimension in some organisations is an independent, pre-
election assessment process. Typically, all candidates for election would put
through an assessment process (probably interview-based) that compares their
candidacy against the desired director profile. Often this assessment will be
conducted by an independent panel which then publishes the list of candidates in
rank order according to their fit with the succession planning criteria. Electors can
still vote for whomever they please - and for whatever reason. Should they wish,
however, they can enjoy the benefit of being well-informed about the degree of fit
each candidate has with the published criteria.
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& «»| Board Development

Board development is a cycle that includes training, recruitment and the often
overlooked area of succession planning. The United Way’s board development
resource highlights a cycle for effective planning, recruitment and maintenance for
organizational governance that includes:

Developing a board profile/job descriptions (covered in Board Roles and
Responsibilities) (please link to that section)

Recruiting and selecting new board members

Electing board members

Providing ongoing support and recognition

Providing orientation and training

Recruitment

Recruitment is a key part of the organizational development cycle. Recruiting is not
just about how, but who and what—who do you want on your board and what skills
and qualities are you seeking to help govern your organization. Recruitment should
be an ongoing process for boards so that ideally when it's time to select new
members organizations have a pool of skilled, appropriate and diverse individuals to
draw from.

While some organizations have recruiting protocols similar to hiring paid staff such
as advertising and interviewing, others keep the process more informal. Regardless
of the approach, boards at a minimum should:

¢+ Assess their needs in terms of skills, experience and diversity
» Have clear board job descriptions
» Have an application and screening process

Some boards have specific requirements in terms of representation. For example,
regional literacy networks in Ontario are expected to have at least 50 % of their
board members from fiteracy agencies, CLO has a regional board structure where
board members must come from all the diverse regions of the province. Other non-
profit organizations may have bylaws that specify representation based on gender,
culture, geography and/or age. Boards may also have designated seats for clients
During the recruiting process, boards need to ensure that any designated positions
or representatives are covered. Regardless of what interests and organizations your
board members represent, they are expected to act in the best interests of your
organization (see Section Four: Duty of Diligence). (please link to appropriate
section)

Other attributes boards look for when recruiting are related to skills. For example, a
board may want to have someone experienced in finance and accounting or public
relations and marketing. Professional, such as accountants and lawyers who hold
volunteer positions on a board can be valuable because of the expertise they bring,
but it's important not to treat this as free access to services and advice

When recruiting members, boards will also want to take into consideration personal
characteristics. These characteristics are often listed in the job description and can
include:

» Dedication

Ability to make a time commitment

Good judgement

Strong communication skills

Compassion and respect for others

Willingness to learn

Ability to work well with others

» A sense of wider community and passion for the mission of the organization

Past experience on other non-profit boards can also be an asset Once you know
what you need on the board, compare that to what you currently have and what you
expect to have in the near future. Recruitment efforts should then focus on the
gaps

In the end, a substantial board that is comprised of talented, forward-thinking and
connected individuals can give your organization the profile it needs to get things
done. In the words of one Community Literacy of Ontario board member, find the
best people you can and ask them to "give everything they've got to your
organization ”

http://literacybasics.ca/board-governance/board-development/

Page 1 of 6

3/9/2017



Board Development | Literacy Basics Page 2 of 6

A board composition analysis tool related to recruitment can be found in Board
Building: Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members for Not-for-Profit
Organizationsfrom The Muttart Foundation. It lists general criteria (i.e., being a
willing team member), specific criteria (i.e., fundraising skills) and a desired
community balance (i.e., contributing to the urban/rural mix). It provides a chart to
make notes and track criteria met by current board members and criteria required
from new board members.

Ideas for recruiting potential board members include advertising and outreach to:

.

The broader membership of the organization

Friends, family and associates of current board members

Associations and stakeholder organizations affiliated with the organization's
target population/client base

The business and corporate community

QOther volunteer organizations and service clubs

Faith-based organizations

Educational organizations and institutions

Volunteer centres and online volunteer database organizations

Some organizations hold open houses where they provide information about what
the organization is about and how people can get involved. Having a package of
materials (both in print form and on your website) to distribute to prospective board
members (and also ready for those who may contact you looking to get involved!)
can help with recruitment efforts. It can include items such as a:

+ Board member job description

» Brochure or pamphlet about the organization

+ Fact sheet about board time commitment, meetings, committee and other

organization events

« Copy of the most recent annual report

« Copy of recent newsletter of the organization

« Business card of the Executive Director with email and website link
Orientation and development opportunities
List of other board members
Summary of major funding sources
Board member application form

.

Potential board members can be invited to visit the organization, attend an event or
attend an upcoming board meeting. They should then complete an application form
for the board and/or nominating committee to review. If the potential members
appear to be a good match for the organization, the next steps in the selection
process, which usually includes nomination and election, should be explained.

Organizations that do not have an application form can find a template available
here

Boards need to keep in mind that people who say no now may say yes in the future
so they should continue to keep names on file of those who are a good match for
the organization and consider having them join a committee or help out at a special
event.

Elections

The role of selecting and recommending new board members usually falls to the
nominating committee of the board. Even in policy-governance structured
organizations with few or no committees, a nominating committee often exists
Some boards have replaced a nominating committee with a governance committee
In both situations, the work focuses on identifying gaps and recruiting skilled
individuals

Nominating committees should work throughout the year, not just as board
vacancies and Annual General Meetings approach. The committee is responsible for
identifying potential candidates to fill vacancies and any gaps identified, Ideally,
more candidates are recruited than there are positions available so that an election,
rather than acclamation, occurs. In this instance it's important that candidates are
aware of the nominating and election process and that just because they have been
recruited doesn't mean they will automatically be elected or appointed to the board

The nominating committee usually prepares a slate of candidates that is presented
to members at an Annual General Meeting for voting. Members cast their votes for
the candidate(s) of their choice, and the board is formed. This process is always the
responsibility of the membership, the board and the nominating committee although
staff may be asked to play a supporting role. To view a sampleof an organization's
nominating committee terms of reference see the Toronto Central Local Health
Integration Network director’'s manual

http:/literacybasics.ca/board-governance/board-development/ 3/9/2017
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The nominating and election process can sometimes be an awkward one for non-
profit organizations, especially if no one is experienced or familiar with the
procedures. Herb Perry's Call to Order: Meeting Rules and Procedures for Non-
Profit Organizationsprovides a reader-friendly overview of election rules and voting
methods.

Support and Recognition

Once a board has recruited and selected board members it will want to keep them!
Building in support and recognition will make members feel valued and loyal to the
organization. Volunteer websites and organizations have countless ideas for
recognition. CLO's online training module on volunteer recruitment provides a
number of ideas for volunteer recognition.

AGMs are often a good time to publically recognize the work of board members
through a gift, a certificate or a thank you note. Throughout the year board
members can be recognized and supported through training opportunities which
show the person their contribution is valuable and worth the time and money
associated with training and professional development.

Board mentorship is another way to support new members and to show how the
skills and knowledge of existing members are valued. Mentoring is in addition to,
and a complement to, the governance training and orientation provided to members.

The Maytree Foundation of Ontario has produced a board mentoring handbookthat
talks about activities, benefits and steps to mentoring. It offers a semi-structured
program that involves a one-on-one mentoring relationship between a new board
member and a more experienced board member that takes place face-to-face, over
the phone and online for a total of nine hours over a six-month period.

The Maytree handbook lists some of the benefits to new board members such as:

+ Having a more immediate connection to the organization

» Being better able to contribute more effectively to the governance of the
organization

+ Seeing the big picture better and therefore be better able to make informed
decisions

For the mentor, benefits of a mentorship program include:

* New insights
» New, fresh perspectives
« Leadership and skill building opportunities

And for the organization as a whole, mentorship programs:

» Provide a more cohesive board
+ Minimize the risk of errors in judgment by new board members
» Allow for succession planning

Being a mentor may be an ideal role for a long-term or former board member who
has lots of historical information about the organization but who is no longer able to
serve as a director.

Orientation and Training

Orientation occurs when a new member joins a board, and training occurs
throughout the term of the board. Both are important for sustaining members’
interest and contributing to a healthy organization

Orientation may take the form of a meeting or workshop complemented by a manual
or guidebook. Whatever the format, it is more than just reviewing the organization’s
policies. It includes discussion about the values and mission of the organization,
details about governance and bylaws, information about committees, and getting
familiar with the organization's office and staff

Each board member should be given his or her own copy of a board member
orientation manual, As well, the manuat could be posted online for easy access. It
could also be the basis for an informal orientation process. Ideally, orientation
should occur prior to a member's first meeting, but realistically this often occurs at
some point during the first few months of a new term. It may be led by staff or
senior board members and can be beneficial to returning members as well

An orientation manual will contain a variety of resources but should at a minimum
contain:

+ The organization’s mission statement

= A history of the organization

+ A description of the board's governance structure and operations

« Meeting dates and format

http://literacybasics.ca/board-governance/board-development/ 3/9/2017
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Board member job descriptions

Bylaws

Policies and procedures, especially related to board meetings and directors
The most recent copy of the organization's strategic plan

The most recent copy of the organization's budget and other financial
information such as core funders

A list and description of the board's committees and their terms of reference
Information about membership

Minutes of recent meetings and the last AGM

Contact information for each director and staff

Forms related to board members such as expense forms

If it seems overwhelming to print and bind all this information, boards should
consider loading the documents onto a CD or memory stick or posting documents
on an organizational website or wiki, Once the main orientation has been
completed, a personal check in with new members should occur three to six months
later to see if further support is needed, For more ideas about orientation, click
here.

Boards should think outside the box when it comes to training. Retreats, online
courses, podcasts, online training and attending conferences are alternatives to tried
and true workshops and guest speakers.

Elizabeth DeBergh, former CLO board member and the Executive Director of the
Wellington County Learning Centre in Arthur, Ontario, believes strongly in social
activities and interaction with her board as a form of orientation and team building.
Ideas she suggests include:

Taking the board to tour a company or business in the area

Taking a historical tour of the region it serves

Having a BBQ and inviting board members to bring their significant other and
family

Making a float for board members to join a holiday parade

Planning golfing days and/or a tournament

Holding a book exchange amongst board members

Inviting board members’ families to the Annual General Meeting or other
organizational events

Getting together to socialize at a unique restaurant or coffee shop

.

For skill-specific training and orientation, conduct regular surveys with board
members to determine their training needs and plan accordingly. Training topics
may coincide with trends and challenges facing organizations (e.g., fundraising or
risk management) but should also focus on continuous learning required and related
to board development and the organization’s specific governance structure. Also,
Jook to evaluations and feedback from previous training sessions that board
members rated as useful and valuable for training topic ideas. You may also learn
what might be useful through your regular board evaluation processes.

As emphasized already, if a board only provides one type of training for its
members it should focus on understanding its governance structure and how to
operate within that structure. There are training opportunities (both face-to-face and
online) that relate to every specific governance structure (type in your organization's
governance structure to www.google cato find information on training and
resources)

Other possible training topics for boards could include:

« Board evaluation

Special event management
Working with teams
Conflict management
Advocacy

Organizational ethics
Cultural diversity

Strategic planning

.

.

.

.

If an organization has a budget or has individual board members interested in
investing in their own professional development, specific training can include how to
chair effective meetings, how to take meeting minutes, working with financial
software, etc. As well, don't overlook the skills of board members who may be able
to provide in-service training on a variety of topics

The United Way's board development resource lists links to several organizations in
Ontario (and other provinces) that provide board training. Compass Point has an
article posted on its website about unique ideas for board retreats (see Where To
Have A Board Retreat)

http://literacybasics.ca/board-governance/board-development/ 3/9/2017
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Be creative! Many training topics are freely available online as downloadable print
resources, podcasts, Webinars or online training courses. For example, CLO
provides online training opportunities through its Literacy Basicswebsite. The final
section of this module (Additional Training and Resources) lists online training
opportunities for board members. (please fink to appropriate section)

Succession Planning

As the baby boom generation nears retirement and the competition for volunteers
increases, it's safe to say the need for succession planning in non-profit
organizations will become increasingly important. Succession planning means not
only preparing for the loss of key positions but also being pro-active. Organizations
need to ensure they are able to retain leadership, skills and experience, while at the
same time allow for growth and introduction of new people. Succession planning
also looks at the current and future needs of an organization so that work can be
done to ensure staff and board members are recruited to match those needs.

Part of ensuring the good health of an organization is having a good balance of new
and experienced board members. We all know stories about organizations that have
a 'lifetime’ board member, someone who is not interested in retiring and yet is not
bringing fresh life to the organization. Or what about the horror of having all
experienced board members leave at the same time, taking the skills, knowledge
and background of the organization with them?

Planning for board succession can be incorporated into the strategic planning of an
organization and should be a regular part of board meetings. The board as a whole
and the organization’s Executive Director should be involved in the succession
planning process. The plan should look three to five years into the future and be
reviewed annually, It's also important incoming board members know what is in the
plan

Literacy Link South Central is a non-profit organization that developed a Succession
Planning Toolkit. It is targeted to Literacy and Basic Skills agencies in Ontario but
includes a variety of generic tools, including an agency succession planning needs
assessment and a succession planning policy template.

The kit notes the first step in succession planning is to determine what you already
have in place at your organization and then determine the gaps. The needs
assessment includes 40 questions, including:

» How well informed and up-to-speed is the board on the issues, trends and
challenges facing the agency?
Does the board know where corporate records are kept in the office?
Does the board secretary or chair keep a separate copy of board corporate
records, such as letters of incorporation and letters patent, off-site?
Does the board have, or do they know who to ask, to easily get a list of key
stakeholders for crisis/emergency/transition communications?
Does a board member and/or key staff member have an extra copy of the office
keys?
Is there a staff person designated as board liaison in the absence of the
Executive Director?

.

Who is responsible for succession planning in an organization depends largely on
its governance structure, For example, in a policy-governance model the board is
responsible for preparing for succession related to the organization's management
(i.e, Executive Director) and key board positions, The ED is usually responsible for
succession planning for other staff

Charity Village suggests that organizations take the following steps in a succession

planning process:

1. Develop a list of key positions, volunteer and paid, who could disrupt the
execution of your strategic plan and its components by their departure.

2. Develop an inventory of skill sets required for each key position.

3. ldentify current staff or volunteers who could step up to replace a vacancy,
either on a temporary or long-term basis

4. Document sources of people with the required skills, either on a temporary or
long-term basis

5. Document what information will need to be readily accessible to those choosing
the successor and for the successor,

The First Non-Profit Foundation based in Chicago has developed a series of

transition papers for non-profit organizations including Sustaining Great Leadership:
Succession Planning for Non-profit Organizationsby Tom Adams

http://literacybasics.ca/board-governance/board-development/ 3/9/2017
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Activity

Have your current board members develop your board recruitment materials. Devote
a special meeting (or part of a meeting) to the board development process each
year. Use the following questions and format adapted from How to Be a Winning
Boardby the Alberta Association of Rehabilitation Centres to understand the benefits
of being a board member.

Ask current members the following questions:

1. What attracted you to become a board member with the organization?

2. What do you find most rewarding about your role on the board?

3. How can the board make board roles more attractive to both current and
prospective board members?

4. What things make you feel valuable as a board member?

5. What activities do you feel are appropriate for you to be involved in on the
board? What activities do you think aren’t appropriate?

Record the answers on a flip chart (you may consider having board members

complete these questions privately and then present the collated data to the whole

board). Encourage group discussion about the items. Write up the results in a

summarized format. The results will be useful for promoting positive benefits of

being involved on the board but also to help identify improvements that could
encourage greater participation from current members.

& =n| Additional Resources

1. Caution: Do Not Inflate Beyond Capacity: A Network’s Guide to Responsible
Growth and Stakeholder Communication. Literacy Link South Central. A
strategic planning resource with a focus on growth that results in increasing
your stakeholder base.

2. Seven Steps to Renewing Your Board 2© 2005 Canadian Co-operative
Association, April 2005.

3. Mentoring Canada’s online Fundamentals of Effective Board
Involvemeniprovides modules to help new board members understand their
goals and motivations for joining a board.

4. Suite 101: Selecting Optimal Non-Profit Board Members.

5. Succession Planning and Sustainability in Non-profit Organizations. The second
in a series concerning leadership succession planning from the Executive
Transitions Initiative by Mindy Lubar Price.

6. Nathan Garber & Associates: What You Need to Know about the Board of
Directors of ABCis a useful template to use when recruiting new board

members.

Home| Contact Us| Sitemap

COMMUNITY LITERACY
OF ONTARIO =

(mailto:greenit@greencommunitiescanada.org)
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To: Rob Willson, P. Eng., Chair, Council Term Limits Task Force

From: Ewald Kuczera, P. Eng., Chair, Legislation Committee

Date: January 19, 2017

Subject: Council Term Limits Task Force Report and Recommendations - December 2016

Thank you for attending our meeting on January 6, 2017 to discuss the Task Force’s Report and
Recommendations, and for answering our questions.

As we indicated to you at the meeting, the Legislation Committee is not a policy-making committee.
Our mandate and role is to examine the legislative requirements of, and authority for, policy
proposals and to determine if PEO has the jurisdiction to enshrine changes in its Act, Regulations
and By-Laws based on its regulation or by-law making powers in the Act.

We note the Task Force’s recommendation for term limits, as listed on page 25 of the report:

“The TF recommends the following next steps for implementation of term limits:
e Immediately, include in the election material information on recommended term limits for
each position and provide information on all candidates’ service on Council to date.

e Amend the Professional Engineers Act such that governance matters regarding election
procedures are in the by-laws rather than the regulations and thereafter that the by-laws be
amended to specifically include specific term limits for each position on Council.”

Paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 of Section 7(1) of the Act currently allow Council to make regulations:

2. respecting and governing the qualifications, nomination, election and term or terms of office of
the members to be elected to the Council, and controverted elections”; [our emphasis].

3. prescribing the conditions disqualifying members of the Council from sitting and governing the
filling of vacancies on the Council;

4. prescribing positions of officers of the Association and providing for their election or
appointment.

Therefore, Council currently has the authority and scope to draft regulations concerning term limits
for elected Councillors. We would also like to clarify that the process for Regulation changes, while
time-consuming, is considerably shorter and simpler than seeking an Act amendment to move
regulation-making powers to by-law making powers. Moreover, the process of amending
regulations is also more within PEO’s control than Act changes, which move at the discretion of
Cabinet and the Legislative Assembly.

Task Force Response - We appreciate your comment and will modify the report to incorporate this
information.

While we are not offering an opinion on the merits of imposing term limits on elected Councillors,
we are, nonetheless, advising your Task Force that enforcement of term limits by voluntary means
as you propose are less likely to succeed than if you have the authority to do so anchored in
regulations. PEO has the current power to draft regulations to impose term limits on elected



Councillors, should it choose to do so, rather than wait for an indeterminate time for a future
opportunity for Act changes.

Task Force Response - Agreed.

If further assistance or explanation is required, please do not to hesitate contacting the
undersigned.

Regards,

Ewald Kuczera, P. Eng.

Chair, Legislation Committee
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RECOMMENDATION

HRC FEEDBACK

CTL TASK FORCE RESPONSE

5.1 Term Limits

General Member of Council

- Members may serve a lifetime
maximum of three terms as General
Member of Council (Regional
Councillor or Councillor at Large (only
two if they have previously served as
an LGA))

- LGA’s may be appointed to serve two
terms as a lifetime maximum (one
only, if they have previously served on
Council as a Regional Councillor or
Councillor at Large)

Do not fully agree with “lifetime” restrictions.

Would prefer to see maximum amount of 2-
year terms set at 3. (If a member did the 3
terms for a total of 6 years and had to leave
Council for say a minimum of 4 years, they
chose to run again their advantage as an
incumbent would be minimized.)

Same as noted above for LGA’s. If either a
general member or lay LGA have been on for
6 years they need to be off for a minimum of
4 years before they can apply to do either.

The Task Force is strongly in favour of a
lifetime ban, ie. No cooling off period with
opportunity to return to Council. However,
if Council is unable to support a lifetime
ban, any cooling off period should be
significant, at least 10 years, to
accommodate career and family stages.

A shorter cooling off period is equivalent to
no term limit. The evidence from PEO
elections is that a hiatus does not eliminate
incumbent advantage.

Executive Member of Council (excludes serving
as council appointed VP)
- Members may serve just one term as
VP
- Members may serve just one term as
President-Elect
- A member having served as President
may not hold any subsequent position
on Council

As much as a stronger approach to succession
planning than currently in place is required,
these parameters are too strict. Perhaps only
a one-year term for VP is reasonable in the
context of using the position as a succession
plan for PE. One term for PE is fine however
once the PE cycle is completed being away
from the table for 3 additional years seems
reasonable (what’s currently in place).
Forever is not reasonable.

See above.

The one year as Vice President supports
succession planning for President-Elect.

Immediately include in the election material
information on recommended term limits for
each position and provide information on all
candidates’ service on Council to date

[DB] Until we can change our by-law | would
agree. A little shame tactic but it might
work?

Agreed
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Amend the Professional Engineers Act such
that governance matters regarding election
procedures are in the by-laws rather than the
regulations and thereafter that the by-laws be
amended to specifically include specific term
limits for each position on Council

5.2 Succession Planning

[DB] I'm not sure this statement is correct
however | am in favour of putting the
amending legislation into a vehicle that can
be addressed on an as needed basis without
jumping through a ton of hoops.

The Task Force recommends the most
expedient approach be taken to enshrine
these changes. Term limits should be
enforceable

In addition to a Council decision to adopt term
limits for service on Council, even more
important is that a new, or renewed, task force
must be constituted to focus specifically on
succession planning as identified herein. While
PEO works on legislative changes to institute
term limits through the by-law structure, a
more immediate exercise is to develop a solid
succession plan to begin producing qualified
candidates for Council.

This absolutely needs to be done. Without
succession planning in place term limits are
not feasible.

Agreed.

The Council Term Limits Task Force strongly
endorses succession planning activities to
improve the calibre of all candidates standing
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for election. Several strategies are necessary
for the best electoral outcome:

1. Council must identify the skills and Similar to other boards — this Agreed
experience that the best councillors recommendation makes sense. It would also
would exhibit. allow Council or HRC to address less than
satisfactory contributions by members of
Council and actually do something about it.
2. The search committee/employs the Any movement towards doing away with the | Agreed

defined skills list to find suitable
candidates in the engineering
community.

randomness of the nomination process now
would be a benefit.

3. PEO must develop a leadership
program and provide training
opportunities for interested
candidates to upgrade their skill sets in
the areas that are deemed of value.

Again, a must in a modern organization. HRC
with the leadership of George Comrie have
begun this process.

The Task Force believes that
implementation of succession planning be
undertaken by an independent task force.
This task force should review the mandates
and the practices of several committees
(eg. CESC, ACV, HRC, RCC), which will have
to change for PEO to implement succession
planning.

4. A Future Leaders Symposium should
be held yearly or bi-annually to
introduce PEO, the organization and
leadership possibilities within the
organization, to young volunteers.

Great idea however not sure the cost out
weights the benefits. The first stepin
attracting a higher quality of recruits is to
reduce the current workload on Council and
pay an honorarium. If we really want to
attract younger candidates we need to offset
the loss in wages volunteering at this level
creates.

While we agree that compensation for
Councillors is something that Council
should look at, it is not the same as a future
leaders symposium. Our recommendation
is a first step in this process and should be
combined with the creation of a Young
Engineers group sponsored by PEO. This
will be clarified in the revised report.

5. The electorate must be educated on
the necessary skills and competencies
to look for in Council candidates.

[DB] I agree but this is not dissimilar to
pushing a rope.
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6. Council undertakes a gap analysis on This is normally accomplished with a matrix. The gap analysis should be straightforward
an annual basis to identify weaknesses | However, without completely changing how but filling the gaps may be more difficult.
in current council make-up, and we nominate candidate for election do not That is why the communication piece is so
identifies appropriate criteria for see a way to populate the field with the important.
strengthening the team. required gap in skills. On the LGA side this is
more feasible.
7. The engineering public must be
educated in the importance of
Council’s role in regulating the
profession. This may increase the
interest of suitable candidates to
aspire for service to their profession.
8. PEO must work with engineering This is a long shot given the wide spread True, and the successor task force will
companies to encourage ways to apathy of the profession. Functional address implementation of this
facilitate their employees to consider engineering companies run such a tight ship recommendation.
service to the profession. that the cost to provide volunteers would
only factor in with perhaps...very large firms.
9. Determine if it is possible to remove Agreed...this is really the first step in getting See 8.
barriers that impede certain the noted demographic to step up and
volunteers of a specific demographic consider running. The biggest barrier is the
(specifically age and family status) time commitment...it"s unrealistic to think
from serving on Council. younger or family aged volunteers could add
this to their plate. Even having a full time day
job without kids it’s a huge commitment.
10. PEO must set aside money for training | Yes...or lower the amount of work involved. See 8.
and possibly employer compensation.
11. The Council Manual should be updated

and made more complete so that it
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can be used for information and
training.

12. A mentorship program should be set
up for new councillors.

Good idea.

13. HRC must communicate to the Public
Appointments Secretariat our
skills/competencies guideline for
Lieutenant-Governor Appointed
Councillors. These appointments (if
staggered in time) may also assist in
fulfilling our gap analysis.

5.3 Future Work

Agreed and HRC is in fact doing this to some
degree however a more refined matrix of
skills required should be established and
utilized when considering new LGA’s.

Agreed.

It is important to recognize that governance
changes can only be realistically evaluated
through implementation and feedback. The TF
recommends that Council implements as much
as possible term limits and succession planning
as outlined in this report. Subsequent
adjustments could be made after experience is
gained. The benefits of the recommendations
can be evaluated and any changes made.
Establishing another task force with similar
resources is unlikely to push the agenda
forward and will unnecessarily delay progress
in this important area.

Sadly, this is yet another “cherry picking”
portion of what is really needed...a full
governance review. This along with reducing
the overall size of Council would greatly
enhance our ability to react in a much more
progressive manner. Things simply take too
long to debate in Council and far too many
people waste Councils time commenting on
issues they barely understand or get far too

deep into the weeds...an occupational hazard.

Setting standards and educating our licensees
on what Councils work really is would be a
start. Adopting a skills matrix and
empowering a real nomination committee to
find candidates with real world experience to

While a comprehensive governance review
would be advantageous, it is not necessary
to implement our recommendations.
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run for Council would be the game changer.
Paying them for their time would be the icing
on the cake.

GENERAL COMMENTS

We'd like to thank the members of this
taskforce for their valuable time and input to
this matter.

[DB] As a current member of Council |
support the overarching need to have term
limits for all of Council respecting the parallel
requirement of succession planning.

Thank you.
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The chart below was developed for the Human Resources Committee as part of their peer review of the Council Term Limits Task
Force Draft Report.

The chart has been amended for use by the CESC at the January 26, 2017 meeting.

CTLTF Recommendations and CESC Feedback

RECOMMENDATION

CESC FEEDBACK

CTL TASK FORCE FEEDBACK

5.1 Term Limits

General Member of Council

Members may serve a lifetime
maximum of three terms as General
Member of Council (Regional
Councillor or Councillor at Large (only
two if they have previously served as
an LGA))

LGA’s may be appointed to serve two
terms as a lifetime maximum (one
only, if they have previously served on
Council as a Regional Councillor or
Councillor at Large)

A lifetime maximum is too restrictive.

A cooling off period from Council as a whole
after reaching maximum should be
considered.

You cannot be in one position for more than
two terms. Then you should either run for
another position or go to a cooling off period
with a maximum for all positions.

Three year cooling off period to allow
someone to for transition in leadership.

The Task Force is strongly in favour of a
lifetime ban, ie. No cooling off period with
opportunity to return to Council. However,
if Council is unable to support a lifetime
ban, any cooling off period should be
significant, at least 10 years, to
accommodate career and family stages. A
shorter cooling off period is equivalent to
no term limit.

Executive Member of Council (excludes serving
as council appointed VP)

Members may serve just one term as
VP

Members may serve just one term as
President-Elect

A lifetime maximum is too restrictive.

A cooling off period from Council as a whole
after reaching maximum should be
considered.

See above.
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- A member having served as President
may not hold any subsequent position
on Council

You cannot be in one position for more than
two terms. Then you should either run for
another position or go to a cooling off period
with a maximum for all positions.

Three year cooling off period to allow
someone to for transition in leadership

Immediately include in the election material
information on recommended term limits for
each position and provide information on all
candidates’ service on Council to date

Not helpful

Not recommend under the current rules.

The Task Force strongly recommends this
be an interim measure until the term limits
are officially implemented. The election
procedures should be updated. The Task
Force believes it is important to inform the
electorate of this significant change.

Amend the Professional Engineers Act such
that governance matters regarding election
procedures are in the by-laws rather than the
regulations and thereafter that the by-laws be
amended to specifically include specific term
limits for each position on Council

5.2 Succession Planning

This should be done through regulation
rather than through by-laws.

The Task Force recommends the most
expedient approach be taken to enshrine
these changes.

In addition to a Council decision to adopt term
limits for service on Council, even more
important is that a new, or renewed, task force
must be constituted to focus specifically on
succession planning as identified herein. While
PEO works on legislative changes to institute

The committee supports the Succession
Planning section of the report

The CESC should be tasked with Succession
Planning rather than a new Task Force.

The Task Force believes that
implementation of succession planning be
undertaken by an independent task force.
This task force should review the mandates
and the practices of several committees (eg.
CESC, ACV, HRC, RCC), which will have to
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term limits through the by-law structure, a
more immediate exercise is to develop a solid
succession plan to begin producing qualified
candidates for Council.

change for PEO to implement succession
planning.

The Council Term Limits Task Force strongly
endorses succession planning activities to
improve the calibre of all candidates standing
for election. Several strategies are necessary
for the best electoral outcome:

1. Council must identify the skills and
experience that the best councillors
would exhibit.

2. The search committee/employs the
defined skills list to find suitable
candidates in the engineering
community.

3. PEO must develop a leadership
program and provide training
opportunities for interested
candidates to upgrade their skill sets in
the areas that are deemed of value.

4. A Future Leaders Symposium should be
held yearly or bi-annually to introduce
PEO, the organization and leadership
possibilities within the organization, to
young volunteers.
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The electorate must be educated on
the necessary skills and competencies
to look for in Council candidates.

Council undertakes a gap analysis on
an annual basis to identify weaknesses
in current council make-up, and
identifies appropriate criteria for
strengthening the team.

The engineering public must be
educated in the importance of
Council’s role in regulating the
profession. This may increase the
interest of suitable candidates to
aspire for service to their profession.

PEO must work with engineering
companies to encourage ways to
facilitate their employees to consider
service to the profession.

Determine if it is possible to remove
barriers that impede certain volunteers
of a specific demographic (specifically
age and family status) from serving on
Council.

10.

PEO must set aside money for training
and possibly employer compensation.
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11. The Council Manual should be updated
and made more complete so that it can
be used for information and training.

12. A mentorship program should be set
up for new councillors.

Past Councillors encouraged to mentor
newly-elected Councillors

The Task Force believes that sitting
Councillors are best positioned to
undertake this task.

13. HRC must communicate to the Public
Appointments Secretariat our
skills/competencies guideline for
Lieutenant-Governor Appointed
Councillors. These appointments (if
staggered in time) may also assist in
fulfilling our gap analysis.

5.3 Future Work

It is important to recognize that governance
changes can only be realistically evaluated
through implementation and feedback. The TF
recommends that Council implements as much
as possible term limits and succession planning
as outlined in this report. Subsequent
adjustments could be made after experience is
gained. The benefits of the recommendations
can be evaluated and any changes made.
Establishing another task force with similar
resources is unlikely to push the agenda
forward and will unnecessarily delay progress
in this important area.
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From: George Comrie

Subject: CTLTF Report

Date: January 23, 2017 at 10:22:37 PM EST

To: Robert Willson

Cc: Fern Goncalves, Gerard McDonald, Bob Dony, Thomas Chong
Reply-To: George Comrie

Hi, Rob.

As | mentioned when you discussed your TF's recommendations with the Legislation Committee, |
had an action item to get back to on the HRC's consideration of the report, which took place on
January 5th.

The logistical part of my comments you have already heard, namely that we have set aside time at the
Council's plenary session on the evening of Thursday, February 2nd for discussion of your report and
recommendations in committee of the whole. You should by now have received an invitation to join
us for dinner before hand and to present as the first item on the evening's agenda.

We won't be considering any motions related to your report at that meeting. This will provide you
with the opportunity to hear Councillors' reactions to your report, and to take them back to your TF
for any refinement and for preparation of a Briefing Note for decision at the March Council meeting
on March 24th.

After HRC's January 5th discussions, the way it was left was that individual HRC members would
forward any written comments they had to Fern, who would pass them on to you. What follows, then,
is a combination of my own personal reactions and points that were raised by others; so apologies if
you have heard some of this already.

1) The TF's rejection of options involving assessment and improvement of Councillor
performance.

We're not sure you should be so quick to dismiss the possibility that Councillors' individual
performance could be evaluated and communicated to the electorate. You may remember that, some
years ago, Council agreed to evaluate its performance annually. So HRC has started conducting
annual surveys of Council in the spring to gauge its collective performance. We are now
contemplating taking this to the next level, which would involve assessments of individual
Councillor performance. As you can imagine, not everyone is keen on this, but collective
assessments of the group do not incent behaviour modification.

Task Force Response - While we agree with that performance evaluation is important and should be
implemented and communicated, term limits are also necessary particularly in the current political
structure at PEO. We note that for the MEC board, which has a robust evaluation process, term
limits are still utilized.

We are also strongly committed to ensuring that all PEO volunteers have a common understanding of
important PEO-specific domain knowledge (such as PEO's mandate, role, and responsibilities, its
governance, how we regulated, etc.), and have opportunities for meaningful leadership development.
In the absence of this, no amount of turnover will ensure that folks arrive on Council with a common
understanding of what they are there to do.




Task Force Response - We agree that as part of succession planning, all volunteers should have an
understanding of PEO’s mandate, role and responsibilities.

2) Recommending the most *'severe' term limits

Candidly, I think if you just present what appears to be your final recommendation in terms of term
limits, you will get a polite "no thank you" from Council, and you will have wasted your time and
effort.

If that is the consensus of your TF, by all means present it. But a better strategy, | think, would be to
present some options for less severe constraints. You've got the "three mile island” option down -
now how about a medium and mild option?. | don’t want to put words in your mouths, but even
something as simple as once someone has been in the same office for two consecutive terms, he/she
must run for another Council position or wait out 2-3 years. To that you could add a limit on the total
consecutive time on Council regardless of position (to prevent someone who is popular from just
"recycling” himself endlessly in different positions). But | would stop short of a lifetime limit: what’s
wrong with someone who has been out for several years staging a comeback?

Task Force Response - The Task Force is strongly in favour of a lifetime ban, i.e. No cooling off
period with opportunity to return to Council. However, if Council is unable to support a lifetime
ban, any cooling off period should be significant, at least 10 years, to accommodate career and
family stages.

A shorter cooling off period is equivalent to no term limit. The evidence from PEO elections is that a
hiatus does not eliminate incumbent advantage.

3) Succession planning

Given the nature of the demands of the Presidency (which few seem to understand), I believe it
should be open only to those with current Council experience in another position (e.g., regional
councillor or councillor at large). The notion that someone can walk in off the street with no Council
experience (i.e., not having had the opportunity to build working relationships of trust with other
Councillors) and lead effectively is pure nonsense. We need to put back the experience requirement
we had for President-elect and Vice President prior to 2007.

Task Force Response - In principle the Task Force is not in favour of limiting candidates from
running for any position on Council. The Task Force supports high profile engineers, who would not
be interested in serving as Councillors, becoming the face of PEO as President.

Hope this is helpful.
Regards,
George




Briefing Note — Decision C-511-2.2

2016 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Purpose: To approve the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
and the Auditor’s report thereon.

Motions to consider:
That Council:
a) approve the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2016, and
the Auditor’s report thereon, as presented to the meeting at C-511-2.2, Appendix A; and
b) authorize the President and President-elect to sign the Audited Financial Statements on
Council’s behalf.

Prepared by: Chetan Mehta — Director, Finance
Motion Sponsor: Danny Chui, P.Eng. — Chair, Audit Committee

1. Need for PEO Action

PEOQO’s governing legislation and its By-laws require that Council approve the audited financial
statements of the Assaociation for presentation to members at PEO’s Annual General Meeting and
that the statements be published on PEO’s website for access to all members.

The Audit Committee’s legislated mandate approved by Council is to:
- Oversee the auditing of the Association’s financial statements by an external auditor; and
- Monitor the accounting and financial reporting processes and systems of internal control.

PEO By-Law No. 1, section 51 states:

The Council shall lay before each Annual Meeting of the members a financial statement prepared
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for the previous fiscal year of the
association (made up of a balance sheet as at the end of such fiscal year and statements of
revenue and expenditure and members’ equity for such fiscal year) together with the report of the
association’s auditors on the financial statement.The financial statements with (a summary of) the
auditor’s report shall be published in the official publication of the association after its approval by
the Council.

2. Proposed Action / Recommendation

That Council approve the Audited Financial Statements and the auditor’s report thereon for the
year ended December 31, 2016 for presentation to members at the 2017 Annual General Meeting,
and that the statements be published on PEQO’s website and in the next edition of Engineering
Dimensions, as required by legislation and PEQO’s by-laws.

3. Next Steps

Once the 2016 Financial Statements are approved and signed by the President and President-
elect, the audited financial statements will be available to members at the 2017 Annual General
Meeting and the statements will be published on PEQO’s website in April and in the next edition of
Engineering Dimensions. A Financial Report and financial statement analysis will be prepared and
published as well.

A Q&A on PEOQO’s operations for 2016 will be developed for the 2017 Annual General Meeting
based on anticipated questions.

511th Meeting of Council — March 23-24, 2017 Association of Professional
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4, Peer Review & Process Followed

Process | On March 7, 2017 at the joint Audit / Finance Committee meeting, the 2016
Followed | Audited Financial Statements and auditor’s report were presented to the Audit
and Finance Committees for review and discussion. The 2016 Audited Financial
Statements were approved by the Audit committee during this meeting.

Council

Identified

Review

Actual On March 7, 2017, the Audit Committee approved the 2016 Audited Financial
Motion Statements and auditor’s report and recommended that these be presented to

Review Council for approval.

5. Appendices
Appendix A — 2016 Audited Financial Statements and Auditor’s report
Appendix B — Audit Committee Report — year ended December 31, 2016

511t Meeting of Council — March 23-24, 2017 Association of Professional

Engineers of Ontario
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Deloitte LLP

400 Applewood Crescent
Suite 500

Vaughan, ON, L4K 0C3
Canada

Tel: 416-601-6150
Fax: 416-601-6610
www . deloitte.ca

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members of
Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Association of Professional Engineers
of Ontario, which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2016, and the statements of
revenue, expenses and changes in net assets and cash’flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to-enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to/fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance/with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedl,ires to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks /of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion:
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario as at December 31, 2016 and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
, 2017
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Statement of revenue, expenses and changes in net assets

year ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015
$ $
Revenue
P. Eng revenue 15,300,492 15,134,271
Application, registration, examination and other fees 6,186,429 6,064,234
Building operations (Note 4) 2,044,589 2,127,016
Advertising income 437,187 292,679
Investment income 171,538 97,219
24,140,235 23,715,419
Expenses

Staff salaries and benefits/Retiree and future benefits 11,262,243 10,708,685
Building operations (Note 4) 2,485,858 2,444,678
Purchased services 1,402,475 1,352,825
Amortization 1,242,064 924,528
Engineers Canada 977,311 938,579
Occupancy costs (Note 4) 857,468 765,874
Chapters (Note 13) 765,181 793,066
Volunteer expenses 660,736 786,767
Computers and telephone 628,847 715,813
Postage and courier 626,926 475,676
Legal (corporate, prosecution and tribunal) 614,293 567,744
Transaction fees 500,306 508,253
Consultants 410,711 362,605
Contract staff 399,882 496,237
Recognition, grants and awards 196,051 162,239
Professional development 168,011 155,251
Office supplies 132,379 131,955
Insurance 111,637 105,784
Advertising 107,711 83,942
Printing 98,841 128,446
Staff expenses 83,808 104,307
23,732,739 22,713,254

Excess of revenue overexpenses before the undernoted 407,496 1,002,165
Council discretionary reserve expenses (Note 8) 36,871 70,989
Excess of revenue over expenses 370,625 931,176
Remeasurement and other items 1,342,820 (2,136,510)
Net assets, beginning of year 14,326,143 15,531,477
Net assets, end of year 16,039,588 14,326,143

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario

Balance sheet

as at December 31, 2016
2016 2015
$ $
Assets
Current assets
Cash in interest bearing accounts 1,449,325 1,851,432
Marketable securities at fair value 6,552,646 6,403,767
Accounts receivable 499,016 527,314
Prepaid expenses and deposits 265,014 225,778
Other assets 401,365 390,279
9,167,366 9,398,570
Capital assets (Note 3) 37,061,925 37,711,302
46,229,291 47,109,872
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 15) 1,813,785 2,174,710
Fees in advance and deposits 8,862,418 9,067,119
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 5) 952,000 928,000
11,628,203 12,169,829
Long-term
Long-term debt (Note 5) 6,587,000 7,539,000
Employee future benefits (Note 6) 11,974,500 13,074,900
30,189,703 32,783,729
Net assets (Note 7) 16,039,588 14,326,143
Total liabilities and net assets 46,229,291 47,109,872

Approved by the Board

Director

Director

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario

Statement of cash flows
year ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015
$ $
Operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses 370,625 931,176
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash
Amortization 2,171,172 1,798,805
Amortization - other assets 63,914 67,395
Employee future benefits expensed 1,445,000 1,274,700
Change in unrealized losses on marketable securities (23,259) 98,181
Loss (gain) on disposal of marketable securities 10,736 (22,636)
4,038,188 4,147,621
Change in non-cash working capital items (Note 10) (576,564) 963,043
3,461,624 5,110,664
Financing activities
Repayment of mortgage (928,000) (901,000)
Contributions to employee future benefit plans (1,202,580) (1,489,410)
(2,130,580) (2,390,410)
Investing activities
Net change in marketable securities (136,356) (147,608)
Additions to capital assets (1,521,795) (2,447,378)
Additions to other assets (75,000) (13,722)
(1,733,151) (2,608,708)
(Decrease) increase in cash (402,107) 111,546
Cash, beginning of year 1,851,432 1,739,886
Cash, end of year 1,449,325 1,851,432

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario

Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2016

1. Nature of operations

The Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario (“PEO”) was incorporated by an Act of the
Legislature of the Province of Ontario. Its principal activities include regulating the practice of
professional engineering, and establishing and maintaining standards of knowledge, skill and ethics
among its members in order to protect the public interest. As a not-for-profit professional membership
organization it is exempt from tax under section 149(1) of the Income Tax Act.

2. Significant accounting policies

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations and reflect the following accounting policies:

a) Financial instruments

PEOQ initially recognizes financial instruments at fair value and subsequently measures them at each
reporting date, as follows:

Asset/liability Measurement
Cash and marketable securities Fair value
Accounts receivable Amortized cost
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost
Long term debt Amortized cost

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are assessed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment. If such impairment exists'theasset shall be written down and the resulting impairment
loss shall be recognized in the Statement of revenue and expenses and changes in net assets for

the period.

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.
b) Hedge accounting

PEO entered into an interest rate swap in order to reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates on
its long term debt. The policy of PEO is not to enter into interest rate swap agreements for trading or
speculative purposes.

The interest rate swap held by PEO s eligible for hedge accounting. To be eligible for hedge
accounting, an instrument must meet certain criteria with respect to identification, designation and
documentation. In addition, the critical terms of the derivative financial instrument must match the
specific terms and conditions of the hedged item. The fair value of derivative instruments eligible
and qualifying for hedge accounting is generally not recognized on the balance sheet. Gains and
losses on such instruments’are recognized in income in the same period as those of the hedged
item.

Interest on the hedged item is recognized using the instrument’s stated interest rate plus or minus
amortization of any initial premium or discount and any financing fees and transaction costs. Net
amounts receivable or payable on the interest rate swap are recorded on the accrual basis of
accounting-and are recognized as an adjustment to interest on the hedged item in the period in
which they accrue.

PEO may only discontinue hedge accounting when one of the following situations arises:

a) Thehedged item or the hedging item ceases to exist other than as designated and
documented;

b) /The critical terms of the hedging item cease to match those of the hedged item, including, but
not limited to, when it becomes probable that an interest bearing asset or liability hedged with
an interest rate swap will be prepaid.

Page 6
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2016

2,

Significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Hedge accounting (continued)

c)

d)

e)

f)

When a hedging item ceases to exist, any gain or loss incurred on the termination of the hedging
item is recognized as an adjustment of the carrying amount of the hedged item.

When a hedged item ceases to exist, the critical terms of the hedging item cease to match those of
the hedged item, or it is no longer probable that an anticipated transaction'will-.occur in the amount
designated or within 30 days of the maturity date of the hedging item, any gain or loss is recognized
in net income.

Revenue recognition

License fee revenue, excluding the portion related to the Building Fund, is recognized as income on
a monthly basis over the license period. Building Fund revenue is recognized‘into income at the
commencement of the license period. Other revenues are recognized when the related services are
provided.

Donated services

The Association receives substantial donated services from its membership through participation on
council and committees and as chapter executives. Donations of services are not recorded in the
accounts of the Association.

Employee future benefits

Pension plans

The cost of PEQO’s defined benefit pension plans-are determined periodically by independent
actuaries using the projected benefit method prorated on service. PEO uses the most recently
completed actuarial valuation prepared for funding purposes (but not one prepared using a
solvency, wind-up, or similar valuation basis) for measuring its defined benefit pension plan
obligations. A funding valuation is prepared in accordance with pension legislation and regulations,
generally to determine required cash contributions to the plan.

Other non-pension plan benefits

The cost of PEO’s non-pension defined benefit plan is determined periodically by independent
actuaries. PEO uses an‘accounting actuarial valuation performed every three years for measuring
its non-pension defined benefit plan obligations. The valuation is based on the projected benefit
method prorated on service.

For all defined benefit plans PEO recognizes:

a) Thedefined benefit obligation, net of the fair value of any plan assets, adjusted for any
valuation in the statement of changes in net assets;

b) /The cost of the plan for the year.
Capital assets,

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is calculated on the straight-line basis at the
following annual rates.

Building 2%

Building improvements 5%

Building improvements - common area 3.3% to 10%
Computer hardware and software 33%
Furniture, fixtures and telephone equipment 10%

Audio visual 20%

The Association’s investment in capital assets is included as part of Net assets on the Balance
sheet.

Page 7
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements

December 31, 2016

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

g) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Accountsrequiring significant
estimates and assumptions include capital assets, accrued liabilities, and employee future benefits.

3. Capital assets
2016 2015
Accumulated Net book Net book
Cost amortization value value
$ $ $ $
Building 19,414,668 3,031,193 16,383,475 16,771,768
Building improvements 8,803,365 2,398,668 6,404,697 6,871,857
Building improvements - common
area 9,648,456 2,464,206 7,184,250 6,806,236
Land 4,366,303 - 4,366,303 4,366,303
Computer hardware and software 4,549,920 2,568,627 1,981,293 323,283
Furniture, fixtures and telephone
equipment 1,428,008 901,151 526,857 638,836
Audio visual 1,008,315 793,265 215,050 345,285
Work in progress - - - 1,587,734
49,219,035 12,157,110 37,061,925 37,711,302
Page 8
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2016

4. Building operations

PEO maintains accounting records for the property located at 40 Sheppard Avenue West, Toronto, ON
as a stand-alone operation for internal purposes. The results of the operation of the building, prior to the
elimination of recoveries and expenses related to PEO, are as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Revenue
Rental 742,060 748,664
Operating cost recoverable - tenants 1,052,318 1,120,249
Parking 124,035 130,500
Miscellaneous 126,176 127,603
2,044,589 2,127,016
Operating cost recoverable - PEO 752,467 708,282

2,797,056 2,835,298

Recoverable expenses

Utilities 570,506 516,349
Amortization 540,813 485,984
Property taxes 446,086 449,510
Payroll 246,932 236,916
Janitorial 195,000 204,674
Repairs and maintenance 157,446 179,295
Property management and advisory fees 84,856 82,618
Security 35,928 34,070
Administrative 23,781 20,045
Road and ground 14,040 18,720
Insurance 18,104 18,691

2,333,492 2,246,872

Other expenses -

Interest expense on note and loan payable 396,398 441,172
Amortization of building 388,293 388,293
Amortization of deferred costs 63,916 61,172
Other non-recoverable expenses 56,226 15,451
904,833 906,088

3,238,325 3,152,960
Excess of expenses over revenue (441,269) (317,662)

For purposes of the statement of revenue, expenses and changes in net assets, the operating cost
re<imbursements from PEO have been eliminated. The portion of costs allocated to PEO is reallocated
from Building operations and is included in Occupancy costs.
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario

Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2016

4,

Building operations (continued)

2016 2015

$ $

Building revenue per above 2,797,056 2,835,298
Eliminated PEO portion (752,467) (708,282)
2,044,589 2,127,016

Building expenses per above 3,238,325 3,152,960
Eliminated PEO portion (752,467) (708,282)

2,485,858 2,444,678

Building financing

In 2009, the Association financed $14,100,000 of the cost of its building acquisition with a credit facility
from the Bank of Montreal, Capital Markets Division. The facility is secured by a first mortgage on the
property located at 40 Sheppard Avenue West, a general security agreement, and a general assignment
of tenant leases. The facility is repayable in monthly installments of principal plus interest maturing on
March 11, 2019 and bears a floating interest rate based on variable bankers’ acceptances. The balance
outstanding at December 31, 2016 is $7,539,000.

Principal repayments are due as follows:

$

2017 952,000
2018 980,000
2019 5,607,000
7,539,000

The Association has entered into a swap agreement related to this loan, whereby the floating rate debt
is swapped for a fixed rate debt with an interest rate of 4.95% and settled on a net basis. The Notional
value of the swap is $14,100,000. The start date of the swap was March 11, 2009 with a maturity date of
March 11, 2019.

Employee future benefits

The Association’s pension plans’and post-retirement benefits plan covering participating employees
(full time and retirees) are defined benefit plans as defined in Section 3463 of the CPA Canada
Handbook. The pension plans provide pension benefits based on length of service and final average
earnings. The post-retirement benefits plan provides hospitalization, extended health care and dental
benefits to.active and retired employees. Participation in the pension plans and benefits plan

(for post-retirement benefits) has been closed to all new employees as of May 1, 2006. All employees
joining after this'date”have the option of participating in a self-directed RRSP (registered retirement
savings plan). During the year, the Association recorded $214,512 (2015 - $202,951) in employer
contributions to the self-directed RRSP.

Page 10
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Association of Professional Engineers of Ontario
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2016

6. Employee future benefits (continued)

The funded status of the Association’s pension plans and post-retirement benefit plan using actuarial
assumptions as of December 31, 2016 was as follows:

Other
Basic Supplemental non-pension
pension plan pension plan benefit plan Total
$ $ $ $
Accrued benefit obligation (23,686,100) (1,617,100) (13,692,400) (38,995,600)
Plan assets at fair value 25,152,300 1,868,800 - 27,021,100
Funded status - plan surplus
(deficit) 1,466,200 251,700 (13,692,400) (11,974,500)
Valuation allowance - - - -
Defined benefit asset,
net of valuation allowance 1,466,200 251,700 (13,692,400) (11,974,500)

The funded status of the Association’s pension plans and post-retirement benefit plan using actuarial
assumptions as of December 31, 2015 was as follows:

Other
Basic Supplemental non-pension
pension plan pension plan benefit plan Total
$ $ $ $
Accrued benefit obligation (22,882,200) (1,596,800) (12,402,500) (36,881,500)
Plan assets at fair value 22,024,600 1,782,000 - 23,806,600
Funded status - plan surplus
(deficit) (857,600) 185,200 (12,402,500) (13,074,900)
Valuation allowance - - - -
Defined benefit asset,
net of valuation allowance ) (857,600) 185,200 (12,402,500) (13,074,900)

PEO measures its defined benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes
as at December 31 each year. The most recently completed actuarial valuation of the pension plans for
valuation purposes, was as of December 31, 2014. The most recent completed actuarial valuation of the
non-benefit plan for accounting purposes was as of December 31, 2014.

7. Net assets

The net assets of the Association are restricted to be used at the discretion of Council and includes the
Association’s investment in capital assets of $29,